

2021 Consumer Practice Extravaganza

Hot Topics with Bill Rochelle

William J. Rochelle, III, Moderator

American Bankruptcy Institute; New York

Hon. John T. Gregg

U.S. Bankruptcy Court (W.D. Mich.); Grand Rapids

Hon. Harlin DeWayne Hale

U.S. Bankruptcy Court (N.D. Tex.); Dallas

Hon. Mary Jo Heston

U.S. Bankruptcy Court (W.D. Wash.); Tacoma

Hon. Jeffery P. Hopkins

U.S. Bankruptcy Court (S.D. Ohio); Cincinnati

Hon. Elizabeth S. Stong

U.S. Bankruptcy Court (E.D.N.Y.); Brooklyn





Splits and Confounding Issues Destined for the Supreme Court

ABI Consumer Extravaganza Nov. 4, 2021, 1:00 P.M.

Bill Rochelle • Editor-at-Large American Bankruptcy Institute bill@abi.org • 703. 894.5909 © 2021

66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22014 • www.abi.org



Table of Contents

Supreme Court	4
This Term	5
Supreme Court Update: Equitable Mootness Not Ready for Prime Time	
Supreme Court Likely to Tackle 2018 U.S. Trustee Fee Increase	10
Decided Last Term	
Supreme Court Holds that Merely Holding Property Isn't a Stay Violation	
Supreme Court Majority Deals a Blow to Enforcement of Consumer Protection Laws	
'Cert' Denied	25
Solicitor General Says the Second Circuit 'Erred' in Tribune Safe Harbor Decision	26
Reorganization	30
Fraudulent Transfers	
Second Circuit Revives \$3.75 Billion in Madoff Lawsuits Against Financial Institutions	32
Affirmance Shows that Merit Management Has Been Gutted in the Second Circuit	
Executory Contracts & Leases	
Puerto Rico Case and the Efficacy of Prof. Westbrook's Definition of 'Executoriness'	
Being an 'Officer' Disqualifies Someone from a KERP, New York District Judge Says	
Curing Defaults Isn't Always Required Before Selling a Contract, Third Circuit Says	
Surety Bonds Aren't Executory Contract and Can't Be Assumed, District Judge Says	
Once Repudiated, a Contract Is No Longer Executory	
Jurisdiction & Power	
NRA's Bankruptcy Dismissed as Being Filed for an Improper Purpose	
In 'Related To' Jurisdiction, District Court Applies the Bankruptcy Rules, Circuit Says	60
Federal Common Law Doesn't Define a Business Trust Eligible for Chapter 11	
Barton Protection Ends When the Bankruptcy Case Closes, Eleventh Circuit Says	
Trustees Don't Need a Pecuniary Interest to Have Standing to Appeal, Fifth Circuit Says	
Circuits Split on Applying Derivative Jurisdiction to a Lack of Personal Jurisdiction	73
'Plain Language' Puts Small-Dollar Avoidance Suits in the Debtor's Home Court	
Plans & Confirmation	
Third Circuit Upholds Equitable Mootness over a Dissent	78
Eighth Circuit Comes Near to Abolishing Equitable Mootness	
Tempnology Didn't Undercut the Validity of Equitable Mootness, First Circuit Says	
Chapter 11 Plans May Discharge Post-Confirmation 'Admin' Claims, Third Circuit Says	
Third Circuit Makes More Rules on the Proper Scope of Asbestos Channeling Injunctions	91
Civil Penalties for Defrauding Consumers Weren't Discharged	
Deeply Subordinated Creditor Barred from Voting or Objecting to Plan Confirmation	98
Stays & Injunctions	
Good Faith Is No Defense to an Allegedly Willful Stay Violation, Third Circuit Says	
Courts Split on Whether Suits in Bankruptcy Court Can Violate the Automatic Stay	
Pennsylvania District Judge Holds that FLSA Suit Is Not Halted by Automatic Stay	
Compensation	
Being an 'Officer' Disqualifies Someone from a KERP, New York District Judge Says	
being an Officer Disquames Someone from a KERT, New York District stage Says	. 121
American Rankruntov Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza Suite 600 • Alexandria VA 22314	1

Judge Sontchi Cuts Off U.S. Trustee Fees on Confirmation of a Chapter 11 Plan 124

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Circuits Are Now Split on the Constitutionality of the 2018 Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees	. 127
Fifth Circuit Upholds Constitutionality of Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees	
Another Circuit Upholds the 2018 Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees	
A District Court Rules that the U.S. Trustee Fee Increase Isn't Retroactive	
Preferences & Claims	
Jevic Rises from the Dead to Bar Claims Brought Originally by the Creditors' Committee	
Third Circuit Rejects Triangular Setoffs and Adopts Rationale by Judge Shannon	
Third Circuit Resurrects an 'Admin' Claim When the Stalking Horse Had No Breakup Fee	
Third Circuit Makes Strict Rules Before Subrogation Rights Kick In	
Third Circuit Finds Broad Waiver of Sovereign Immunity for Suits Augmenting the Estate	
Split Heading to the Tenth Circuit on Sovereign Immunity for Section 544(b) Claims	
Contingency Fees Under a Trust Indenture May Not Result in a Claim, Judge Shannon Says	
Increasing Debtor's Profit or Revenue Isn't Required to Establish an 'Admin' Claim	
Texas Legislature Didn't Succeed in Giving Lien Priority to Oil and Gas Producers	
Brooklyn Decision Shows Why Litigation Finance Is Risky if the Plaintiff Files Bankruptcy	
Small Biz. Reorg. Act	. 176
Hotel Isn't 'Single Asset Real Estate' and Is Eligible for Subchapter V Reorganization	
West Virginia Judge Allows Conversion to Subchapter V After Deadlines Passed	
Liquidating a Defunct Corporation Qualifies for the SBRA, Judge Lopez Says	
Corporations Are More Likely Eligible for the SBRA than Owners of Defunct Businesses	
Denver Judge Opens the SBRA Door Wide for People with Debt from Failed Companies	
Debt from a Defunct Business Can Help to Qualify for Subchapter V	
Split Grows on Whether a Subchapter V Debtor Must Be 'Currently' Engaged in Business	
O	
Corporate Debtors in Subchapter V May Discharge Nondischargeable Debts	
Eleventh Circuit Bans Chapter 11 Debtors from Receiving 'PPP' Loans	. 197
Eleventh Circuit Bans Chapter 11 Debtors from Receiving 'PPP' Loans Consumer Bankruptcy	. 197 . 200
Eleventh Circuit Bans Chapter 11 Debtors from Receiving 'PPP' Loans Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability	. 197 . 200 . 201
Eleventh Circuit Bans Chapter 11 Debtors from Receiving 'PPP' Loans	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says.	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 217
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 217 . 223
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing	. 1977 . 2000 . 2011 . 2022 . 2055 . 2088 . 2122 . 214 . 215 . 227 . 223 . 224 . 227
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b)	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 224 . 224 . 228 . 231
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 227 . 228 . 231 . 234
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 212 . 215 . 217 . 223 . 224 . 231 . 234 . 238
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years Undisclosed Assets Revest in the Debtor After Dismissal but Not After Closing, BAP Says.	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 227 . 228 . 231 . 234 . 238 . 241
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years Undisclosed Assets Revest in the Debtor After Dismissal but Not After Closing, BAP Says. Defenses to Preferences Are Considered in Counting an Involuntary Debtor's Creditors	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 227 . 228 . 231 . 234 . 238 . 241 . 245
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years Undisclosed Assets Revest in the Debtor After Dismissal but Not After Closing, BAP Says. Defenses to Preferences Are Considered in Counting an Involuntary Debtor's Creditors On Dismissal of a '13,' Barton May (or May Not) Bar Garnishments	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 217 . 223 . 224 . 224 . 238 . 241 . 245 . 247
Consumer Bankruptcy Discharge/Dischargeability All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of Brunner Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1 PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says. Arbitration Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court Stays & Injunctions Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following Fulton Wages & Dismissal Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b) A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years Undisclosed Assets Revest in the Debtor After Dismissal but Not After Closing, BAP Says. Defenses to Preferences Are Considered in Counting an Involuntary Debtor's Creditors	. 197 . 200 . 201 . 202 . 205 . 208 . 212 . 214 . 215 . 217 . 223 . 224 . 224 . 238 . 241 . 245 . 247

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Cross-Collateralization Turns Two Loans into One Claim in the Fifth Circuit	252
Amended Chapter 13 Plan Allowed to Cure Post-Petition Mortgage Defaults	254
Courts Split on Whether Counsel Fees Are Considered in Chapter 13 Best Interests Test	256
Congress Must Decide: May Chapter 13 Debtors Contribute to 401(k) Plans?	258
Chapter 13 Debtor May (Sometimes) Contribute to Retirement Plans	
In 'Chapter 20,' Discharged Mortgage Claim Resurrects as Unsecured, EDNY Judge Says	266
Compensation	269
Standards Laid Down for Bifurcated Fee Arrangement in the Southern District of Florida	270
Bifurcated Fee Arrangements Barred in Western District of Kentucky	273
Chapter 13 Trustees Are Paid Even if Dismissal Comes Before Confirmation, BAP Says	276
Courts Split on Paying Chapter 13 Trustee Fees in Cases Dismissed Before Confirmation	279
Exemptions	
Ninth Circuit Joins the Fifth by Endorsing the 'Snapshot Rule' for Exemptions	282
Court Lets the Debtor Keep Appreciation in a Home on Conversion from 13 to 7	
Lack of Permanent Resident Status Doesn't Always Defeat a Homestead Exemption	288
Estate Property	
'Accrual Test' Survives to Say Whether the Debtor or the Estate Owns a Claim	
Unlike IRAs, Debtors Keep Inherited 401(k)s Because They Aren't Estate Property	296
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act	
Sixth Circuit Erects Barriers to FDCPA Suits by Consumers in a 2/1 Opinion	299
Municipal Debt Adjustment & Puerto Rico	. 303
Court of Claims Rebuffs Puerto Rico Bondholders' Claims of Unconstitutional Takings	
Tempnology Didn't Undercut the Validity of Equitable Mootness, First Circuit Says	
Cross-Border Insolvency	
Eleventh Circuit Predicted to Split with the Second Circuit on Foreign Recognition	
Circuits Split on Finality of Rule 2004 Discovery Orders in Chapter 15 Cases	
Filing Chapter 15 as a 'Litigation Tactic' Didn't Bar 'Foreign Main Recognition'	
Safe Harbor Bars Foreign Liquidators from Recovering Money Stolen in the U.S.	
U.S. Suit Dismissed After German Defendant Files Insolvency in Germany	324

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE



Supreme Court

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



This Term



An arbitration case to be argued in November may inform bankruptcy courts whether they must enforce arbitration agreements.

Supreme Court Update: Equitable Mootness Not Ready for Prime Time

With two petitions for *certiorari* denied this month and a third withdrawn last month, there are no "pure" bankruptcy cases already on the Supreme Court's calendar for the term that began on October 4.

One *certiorari* petition still pending is an odds-on favorite for a "grant": The justices are being asked to resolve a circuit split on the constitutionality of the 2018 increase in fees for the U.S. Trustee system.

There is an arbitration case to be argued in November in the Supreme Court. Depending on what the decision says, the outcome might affect how lower courts treat arbitration agreements arising in bankruptcy cases.

No High Court Ruling Yet on Equitable Mootness

In the justices' first two conferences this term, they denied *certiorari* petitions from the Second and Third Circuits asking the Court to decide the validity of the judge-made doctrine of equitable mootness. *See GLM DWF Inc. v. Windstream Holdings Inc.*, 21-78 (Sup. Ct. *cert. den.* Oct. 4, 2021); and *Hargreaves v. Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.*, 21-17 (Sup. Ct. *cert. den.* Oct. 12, 2021). To read ABI's latest report on the *certiorari* petitions, <u>click here</u>.

As is customary, the Court gave no reason for declining to rule on the validity of a doctrine that allows federal appellate courts to refuse to review the merits of orders confirming chapter 11 plans. On occasion, the doctrine has been invoked to dismiss appeals from other bankruptcy court orders.

Equitable mootness is arguably impermissible in view of appellate courts' mandatory jurisdiction. The doctrine is also questionable when appeals are dismissed even though there is constitutional jurisdiction under Article III, given the continued existence of a case or controversy.

The attempted appeals coming from the Second and Third Circuits were both attractive candidates for high court review.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In the *Windstream* nonprecedential, *per curiam* opinion, the Second Circuit used equitable mootness to make a critical vendor order virtually unreviewable after confirmation of a chapter 11 plan. For ABI's report on *GLM DWF Inc. v. Windstream Holdings Inc.* (*In re Windstream Holdings Inc.*), 838 Fed. Appx. 634 (2d Cir. Feb. 18, 2021), click here.

Over dissent in a case involving so-called horizontal gifting, the Third Circuit held that an appeal from confirmation of a chapter 11 plan is equitably moot even if the appellant was only asking the appellate court to pay one relatively small claim and no others. For ABI's report on *Hargreaves v. Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.* (In re Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.), 834 Fed. Appx. 729 (3d Cir. Jan. 6, 2021), click here.

The Court's disinclination to tackle the issue does not bode well for a "grant" when equitable mootness comes up again in new cases. Notably, the Eighth Circuit came near to banning equitable mootness altogether. *See FishDish LLP v. VeroBlue Farms USA Inc.* (*In re VeroBlue Farms USA Inc.*), 6 F.4th 880 (8th Cir. Aug. 5, 2021). To read ABI's report, click here.

A Likely 'Grant'

Frankly, the Supreme Court would be remiss if it does not grant *certiorari* and decide this term whether the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program violated the Bankruptcy Clause of the U.S. Constitution. There is a stark, 2/2 circuit split.

A petition for *certiorari* hit the Supreme Court on September 20.

The Second and Tenth Circuits found violations of the Bankruptcy Clause because the increase did not apply immediately to chapter 11 debtors in two states with bankruptcy administrators rather than U.S. Trustees. *See Clinton Nurseries Inc. v. Harrington (In re Clinton Nurseries Inc.)*, 998 F.3d 56 (2d Cir. May 24, 2021), and *John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC v. U.S. Trustee (In re John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC)*, 20-3203, 2021 BL 380406 (10th Cir. Oct. 5, 2021). To read ABI's reports on *Clinton Nurseries* and *Hammons Fall*, click here and here.

On the other side of the fence, the Fourth and Fifth Circuits found no constitutional infirmity. See Siegel v. Fitzgerald (In re Circuit City Stores Inc.), 996 F.3d 156 (4th Cir. April 29, 2021), and Hobbs v. Buffets LLC (In re Buffets LLC), 979 F.3d 366 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020). To read ABI's discussions of Circuit City and Buffets, click here and here.

The Fourth Circuit debtor filed a *certiorari* petition on September 20. *See Siegel v. Fitzgerald*, 21-441 (Sup. Ct.). On behalf of the government, the U.S. Solicitor General filed a request this week for an extension of time to respond to the petition until November 22.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE



Assuming no further delays, the justices should be holding a conference to consider the *certiorari* petition early in the New Year, still giving time for argument and a decision late this term

An Important Case Settled

The New York Court of Appeals held in a 4/3 decision that there is no federal preemption of a nondebtor third party's tortious interference claims against other nondebtor third parties. At least in New York, the decision could mean that lawyers or financial advisors who help a client file bankruptcy could be liable to the lender if the loan agreement says that filing bankruptcy is a breach of contract. *See Sutton 58 Associates LLC v. Pilevsky*, 36 N.Y.3d 297, 140 N.Y.S.3d 897, 164 N.E.3d 984 (N.Y. Nov. 24, 2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

A group of retired bankruptcy judges and law professors filed an *amicus* brief urging the Supreme Court to grant *certiorari* and reverse. Perhaps because the parties settled, the petition was withdrawn on September 24. *See Pilevsky v. Sutton 58 Associates LLC*, 20-1483 (Sup. Ct. pet. withdrawn Sept. 24, 2021).

Another Arbitration Case

In recent terms, the Supreme Court has been adamant about enforcing arbitration agreements. *See, e.g., Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis*, 200 L. Ed. 2d 889 (Sup. Ct. May 21, 2018).

Of late, the Supreme Court has taken up no case to decide whether or not arbitration agreements are generally enforceable in bankruptcy cases. For instance, must a debtor arbitrate the allowance of a claim? Is the result different if the debtor is suing to make a recovery from a creditor armed with an arbitration agreement?

If arbitration is generally enforceable in bankruptcy, the effect will be dramatic. The process will slow, costs will increase for the debtor, and many critical decisions will be taken out of the hands of bankruptcy judges.

Historically speaking, the leading authority in the Supreme Court on the enforceability of arbitration agreements is or has been *Shearson/American Express Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220 (1987). Years later in *Epic*, the Supreme Court compelled employees to arbitrate wages and hours claims governed by the Fair Labor Standards Act. The Court said that a statute like the FLSA did not manifest a clear intention to override the Federal Arbitration Act.

Some circuits still interpret *McMahon* liberally by overriding arbitration agreements in bankruptcy cases, even though the Bankruptcy Code contains no express language barring enforcement of the FAA. *See, e.g., Credit One Bank NA v. Anderson (In re Anderson)*, 884 F.3d 382 (2d Cir. March 7, 2018), *cert. denied*, 139 S. Ct. 144 (2018). To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Epic raised the question of whether *McMahon* is still good law. Does the Bankruptcy Code manifest a clear intention to override arbitration agreements, or is bankruptcy for some reason an exception to *Epic*'s exacting standard?

That's why we watch any arbitration case in the Supreme Court. On November 2, the Court will hear argument in *Badgerow v. Walters*, 20-1143 (Sup. Ct.). The case presents the question of whether a federal court has subject matter jurisdiction to confirm an arbitration award when the only basis for federal jurisdiction is that the underlying dispute involved a federal question.

The question before the Court does not seem to bear on bankruptcy, but the opinion may contain language that informs lower courts about arbitration in the bankruptcy context.

The circuit opinion on review in the Supreme Court regarding U.S. Trustee fees is *Siegel v. Fitzgerald (In re Circuit City Stores Inc.)*, 996 F.3d 156 (4th Cir. April 29, 2021).



The circuits are now split 2/2 on whether the 2018 increase in U.S. Trustee fees violated the Bankruptcy Clause because the increase didn't apply immediately in bankruptcy administrator districts.

Supreme Court Likely to Tackle 2018 U.S. Trustee Fee Increase

Prediction: The Supreme Court will grant *certiorari* to decide this term whether the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program violated the Bankruptcy Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

We now have a 2/2 split among the circuits. The Second Circuit and now the Tenth Circuit found violations of the Bankruptcy Clause because the increase did not apply immediately to chapter 11 debtors in two states with bankruptcy administrators rather than U.S. Trustees.

The Fourth and Fifth Circuits saw no constitutional infirmity. Meanwhile, the same question is winding its way to the Sixth Circuit and to the Federal Circuit. The outcome in the Supreme Court at a minimum will affect chapter 11 debtors nationwide whose cases were pending between January 2018 and October 2018, when the rate increased in bankruptcy administrator districts.

The Alleged Defect and the Circuit Split

Here's the alleged constitutional defect: The fee increase became effective in January 2018 in 48 states with U.S. Trustees. It applied to pending cases, even those with confirmed chapter 11 plans. In the two states with bankruptcy administrators, the Judicial Conference didn't make the increase effective until nine months later, and even then, the increase in those two states did not apply to pending cases.

The Second and Tenth Circuits found violations of the uniformity aspect of the Bankruptcy Clause. See Clinton Nurseries Inc. v. Harrington (In re Clinton Nurseries Inc.), 998 F.3d 56 (2d Cir. May 24, 2021), and John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC v. U.S. Trustee (In re John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC), 20-3203 (10th Cir. Oct. 5, 2021). To read ABI's report on Clinton Nurseries, click here. We discuss Hammons Fall below.

The Fourth and Fifth Circuits found no constitutional infirmity. See Siegel v. Fitzgerald (In re Circuit City Stores Inc.), 996 F.3d 156 (4th Cir. April 29, 2021), and Hobbs v. Buffets LLC (In re Buffets LLC), 979 F.3d 366 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020). To read ABI's discussion of Circuit City and Buffets, click here and here.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Significantly, the Fourth and Fifth Circuit panels were not unanimous. Dissenters in both circuits saw constitutional violations. So far, only the Second Circuit has been unanimous. The Tenth Circuit also had a dissenter, albeit on a narrow ground. Persistent disagreement among circuit judges is good reason for Supreme Court review.

The issue is already before the Supreme Court. Raising the circuit split, the debtor from the Fourth Circuit filed a petition for *certiorari* on September 20. *See Siegel v. Fitzgerald*, 21-441 (Sup. Ct.). Barring delays, the justices will hold a conference to decide on granting or denying *certiorari* around the new year, allowing time for argument in 2022 and a decision before the end of the term that began this month.

Two other cases are headed for the circuits raising the same question. The Court of Federal Claims adopted the analysis of the Fifth Circuit and dismissed a class action that could have meant refunds for chapter 11 debtors nationwide whose cases were pending before the increase in bankruptcy administrator districts. *See Acadiana Management Group LLC v. U.S.*, 19-496, 151 Fed. Cl. 121 (Ct. Cl. Nov. 30, 2020). The case is on appeal to the Federal Circuit. The last brief was filed in mid-September. For ABI's report on *Acadiana*, <u>click here</u>.

In July, a bankruptcy court in Ohio upheld the increased fees. *See Pidcock v. U.S. (In re ASPC Corp.)*, 19-2120, 2021 BL 262969, 2021 Bankr. Lexis 1857 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio July 13, 2021). An opposed motion for direct appeal to the Sixth Circuit is pending. To read ABI's report on *Pidcock*, *click here*.

The Predicted Outcome

If the Supreme Court grants *certiorari*, how will the Court rule? Your guess is as good as mine.

There is little in the way of Supreme Court precedent on the Bankruptcy Clause. In 1974, the high court found no defect in a special railroad reorganization law that applied only to railroads in the midwestern and northeastern U.S. *Blanchette v. Connecticut General Insurance*, 419 U.S. 102 (1974).

The bankrupt railroads all were in regions covered by the special legislation. Reversing the district court, the majority ruled that Congress could take a geographically isolated problem into consideration.

Two circuits interpreted *Blanchette* one way, and the other two circuits read *Blanchette* differently. Chances are the Supreme Court will consult tax-uniformity cases in an attempt at divining constitutional principles.



The Effect of Outcomes, One Way or the Other

If the Court finds no constitutional violation, nothing will change in the current system. No one is challenging fees imposed today on newly minted chapter 11 debtors.

Finding a violation of the Constitution likely will mean refunds for debtors covered by the class action in the Court of Claims. There could be other repercussions as well.

If different fee schedules violate the Constitution, is the dual system of U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators itself unconstitutional? Or, is the Small Business Reorganization Act unconstitutional because it permits quick and simple chapter 11 reorganization for companies with less than \$7.5 million in debt?

The Tenth Circuit Decision

A bankruptcy court in Kansas denied the chapter 11 debtors' motion to refund overpayment of fees for the U.S. Trustee system. The bankruptcy court denied the motion but certified a direct appeal to the Tenth Circuit. The appeals court accepted the appeal.

The facts in the Tenth Circuit were not fundamentally different from those in the other circuits. The chapter 11 debtors' cases were pending when the increase became effective. Before their cases were closed, the debtors paid \$2.5 million more than they would have paid under the "old" fee schedule.

The Tenth Circuit rejected the idea that the increase was impermissibly retroactive, because it applied only to fees based on disbursements after the increase became effective.

Like all other courts to consider the question, the Tenth Circuit began the uniformity analysis by saying that the fee statute was a law "on the subject of bankruptcies." The fees are an exaction that must be paid before creditors receive what's left.

On uniformity, the majority opinion on October 5 by Circuit Judge Gregory A. Phillips found the increase to be "unconstitutionally nonuniform, because it allows higher quarterly disbursement fees on Chapter 11 debtors in Trustee districts than charged to equivalent debtors in Bankruptcy Administrator districts." He said that the Tenth Circuit agrees "with the Second Circuit's well reasoned and unanimous ruling."

On *Blanchette*, Judge Phillips observed that the Supreme Court validated a bankruptcy law where all members of the affected class were confined to a geographic area. In contrast, the 2018 increase, he said, applied to all chapter 11 debtors in U.S. Trustee districts, with no showing that similar debtors are absent in bankruptcy administrator districts.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Phillips held that the Bankruptcy Clause "precludes increasing fees based just on the location of the bankruptcy court." He remanded for the bankruptcy court to determine the amount of a refund to the debtors based on what they would have paid over the same time were the case in a bankruptcy administrator district.

Based on a procedural shortcoming by the debtor, Circuit Judge Robert E. Bacharach dissented in a two-page opinion.

Both the majority and Judge Bacharach said that the debtor had not preserved its argument that the dual system of U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators is unconstitutional in itself. Because the "dual system created different financial needs," he saw no violation of the Bankruptcy Clause. given that the "dual system[] created different financial needs."

The opinion is John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC v. U.S. Trustee (In re John Q. Hammons Fall 2006 LLC), 20-3203 (10th Cir. Oct. 5, 2021).

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE



Decided Last Term



Justices rule that affirmative action is required before withholding property amounts to controlling estate property and results in an automatic stay violation.

Supreme Court Holds that Merely Holding Property Isn't a Stay Violation

Reversing the Seventh Circuit and resolving a split among the circuits, the Supreme Court ruled unanimously today "that mere retention of property does not violate the [automatic stay in] § 362(a)(3)."

Writing for the 8/0 Court in a seven-page opinion, Justice Samuel A. Alito, Jr. said that Section 362(a)(3) "prohibits affirmative acts that would disturb the *status quo* of estate property." He left the door open for a debtor to obtain somewhat similar relief under the turnover provisions of Section 542, although not so quickly.

In a concurring opinion, Justice Sonia Sotomayor wrote separately to explain how a debtor may obtain the same or similar relief under other provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

Justice Amy Coney Barrett, who had not been appointed when argument was held on October 13, did not take part in the consideration and decision of the case.

The Chicago Parking Ticket Cases

Four cases went to the Seventh Circuit together. The chapter 13 debtors owed between \$4,000 and \$20,000 in unpaid parking fines. Before bankruptcy, the city had impounded their cars. Absent bankruptcy, the city will not release impounded cars unless fines are paid.

After filing their chapter 13 petitions, the debtors demanded the return of their autos. The city refused to release the cars unless the fines and other charges were paid in full.

The debtors mounted contempt proceedings in which four different bankruptcy judges held that the city was violating the automatic stay by refusing to return the autos. After being held in contempt, the city returned the cars but appealed.

The Seventh Circuit upheld the bankruptcy courts, holding "that the City violated the automatic stay . . . by retaining possession . . . after [the debtors] declared bankruptcy." The city, the appeals court said, "was not passively abiding by the bankruptcy rules but actively resisting Section 542(a) to exercise control over the debtors' vehicles." *In re Fulton*, 926 F.3d 916 (7th Cir. June 19, 2019). To read ABI's report on the *Fulton* decision in the circuit court, click here.



The Circuit Split

The Second, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits impose an affirmative duty on creditors to turn over repossessed property after a bankruptcy filing.

The Third, Tenth and District of Columbia Circuits held that the retention of property only maintains the *status quo*. For those circuits, a stay violation requires an affirmative action. Simply holding property is not an affirmative act, in their view.

The City of Chicago filed a *certiorari* petition in September 2019. To resolve the circuit split, the Supreme Court granted *certiorari* in December 2019. Argument was originally scheduled to be held in April 2020 but was postponed until October as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.

The Statute Demanded the Result

Justice Alito laid out the pertinent statutes. Primarily, Section 362(a)(3) stays "any act to obtain possession of property of the estate or of property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the estate." In the lower courts, the debtors relied on that section, but not exclusively.

With some exceptions, Section 542(a) provides that "an entity... in possession... of property that the trustee may use, sell, or lease under section 363 of this title..., shall deliver to the trustee, and account for, such property or the value of such property, unless such property is of inconsequential value or benefit to the estate."

Justice Alito said that the case turned on the "prohibition [in Section 362(a)(3)] against exercising control over estate property." He said the language "suggests that merely retaining possession of estate property does not violate the automatic stay."

To Justice Alito, "the most natural reading" of the words "stay," "act" and "exercise control" mean that Section 362(a)(3) "prohibits affirmative acts that would disturb the status quo of estate property as of the time when the bankruptcy petition was filed." He found a "suggestion" in the "combination" of the words "that §362(a)(3) halts any affirmative act that would alter the status quo as of the time of the filing of a bankruptcy petition."

Justice Alito said that words in Section 362(a)(3) by themselves did not "definitively rule out" the result reached in the Seventh Circuit. "Any ambiguity" in that section, he said, "is resolved decidedly in" Chicago's favor by Section 542.

In view of Section 542, Justice Alito said that reading Section 362(a)(3) to proscribe "mere retention of property" would create two problems.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

First, a broad reading of Section 362(a)(3) would "largely" render Section 542 "superfluous." Second, it would make the two sections contradictory. Where Section 542 has exceptions, Section 362(a)(3) has none.

Justice Alito observed that the prohibition against "control" over estate property was added to Section 362 in the 1984 amendments. "But transforming the stay in §362 into an affirmative turnover obligation would have constituted an important change," he said.

It "would have been odd for Congress to accomplish that change by simply adding the phrase 'exercise control,' a phrase that does not naturally comprehend the mere retention of property and that does not admit of the exceptions set out in §542," Justice Alito said.

Justice Alito interpreted the 1984 amendment to mean that it "simply extended the stay to acts that would change the *status quo* with respect to intangible property and acts that would change the *status quo* with respect to tangible property without 'obtain[ing]' such property."

Justice Alito ended his decision by noting what the opinion did not decide. The ruling did not "settle the meaning of other subsections of §362(a)" and did "not decide how the turnover obligation in §542 operates."

"We hold only that mere retention of estate property after the filing of a bankruptcy petition does not violate §362(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code." Justice Alito vacated the Seventh Circuit's judgment and remanded for further proceedings.

Justice Sotomayor's Concurrence

Justice Sotomayor said she wrote "separately to emphasize that the Court has not decided whether and when §362(a)'s other provisions may require a creditor to return a debtor's property." She said that the "the City's conduct may very well violate one or both of these other provisions," referring to subsections 362(a)(4) and (6).

In her six-page concurrence, Justice Sotomayor noted that the Court had not "addressed how bankruptcy courts should go about enforcing creditors' separate obligation to 'deliver' estate property to the trustee or debtor under §542(a)."

Although Chicago's conduct may have satisfied "the letter of the Code," she said that the city's policy "hardly comports with its spirit." She went on to explain why returning a car quickly is important so a debtor can commute to work and make earnings to pay creditors under a chapter 13 plan.

"The trouble" with Section 542, Justice Sotomayor said, is that "turnover proceedings can be quite slow" because they entail commencing an adversary proceeding. She ended her concurrence



by saying that either the Advisory Committee on Rules or Congress should consider amendments "that ensure prompt resolution of debtors' requests for turnover under §542(a), especially where debtors' vehicles are concerned."

Observations

Prof. Ralph Brubaker agreed with the opinion of the Court. He told ABI that the "Court emphatically confirms the fundamental principle that the text of the automatic stay provision must be interpreted consistent with its most basic and limited purpose of simply maintaining the petition-date status quo. As Judge McKay put it in his *Cowen* opinion for the Tenth Circuit, 'Stay means stay, not go.' That guiding principle should also prove determinative in resolving the potential applicability of § 362(a)(4) and (a)(6), which the Court expressly refused to address."

Prof. Brubaker is the Carl L. Vacketta Professor of Law at the University of Illinois College of Law.

Rudy J. Cerone agreed. He told ABI that Justice Alito reached "the correct result under the history and structure of sections 362(a) and 542." He noted that the ABI Consumer Commission recommended speeding up turnover proceedings. Mr. Cerone is a partner with McGlinchey Stafford PLLC in New Orleans.

Significantly, the Court did not rule on whether debtors could achieve the same result under subsections (4) and (6) of Section 362(a), which prohibit an act to enforce a lien on property and an act to recover a claim.

In one of the cases before the Supreme Court, the bankruptcy court had relied on those other subjections in ruling for the debtor. The Supreme Court did not address subsections (4) and (6) because the Seventh Circuit did not reach those issues.

Consequently, debtors might resurrect a victory either through speedy procedures under Section 542 or a favorable interpretation of subsections (4) and (6). Reliance on the other subsections may not prevail given how Justice Alito would not permit Section 362 to perform all of the work of Section 542.

It is noteworthy how Justice Alito was skeptical that Congress would make major changes in a statute by using only a few words. At the same time, the Supreme Court has been reluctant in recent years to give importance to legislative history. Since legislative history might not succeed in altering the Supreme Court's view of the law, Congress evidently needs to attach bells and whistles to an amendment meant to change the law.

The case is *City of Chicago v. Fulton*, 19-357, 2021 BL 12454, 2021 Us Lexis 496 (Sup. Ct. Jan. 14, 2021).



Supreme Court narrows Spokeo by holding that violation of a statute won't always give rise to standing and the right to sue for damages.

Supreme Court Majority Deals a Blow to Enforcement of Consumer Protection Laws

Trimming back the already narrow definition of standing laid down in *Spokeo Inc. v. Robins*, 578 U.S. 330 (2016), the Supreme Court held 5/4 on June 25 that "an injury in law is not an injury in fact." In other words, a violation of federal law doesn't necessarily confer Article III standing to mount a lawsuit for the recovery of damages provided by statute.

A credit reporting agency maintained a list of individuals who were terrorists, drug traffickers and serious criminals. The majority held that those erroneously on the list had no standing to sue for statutory damages unless the false and defamatory report had been given to a third party.

The opinion is important in bankruptcy because the decision questions whether a debtor or trustee has standing to seek damages for violation of the automatic stay if the debtor can identify no concrete damages apart from violation of the statute. Arguably, the June 25 opinion means that a debtor or trustee is only entitled to an injunction barring further violations of the automatic stay, if the estate suffered no concrete damages from the original stay violation.

Five conservative justices were in the majority. The vigorous dissent by Justice Clarence Thomas indicates that the decision would have gone the other way were Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg still on the bench.

As pointed out by Justice Thomas's dissent, the majority arguably intruded on the separation of powers by depriving Congress of the ability to define individuals' rights and create remedies to be enforced in federal court. Significantly, however, Justice Thomas explained in his dissent how plaintiffs in the future could bring the same claims in state courts.

Justice Brett M. Kavanaugh wrote the opinion of the Court, joined by Chief Justice Roberts and Justices Samuel A. Alito, Jr., Neil M. Gorsuch and Amy Coney Barrett. Justice Thomas wrote a dissent joined by Justices Stephen G. Breyer, Sonia Sotomayor and Elena Kagan. Justice Kagan wrote a separate dissent, joined by Justices Breyer and Sotomayor.

To read ABI's report on *Spokeo*, click here.



The Terrorist List

The government maintains lists of terrorists, drug traffickers and other serious criminals. For an extra fee, the credit reporting agency would tell its customers if someone's name appeared on the list.

The credit agency listed people with the same or similar names. It did not compare birth dates, Social Security numbers or other available identifiers. Consequently, innocent people could appear on the credit agency's list of terrorists and criminals.

The plaintiff negotiated to buy a car. The dealer refused to sell the car because the prospective buyer's name appeared on the credit agency's list of terrorists and criminals. Of course, the buyer was not a terrorist or criminal. He only shared a name with someone on the government's list.

After being denied the ability to buy a car, the plaintiff requested a copy of his credit report from the credit agency. The agency sent him a copy of the report purporting to be complete, but the report did not show him as being on the list of criminals and terrorists.

Later, the agency sent him a letter telling him that he was a potential match with someone on the government list, but it again did not tell him that the information appeared on his credit report. The letter also did not tell the plaintiff about his rights to remove incorrect information from the credit report, as required by the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

The plaintiff filed a class action in federal district court in California under the FCRA. The class of about 8,000 individuals included everyone who was erroneously on the credit agency's list during a specified time, whether or not their reports had been given to third parties. Among the class, erroneous reports for some 1,900 individuals had been given by the credit agency to third parties.

The class of 8,000 was certified. After trial, the jury awarded each of the 8,000 class members almost \$1,000 in statutory damages and some \$6,400 in punitive damages, for a total of more than \$60 million. The Ninth Circuit affirmed 2/1 but reduced the total award to some \$40 million.

The dissenter in the Ninth Circuit believed that class members had no standing if their erroneous reports had not been given to a third party, even though the FCRA gave them the right to damages.

The credit agency filed a petition for *certiorari*, which the Supreme Court granted in December 2020. It is not clear whether there was a circuit split. Oral argument was held on March 30.



The Majority Opinion

After laying out the facts, Justice Kavanaugh recounted the history of Article III standing, which requires that a plaintiff have a "personal stake" in the case. To meet the test, the plaintiff must show that (1) she or he suffered an injury that was concrete, particularized and actual or imminent; (2) the injury was likely caused by the defendant; and (3) the injury would likely be redressed by judicial relief.

In the case before the Court, Justice Kavanaugh said that the question under *Spokeo* was whether "the plaintiff's injury was 'concrete' — that is, 'real, and not abstract." *Spokeo*, he said, allowed for various intangible harms to be concrete, such as "reputational harms, disclosure of private information, and intrusion upon seclusion" or abridgement of free speech.

Justice Kavanaugh said that the views of Congress may be "instructive." Legislation, he said, can elevate the status of concrete, *de facto* injuries that previously were inadequate in law.

Quoting the Sixth Circuit, Justice Kavanaugh said that Congress's lawmaking power may not transform something that is not harmful into something that is. Citing *Spokeo*, he said that Article III standing requires a concrete injury even when there has been a statutory violation.

Justice Kavanaugh therefore held that "an injury in law is not an injury in fact. Only those plaintiffs who have been *concretely harmed* by a defendant's statutory violation may sue that private defendant over that violation in federal court." [Emphasis in original.] If the rules of Article III standing were different, he said, "Congress could authorize virtually any citizen to bring a statutory damages suit against virtually any defendant who violated virtually any federal law."

Applying the law to the facts, Justice Kavanaugh had "no trouble" in concluding that the 1,900 class members had suffered "concrete harm" because their erroneous reports had been given to third parties. For the remainder, "the mere presence of an inaccuracy in an internal credit file, if it is not disclosed to a third party, causes no concrete harm."

The plaintiffs cited *Spokeo* for the proposition that the risk of real harm can sometimes satisfy the requirement of concreteness. Justice Kavanaugh countered by saying that someone "exposed to a risk of future harm may pursue forward-looking, injunctive relief to prevent the harm from occurring, at least so long as the risk of harm is sufficiently imminent and substantial."

In other words, a plaintiff must show standing separately for each type of relief. "Therefore," Justice Kavanaugh said, "a plaintiff's standing to seek injunctive relief does not necessarily mean that the plaintiff has standing to seek retrospective damages."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

For the majority, Justice Kavanaugh reversed and remanded to the Ninth Circuit. The 1,900 class members whose reports were disseminated to third parties "suffered a concrete harm," but the remainder did not and had no standing.

The Dissent by Justice Thomas

In his dissent joined by three liberal justices, Justice Thomas began by emphasizing the facts. The credit reports "flagged many law-abiding people as potential terrorists and drug traffickers" and in doing so violated several provisions in the FCRA. He continued:

Yet despite Congress' judgment that such misdeeds deserve redress, the majority decides that [the credit agency's] actions are so insignificant that the Constitution prohibits consumers from vindicating their rights in federal court. The Constitution does no such thing.

Justice Thomas noted how the notion of injury in fact only emerged in 1970, 180 years after ratification of Article III. To the contrary, he said that "courts for centuries held that injury in law to a private right was enough to create a case or controversy." To his way of thinking, the entire class of 8,000 had "a sufficient injury to sue in federal court" given that the jury had found that the credit agency "violated each member's individual rights."

By way of contrast, Justice Thomas characterized the majority as holding that "the mere violation of a personal legal right is *not* — and never can be — an injury sufficient to establish standing." [Emphasis in original.] In that regard, he insinuated that the Court was cutting back on *Spokeo* because the majority had said five years ago that "Congress is well positioned to identify intangible harms that meet minimum Article III requirements" and that "the violation of a procedural right granted by statute can be sufficient in some circumstances to constitute injury in fact." *Spokeo*, *id.*, 578 U.S. at 341, 342.

Justice Thomas characterized the import of the majority's opinion as meaning that "legislatures are constitutionally unable to offer the protection of the federal courts for anything other than money, bodily integrity, and anything else that this Court thinks looks close enough to rights existing at common law Never before has this Court declared that legal injury is *inherently* insufficient to support standing." [Emphasis in original.]

Consequently, Justice Thomas said, "this Court has relieved the legislature of its power to create and define rights." If characterizing someone as a drug trafficker or terrorist was not enough, he wondered what could rise to the level of sufficient injury. What if someone were falsely labeled as a child molester or a racist? "Or what about openly reducing a person's credit score by several points because of his race?"



"If none of these constitutes an injury in fact, how can that possibly square with our past cases ...? Weighing the harms caused by specific facts and choosing remedies seems to me like a much better fit for legislatures and juries than for this Court," Justice Thomas said.

In a footnote near the end of his dissent, Justice Thomas observed that the majority's decision "might actually be a pyrrhic victory" for the credit agency. The Court only held that some of the class lacked standing in federal court.

Justice Thomas said that state courts would become "the sole forum for such cases" because they are not bound by Article III's requirement of a case or controversy. Moreover, defendants could not remove the suits to federal court, because federal courts would have no jurisdiction for lack of an Article III case or controversy.

"By declaring that federal courts lack jurisdiction," Justice Thomas concluded his footnote by saying that "the Court has thus ensured that state courts will exercise exclusive jurisdiction over these sorts of class actions."

Justice Kagan's Dissent

Joined by Justices Breyer and Sotomayor, Justice Kagan further developed the majority's intrusion into the separation of powers. She said that the "Court here transforms standing law from a doctrine of judicial modesty into a tool of judicial aggrandizement. It holds, for the first time, that a specific class of plaintiffs whom Congress allowed to bring a lawsuit cannot do so under Article III."

Justice Kagan said that the reporting agency had "willfully violated" the statute by preparing credit files falsely reporting class members as potential terrorists and by obscuring the mistake when class members requested copies of their files. She said that finding no injury in the real world "is to inhabit a world I don't know. [citation omitted] And to make that claim in the face of Congress's contrary judgment is to exceed the judiciary's 'proper — and properly limited — role, "" quoting *Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 498 (1975).

Justice Kagan ended her dissent by saying that "Congress is better suited than courts to determine when something causes a harm or risk of harm in the real world. For that reason, courts should give deference to those congressional judgments."

Observations

Assume that a creditor willfully violates the Section 362 automatic stay but causes no injury. After last week's decision, is the debtor or trustee entitled to damages such as attorneys' fees, or is injunctive relief the only remedy?

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In this writer's opinion, the majority has reincarnated substantive due process, this time under Article III. If a remedy for an injustice was not known at common law, the majority are saying that relief other than an injunction is beyond the reach of Congress.

The opinion is TransUnion LLC v. Ramirez, 20-297 (Sup. Ct. June 25, 2021).

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



'Cert' Denied



Despite several errors about the safe harbor, the government recommends that the Supreme Court deny certiorari in Tribune.

Solicitor General Says the Second Circuit 'Erred' in *Tribune* Safe Harbor Decision

The U.S. Solicitor General told the Supreme Court that the Second Circuit "erred in finding that creditors' state-law avoidance actions are preempted by [the safe harbor in] Section 546(e)."

On March 12, the government's advocate in the Supreme Court also said that the Second Circuit's ruling in *In re Tribune Co. Fraudulent Transfer Litigation*, 946 F.3d 66 (2d Cir. Dec. 19, 2019), "would render [*Merit Management Group LP v. FTI Consulting Inc.*, 138 S. Ct. 883 (Feb. 27, 2018)] a virtual nullity."

Nonetheless, the Solicitor General recommended that the justices not grant *certiorari* to correct the errors in *Tribune*, largely because there is no circuit split as yet. To read ABI's reports on *Tribune* and *Merit Management*, <u>click here</u> and <u>here</u>.

Merit Management

The Supreme Court held in *Merit Management* that the presence of a financial institution as a conduit in the chain of payments in a leveraged buyout will not invoke the safe harbor in Section 546(e).

Section 546(e) provides that "the trustee may not" sue for recovery of a "settlement payment" that was made "by or to (or for the benefit of) a \dots financial institution" unless the suit was brought under Section 548(a)(1)(A) for recovery of a fraudulent transfer within two years of bankruptcy made with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud creditors.

The Supreme Court held that the safe harbor is for "financial institutions," not for transactions. More specifically, the Court ruled that Section 546(e) only applies to "the transfer that the trustee seeks to avoid." *Merit Management*, *id.*, at 888. In other words, sticking a bank or broker in the middle of a chain of payments from the transferor to the defendant does not invoke the safe harbor.

The Second Circuit's *Tribune* Decisions

The Second Circuit's opinions arose from the chapter 11 reorganization of newspaper publisher Tribune Co.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Two years before *Merit Management*, the Second Circuit reversed the district court and dismissed the fraudulent transfer suit, holding that Section 546(e) impliedly preempted a lawsuit by creditors under state fraudulent transfer law. The appeals court held that having a financial institution somewhere in the chain of payments was sufficient to invoke the safe harbor.

The Second Circuit believed that allowing creditors' fraudulent transfer suits under state law to unwind "settled securities transactions" would "seriously undermine" the markets. *In re Tribune Co. Fraudulent Transfer Litigation*, 818 F.3d 98, 119 (2d Cir. 2016).

The creditors in *Tribune* had filed a petition for *certiorari* before the Supreme Court handed down *Merit Management*. At the suggestion of a pair of justices on the Supreme Court after *Merit Management*, the Second Circuit withdrew the mandate in May 2018 to revisit the issues.

Merit Management had overruled one of the grounds for the Second Circuit's belief that having a bank in the chain of payments is enough to invoke the safe harbor.

The Second Circuit handed down its new decision in December 2019. The result was the same: dismissal. The Second Circuit found a loophole in *Merit Management*.

The appeals court adhered to its original holding that the safe harbor in the Bankruptcy Code preempts state law. Upholding dismissal a second time, the panel also held that the safe harbor was applicable because a bank was acting as Tribune's depositary. The newspaper publisher was therefore a "financial institution" as defined in Section 101(22)(A).

How's that possible?

A "financial institution" in Section 101(22)(A) is defined to be a bank or "trust company, . . . and when any such . . . entity is acting as agent or a custodian for a customer . . . in connection with a securities contract . . . such customer." In plain English, a customer of a financial institution itself becomes a "financial institution" if the financial institution is acting as the customer's agent or custodian.

In July 2020, the creditors filed a second petition for *certiorari*. *Deutsche Bank Trust Co. v. Robert R. McCormick Foundation*, 20-8 (Sup. Ct.). Several *amicus* briefs were filed. In October, the Supreme Court invited the Solicitor General to file a brief expressing the views of the government.

SG Says the New Tribune Decision Is Wrong

The Solicitor General didn't beat around the bush. In the first sentence of the "Discussion" in the its *amicus* brief, the government said that the Second Circuit "erred in finding that creditors'

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

state-law avoidance actions are preempted by [the safe harbor in] Section 546(e)." To read the government's brief, <u>click here</u>.

"The text of Section 546(e)," the government said, "does not express an intent to preempt statelaw avoidance claims brought by creditors." The Solicitor General said that "nothing in the statutory text indicates that Congress intended permanently to divest creditors of their own statelaw causes of action."

According to the Solicitor General, the Second Circuit "also erred" in holding that suits by creditors under state law would create an "irreconcilable conflict" with the purposes of the safe harbor.

The Supreme Court "in *Merit Management* rejected a similar effort to override Section 546(e)'s text based on assumptions about congressional purpose. 138 S. Ct. at 897," the Solicitor General said. The government went on to say that "that Congress did not intend to preclude every avoidance action that might introduce uncertainty into securities markets."

Similarly, the Solicitor General concluded that the Second Circuit erred in calling Tribune a "financial institution" just because a bank acted as its depositary in the leveraged buyout transaction. In the government's opinion, that "understanding of Section 101(22)(A) would render *Merit Management* a virtual nullity."

The Solicitor General went on to say that the Second Circuit's interpretation will make "the safe harbor... apply to virtually every transfer made in connection with a securities contract, since some party to almost every such transfer will" have a financial institution embedded somewhere in the chain of payments.

The Solicitor General criticized the Second Circuit for failing to consider whether the financial institution was acting as an "agent for significant aspects of the overall transaction" or was only providing "ministerial assistance."

Despite having found several errors by the Second Circuit, the Solicitor General concluded that the Supreme Court's "review is not warranted at this time [in the] absence of a circuit conflict" on the issue of federal preemption. The government believes that the Supreme Court's "eventual review . . . would benefit from further analysis by other courts of appeals."

On the question of whether a whether a minor role by a financial institution is sufficient to invoke the safe harbor, the Solicitor General again said there is no circuit split. The government believes that the high court "would likely benefit from prior consideration of the issues by additional courts of appeals."

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



The certiorari petition was *Deutsche Bank Trust Co. v. Robert R. McCormick Foundation*, 20-8, 209 L. Ed. 2d 568 (*cert. den.* April 19, 2021).



Reorganization



Fraudulent Transfers



Reversing in favor of the Madoff trustee, the Second Circuit rules that inquiry notice, not willful blindness, governs the good faith defense by recipients of fraudulent transfers.

Second Circuit Revives \$3.75 Billion in *Madoff*Lawsuits Against Financial Institutions

In a major victory for the trustee and victims of the Bernard Madoff Ponzi scheme, the Second Circuit again reversed District Judge Jed Rakoff, this time by holding that so-called inquiry notice is sufficient to show a lack of good faith by a transferee of a fraudulent transfer avoided under the Securities Investor Protection Act. Judge Rakoff had required the Madoff trustee to meet the higher standard of "willful blindness."

The appeals court reversed Judge Rakoff on a second issue: Good faith is an affirmative defense to be pleaded by the defendant. In the complaint, the trustee is not required to plead facts showing the transferee's lack of good faith.

Together, the rulings revive about 90 lawsuits against global financial institutions, hedge funds and other participants in the global financial markets. The decision allows Irving Picard, the Madoff trustee, to pursue the recovery of an additional \$3.75 billion in stolen customer property, the trustee said in a statement.

The resurrected lawsuits will bring defrauded customers "as close as possible to recovering 100% of their losses," the trustee said. A full recovery would be remarkable given that customers' cash losses aggregate almost \$19.5 billion.

The Madoff liquidation is being conducted in bankruptcy court under SIPA, which incorporates large swaths of the Bankruptcy Code, including Sections 548 and 550. The trustee filed hundreds of fraudulent transfer suits in the two years following the commencement of the liquidation in 2008.

The 'Bad Faith' Defendants

Most of the suits by the Madoff trustee were lodged against so-called "net winners," meaning Madoff customers who took out fictitious profits. In reality, they were not receiving profits from investments. Rather, Madoff gave them money stolen from other investors because he never bought any securities with customers' deposits.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The Madoff trustee benefited from the so-called Ponzi scheme presumption, where a transfer in a Ponzi scheme is presumed to be made with actual intent to defraud creditors under Section 548(a)(1)(A). The presumption is based on Bernie Madoff's fraudulent intent, not the intent of the recipients of the fraudulent transfers.

Earlier in the Madoff liquidation, the Second Circuit held that net winners did not give value for receipt of fictitious profits and are therefore liable to pay back however much cash they took out within two years of bankruptcy in excess of the cash they invested. Because the return of a customer's principal investments constitutes "value," customers who took out less than they invested (so-called "net losers") were not liable for receipt of fraudulent transfers.

In test cases decided by the Second Circuit on August 30, the Madoff trustee had reason to believe that the defendants either knew there was fraud or ignored enough red flags to be on inquiry notice. For lack of good faith, the Madoff trustee contended in his suits that the defendants were liable even for principal they took out.

The Decisions Below

There were three defendants-appellees in the Second Circuit. One was an initial transferee from Madoff who was being sued for \$213 million. The other two were subsequent transferees being sued for \$343 million and \$6.6 million, respectively.

Early in the litigation, District Judge Rakoff withdrew the reference, reasoning that the suits involved securities law, of which SIPA arguably is part. In a decision in 2014, Judge Rakoff established two principles. SIPC v. BLMIS (In re Madoff Sec.), 516 B.R. 18 (S.D.N.Y. 2014).

First, District Judge Rakoff reasoned that a SIPA trustee must plead lack of good faith in the complaint with particularity. Otherwise, he said, placing the burden on the defendant would undercut SIPA's goal of encouraging investor confidence.

Second, District Judge Rakoff required the trustee to plead the higher standard of "willful blindness" in proving lack of good faith because a securities investor has no inherent duty to inquire about his stockbroker.

Remanded to bankruptcy court, the bankruptcy judge dismissed the complaints under the pleading standards laid down by District Judge Rakoff. The bankruptcy court did not permit the trustee to amend the complaints, saying that the trustee could not plausibly show willful blindness.

The Second Circuit accepted a direct appeal.



Good Faith in the Statutes

Good faith appears in two sections of the Bankruptcy Code pertinent to the appeal.

Under Section 548(c), an initial transferee who "takes for value and in good faith has a lien on or may retain any interest transferred . . . to the extent that such transferee . . . gave value to the debtor in exchange for such transfer." In a Ponzi scheme case like *Madoff*, the initial transferee's lack of good faith requires giving back all transfers within two years of bankruptcy, not just net winnings.

Under Section 550(b)(1), a subsequent transferee is entitled to retain the transferred property if the subsequent transferee took "for value, . . . in good faith, and without knowledge of the voidability of the transfer avoided." Section 550(b)(1) is applicable only to subsequent transferees.

In his complaint, the Madoff trustee alleged facts aiming to show that the three defendants all undertook investigations leading them to suspect that Madoff was conducting a fraud. For District Judge Rakoff, however, the allegations did not rise to the level of willful blindness.

The Reversal on Willful Blindness

Circuit Judge Richard C. Wesley reversed on willful blindness.

He defined inquiry notice as arising when "the facts the transferee knew would have led a reasonable person in the transferee's position to conduct further inquiry into a debtor-transferor's possible fraud."

In comparison, District Judge Rakoff required willful blindness, which he defined as "a showing that the defendant acted with willful blindness to the truth, that is, he intentionally chose to blind himself to the red flags that suggest a high probability of fraud."

Judge Wesley explained that the two standards differ in "degree and intent." Someone who is willfully blind takes deliberate action to avoid confirming a high probability of wrongdoing. Inquiry notice, on the other hand, requires "knowledge of suspicious facts" that would induce "a reasonable person to investigate."

District Judge Rakoff had invoked willful blindness because it is the standard for some securities law claims, and SIPA is part of securities law.

The Bankruptcy Code does not define "good faith," so Judge Wesley looked to the "commonly understood meaning." Before the Bankruptcy Code, he said that "good faith" meant "inquiry notice," citing Circuit Judge Learned Hand for using that standard in 1914.



Judge Wesley concluded that "the plain meaning of good faith in Sections 548 and 550 of the Bankruptcy Code embraces an inquiry notice standard." Other circuits, he said, "unanimously accept the inquiry notice standard."

"The historical usage of the phrase 'good faith' (particularly as used in the context of fraudulent conveyance law), this Court's prior case law, and the legislative history of the Bankruptcy Code all lead us to reject the heightened willful blindness standard," Judge Wesley said.

The Same Standard in SIPA Cases

The defendants contended that willful blindness obtains in SIPA cases because inquiry notice is inconsistent with the standard in federal securities law.

Judge Wesley rejected the argument, observing that it had not been adopted by any other circuit court. He noted, among other things, that a Section 10(b) suit "for securities fraud is meaningfully different from a SIPA liquidation."

The Burden of Pleading

Although good faith is an affirmative defense that the defendant must plead in an answer under Rule 8(c), District Judge Rakoff had placed the burden on the Madoff trustee in view of the "policy goals" of a SIPA liquidation.

Judge Wesley held that "the trustee is not required to plead a transferee's lack of good faith" because "good faith is an affirmative defense under Sections 548 and 550 and . . . SIPA does not compel departing from the well-established burden-of-pleading rules."

Other circuits, Judge Wesley said, "uniformly agree," along with the *Collier* treatise. He found no "policy-based justifications for departing from Rule 8(c)(1) because placing the burden on the defendant "does not contradict the goals of SIPA."

Judge Wesley vacated the judgments of the bankruptcy court and remanded for further proceedings.

The Concurrence

Circuit Judge Steven J. Menashi wrote separately.

He said that using "fraudulent transfer law rather than the law relating to preferences to promote an equal distribution among creditors . . . is questionable." Because none of the defendants had challenged the Ponzi scheme presumption, he concurred in Judge Wesley's opinion.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

This writer finds the concurrence difficult to follow. Judge Menashi may have been saying that the defendants' liability should have been judged by whether or not the transfers were preferences, had the defendants made the argument. To read the concurrence, <u>click here</u>.

Observations

The Second Circuit had reversed District Judge Rakoff two years ago by holding that Sections 548 and 550 can be applied extraterritorially to recover fraudulent transfers even if subsequent transfers occurred abroad. *In re Picard, Trustee for the Liquidation of Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC*, 917 F.3d 85 (2d Cir. Feb. 25, 2019). To read ABI's report, click here.

The rulings by District Judge Rakoff on good faith set back the Madoff trustee even more in his efforts to recover on behalf of defrauded investors. More than five years into the liquidation, the decision by Judge Rakoff seemingly killed off about 90 lawsuits aiming to recover about \$3.75 billion.

Rather than settle for little or nothing in the face of unfavorable decisions by District Judge Rakoff, the Securities Investor Protection Corp. supported the trustee's decision to undertake seven years of further litigation to set up the test cases in the Second Circuit.

Already, the Madoff trustee has recovered almost \$14.5 billion and has distributed more than \$13.5 billion. He holds more than \$900 million. The distributions so far represent almost 70% of investors' cash losses.

The opinion is *Picard v. Citibank NA (In re Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC)*, 20-1333, 2021 BL 326779, 2021 Us App Lexis 26100 (2d Cir. Aug. 30, 2021).



Properly structuring a leveraged refinancing in the Second Circuit can avoid attack as a fraudulent transfer despite the Supreme Court's effort at narrowing the 'safe harbor.'

Affirmance Shows that *Merit Management* Has Been Gutted in the Second Circuit

Affirming the bankruptcy court, a district judge in New York handed down a decision seeming to mean that a leveraged transaction cannot be set aside in the Second Circuit as a fraudulent transfer if the professionals properly structure the transaction to invoke the so-called safe harbor in Section 546(e).

If followed elsewhere, the September 13 decision by District Judge George B. Daniels allows the structuring of a transaction to avoid the consequences of *Merit Management Group LP v. FTI Consulting Inc.*, 138 S. Ct. 883 (Sup. Ct. Feb. 27, 2018). There, the Court held that the presence of a financial institution as a conduit in the chain of payments in a leveraged buyout was insufficient to invoke the safe harbor in Section 546(e). That section provides that a trustee may not avoid a "settlement payment... made by or to (or for the benefit of)... a financial institution."

Merit Management held that Section 546(e) only applies to "the transfer that the trustee seeks to avoid." More particularly, Justice Sonia Sotomayor said that "the relevant transfer for purposes of the Section 546(e) safe-harbor inquiry is the overarching transfer that the trustee seeks to avoid." *Id.* at 888, 893.

The Leveraged Recapitalization

At the risk of oversimplification, the highly complex leveraged recapitalization worked like this:

The operating company borrowed about \$1 billion by taking down new credit facilities secured by its assets. The operating company transferred the loan proceeds to a bank account of its parent holding company. The holding company had no assets other than ownership of the operating company.

The holding company then transferred the loan proceeds to a second bank, which distributed the funds to equity holders in redemption of their warrants and equity interests and to pay a dividend.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

More than three years later, the operating company was in chapter 11. The plan paid only the first-lien lender. Subordinate lenders, owed hundreds of millions of dollars, received nothing more than the right to distributions from whatever the liquidating trustee could recover in lawsuits.

The liquidating trustee filed a fraudulent transfer suit under state law, alleging that the operating company was insolvent at the time of the leveraged restructuring. Bankruptcy Judge Robert E. Grossman of Central Islip, N.Y., granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment. *Holliday v. K Road Power Management LLC (In re Boston Generating LLC)*, 617 B.R. 442 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 18, 2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

Where Judge Grossman needed 82 pages to dismiss, Judge Daniels affirmed in only 20 pages.

The Relevant Transaction

On appeal, the trustee argued that the relevant transfer under *Merit Management* was the initial transfer from the operating company to the holding company's first bank account. Under the trustee's theory, the safe harbor would not come into play because the first transfer was not in connection with a settlement payment for securities.

Judge Daniels disagreed. In substance, he compressed the first two transfers into one. In other words, the relevant transfer put the loan proceeds into the hands of a financial institution that made the distributions to equity holders. The transfer was a settlement payment that invoked the safe harbor.

Furthermore, Judge Daniels said, the parent holding company was a financial institution itself protected by the safe harbor. Why, you say?

In Section 101(22), a non-financial institution becomes a financial institution if a financial institution is acting as its agent. In the case on appeal, Judge Daniels decided as a matter of common law that a bank was serving as the holding company's agent, thus making the holding company a financial institution itself protected by the safe harbor.

Bound by Second Circuit authority from *Note Holders v. Large Private Beneficial Owners (In re Tribune Co. Fraudulent Conveyance Litigation)*, 818 F.3d 98 (2d Cir. 2016), Judge Daniels also upheld the ruling by Judge Grossman that the safe harbor in Section 546(e) preempted the trustee's fraudulent transfer claims under state law.

The opinion is *Holliday v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC*, 20-5404, 2021 BL 344979 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 13, 2021).



Executory Contracts & Leases



The bankruptcy community needs a better definition of what's an executory contract, and Prof. Jay Westbrook has it.

Puerto Rico Case and the Efficacy of Prof. Westbrook's Definition of 'Executoriness'

A decision by the district court in restructuring Puerto Rico's debt demonstrates the gyrations a court must sometimes undertake to conclude that a contract is capable of assumption under the "Countryman" definition of an executory contract.

Rather than decide whether a contract is executory under the dueling "Countryman" and "functional" definitions of executoriness, this writer instead recommends adoption of the "Modern Contract Analysis" proposed by Prof. Jay L. Westbrook and Kelsi S. White in "The Demystification of Contracts in Bankruptcy," 91 Am. Bankr. L.J. 481 (Summer 2017). Prof. Westbrook occupies the Benno C. Schmidt Chair of Business Law at the University of Texas School of Law.

The Class Action Insurance Settlements

When auto owners in Puerto Rico register their vehicles, they pay auto insurance premiums to the commonwealth government. If an owner has private insurance, the owner is entitled to a refund of the premium paid to the government.

Two class actions were filed seeking refunds for auto owners who had private insurance but paid for duplicate insurance between 1998 and 2010. One suit was in a commonwealth court, and the other was in federal district court in Puerto Rico.

The suits were settled at least in principle before Puerto Rico and its instrumentalities initiated their debt adjustments in district court in Puerto Rico in 2017 under the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act, or PROMESA (48 U.S.C. §§ 2161 et. seq.). PROMESA incorporates large parts of the Bankruptcy Code, including Section 365 and law on assuming executory contracts.

Acting as the representative of the commonwealth in the debt-adjustment cases, the Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico filed a motion to assume the settlements as executory contracts under Section 365. The official creditors' committee objected, contending that the settlements were not executory, and if they were, that assumption did not satisfy the business judgment standard.



District Judge Laura Taylor Swain overruled the objections in an opinion on June 29. She concluded that the settlements were executory and that the Oversight Board exercised sound business judgment in deciding to assume the settlements as executory contracts. Judge Swain ordinarily sits in the Southern District of New York but was tapped by the Chief Justice to preside over the PROMESA proceedings.

The Two Definitions of 'Executory'

Under Section 365(a), a trustee may assume or reject a contract if it is "executory." The term is not defined in the Bankruptcy Code.

Judge Swain laid out two competing definitions of executory contracts:

- (1) The so-called Countryman definition, where Prof. Vern Countryman of Harvard Law School proposed that a contract is executory if it is "a contract under which the obligation of both the bankrupt and the other party to the contract are so far unperformed that the failure of either to complete performance would constitute a material breach excusing performance of the other." *Executory Contracts in Bankruptcy: Part I*, 57 Minn. L. Rev. 439, 460 (1973); and
- (2) The so-called functional approach, which, as explained by Judge Swain, works backward from the purposes to be accomplished by rejection. The contract is no longer executory if the purposes have been accomplished already.

Judge Swain said that "some courts" have moved away from the Countryman definition to the functional approach, believing that courts should not be bound by a static definition not appearing in the language of the statute.

Judge Swain first applied the Countryman test and found one narrow (if not contorted) basis for concluding that the contract remained executory because the plaintiffs had remaining obligations that would amount to breach if not performed.

Without much in the way of explanation, Judge Swain also decided that the contract was executory under the functional approach.

Having decided that the contract was available for assumption, Judge Swain asked whether the Oversight Board had properly exercised its business judgment.

Settlement would resolve a lawsuit kicking around for 20 years and end the commonwealth's expenditures on counsel fees. The settlement would also avoid paying interest on the monies withheld from auto owners for so long.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE



Judge Swain authorized assumption of the settlements.

The Westbrook Approach

Prof. Westbrook told ABI that the result reached by Judge Swain was correct, but he went on to say that "the so-called 'functional' cases are a dead end, with the name taken from my first executoriness article but ignoring its analysis."

In that regard, we have written several times in recent months about the sometimes baffling analysis and results that courts reach in applying the Countryman analysis or avoiding it. To read ABI discussions of recent cases on the Countryman definition, click here, here, and here.

To provide a more solid foundation for analysis, this writer recommends that courts embrace Prof. Westbrook's Modern Contract Analysis.

Prof. Westbrook told ABI that he provides a "simple analysis and relates it to all the major lines of modern cases to show how it can light the way out of the labyrinth."

The approach in the professor's 2017 article "ensures that pre-bankruptcy bargains and entitlements will be changed in Chapter 11 only insofar as bankruptcy policies, like equality of treatment and rehabilitation of debtors, require alteration. Properly understood, the very process of acceptance or rejection is simply the trustee's exercise of the opportunity every contract party has to perform or breach with whatever consequences non-bankruptcy law proscribes." Westbrook, *supra*, 91 Am. Bankr. L.J. at 535.

The opinion is *In re Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico*, 17- 3283, 2021 BL 242214 (D. P.R. June 29, 2021).



Officers are presumptively disqualified from KERPs, "absent a strong showing that they do not perform any significant role in management," a district judge in New York says.

Being an 'Officer' Disqualifies Someone from a KERP, New York District Judge Says

Reversing a bankruptcy court in New York, District Judge J. Paul Oetken held that someone with the title of a corporate officer is not entitled to participate in a key employee retention program, or KERP, "absent a particularly strong showing that they do not perform a significant role in management."

In his July 9 opinion, Judge Oetken also held that the appeal was not equitably moot, even though the KERP payments had been made to six officers and the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay pending appeal.

On the subject of who is or is not an "officer" for the purpose of Section 503(c), Judge Oetken referred to the "messy state of the law on this topic." The section prohibits retention payments to an "insider" absent evidence that the payment is "essential" to retain someone who has a *bona fide* offer from another business. In turn, an "insider" is defined in Section 101(31)(B)(ii) to include an "officer."

The Six Corporate Officers and the KERP

The chapter 11 debtor established an \$8 million KERP for 190 employees. The group included six officers slated for retention bonuses aggregating \$1.8 million.

Among the six, one was the deputy general counsel, three were senior vice presidents, and two were vice presidents. The debtor conceded that all six were deemed to be officers under Delaware law.

The U.S. Trustee objected to approval of the KERP as to the six officers. The bankruptcy judge overruled the objection and approved the KERP across the board, adopting the debtor's argument that the six were officers in name only and had no broad decision-making authority.

The U.S. Trustee appealed but did not seek a stay pending appeal. The KERP payments were made to everyone. The chapter 11 plan was confirmed and consummated.



Equitable Mootness

The debtor contended that the appeal was equitably moot because the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay pending appeal and requiring repayment would be inequitable.

To determine whether the appeal was moot, Judge Oetken applied the five-part *Chateaugay* test. *See In re Chateaugay Corp.*, 10 F.3d 944, 952 (2d Cir. 1993).

Among the tests relevant to the case on appeal, Judge Oetken saw no reason he could not provide relief by compelling disgorgement. Further, the six officers knew about the appeal and had been represented by the debtor, effectively speaking.

It was "regrettable," Judge Oetken said, that the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay, but clawing back the payments would not be "inequitable" if the payments were illegal in the first place.

Judge Oetken decided that the appeal was not equitably moot, noting that the lack of a stay "is much more dire" on appeal from a confirmation order.

The Significance of Being an 'Officer'

In approving the KERP, the bankruptcy court applied a functional test to determine whether the six officers had "sufficient authority" to be seen as officers under Section 503(c). The debtor argued that being an officer under Delaware law was neither controlling nor dispositive.

"From a policy standpoint," Judge Oetken said, "giving more weight to an objective criterion — whether an employee was appointed by the board — provides better guidance to parties than a functional, non-exhaustive test."

Although a "functional approach" may be appropriate "in many cases," Judge Oetken agreed "with the [U.S.] Trustee that with respect to officers *appointed or elected by the Board*, such individuals are 'officers' under the Bankruptcy Code, at least absent a particularly strong showing that they do not perform a significant role in management." [Emphasis in original.]

Judge Oetken concluded that the bankruptcy court "erred by inquiring beyond the fact that the six employees were appointed by [the] board." Even had he made a "more expansive analysis" beyond the fact that the six were appointed by the board and were officers under Delaware law, Judge Oetken said their designation as officers would be "dispositive, at least absent a strong showing that they do not perform any significant role in management."

In the case at hand, Judge Oetken said that the debtor "failed to overcome the strong presumption that, as board-appointed employees, the six employees are officers." He therefore reversed the order approving the KERP as to the six officers.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



The Standards on Appeal

In a footnote at the conclusion of his decision, Judge Oetken said that the case presented mixed questions of law and fact, where the issues were "primarily legal." On that basis, he reversed on *de novo* review.

If the questions were "primarily factual," Judge Oetken said, then the bankruptcy court's conclusion that the six were not officers was "clearly erroneous."

The opinion is *Harrington v. LSC Communications Inc.* (In re LSC Communications Inc.), 20-5006 (S.D.N.Y. July 9, 2021).



The 'Countryman' definition of an executory contract allows a debtor sell a contract without curing a default if the non-debtor counterparty has no further material, unperformed obligations.

Curing Defaults Isn't Always Required Before Selling a Contract, Third Circuit Says

Third Circuit Judge Thomas L. Ambro found an exception to the general rule that a debtor must cure defaults before selling a contract.

If the non-debtor counterparty has no remaining material obligations, the debtor may sell or assign the contract without curing monetary defaults owing to the counterparty, and the non-debtor cannot require the buyer to cure pre-petition monetary defaults.

The counterparty only has a pre-petition unsecured claim against the debtor, according to Judge Ambro.

In his May 21 opinion, Judge Ambro has identified an aspect of the so-called Countryman definition of executory contracts that undercuts the general notion that debtors must cure defaults before selling or assigning contracts.

As Judge Ambro said, "This pill is bitter to swallow, but bankruptcy inevitably creates harsh results for some players." However, Judge Ambro explained how parties can draft their contracts to avoid the result.

The Movie Producer's Contract

An individual, whom we shall call the producer, had a contract to produce a movie for a movie company. In the movie business, it's called a work-made-for-hire contract where the producer produces the movie, but the movie company owns all of the intellectual property.

In this case, the producer was paid \$250,000 for producing the movie, plus contingent future payments equal to some 5% of the movie's net profits. The movie was a success. A cast member won the Academy Award for Best Actress.

By the time the movie company filed a chapter 11 petition years later, the movie company owed the producer an additional \$400,000.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In chapter 11, a purchaser bought the movie company's assets along with the right to designate executory contracts for assumption and assignment. The buyer filed a declaratory judgment action asking Bankruptcy Judge Mary F. Walrath in Delaware to rule that the contract was not executory and had already been sold.

Bankruptcy Judge Walrath granted summary judgment in favor of the purchaser. The district court affirmed, prompting an appeal to the Third Circuit.

The Countryman Definition

The outcome turned on an extrapolation from the definition of "executory contracts" proposed by Harvard Law Professor Vern Countryman. *See Executory Contracts in Bankruptcy: Part I*, 57 Minn. L. Rev. 439 (1973). The Third Circuit adopted the Countryman definition.

Prof. Countryman defined an executory contract as "a contract under which the obligation of both the bankrupt and the other party to the contract are so far unperformed that the failure of either to complete performance would constitute a material breach excusing performance of the other." *Id.* at 460.

In turn, Judge Ambro said that a "material unperformed obligation" is determined by state law, in this case New York law chosen by the parties to govern the contract. Combining the Countryman definition with state law, Judge Ambro said there is an executory contract if "each side has at least one material unperformed obligation as of the bankruptcy petition date."

Judge Ambro described an executory contract as a bundle of assets and liabilities. From the point of view of the debtor, the performance owed by the debtor is a liability, while the performance due from the contract party is an asset. When the contract party has fully performed but the debtor has not, he said that the contract is "not executory because it is only a liability for the estate."

If the contract is not executory, Judge Ambro said that it can be sold without curing defaults under Section 363 just "like any other liability or asset." On the other hand, the "buyer must typically fulfill obligations under the contract it bought after the sale closes, just as it would with any other asset or liability."

Should there be no buyer, the counterparty would be left with only an unsecured claim, Judge Ambro said.

Judge Ambro saw "no fairness concerns" when the counterparty has fully performed and retains only an unsecured claim, even when the contract is sold without cure. He said that the counterparty "should simply be grateful that someone agreed to buy its contract and assume obligations after the sale's closing."



Did the Non-Debtor Fully Perform?

Having laid out the law, Judge Ambro applied the law to the facts, first to determine whether there were material unperformed obligations making the contract executory.

The debtor's obligations to make contingent payments were "clearly material," Judge Ambro said. The same could not be said for the obligations of the producer.

The contract called for the producer "to produce the Picture in exchange for money. Thus, he contributed almost all his value when he produced the movie," Judge Ambro said. In the movie industry, Judge Ambro cited the Ninth Circuit for the notion that "the employee in a work-made-for-hire contract usually does not have material obligations after the work is completed despite ancillary negative covenants or indemnification obligations."

In the case on appeal, Judge Ambro said that the producer's remaining obligations were not material because they were "all ancillary after-thoughts in a production agreement."

Because the producer had no remaining material unperformed obligations, the contract was not executory, and the debtor could sell the contract without curing the \$400,000 default.

Parties May Change the Outcome by Contract

Judge Ambro said that the parties "can contract around" the substantial performance rule and thereby "override the Bankruptcy Code's intended protections for the debtor."

The producer argued that the contract indeed altered the substantial performance rule by declaring that the unperformed obligations by the producer were material. Judge Ambro rejected the argument, because the contract "did not clearly and unambiguously avoid the substantial performance rule for evaluating executory contracts."

Observations

In the view of Prof. Stephen J. Lubben, it's "a nicely written opinion, although it does not take up the suggestion of *Tempnology* that we might analyze contracts and leases in a more straightforward way, with a bit less emphasis on the late Professor Countryman's notion of executoryness. Indeed, Judge Ambro even suggests that the parties might be able to control, by contract, whether or not their agreement is subject to Section 365, which itself suggests to me that we are asking the concept of executoryness to do too much work."

Prof. Lubben is the Harvey Washington Wiley Chair in Corporate Governance & Business Ethics at Seton Hall University School of Law.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The professor is on the right track. For example, consider the implications of the opinion with regard to sales of intellectual property.

Assume that a writer sold a book and all its intellectual property to a publisher in return for a small payment up front and a percentage of sales thereafter. Applying the Third Circuit's analysis, the publisher could file bankruptcy and either retain or sell the intellectual property without curing defaults.

Presumably, the publisher or the buyer must pay royalties on later sales, but the most lucrative royalties might have been produced before bankruptcy. Under general notions of contract law, why doesn't the publisher's default and breach of contract mean that the intellectual property reverted to the writer?

Assuming Prof. Countryman pronounced the correct definition for executory contracts to apply in *all circumstances*, and also assuming that Judge Ambro reached the proper conclusion that the producer's remaining obligations were not material, the result seems correct. But what about the effect of the debtor's breach of contract? Why didn't ownership of the intellectual property revert to the producer following the debtor's breach?

Because the Countryman definition has been adopted as a matter of judge-made law, courts have the power to make exceptions to the definition if the outcome seems at odds with the general notions about intellectual property and curing defaults before selling contracts in bankruptcy.

The opinion leaves open an interesting question. The movie company debtor had a right of first refusal covering sequels. Can the buyer enforce the first-refusal right without curing the prebankruptcy defaults, or were those claims cut off by the sale "free and clear"?

If the producer can never require the purchaser to pay \$400,000 to enforce the right of first refusal, it seems as though the right of first refusal was a material, unperformed, bilateral provision in the contract.

In that regard, Judge Ambro said that the "buyer must typically fulfill obligations under the contract it bought after the sale closes, just as it would with any other asset or liability." Does that language imply that the producer can or cannot enforce the right of first refusal (or perhaps other rights under the contract) without paying \$400,000?

The opinion is Cohen v. Spyglass Media Group LLC (In re Weinstein Company Holdings LLC), 20-1750 (3d Cir. May 21, 2021).



An irrevocable surety bond isn't executory because it gives the bonding company no further obligations to the debtor.

Surety Bonds Aren't Executory Contract and Can't Be Assumed, District Judge Says

Affirming Bankruptcy Judge Douglas D. Dodd of Baton Rouge, La., the district court held that a surety bond is not an executory contract that a debtor can assume.

The surety may have been lulled into complacency during the chapter 11 case by the debtor's having said it would continue paying the bonds. Just like Judge Dodd, District Judge Brian A. Jackson held that a surety bond is not an executory contract capable of assumption under the so-called Countryman definition of executory contracts.

The E&P Bonds

The debtor was engaged in oil and gas exploration and production. Before bankruptcy, the debtor had acquired four irrevocable performance bonds securing the debtor's obligations to the state for environmental liabilities and for plugging and abandoning wells. The bonds were accompanied by an indemnity agreement where the debtor agreed to indemnify the bonding company if it were called on the bonds.

The insurer was liable for a maximum of about \$10.6 million on the bonds, Bankruptcy Judge Dodd said in his opinion on Sept. 22, 2020. At filing, the insurer held some \$3.2 million in cash to secure the bonding company's obligations were claims to be made on the bonds. *See In re Falcon V LLC*, 620 B.R. 256 (Bankr. M.D. La. Sept. 22, 2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

The bonding company filed a secured claim for \$3.2 million and an unsecured claim for the difference, \$7.4 million. In the claim, the insurer said that the bonds were financial accommodations that the debtor could not assume or assign.

The Confirmed Plan

On motion of the debtor near the outset of reorganization, the bankruptcy court authorized the debtor to "continue and maintain" the surety bonds and to pay obligations under the bonds as they came due. Later, the disclosure statement said the debtor would "maintain" the bonds after confirmation. The plan said that executory contracts were deemed assumed unless they were listed for rejection, but the bonds were not on the list of rejected executory contracts.



After confirmation, the debtor failed to pay a premium on the bonds. The bonding company responded by demanding more collateral. The debtor refused, accusing the bonding company of violating the discharge injunction.

To resolve the dispute, the bonding company filed a motion for a declaration that the bonds were among executory contracts assumed automatically on confirmation.

Bankruptcy Judge Dodd agreed with the debtor. He held that the bonds were not executory contracts capable of assumption. And if they were executory, he said they were financial accommodations incapable of assumption.

The bonding company appealed, to no avail.

Countryman Ends the Discussion

The outcome turned on Section 365(a), which permits the assumption of an executory contract with the court's permission. "Curiously," Judge Jackson said, the statute does not define "executory contract."

Judge Jackson prefaced his analysis of the law by recognizing that the Fifth Circuit has adopted the definition of executory contracts proposed by Prof. Vern Countryman of Harvard Law School. The professor called a contract executory if it is "a contract under which the obligation of both the bankrupt and the other party to the contract are so far unperformed that the failure of either to complete performance would constitute a material breach excusing performance of the other." *Executory Contracts in Bankruptcy: Part I*, 57 Minn. L. Rev. 439, 460 (1973).

The key to the outcome was contained on the second page of Judge Jackson's opinion. He said that the indemnity imposed continuing obligations on the debtor but none on the bonding company.

"Under any stretch" in applying the Countryman definition, Judge Jackson said that the bonding company "owes *no* additional performance to the Reorganized Debtors after posting the surety bonds." The bonding company's "only remaining duty is a contingent obligation" to the beneficiaries of the bonds.

Even "more problematic," Judge Jackson said, the bonds are "irrevocable."

"Thus," he said, "the Reorganized Debtors failure to perform does *not* create a material breach that excuses [the bond company's] performance, as required by the second prong of the Countryman test."

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Governed by the Fifth Circuit's adoption of the Countryman test, Judge Jackson said he would rule, as he "must," that the bonds were not executory contracts and thus were incapable of assumption.

Judge Jackson upheld the ruling by Judge Dodd and, in the process, said that surety bonds cannot pass unaffected through bankruptcy because the ride-through doctrine applies only to executory contracts that were neither assumed nor rejected.

The opinion is Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Falcon V LLC, 20-00702 (M.D. La. Sept. 30, 2021).



Courts disagree on whether a repudiated contract remains executory.

Once Repudiated, a Contract Is No Longer Executory

Once repudiated, a contract is no longer executory, according to Bankruptcy Judge Marvin Isgur of Houston.

Repudiation has two significant implications: (1) There is nothing for the debtor to assume, and (2), as Judge Isgur ruled, repudiation requires the creditor to file a proof of claim by the general bar date, not by the rejection bar date, if it's later.

The debtor was under contract to purchase component parts from the creditor. Claiming that a shipment of parts was defective, the debtor wrote to the creditor six months before bankruptcy and said it was considering open purchase orders to be "cancelled." The creditor objected, contending that the shipment was not defective and calling on the debtor to perform the remainder of the contract.

The creditor did not file a proof of claim by the general bar date before confirmation of the debtor's chapter 11 plan. The bar date for claims arising from the rejection of executory contracts was after confirmation.

The creditor filed a proof of claim after confirmation and after the general bar date but before the bar date for rejected contracts.

The plan said that claims filed after the bar dates would be deemed disallowed. When the creditor did not receive a dividend as an unsecured creditor with a rejected contract, the creditor filed a motion to compel payment of the claim.

Judge Isgur denied the motion in an opinion on April 27.

Judge Isgur defined an executory contract as one with material, unperformed obligations. He cited the Seventh Circuit for holding that "the non-repudiating party is no longer under an obligation to perform" when there has been "clear evidence of an intent to repudiate." *In re C&S Grain Co.*, 47 F.3d 233, 237 (7th Cir. 1995).

Although some courts disagree with C&S, Judge Isgur said they "typically have done so out of a concern that pre-petition repudiations should not limit a debtor's ability to assume executory contracts." The case at hand, he said, "presents the opposite scenario."

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Isgur made fact findings that were central to his legal conclusion. For instance, he said that the "debtor made clear, long before bankruptcy, that it no longer intended to perform and that it did not seek reciprocal performance." Similarly, he said that the creditor "had no reasonable basis to believe that [the debtor] still sought performance of the contract" or that the debtor would pay outstanding invoices.

Judge Isgur said he was not deciding who was at fault for breaching the contract. Rather, he held that the "contract was not executory on the petition date."

Judge Isgur denied the motion to compel payment of the claim because the creditor "was not justified in its belief that it only needed to file by the rejection bar date."

The opinion is *In re Cornerstone Valve LLC*, 19-30869, 2021 BL 154997, 2021 Bankr Lexis 1120 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. April 27, 2021).

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Jurisdiction & Power



Filing bankruptcy to gain a 'litigation advantage' in the N.Y. Attorney General's dissolution action meant the chapter 11 petition was not filed in good faith and must be dismissed, Judge Harlan Hale rules

NRA's Bankruptcy Dismissed as Being Filed for an Improper Purpose

Following a 12-day trial with 23 witnesses, Bankruptcy Judge Harlan D. Hale dismissed the chapter 11 petition filed by the National Rifle Association, finding that the filing was "not filed in good faith but instead was filed as an effort to gain an unfair litigation advantage in the [action by the New York Attorney General to dissolve the NRA] and as an effort to avoid a regulatory scheme."

Judge Hale found that the NRA was "in its strongest financial condition in years" and that its "primary legal problem [was the] state regulatory action." As a "solvent and growing organization," he said that "using this bankruptcy as a tool to win the dissolution lawsuit" was "not an appropriate use of bankruptcy."

Judge Hale dismissed the case "without prejudice," meaning that the NRA can attempt chapter 11 reorganization once more.

However, Judge Hale ended his 37-page opinion on May 11 by warning the NRA that he may appoint a trustee if the organization files again, given the "cringeworthy facts" that came out during trial. He also alluded to the "surreptitious manner" in which the petition was filed, saying it was "nothing less than shocking."

The Leadup to the Chapter 11 Filing

The New York Attorney General had conducted a 15-month investigation of the NRA, culminating in August 2020 with the filing of a complaint seeking dissolution of the NRA, among other relief. The Attorney General did not seek appointment of a receiver.

At a meeting in January 2020, the NRA board adopted a resolution giving Wayne LaPierre, the organization's executive vice president, authority "to reorganize or restructure the affairs of the Association for the purpose of cost-minimization, regulatory compliance *or otherwise*." [Emphasis added.]

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Eight days later, the NRA filed a chapter 11 petition in Dallas, where the case was assigned to Judge Hale. In his opinion, Judge Hale said that the board "was not informed that the NRA was considering filing bankruptcy at all."

About three weeks into the chapter 11 case, an NRA board member filed a motion seeking appointment of an examiner. Two days later, the NRA's former advertising firm filed a motion to dismiss or, alternatively, appoint a chapter 11 trustee. Soon thereafter, the New York Attorney General filed her own motion to dismiss.

The official creditors' committee wanted management to remain in place and not be replaced by a chapter 11 trustee, or one with only limited powers if the court wanted a trustee. The committee saw no reason for an examiner.

The State of Texas and 15 other states filed *amici* briefs supporting the NRA.

The Reason for Filing

The movants wanted three forms of relief: dismissal, a chapter 11 trustee or an examiner.

Judge Hale first addressed the dismissal motions and the reasons for the NRA's filing. At different times, he said that the NRA had given "slightly different" reasons for the filing.

Because LaPierre made the "ultimate decision," Judge Hale said that his testimony was "the most compelling evidence." Based on LaPierre's testimony, he concluded that "the real driving force" behind the filing "was not related to the NRA's financial condition," because the NRA could pay its debts in full if the bankruptcy were dismissed.

Rather, Judge Hale quoted LaPierre as saying, in substance, that the filing was designed to head off dissolution by the New York Attorney General.

Judge Hale found that the "evidence does not support a finding that the purpose of the NRA's bankruptcy filing was to reduce operating costs, to address burdensome executory contracts and unexpired leases, to modernize the NRA's charter and organization structure, or to obtain a breathing spell." Likewise, he concluded that a desire "to leave New York and reincorporate in Texas . . . was not the real purpose for filing."

"Based on the statements of counsel and the evidence in the record," Judge Hale summed up by finding "that the primary purpose of the bankruptcy filing was to avoid potential dissolution in the NYAG Enforcement Action."



Filing for an Improper Purpose

Judge Hale then turned to deciding whether avoiding dissolution by the state "was a valid purpose for bankruptcy."

To dissolve the NRA, the New York Attorney General had told Judge Hale that she must prove there was looting or waste of corporate assets or that the persons in control "otherwise acted in an illegal, oppressive or fraudulent manner."

Quickly, Judge Hale said that "dissolution that requires this showing is not the type of dissolution that the Bankruptcy Code is meant to protect against." He said that the NRA's purpose in filing was "less like a traditional bankruptcy case in which a debtor is faced with financial difficulties or a judgment that it cannot satisfy and more like cases in which courts have found bankruptcy was filed to gain an unfair advantage in litigation or to avoid a regulatory scheme."

Citing cases, Judge Hale said that courts "have consistently held that a bankruptcy case filed for the purpose of obtaining an unfair litigation advantage is not filed in good faith and should be dismissed."

Dismissing other explanations for filing, Judge Hale found that "the NRA is financially healthy" and that adverse results in litigation "are too attenuated to justify a good faith bankruptcy filing."

Based on the "totality of the circumstances," Judge Hale found cause for dismissal under Section 1112(b)(1) because the petition was "not filed in good faith but instead was filed as an effort to gain an unfair litigation advantage [over the New York Attorney General] and as an effort to avoid a regulatory scheme."

No Trustee or Examiner

Judge Hale addressed the question of whether a trustee or an examiner would be in the best interests of the creditors and the estate under Section 1104.

Outside bankruptcy, Judge Hale said that the NRA could pay its creditors in full more quickly than through a chapter 11 plan. Also outside bankruptcy, the NRA could fight the New York Attorney General and pursue reincorporation in Texas. Those facts, he said, weigh against having a trustee or examiner, because neither would be in the best interests of creditors and the estate.

Judge Hale's Conclusion

In the last section of his opinion, Judge Hale said there were "several aspects of this case that still trouble the Court, including the manner and secrecy in which authority to file the case was

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

obtained in the first place, the related lack of express disclosure of the intended Chapter 11 case to the board of directors and most of the elected officers, the ability of the debtor to pay its debts, and the primary legal problem of the debtor being a state regulatory action."

Because the moving parties had not sought dismissal with prejudice in their original motions, Judge Hale dismissed the case without prejudice. But "should the NRA file a new bankruptcy case," Judge Hale said he "would immediately take up some of [his] concerns . . . , which could cause the appointment of a trustee out of a concern that the NRA could not fulfill the fiduciary duty required by the Bankruptcy Code for a debtor in possession."

The opinion is *In re National Rifle Association of America*, 21-30085 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. May 11, 2021).



If the district court is adjudicating a suit with "related to" jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b), the district court applies the Bankruptcy Rules, not the Federal Rules, the First Circuit says.

In 'Related To' Jurisdiction, District Court Applies the Bankruptcy Rules, Circuit Says

Joining three other circuits, the First Circuit held that the Bankruptcy Rules, not the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, apply to lawsuits adjudicated in federal district court when the district court has "related to" jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b).

Unable to tease a definitive answer from the language of the statutes and the rules, the Boston-based appeals court based the outcome on "the practicalities attendant to the efficient operation of a modern bankruptcy system."

The Personal Injury Lawsuits

In 2013, a train derailed in a small Canadian town, spilling crude oil, causing a massive fire and killing 47 residents. The railroad transporting the crude ended up in bankruptcy in Maine.

On behalf of those killed or injured, scores of plaintiffs commenced 39 personal injury suits in several states against numerous defendants. Later, the plaintiffs joined a Canadian railroad as a defendant. The Canadian railroad was a connecting carrier, not the railroad whose train derailed to cause the disaster.

The scattered lawsuits were consolidated in the federal district court in Maine under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(5). Although the lawsuits were non-core, the district court had subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b), because the personal injury suits were "related to" the bankruptcy in Maine.

Later, the plaintiffs settled with all of the defendants aside from the Canadian railroad. The other defendants were dismissed from the suit, leaving the Canadian railroad as the sole remaining defendant.

The district court entered judgment dismissing the suit after granting the Canadian railroad's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. The plaintiffs filed a motion for reconsideration 28 days after entry of judgment.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The district court summarily denied reconsideration, ruling that the deadline for a reconsideration motion was 14 days under Bankruptcy Rule 9023.

The plaintiffs appealed to the First Circuit, making a variety of arguments for the proposition that the time limit for reconsideration was 28 days under Federal Rule 59(b).

In an opinion on June 2, Circuit Judge Bruce M. Selya dismissed the appeal for want of appellate jurisdiction. Because the reconsideration motion in district court was untimely, the time for appealing dismissal to the circuit had not been tolled. In the absence of tolling, Judge Selya explained that "the plaintiffs' ensuing notice of appeal was untimely and, therefore, their appeal must be dismissed for want of appellate jurisdiction."

Which Rules Apply?

Judge Selya framed the question like this: "Do the Bankruptcy Rules or the Civil Rules govern the procedures in a case over which a federal court exercises section 1334(b) jurisdiction as one 'related to' a pending bankruptcy proceeding?"

Judge Selya traced the history of bankruptcy jurisdiction following the adoption of the Bankruptcy Reform Act in 1978 but found no explicit answer in either title 28, the Bankruptcy Rules or the Federal Rules. He nevertheless said that title 28 and the rules "point strongly" to the idea that the Bankruptcy Rules apply to non-core, "related to" cases in district court.

For Judge Selya, "the sockdolager is found in the practicalities attendant to the efficient operation of the modern bankruptcy system." If the Federal Rules applied to non-core issues, a district court would be simultaneously applying the Federal Rules and the Bankruptcy Rules in a suit where the claims were both core and non-core.

Judge Selya offered another example of the practical need for applying one set of rules. If the district court were ruling *de novo* on the bankruptcy court's proposed findings and conclusions, the district court would be applying the Federal Rules when the bankruptcy court had been following the Bankruptcy Rules.

Judge Selya rejected several "fallback" arguments by the plaintiffs. First, he found no basis in the rules giving a district court the ability to select between the two sets of rules.

Next, the plaintiffs argued that they should have been given notice that the Bankruptcy Rules were controlling. Judge Selya dismissed the idea, saying there is "no room for an equitable exception to the quintessentially legal determination of which set of rules applies to a particular case."

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Selya was not alone in his conclusion. He cited the *Collier* treatise alongside the Third, Fourth and Seventh Circuits for holding that the Bankruptcy Rules govern when adjudication in district court is founded on "related to" jurisdiction under Section 1334. Two of those circuits explicitly warned against a procedural hybrid, the judge said.

Judge Selya held as follows: "The Bankruptcy Rules apply to non-core, related to cases adjudicated in federal district courts under section 1334(b)'s 'related to jurisdiction.'"

The opinion is Roy v. Canadian Pacific Railway Co. (In re Lac-Megantic Train Derailment Litigation), 17-1108 (1st Cir. June 2, 2021).



Recent Supreme Court authority supports the conclusion by Delaware's Judge Sontchi that law from the jurisdiction of incorporation, not federal common law, determines what is or isn't a business trust eligible for chapter 11.

Federal Common Law Doesn't Define a Business Trust Eligible for Chapter 11

Disagreeing with the Sixth Circuit, the First Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel and several lower courts, Bankruptcy Judge Christopher S. Sontchi of Delaware applied the law of Singapore — not federal common law — to decide whether an offshore real estate investment trust was a "business trust" eligible for chapter 11.

In his June 1 opinion, Judge Sontchi based his conclusion on "the bedrock principle of *Butner v. U.S.* that bankruptcy judges should not unsettle non-bankruptcy rights in the absence of a clear directive from Congress."

Judge Sontchi's decision to reject federal common law is consistent with — if not mandated by — an opinion last year from the U.S. Supreme Court.

The Singapore REITs

Three real estate investment trusts organized under the laws of Singapore filed chapter 11 petitions in Delaware. One was the ultimate parent, and the other two were intermediate holding companies. Downstream, the REITs owned hotels in the U.S.

The highly complex corporate structure was designed so the ultimate non-U.S. equity holders would not be subject to U.S. withholding taxes. As a result, the REITs themselves had no employees and no operations of their own. Indeed, non-debtor managers made decisions for the REITs. However, the REITs were liable for substantial debts related to the hotels.

The largest creditor filed a motion asking Judge Sontchi to dismiss the petitions, alleging that the REITs were not business trusts and were thus ineligible to be chapter 11 debtors. Judge Sontchi applied the law of Singapore and concluded that the REITs were business trusts. Finding that the REITs were eligible to be debtors, he denied the motion to dismiss.



Butner Governs

Under Section 109(d), only a "person" may be a chapter 11 debtor. A "person" is defined in Section 101(41) to include a "corporation" which, in turn, is defined in Section 101(9)(A)(v) to include a "business trust."

Does federal common law or the law of the state of incorporation determine whether an entity is a business trust? Judge Sontchi said there is "a split of authority as to whether the law of the jurisdiction in which the trust resides or federal common law governs."

Recently, the First Circuit BAP cited the Sixth Circuit approvingly and invoked federal common law. *See In re Catholic School Employees Pension Trust*, 599 B.R. 634 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 2019); and *Brady-Morris v. Schilling (In re Kenneth Allen Knight Trust)*, 303 F.3d 671 (6th Cir. 2002).

Judge Sontchi explained that those courts based their conclusions on the uniformity aspect of the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution, to foster results that would be uniform throughout the U.S. Those courts created federal common law because, as Judge Sontchi said, "There is no federal [statutory] law that creates business entities."

Judge Sontchi said he disagreed with "the weight of authority." The argument about uniformity, he said, "is the exact argument that was rejected by the Supreme Court in" *Butner v. U.S.*, 440 U.S. 48 (1979).

Butner dealt with the ownership of rents following default. Did the rents belong to the lender or to the debtor? State laws differed. In some states, rent would be estate property, and in others, it wouldn't. The courts that adopted federal common law sought uniformity.

The Supreme Court rejected the quest for uniformity, holding that "[p]roperty interests are created and defined by state law." *Id.* at 55. The high court said that employing state law reduces uncertainty.

Similarly, Judge Sontchi said that following the law of the state of incorporation would foster uniformity. Even though results may be different in different states, the definition of a business trust will be uniform "based on the law of the jurisdiction under which the trust exists." For instance, people "will know when they form a trust in Delaware . . . that Delaware law will uniformly govern whether it is a business trust even if the trust files bankruptcy in California," he said.

Furthermore, no uniform definition of a business trust has been developed under federal common law. The First Circuit BAP, for example, said there is "no uniform standard . . . to define what constitutes a 'business trust.'" *Catholic School, id.*, 599 B.R. at 653.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Judge Sontchi added his own take when he said there is "a striking inconsistency between bankruptcy courts on this issue with at least three different legal tests having been developed."

Judge Sontchi held that "federal common law should not determine whether a trust is a 'business trust' under the Bankruptcy Code. Rather, the law of the jurisdiction in which the trust is organized, in this case the Republic of Singapore, shall govern."

Hearing from experts on Singapore law, Judge Sontchi decided that the REITs were business trusts eligible to be chapter 11 debtors. He also denied the creditor's motion to dismiss based on arguments that the petitions were bad faith filings. The petitions, he said, were filed in good faith and for a legitimate bankruptcy purpose.

Observations

Judge Sontchi's conclusion finds support in recent Supreme Court authority, *Rodriguez v. F.D.I.C.*, 140 S. Ct. 713, 206 L. Ed. 2d 62 (Feb. 25, 2020).

In *Rodriguez*, the high court used a bankruptcy case to limit the use of federal common law. More particularly, the Supreme Court held that federal courts may not employ federal common law to decide who owns a tax refund when a parent holding company files the tax return but a subsidiary generated the losses giving rise to the refund. Rather, state law governs.

The unanimous opinion said that "cases in which federal courts may engage in common lawmaking are few and far between." *Id.*, 140 S. Ct. at 716.

Almost on point, the Supreme Court said that state law — such as "rules for interpreting contracts, creating equitable trusts, avoiding unjust enrichment" — are "readymade" for deciding an ownership dispute. *Id.* The opinion went on to say that "only limited areas exist in which federal judges may appropriately craft the rule of decision." Appropriate areas, the Court said, are in admiralty law and disputes among states. *Id.* at 717.

To read ABI's report on *Rodriguez*, click here.

The opinion is In re EHT USI Inc., 21-10036 (Bankr. D. Del. June 1, 2021).



Eleventh Circuit splits with four other circuits by holding that the Barton doctrine doesn't protect trustees once the bankruptcy is over.

Barton Protection Ends When the Bankruptcy Case Closes, Eleventh Circuit Says

Going beyond the appeals court's own decision eight months ago, the Eleventh Circuit has now created a stark split of circuits by holding that the *Barton* doctrine does not protect a bankruptcy trustee from suit after the bankruptcy case is closed.

In contrast to what the result would be in four other circuits, a bankruptcy trustee or receiver in the Eleventh Circuit now can be sued outside of the appointing court if the receivership or bankruptcy has been closed and there are no more estate or receivership assets that could be affected.

Consequently, a bankruptcy trustee, a receiver and other retained professionals must bear the cost and defend themselves in the Eleventh Circuit if they are sued outside of the bankruptcy court or the receivership court. The Atlanta-based appeals court found no policy concerns resulting from the lack of protection by the *Barton* doctrine because a receiver or trustee still will be protected by judicial immunity.

Receiver Sued in District Court

As an adjunct to the criminal prosecution of a doctor for homicide and violation of state narcotics laws, the state court appointed a receiver to liquidate the doctor's assets in a civil forfeiture action.

The doctor was convicted of murder, but he filed a *habeas* petition that resulted in a settlement where the doctor was released from prison in return for accepting a conviction for involuntary manslaughter. The doctor also agreed to forfeit his claims for the assets seized in the receivership.

After the assets were gone, the receivership was terminated. Later, the doctor sued the receiver for monetary damages in federal district court, alleging that the receiver was part of a conspiracy to deprive him of his civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1985.

Invoking the *Barton* doctrine, the district judge dismissed the suit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, even though the receivership had terminated. The doctor appealed.



In an opinion on June 15, Circuit Judge William Prior reversed on the *Barton* issue but upheld dismissal because the receiver was entitled to judicial immunity.

The Prior Decision

The starting point for Judge Prior's opinion was the circuit's decision in October 2020 written by Circuit Judge Beverly B. Martin. *Tufts v. Hay*, 977 F.3d 1204 (11th Cir. Oct. 20, 2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

Judge Martin dealt with *Barton v. Barbour*, 104 U.S. 126 (1881), the genesis of the idea that receivers cannot be sued without permission from the appointing court.

After adoption of the Bankruptcy Act of 1898, the doctrine was extended to cover bankruptcy trustees. *Barton* was subsequently broadened to protect court-appointed officials and fiduciaries, such as trustees' and debtors' counsel, real estate brokers, accountants, and counsel for creditors' committees.

Like *Tufts*, the new opinion by Judge Prior explained that the *Barton* doctrine was based on the idea that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, because the receivership or bankruptcy had exclusive *in rem* jurisdiction over the estate.

By suing a court-retained professional outside of the bankruptcy court or receivership, the creditor would be interfering with the bankruptcy court's or the receivership's exclusive jurisdiction, since the suit could have a "conceivable effect" on the estate.

When Bankruptcy Ends, Barton Ends

Judge Prior cited the First, Seventh, Ninth and Tenth Circuits for holding that *Barton* continues to confer protection for policy reasons even after bankruptcy has ended. Those courts, Judge Prior said, believe that courts will have difficulty finding competent people to serve if receivers or trustees can be sued outside of the appointing court for actions taken in their official capacities.

Despite policy concerns, Judge Prior said that the jurisdictional foundation for *Barton* protection ends when the bankruptcy or receivership ends. "It follows," he said, "that when there is no longer a *res* controlled by a single court, there is no longer a potential conflict in the exercise of jurisdiction over it. And the court that first exercised jurisdiction over the *res* may no longer exclude other courts from exercising jurisdiction."

Judge Prior enlarged on the jurisdictional foundation, saying:

We disagree with our sister circuits that the need to protect court-appointed receivers and bankruptcy trustees is relevant to the *Barton* doctrine. Their opinions



fail to grapple with the fact that the *Barton* doctrine is grounded in the exclusive nature of *in rem* jurisdiction.

There "might be a legitimate policy concern," Judge Prior said, "but it has nothing to do with subject matter jurisdiction."

Judge Prior said that *Tufts* "credited this policy concern," but in *dicta*. He went on to say that the "policy concern is unfounded because court-appointed receivers enjoy judicial immunity for acts taken within the scope of their authority. Receivers do not need the *Barton* doctrine to provide an additional layer of protection for the performance of their duties."

Because there was no longer any property in the receivership, Judge Prior held that "there is no longer a disputed property over which [the receivership court] may exercise jurisdiction," and thus no jurisdictional conflict between the district court and the receivership.

Judge Prior therefore held that *Barton* did not apply and that the district court had subject matter jurisdiction.

Next, Judge Prior examined the doctor's complaint in district court. He found that the receiver was entitled to judicial immunity and upheld dismissal on the merits.

Observations

This writer respectfully disagrees with the idea that trustees or retained professionals do not need the "additional layer of protection" afforded by *Barton* or some other theory.

In case after case, there are obstreperous parties who oppose everything and take groundless appeals. Lift *Barton's* protection, and they will begin suing in state courts or districts courts.

Yes, professionals have qualified judicial immunity, but they will be obliged to mount their defense in courts unfamiliar with the bankruptcy. In bankruptcy courts, claims against trustees and retained professionals can be disposed of more economically than in courts unfamiliar with the underlying proceedings.

The loss of *Barton* protection will fall disproportionately on the shoulders of chapter 7 or chapter 13 trustees. Why? Because chapter 11 confirmation orders inevitably contain releases and indemnifications in favor of retained professionals and other parties central to the conduct of the case. Trustees lack similar protections.

Judge Prior has a point to the extent that *Barton* must be based on the idea of exclusive subject matter jurisdiction. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1334, the bankruptcy court only has exclusive jurisdiction over the "case." If *Barton* has any continuing validity, the rationale must be found somewhere else.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Perhaps protection similar to *Barton* can be based on another strategy: Having been sued, a trustee could reopen the bankruptcy case and remove the suit to federal district court for referral to the bankruptcy court. Plaintiffs will likely back off when faced with the same bankruptcy judge. Removal, venue transfer and referral are less costly and less complicated than litigating on the merits in a court unfamiliar with the bankruptcy.

The opinion is Chua v. Ekonomou, 20-12576 (11th Cir. June 15, 2021).



Fee allowances aren't made with the benefit of hindsight, the Fifth Circuit says.

Trustees Don't Need a Pecuniary Interest to Have Standing to Appeal, Fifth Circuit Says

A trustee has standing to appeal even without a financial interest in the outcome, according to the Fifth Circuit. In ruling on an application for compensation, hindsight is "irrelevant," Circuit Judge Jennifer Walker Elrod said in her March 5 opinion.

Two law firms were retained to represent a chapter 11 debtor. The lawyers filed and began prosecuting lawsuits against the two primary creditors challenging the priority of their claims.

The lawyers reported to the court that the debtor's chief executive had fled to Panama, allegedly taking \$9 million of estate cash with him to set up the debtor's business abroad. Naturally, the bankruptcy court appointed a chapter 11 trustee.

Having been superseded by the trustee, the law firms filed final applications for reimbursement of fees they incurred in connection with the adversary proceedings prior to the appointment of the trustee.

The bankruptcy court granted the fee applications, but the district court remanded with instructions for the bankruptcy court to make findings about the commencement and litigation of the adversary proceedings.

After remand, Bankruptcy Judge Neil P. Olack of Jackson, Miss., again awarded compensation for work in the adversary proceedings because the services were reasonably likely to benefit the estate. On the second appeal, the district court reversed and vacated the fee award, saying that the adversary proceedings were "not a good gamble."

The chapter 11 trustee and the two firms appealed to the circuit. While the appeal was pending in the circuit, the two firms settled with the creditors. The Fifth Circuit granted a motion to dismiss the two firms from the appeal.

Neither the bankruptcy court, district court nor the circuit court approved the settlement. The terms of the settlement are not disclosed on the docket of any court.

With the two law firms no longer in the appeal, the creditors urged the Fifth Circuit to dismiss the appeal as moot.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Elrod first addressed mootness. She said that the creditors had conflated mootness with the trustee's standing. In other words, the question was more about the trustee's standing, not mootness.

The creditors argued that the trustee lacked standing because the trustee had no pecuniary interest in the outcome following the settlement. Be that as it may, Judge Elrod said that the trustee "is distinct from all other bankruptcy parties because the trustee is responsible for the administration of the bankruptcy estate."

Judge Elrod cited the First, Sixth and Ninth Circuits for recognizing "the inadequacy of a pecuniary-interest test for trustee standing." She cited the Fourth Circuit for saying that a trustee never has a pecuniary interest.

Judge Elrod said that the Fifth Circuit had "implicitly recognized" the same principle. She observed that a "trustee's standing comes from the trustee's duties to administer the bankruptcy estate, not from any pecuniary interest in the bankruptcy."

Judge Elrod held that the appeal was not moot and the trustee had standing because "the payment of fees to [the two firms] directly affects the administration of the bankruptcy estate" and the trustee's responsibility for "ensuring that only proper payments are made from the bankruptcy estate."

Having decided the appeal was alive after settlement, Judge Elrod turned to the merits.

In the Fifth Circuit, the touchtone for an allowance is the reasonably likely benefit to the estate at the time the services were rendered. *Barron & Newburger, P.C. v. Texas Skyline, Ltd. (In re Woerner)*, 783 F.3d 266, 276 (5th Cir. 2015).

In ruling on a fee allowance, Judge Elrod said that "hindsight is irrelevant; retrospect is irrelevant; 'material benefit to the bankruptcy estate' is irrelevant. *Id.* at 273–74. 'What matters is that, prospectively, the choice to pursue a course of action was reasonable.' *Id.* at 274."

Fifth Circuit law is "clear," Judge Elrod said, that "the services must be reasonable at the time they were rendered."

Judge Elrod held that the district court was wrong in vacating "the bankruptcy court award based on its own retrospective assessment of the propriety of the adversary proceedings without giving . . . 'the deference that is the hallmark of abuse-of-discretion review.'" In other words, the "district court should have looked at the reasonableness of pursuing the adversary proceedings from the time [the two firms] provided their services."



Judge Elrod reversed and remanded for "the district court to reinstate the bankruptcy court's fee award."

Observations

But what about the settlement? How can the bankruptcy court grant fee allowances in full and fulfill the mandate of the Fifth Circuit if the two law firms settled with the creditors? If the trustee pays the firms in full, will the firms effectuate the settlement and pay back some part, and if so, to whom?

Here's the answer. The settlement may be a nullity, and the mandate must be followed.

As we said, the settlement was not approved in any court, nor were the terms of settlement disclosed. The trustee was not a party to the settlement.

The settlement entailed the very issue on appeal, namely, the amount of compensation to be paid to the two firms.

Properly speaking, the parties to the settlement should have gone to the bankruptcy court for approval of the settlement. When presented with the settlement, the bankruptcy judge would have said, "But wait, this very issue is on appeal. The appeal divests me of jurisdiction to change the fee allowance. You must ask the circuit court to remand the matter to me to pass on the settlement."

Because the bankruptcy court would not have had jurisdiction to approve the settlement, the parties did not have power to effect a valid and enforceable settlement. Therefore, the settlement might be invalid and binding on no one.

And there is another problem. Presumably, the settlement called for the two firms to give back some of the compensation that had been allowed. Who would receive the refund? Would it go to the estate or to the creditors who took the appeal?

Because the settlement was neither approved by nor disclosed to the bankruptcy court, the settlement might be seen as unauthorized and undisclosed fee-sharing.

The Fifth Circuit obviated the problems described above by having remanded with instructions to reinstate the awards by Bankruptcy Judge Olack.

The opinion is Edwards Family Partnership LP v. Johnson (In re Community Home Financial Services Inc.), 20-60718, 2021 BL 80982, 2021 Us App Lexis 6661 (5th Cir. March 5, 2021).



In a removed action, nationwide service under Bankruptcy Rule 7004 can give a district court personal jurisdiction, even though the state court would lack personal jurisdiction.

Circuits Split on Applying Derivative Jurisdiction to a Lack of Personal Jurisdiction

Creating a split of circuits, the Eleventh Circuit held that the doctrine of derivative jurisdiction only applies to the subject matter jurisdiction, not personal jurisdiction.

In substance overruling one of his circuit's own precedents in light of an amendment to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(f), Circuit Judge Adalberto Jordan decided that a federal court after removal can have personal jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1334, even if the state court would not have long-arm jurisdiction over the defendant.

The Removed Lawsuit

A chapter 7 bankruptcy trustee sued the owners of a corporate debtor in state court to recover a \$30 million dividend paid five years before bankruptcy. The defendants removed the suit to federal court under 28 U.S.C. § 1441, the statute allowing removal to federal court based on diversity or federal question jurisdiction.

After removal, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss, claiming they were not subject to jurisdiction in state court based on the state's long-arm jurisdiction. The trustee countered by arguing that the defendants were subject to nationwide jurisdiction under Bankruptcy Rule 7004 because the federal court had "related to" bankruptcy jurisdiction under Section 1334.

Despite finding that it had bankruptcy jurisdiction under Section 1334, the district court dismissed the suit, reasoning that the doctrine of derivative jurisdiction required the federal court to dismiss because the state court lacked personal jurisdiction.

Derivative Jurisdiction Explained

Judge Jordan devoted pages to explaining the history of derivative jurisdiction. The doctrine was born in 1922 in *Lambert Run Coal Co. v. Baltimore & O.R. Co.*, 258 U.S. 377, 382 (1922), where the Supreme Court ruled that the federal court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in a removed lawsuit because the state court did not have subject matter jurisdiction.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In *dicta* in later cases, Judge Jordan said, the Supreme Court said that derivative jurisdiction applied also to instances where the state court lacked personal jurisdiction. Several circuits, including the Eleventh Circuit, held that derivative jurisdiction applies to personal jurisdiction, not only to subject matter jurisdiction.

Judge Jordan explained how Congress ostensibly overruled *Lambert* years later in what now resides in Section 1441(f). In a removed action, the section says that a federal court "is not precluded from hearing and determining any claim in such civil action because the state court from which such civil action is removed did not have jurisdiction over that claim."

The Split Regarding Personal Jurisdiction

Judge Jordan said that "a number of circuits have applied the doctrine of derivative jurisdiction to require dismissal in cases where the state court, prior to removal, lacked personal jurisdiction over the defendants (usually due to ineffective service of process)."

Even giving the Supreme Court's *dicta* "the respect and consideration it is due," Judge Jordan chose "to go in a different direction" by holding that "that the doctrine of derivative jurisdiction does not apply in cases where the state court lacks personal jurisdiction over the defendants."

Prominently, Judge Jordan declined to follow high court *dicta* given the Supreme Court's own pronouncements that federal law governs procedure once a case has been removed, citing *Granny Goose Foods Inc. v. Brotherhood of Teamsters & Auto Truck Drivers Local No. 70*, 415 U.S. 423, 438 (1974). He therefore could not understand "why a federal statute or rule governing personal jurisdiction (including one providing for nationwide service of process) would not control following the removal of a case from state court."

Having ruled that the federal court did not lack personal jurisdiction under derivative jurisdiction, Judge Jordan remanded for the district court to determine whether there was personal jurisdiction under Bankruptcy Rule 7004(d).

If personal jurisdiction in the state would be "unconstitutionally burdensome," Judge Jordan said that the district court could transfer venue under 28 U.S.C. § 1406 to a district where the defendants are located.

The opinion is Reynolds v. Behrman Capital IV PL, 19-13537, 2021 BL 62158 (11th Cir. Feb. 23, 2021); cert. den. Oct. 4, 2021.



Congress may have made a mistake in drafting, but the plain language of 28 U.S.C. § 1409(b) must control, Judge Grossman says.

'Plain Language' Puts Small-Dollar Avoidance Suits in the Debtor's Home Court

On a question where courts are divided, Bankruptcy Judge Robert E. Grossman of Central Islip, N.Y., came down emphatically on the side of plain language by holding that a trustee may bring a small-dollar preference suit in the debtor's home court, even if Congress may have made a mistake in drafting 28 U.S.C. § 1409(b).

The debtor paid \$11,400 to a supplier within 90 days of bankruptcy. The trustee sued for recovery of a preference under Sections 547 and 550.

The creditor was a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in California. It had no connections with New York other than having sold goods to the debtor in New York. The creditor had filed a claim for more than \$190,000.

The creditor filed a motion to dismiss based on improper venue. The creditor contended that the preference suit arose in the bankruptcy case, making venue improper under 28 U.S.C. § 1409(b).

The outcome turned on Section 1409. With exceptions provided in subsections (b) and (d), subsection (a) allows for venue of "a proceeding arising under title 11 or arising in or related to a case under title 11" in the district where the bankruptcy case is pending.

For a proceeding to recover a non-consumer debt of less than \$25,000 owing by a noninsider, subsection (b) places venue in "the district in which the defendant resides" for "a proceeding arising in or related to" a bankruptcy case.

Notably, the language of subsection (b) does not place venue in the creditor's district for small-dollar suits "arising under" title 11.

Did the preference action "arise in" the chapter 7 case, thus compelling suit in the creditor's district, not in the debtor's home court? Linguistically speaking, "arising in" and "arising under" might seem overlapping, synonymous or interchangeable.

Judge Grossman disagreed in his January 26 opinion. "The terms 'arising under' and 'arising in' are not interchangeable," he said. On that score, he took issue with the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Appellate Panel. See Muskin, Inc. v. Strippit Inc. (In re Little Lake Indus.), 158 B.R. 478 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 1993).

Judge Grossman paraphrased the B.A.P. and some other courts as believing "that Congress did not intend to exclude cases arising under title 11 from the restrictions in subsection (b)." He noted, however, that Congress left "arising under" out of subsection (b).

"It is beyond question," Judge Grossman said, "that a preference action 'arises under' title 11. Thus, a plain reading of § 1409(a) and (b) compels the Court to conclude that venue of this proceeding is proper in the [the debtor's home court]."

Judge Grossman said he appreciated "the thoughtfulness of courts who perceive an error that must be corrected." Still, he said, "the language of § 1409 is unambiguous. It is apparent that the 'arising under' language is included in subsection (a) and omitted from subsection (b). See § 1409. Therefore, based on the lack of ambiguity, this Court will defer to the plain language of the statute as written by Congress."

As support for his conclusion, Judge Grossman cited a June 2020 decision by District Judge Joanna Seybert of Central Islip, N.Y. *Novak v. Parts Authority LLC*, 20-2948 (E.D.N.Y. June 16, 2020). According to Judge Grossman, she "held that preference actions 'arise under' title 11 and therefore do not fall within the ambit of § 1409(b)." To read ABI's report on *Novak*, <u>click here</u>.

The opinion is Mendelsohn v. Central Garden & Pet Co. (In re Petland Discounts Inc.), 20-08088, 2021 BL 30084, 2021 Bankr Lexis 197 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. Jan. 26, 2021).



Plans & Confirmation



Dissenter would have upheld horizontal gifting on the merits.

Third Circuit Upholds Equitable Mootness over a Dissent

Over dissent, the Third Circuit held that an appeal from confirmation of a chapter 11 plan is equitably moot even if the appellant is only asking the appellate court to pay one relatively small claim and no others.

The case involved horizontal gifting. In a nonprecedential opinion on January 6, Circuit Judge Kent A. Jordan dismissed the appeal as equitably moot and did not reach the question of gifting. Concurring in the result but dissenting on equitable mootness, Circuit Judge Cheryl Ann Krause did not believe the appeal was moot but said she would have affirmed on the merits.

One Creditor Appeals Confirmation

The debtor had \$500 million in secured debt and a business worth about \$300 million. The prepackaged chapter 11 plan called for converting secured debt to equity, amounting to a recovery of perhaps 55% on the secured claims.

The secured creditors made what is known as a gift to unsecured creditors in the form of cash and stock to holders of unsecured notes whose recovery amounted to no more than 6% of the claims in the class. Trade and some other unsecured creditors were to be paid in full.

The noteholder class voted against the plan, but Bankruptcy Judge Kevin J. Carey of Delaware employed cramdown to confirm the plan. A holder of about \$500,000 in unsecured notes appealed from the confirmation order and unsuccessfully sought a stay pending appeal.

On appeal in district court, the noteholder argued that the appeal was not equitably moot because the appellate court could order payment of its \$500,000 claim in full without upsetting the plan as a whole and without paying the entire class and its \$40.5 million in claims.

In August 2018, District Judge Richard G. Andrews upheld confirmation. He reached the merits of gifting after ruling that the appeal from confirmation was equitably moot because the plan had been substantially consummated. *Hargreaves v. Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.* (In re Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.), 590 B.R. 75 (D. Del. Aug. 21, 2018). To read ABI's report, click here.

Judge Andrews rejected the idea of paying one creditor, saying there was no method under the Bankruptcy Code to permit paying the appellant in full without paying all other noteholders in full.



Paying one creditor in the noteholder class, he said, would offend Section 1123(a)(4) and its requirement of making identical payments to all creditors in a class.

Despite ruling that the appeal was moot, Judge Andrews analyzed the merits and upheld confirmation. The noteholder appealed.

Majority Finds the Appeal to Be Equitably Moot

The noteholder argued in the circuit court that the appeal was not moot because the appeals court could order payment of his \$500,000 claim without upsetting the debtor's finances or upsetting the plan.

Judge Jordan rejected the argument. Paying only one claim in the class, he said, "would violate the Code's restriction [in Section 1123(a)(4)] on preferring certain individuals over others in the same class." He went on to say that ordering payment of one claim would also "contravene the . . . unfair discrimination provision" in Section 1129(b)(1).

In other words, "an individual payout to one member of a class is not permitted by the Code," Judge Jordan said. To the contrary, "the sole relief an objecting party can pursue when alleging unfair discrimination is relief for the class of creditors unfairly discriminated against, consistent with 11 U.S.C. § 1123(a)(4)."

Judge Jordan dismissed the appeal as equitably moot.

Concurrence Rails Against Equitable Mootness

Quoting one of her prior concurring opinions, Judge Krause said that "our equitable mootness doctrine is 'legally ungrounded and practically unadministrable,' and I have urged my colleagues to 'reconsider whether it should exist at all.'"

The case on appeal, Judge Krause said, exemplified "the consequences of our ill-advised expansion of the doctrine."

In her view, Judge Krause said that the appeal would neither harm the interests of third parties nor "endanger the reorganized debtors' solvency or unwind other aspects of the Plan." Those considerations alone, she said, "should end our equitable mootness inquiry and require us, in the normal course, to analyze the merits of [the noteholder's] claims."

Judge Krause listed several issues that the circuit court should examine. For instance, she said that the appellant had a "colorable claim" that the remaining members of the class waived the unfair discrimination claim. She wanted to know whether *Czyzewski v. Jevic Holding Corp.*, 137

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

S. Ct. 973 (2017), foreclosed the notion of horizontal gifting. She also asked, "what are the limits on a plan's ability to divide creditors into classes?"

Without addressing the merits, she said, in substance, that the doctrine of equitable mootness will preclude the Third Circuit from ever ruling on the propriety of gifting.

Judge Krause dissented on equitable mootness but concurred in affirming the district court. On the merits regarding unfair discrimination, she limited her comment to saying that she would "ultimately resolve this appeal in favor of the reorganized debtors."

The opinion is *Hargreaves v. Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.* (In re Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.), 17-1024 (3d Cir. Jan. 6, 2021).



Circuit Judge Loken predicts the Supreme Court will abolish equitable mootness if the lower courts don't cut back and start reviewing the merits of confirmed chapter 11 plans.

Eighth Circuit Comes Near to Abolishing Equitable Mootness

The Eighth Circuit has come one step short of altogether abolishing the judge-made doctrine of equitable mootness.

Strictly speaking, the appeals court barred dismissal of an appeal from confirmation of a chapter 11 plan without

at least a preliminary review of the merits of [the appellant's] appeal to determine the strength of [the appellant's] claims, the amount of time that would likely be required to resolve the merits of those claims on an expedited basis, and the equitable remedies available — including possible dismissal — to avoid undermining the plan and thereby harming *third parties*. [Emphasis in original.]

The St. Louis-based court of appeals did ban further use of the term "equitable mootness" in the Eighth Circuit, telling courts instead to say "equitable dismissal."

The Complex, Hard-Fought Chapter 11 Case

The case was a typical blood-and-guts reorganization of a large company. The original start-up capital was \$63 million in debt and equity, with further investments down the road. At filing, the first-lien debt was \$54 million, more than the assets were worth. The debt was secured by all the assets.

The chapter 11 case began with a \$2 million "DIP" loan made by the largest equity holder. It was a so-called priming lien ahead of all other debt. In return for being primed, the first-lien secured lender was given an adequate protection lien.

In addition, the financing order included a so-called challenge deadline requiring the official creditors' committee to raise an objection to the prebankruptcy secured debt before a specified date. In the absence of a timely objection by the *creditors' committee*, the secured debt would be an allowed claim subject to no further challenge or objection.



The official creditors' committee lodged a timely objection, demanding that the debtor initiate an adversary proceeding against the secured lender and the dominant equity holder. The next day, an unofficial, *ad hoc* group of equity holders joined in the creditors' objection.

The creditors' committee reached a settlement on a chapter 11 plan. In return for a dollop of consideration for unsecured creditors, the committee dropped its objection to the secured claim. The bankruptcy court soon after ruled that secured debt was sacrosanct because there had been no timely objection.

Then, one of the smaller equity holders objected to the disclosure statement and to allowance of the secured claim. The bankruptcy court confirmed the plan and denied the objection to the secured claim.

You know what happened next, and quickly. The plan was consummated. Among other things, the dominant equity holder funded the plan with \$13.5 million, existing stock was cancelled, cash distributions were made to creditors, and the secured lender received \$6 million.

Having objected unsuccessfully to the secured claim, the smaller equity holder appealed the confirmation order, claiming unfair discrimination between creditors of the same class, violation of the absolute priority rule, bad faith, and failure to meet the best interests test.

The district court dismissed the appeal as equitably moot, but the equity holder appealed to the circuit.

Predicting the Demise of Equitable Mootness

In his 16-page opinion on August 5, Circuit Judge James B. Loken reversed and remanded for reconsideration of the merits, at least to a limited extent. His opinion is a "must read" for anyone involved in chapter 11 practice. He wrote a compendium of the best objections to the survival of equitable mootness.

If the doctrine becomes embedded in appellate jurisdiction, "rather than an exception to the Article III-based rule that jurisdiction should be exercised," he "predict[ed] [that] the Supreme Court, having up to now denied petitions for *certiorari* to review the doctrine, will step in and severely curtail – perhaps even abolish – its use, just as the Court curtailed lower courts' excessive use of the '*Rooker-Feldman* doctrine' to avoid difficult claim and issue preclusion analysis."

Insiders Aren't Protected by Equitable Mootness

Judge Loken began his analysis by saying that equitable mootness "is misleading." Consequently, "we banish 'equitable mootness' from the (local) lexicon," he said.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Loken explained that an appeal is "moot, that is, beyond a federal court's Article III jurisdiction, only if 'it is impossible for a court to grant any effectual relief whatsoever," quoting *Mission Prod. Holdings Inc. v. Tempnology LLC*, 139 S. Ct. 1652, 1660 (2019).

As for equitable mootness, he said the doctrine has been "adopted by our sister circuits (though not uniformly)." The Eighth Circuit had not taken a position except in a nonprecedential opinion upholding the doctrine without discussion.

Equitable mootness, Judge Loken said, "has been thoughtfully criticized by many judges." He heaped praise on the concurrence by Circuit Judge Cheryl Krause in *In re One2One Communications LLC*, 805 F.3d 428 (3d Cir. 2015), where the Third Circuit reversed an equitable mootness dismissal and remanded for reconsideration of the merits.

Judge Loken quoted Judge Krause as follows:

[A] motion to dismiss an appeal as equitably moot has become "part of the Plan." Proponents of reorganization plans now rush to implement them so they may avail themselves of an equitable mootness defense, much like Appellees did here. Rather than litigate the merits of an appeal, parties then litigate equitable mootness. And even if an appeal is dismissed as equitably moot by a district court, that dismissal is appealed to our Court, often resulting, in turn, in a remand and further proceedings Without the equitable mootness doctrine, on the other hand, the District Court would have ruled on the merits long ago. *Id.* at 446-7.

In the case before him, Judge Loken said that half of the cash distribution went to the secured lender whose lien was being challenged by the minority shareholder. The lender and the plan sponsor, he said, "are not third parties that the equitable mootness doctrine is intended to protect."

Again quoting Judge Krause, Judge Loken said that the case on appeal dealt with complex questions like compliance with cramdown provisions and claims of conflict of interest or preferential treatment "that go to the very integrity of the bankruptcy process." *Id.* at 454. The appeal before him, Judge Loken said, "takes on the look of the type of Chapter 11 plan that Judge Krause defined as one needing review on the merits by an Article III appellate court."

Judge Loken reversed on equitable mootness and remanded. He did not tell the district court how to rule on the merits of the plan, saying that we only "decide that the inquiry must be made."

However, Judge Loken did say that "if the confirmed plan must be set aside on the merits, the district court may be able to fashion effective relief for those whose rights were impaired by the plan even if the business assets have been sold to a third party purchaser relying on the confirmed plan, such as disgorgement of the proceeds."



Observations

Judge Loken seems to require that appellate courts take four steps on appeal from confirmation of a chapter 11 plan: The appellate court must (1) accelerate the appeal; (2) undertake a preliminary review of the objections to confirmation; (3) decide how long it would take to resolve the merits of the appeal on an expedited basis; and (4) evaluate available remedies that would not harm third parties.

The opinion could mean that parties central to the reorganization, including plan sponsors and major secured creditors, are not entitled to protection by equitable dismissal. The doctrine in the Eighth Circuit seems to protect only true third parties not involved in maneuvering to confirm the plan.

The opinion will have its effects. Sad to say, the Eighth Circuit may take on a stigma worse than those (increasingly fewer) circuits proscribing non-debtor, third-party releases.

The divergence among the circuits on equitable mootness is good reason for the Supreme Court to grant *certiorari* in the next term and resolve the issue once and for all. As it stands now, many of the most consequential questions about chapter 11 plans defy appellate review on authority of equitable mootness.

The two petitions now before the Court on equitable mootness are *GLM DWF Inc. v. Windstream Holdings Inc.*, 21-78 (Sup. Ct.); and *Hargreaves v. Nuverra Environmental Solutions Inc.*, 21-17 (Sup. Ct.). Click here to read yesterday's Rochelle's Daily Wire regarding the *certiorari* petitions.

The opinion is FishDish LLP v. VeroBlue Farms USA Inc. (In re VeroBlue Farms USA Inc.), 19-3413, 2021 BL 294741, 2021 Us App Lexis 23164 (8th Cir. Aug. 5, 2021).



Confirmation appeals in two big cases are dismissed on the same day for equitable mootness.

Tempnology Didn't Undercut the Validity of Equitable Mootness, First Circuit Says

The Supreme Court's *Tempnology* decision did not undercut the validity of the doctrine of equitable mootness used to dismiss appeals from chapter 11 confirmation orders, according to the First Circuit. *See Mission Product Holdings Inc. v. Tempnology LLC*, 139 S. Ct. 1652 (2019). The Boston-based appeals court did say that equitable mootness is more accurately characterized as equitable laches.

The First Circuit's February 8 opinion also held that equitable mootness applies in arrangement proceedings to restructure the debt of Puerto Rico and its instrumentalities under the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act, or PROMESA (48 U.S.C. §§ 2161 *et. seq.*).

On the same day, a district court in Oakland, Calif., invoked equitable mootness to dismiss an appeal from the order confirming the chapter 11 plan for giant electric utility PG&E Corp.

The Cofina Plan

In his opinion for the Boston-based appeals court, Circuit Judge William J. Kayatta, Jr. explained how Puerto Rico created an entity known as Cofina to issue bonds to cover budget shortfalls. The 2006 law granted a statutory lien carving out a portion of sales tax revenue exclusively for Cofino bondholders.

With Puerto Rico, Cofina and the island commonwealth's instrumentalities in PROMESA proceedings, a dispute broke out between the Cofina bondholders and the holders of general obligation bonds. A settlement evolved in mediation that was incorporated into Cofina's plan. The settlement and the plan gave about 54% of sales tax revenue to Cofina bondholders.

Several junior Cofina bondholders objected to the plan and appealed when the plan was confirmed over their objections. The appealing bondholders did not seek a stay, and the plan was consummated. As a result of consummation, Judge Kayatta said that Cofina distributed \$322 million to creditors plus \$1 billion in sales tax revenues to the commonwealth and Cofina. Newly issued Cofina bonds traded tens of thousands of times, and lawsuits were dismissed with prejudice.

Puerto Rico's Financial Oversight Management Board and others filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as equitably moot.



Equitable Mootness Defined

Like all other circuits, the First Circuit adopted a form of equitable mootness.

The appealing bondholders argued that *Tempnology* made the doctrine invalid, because the Supreme Court decided that the appeal was not moot even though the debtor had distributed all its cash. To read ABI's report on *Tempnology*, <u>click here</u>.

Judge Kayatta dismissed the argument, saying that the Supreme Court decided that the appeal was not moot under Article III because the impossibility of granting any effectual relief had not been shown. Cofina's appeal, he said, did not involve Article III mootness. He conceded there was a "live controversy."

Contrasted to constitutional mootness, Judge Kayatta said that equitable mootness deals with how the court decides a controversy, "not whether we have jurisdiction to decide it." He went on to say that equitable mootness "is perhaps a misnomer."

"The doctrine might better be viewed as akin to equitable laches, the notion that the passage of time and inaction by a party can render relief inequitable," Judge Kayatta said. He went on to justify equitable mootness as a reflection of the bankruptcy court's inherently equitable powers, as shown in venerable Supreme Court decisions such as *Pepper v. Litton*, 308 U.S. 295, 304 (1939).

Having established the viability of equitable mootness, Judge Kayatta needed little more than two pages to rule that the doctrine applies in PROMESA cases. "Nothing in PROMESA undercuts the inherently equitable nature of a proceeding to approve a plan of adjustment," he said.

'They Sat on Their Hands'

With equitable mootness alive and well, Judge Kayatta applied the facts to the law. The appellants, he said, "sat on their hands" by never seeking a stay pending appeal. Their "complete and repeated lack of diligence . . . cuts sharply against them," he said.

Regarding the feasibility of granting the appellants any relief, Judge Kayatta said they "offer no practical way to undo all of this and return to the pre-confirmation status quo."

Judge Kayatta recognized "that, in some cases, it might be possible to modify a stand-alone component of a plan to satisfy an idiosyncratic claim without upsetting the interests of third parties." However, he said that the appellants offered "no relevant stand-alone component [of the plan] that might be modified."

Judge Kayatta dismissed the appeal as equitably moot.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



The PG&E Appeal

PG&E, a California utility, confirmed and immediately consummated a chapter 11 plan in July 2020. Among other things, effectuating the plan entailed establishing a \$13.5 billion fund for fire victims, creating an \$11 billion trust, making \$42 billion in disbursements, and issuing new stock plus billions of dollars in debt.

Some creditors objected to the plan and appealed. They objected to provisions in the plan requiring them to exhaust their own insurance coverage before turning to the plan for payment.

The plan had been consummated, District Judge Haywood S. Gilliam, Jr. said, and the appellants offered no "adequate explanation" for failing to pursue a stay pending appeal.

Judge Gilliam could fathom no relief he might grant were he to reverse. Other creditors would be harmed, he said, because they would receive less if the appellants were no longer required to exhaust their own insurance coverage.

Judge Gilliam dismissed the appeal as equitably moot on February 8.

The opinions are *Pinto-Lugo v. Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico* (*In re Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico*), 987 F.3d 173 (1st Cir. Feb. 8, 2021); and *Paradise Unified School District v. Fire Victim Trust*, 20-05414, 2021 BL 43249 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 8, 2021).



Although Section 1141(d)(1) sets a default rule only discharging claims that arose before confirmation, Circuit Judge Ambro says that a plan may alter the default rule and allow discharge of administrative claims arising after confirmation.

Chapter 11 Plans May Discharge Post-Confirmation 'Admin' Claims, Third Circuit Says

The first among the courts of appeals to rule on the issue, the Third Circuit held that an administrative claim arising between confirmation and the effective date of a chapter 11 plan must be filed before the administrative bar date to avoid being discharged.

In his August 30 opinion, Circuit Judge Thomas L. Ambro said that "holders of post-confirmation, pre-effective date administrative expense claims are bound by a bar date like other holders of claims against the estate, and thus they cannot choose to bypass the bankruptcy process altogether."

The result, Judge Ambro said, is "supported by [the] principal purpose of granting the debtor a fresh start." A debtor "still needs comfort [that] administrative expense claims will not come out of the woods later to assert them against the reorganized debtor."

The Plan and the 'Admin' Claim

The corporate debtor confirmed a chapter 11 plan. The plan said that administrative expense claims must be filed before a specified date, which we shall refer to as the "admin bar date." Naturally, the plan also said that all claims would be discharged on the effective date of the plan.

One of the debtor's executives was fired two months after confirmation. The firing took place two months before the plan became effective and about three months before the admin bar date.

The effective date of the plan had been delayed given the need for governmental regulatory approvals. The debtor said it had given the executive notice of the admin bar date. The executive had also received notices about the general bar date and the deadlines for voting and objecting to confirmation.

After being fired, the 67-year-old executive immediately hired a lawyer, believing that his firing was the result of age discrimination. He filed a complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission before the admin bar date. He filed suit in federal district court about



two months after the admin bar date. The plan's effective date occurred about two months after the executive was fired. He did not file an administrative claim before or after the admin bar date.

The debtor filed a motion for summary judgment in district court, contending that the claim was discharged because the executive had not filed a claim in bankruptcy court before the admin bar date. The district court denied the debtor's motion but granted the executive's motion for summary judgment, holding that Section 503 does not authorize a bar date to discharge post-confirmation administrative claims.

The district court also held that Section 1141(d) prohibits the discharge of post-confirmation claims.

The district court authorized an interlocutory appeal, which the Third Circuit accepted.

Plans May Alter the Default Rule in Section 1141(d)(1)

Methodically, Judge Ambro dissected the issues leading to his conclusion that the plan discharged post-confirmation-but-pre-effective-date administrative claims. First, he addressed the question of whether a post-confirmation claim is an administrative expense of the chapter 11 case.

The district court had held that the claim was an administrative expense but was not discharged. Judge Ambro found no textual support for the holding. He said that a "claim is either an administrative expense claim or it is not; it cannot be a chameleon."

Judge Ambro went on to say:

[T]he District Court's position that the claim is entitled to administrative priority, but not subject to discharge, is untenable, as that would allow creditors to cherry-pick whether they want to recover from the estate or the reorganized debtor.

Recognizing that the chapter 11 estate was still in existence when the claim arose, Judge Ambro held that the "claim is thus an administrative expense claim under § 503 and subject to the Administrative Claims Bar Date."

Citing the *Collier* treatise, Judge Ambro next held that Section 503 authorizes bankruptcy courts to set and enforce bar dates for administrative expense claims. He said that bar dates for administrative claims "help the debtors know their liabilities and implement a viable plan to obtain a fresh start."

Judge Ambro turned to the question of whether Section 503 permits courts to discharge post-confirmation administrative claims. In that regard, the district court had held that a bankruptcy court cannot set a bar date for post-confirmation administrative claims.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Ambro said that "Section 503 recognizes no such limitation, and we generally refrain from adding words to a statute." He said that Section 503 works in tandem with Section 1141(d) by allowing bankruptcy courts "to set and enforce bar dates," while Section 1141(d) allows the plan and a confirmation order "to govern the discharge of claims (with a few exceptions)."

Last, Judge Ambro held that Section 1141(d) does not prohibit the discharge of post-confirmation claims." Rather, it sets a default rule "that can be overridden by the plan and confirmation order."

The district court had held that Section 1141(d)(1) precludes the discharge of post-confirmation claims. The section says:

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, in the plan, or in the order confirming the plan, the confirmation of a plan —

- (A) discharges the debtor from any debt that arose before the date of such confirmation, and any debt of a kind specified in section 502(g),502(h), or 502(i) of this title . . . ; and
- (B) terminates all rights and interests of equity security holders and general partners provided for by the plan.

Disagreeing with the district court, Judge Ambro read the section as creating

a default rule for discharging pre-confirmation debts, meaning it applies only when the plan and confirmation order are silent on the issue. Here the Plan provided for the discharge of postconfirmation claims not timely filed by the Administrative Claims Bar Date. This overrides the default rule in § 1141(d)(1).

Judge Ambro reversed the district court but said that the decision would not prevent the executive from asking the bankruptcy court to accept a late-filed claim for cause under Section 503(a).

The opinion is *Westinghouse Electric Co. LLC v. Ellis*, 20-2867, 2021 BL 326588, 2021 Us App Lexis 26092 (3d Cir. Aug. 30, 2021).



The Third Circuit made more rules to decide whether an insurance company can be insulated from failure-to-warn claims by the channeling injunction in a chapter 11 'asbestos' plan.

Third Circuit Makes More Rules on the Proper Scope of Asbestos Channeling Injunctions

For a second time in three years, the Third Circuit declined to rule on whether an insurance company is protected by the so-called channeling injunction in the "asbestos" plan confirmed by W.R. Grace & Co. 10 years ago, in a chapter 11 reorganization begun 20 years ago.

Simplified, the September 15 opinion by Circuit Judge Julio M. Fuentes remanded the case for the bankruptcy judge to decide as a fact-finding matter whether providing workplace inspections was an obligation imposed on the insurance company by the insurance policies. If the services weren't required by the policies, the insurance company was not protected by Grace's chapter 11 plan and must face lawsuits lodged by workers at the company's asbestos mine.

Warning: Only asbestos mavens should read this story. For anyone else, it'll induce a fatal attack of narcolepsy.

The Prior Appeal

The Grace plan created a trust to pay asbestos claims and contained a channeling injunction protecting both the debtor and its insurers under Section 524(g).

In a decision three years ago, Third Circuit Judge Thomas L. Ambro described a channeling injunction as one "that channels [asbestos] liability to a trust set up to compensate persons injured by the debtor's asbestos." He said it "can also protect the interests of non-debtors, such as insurers." *In re W.R. Grace & Co.*, 900 F.3d 126, 129 (3d Cir. 2018). To read ABI's report on the prior decision, <u>click here</u>.

Giving rise to the prior appeal and the new one, asbestos claimants had sued an insurance company that provided Grace with workers' compensation and employers' liability coverage, based on the insurer's right but not obligation to inspect the company's facilities.

After the plaintiffs sued in Montana state court, the insurance company sought a declaratory judgment in bankruptcy court in Delaware. The bankruptcy court granted the insurer's motion for summary judgment and ruled that the channeling injunction enjoined the plaintiffs from suing the insurance company.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

On the prior appeal, Judge Ambro upheld the bankruptcy court's conclusion that the insurance company's policies were covered by the channeling injunction. However, that wasn't the end of the story, because a channeling injunction can go no further than Section 524(g) allows in protecting non-debtor third parties.

Judge Ambro remanded the case to the bankruptcy court to decide whether the injunction exceeded the limits laid down by Section 524(g).

Citing Section 524(g)(4)(A)(ii) and providing guidance for the bankruptcy court on remand, Judge Ambro said that the claims must arise "by reason of one of four statutory relationships between the third party and the debtor" before a channeling injunction can protect a third party. *Id.* at 135. Judge Ambro examined two of the four.

First, Judge Ambro examined whether the Montana claimants were seeking to hold the insurance company "directly or indirectly liable for the conduct of, claims against, or demands on" Grace, as specified in Section 524(g)(4)(A)(ii). He said that the statute limits the permissible scope of the injunction to claims based on derivative liability, meaning that the insurance company's liability must "arise by reason of" the provision of insurance to Grace.

Judge Ambro remanded the case to the bankruptcy court, saying that the "proper inquiry is to review the law applicable to the claim being raised against the third party (and when necessary to interpret state law) to determine whether the third-party's liability is wholly separate from the debtor's liability or instead depends on it." *Id.* at 137.

Next, Judge Ambro analyzed the so-called statutory relationship requirement, also in Section 524(g)(4)(A)(ii). He remanded the case for the bankruptcy judge to review "the applicable law to determine the relationship's legal relevance to the third-party's alleged liability." *Id.* at 138. He said that the bankruptcy court should "examine the elements necessary to make [a claim under Montana law] and determine whether [the] provision of insurance to Grace is relevant legally to these elements." *Id.*

The Decision Remand

On remand, the plaintiffs contended that the insurers were negligent and failed to warn about the dangers of exposure to asbestos. In substance, the bankruptcy judge concluded that the negligence and failure-to-warn claims were not derivative in nature and were therefore not subject to the channeling injunction.

The bankruptcy judge authorized the plaintiffs to continue litigation against the insurers in Montana state court. *Continental Casualty Co. v. Carr (In re W.R. Grace & Co.)*, 607 B.R. 419 (Bankr. D. Del. Sept 23, 2019). To read ABI's report, click here.



Naturally, the insurance company appealed. The case was heard by a different panel.

Ruling on the new appeal, Judge Fuentes said that the bankruptcy court had "misapplied our guidance." Like the bankruptcy court, he held that the plaintiffs' claims meet the "derivative liability requirement," but the record did not permit the circuit court to decide whether the claims "meet the statutory relationship requirement."

He was careful to say that the bankruptcy court is not required to decide the state-law claims on the merits.

Derivative Liability Requirement

The outcome of the appeal turned on Montana law, which, in turn, follows Section 324A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, dealing with liability to third persons other than the intended beneficiary of the contractual undertaking. In short, the insurance company's liability under the Restatement turns on whether its liability is dependent on Grace's liability or wholly separate from it.

It was "indisputable," Judge Fuentes said, that the injuries were caused by Grace's conduct. Therefore, the insurance company's liability was not "wholly independent" of Grace's.

Judge Fuentes therefore agreed with the bankruptcy court that the circumstances met the derivative liability requirement.

But there's more.

Statutory Relationship

With regard to Section 324(g)'s requirement of a statutory relationship, the bankruptcy court decided that the requirement was not satisfied because providing insurance to Grace had no relevance to the insurance company's liability under the Restatement or state law.

Judge Fuentes disagreed. He said:

[T]he appropriate question is whether the Montana Plaintiffs have made a prima facie case that [the] provision of insurance was legally relevant to [the insurance company's] allegedly negligent undertaking of industrial hygiene and medical monitoring services. Or, put another way, whether they have shown that the services allegedly provided by [the insurance company] were incidental to its provision of insurance.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Fuentes had a narrower understanding of Montana law than the insurance company. State law, he said, only requires that the insurance company affirmatively undertook to render services to a third party and that it should have recognized that the services were necessary for the protection of others.

"In other words," Judge Fuentes said, the Restatement "is unconcerned with why [the insurance company] undertook to render services; only that it did so."

The record, Judge Fuentes said, did not show whether the services provided by the insurance company were "within the scope of its provision of services to Grace." There was no evidence, he said, as to whether inspections or loss-control recommendations are generally central to insurance underwriting and risk management. Likewise, the appeals court did not know whether "industrial-hygiene services of the type" were standard insurance-related services.

Even if the circuit court knew the industry standard, Judge Fuentes said that the record did not show whether the services were within the scope of the Grace policies. In that regard, the appeals court only had the policy that said that the insurance company was permitted, but not obligated, to inspect the facilities.

Judge Fuentes remanded for the bankruptcy court to make factual findings "as to what services were included in [the] provision of insurance to Grace, and whether the Montana Plaintiffs have made a prima facie showing under Montana law that [the insurance company] provided services beyond these."

If the insurance company provided services beyond the policy, Judge Fuentes said that "the Montana Claims do not meet the statutory relationship requirement; if not, however, then the claims at issue meet all of the requirements of § 524(g) and are barred by the channeling injunction."

After remand, Judge Fuentes said that the panel "will retain jurisdiction over any future appeals."

The opinion is Continental Casualty Co. v. Carr (In re W.R. Grace & Co.), 20-2171 (3d Cir. Sept. 15, 2021).



Reversing the bankruptcy court, a district judge in New York held that a civil penalty wasn't discharged even though the fraud wasn't committed against the government.

Civil Penalties for Defrauding Consumers Weren't Discharged

Reversing the bankruptcy court while expounding and expanding on the Supreme Court's *Cohen* decision, District Judge Paul A. Engelmayer of New York ruled that a civil penalty imposed by the Federal Communications Commission for defrauding consumers is not discharged in a corporate debtor's chapter 11 case under Section 1141(d)(6)(A).

In *Cohen v. de la Cruz*, 523 U.S. 213 (1998), the Supreme Court held that treble damages and attorneys' fees imposed against a bankrupt landlord in favor of tenants under state law for actual fraud in charging excess rent were not dischargeable under Section 523(a)(2)(A), even though the treble damages were in excess of the actual damages sustained by the tenants.

The case before Judge Engelmayer was different from *Cohen* in that the government had not been defrauded, whereas the tenants in *Cohen* had been.

The Defrauded Customers and the Government Fine

The debtor was a telecommunications provider that entered into a consent decree with the Federal Communications Commission before bankruptcy. The debtor had made misrepresentations to consumers in marketing calls and placed unauthorized charges on customers' bills.

The consent decree called for the debtor to issue \$1.9 million in refunds to customers and pay a \$4.2 million civil penalty to the FCC over five years. By the time the debtor filed in chapter 11, the debtor had paid its customers, but not \$2.1 million of the fine to the FCC.

The government filed an adversary proceeding to declare that the \$2.1 million remaining to be paid on the civil fine was not dischargeable under Section 1141(d)(6)(A). The bankruptcy judge ruled that the remaining fine was dischargeable. *U.S. v. Fusion Connect Inc.* (In re Fusion Connect Inc.), 617 B.R. 36 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 9, 2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

The government appealed and won in a September 2 opinion by Judge Engelmayer.



The Controlling Statutes

Two statutes were controlling: Sections 523(a)(2)(A) and 1141(d)(6)(A).

Section 523(a)(2)(A) bars discharge of a debt "obtained by . . . false pretenses, a false representation, or actual fraud," but it applies only to individual debtors.

To prevent corporate debtors from filing in chapter 11 to discharge debts owing to the government for fraud, the so-called BAPCPA amendments in 2005 added Section 1141(d)(6)(A). Now, confirmation in chapter 11 does not discharge a corporate debtor from "any debt . . . of a kind specified in paragraph (2)(A) or (2)(B) of section 523(a) that is owed to a domestic governmental unit"

The debtor had several arguments to say that the fine was dischargeable: No fraud was committed against the government; the debtor made no misrepresentations to the government; the victims of the fraud had been made whole; and the fine would not fall under the definition of a common law fraud.

Judge Engelmayer knocked down the arguments in his 27-page opinion.

Cohen Controls

Like the bankruptcy court, Judge Engelmayer began with *Cohen*, but unlike the bankruptcy court, he didn't go much further.

He addressed two questions: Was the fine a "debt," and was it "obtained by" fraud?

Judge Engelmayer said that "Cohen underscored the breadth of the debts that Section 523(a)(2)(A) exempts from discharge." Regarding whether the treble damages were a "debt," he quoted the Supreme Court for saying that treble damages and attorneys' fees "fell within the scope of 'any debt'" for money or property that was fraudulently obtained. Cohen, supra, 523 U.S. at 218.

Cohen also held that the treble damages and attorneys' fees were "obtained by" fraud.

To define the broad scope of Section 523(a)(2)(A), Judge Engelmayer quoted the Supreme Court for saying that the section "prevents the discharge of all liability arising from fraud." *Id.* at 215.

To plug a hole, Congress adopted Section 1141(d)(6)(A) seven years after *Cohen*. He said that Cohen's "broad" construction of Section 523(a)(2)(A) "necessarily governs the construction of Section 1141(d)(6)(A)."



Focusing on Section 1141(d)(6)(A), Judge Engelmayer noted that *Cohen* involved non-compensatory treble damages and attorneys' fees, while the appeal before him entailed non-compensatory civil penalties imposed by a governmental unit that was not a victim of fraud.

Following the direction shown by *Cohen*, Judge Engelmayer easily concluded that the civil fine was a debt resulting from money "obtained by fraud." In that regard, he cited *Cohen* for saying that the debt itself need not be obtained by fraud, so long as it was traceable to fraud. *Id.* at 218-221.

Non-Statutory Arguments Fail

The debtor contended that the fine should be dischargeable because it did not contain the common law elements of fraud.

Judge Engelmayer countered by saying that the customers suffered from "actual fraud."

Next, the debtor argued that the fraud was not directed against the government.

"Neither the statutory text nor the case law construing Section 523(a)(2)(A), however, requires that the common law elements of fraud must be met both as to the fraud and as to the creditor holding a debt arising from the fraud," Judge Engelmayer said. He cited two bankruptcy courts for holding that judgments in favor of the government were nondischargeable when the common law elements of fraud were shown in fraud foisted on consumers.

To buttress his conclusion, Judge Engelmayer cited the Third and Eleventh Circuits for holding that disgorgement judgments obtained by the Securities and Exchange Commission were not discharged, although the fraud had not been directed against the SEC.

The debtor argued that dischargeability should be judged by Section 523(a)(7), which bars an individual from discharging fines and penalties assessed by the government that are not compensation for actual pecuniary loss. Since it was not an individual, the debtor contended that the debt should be discharged.

Judge Engelmayer disagreed. Some overlap happens in statutes, he said

Finally, Judge Engelmayer said that the debtor's policy arguments were "unusually unpersuasive." Allowing a corporate debtor "to shed a regulatory fraud penalty in this manner could invite mischief." He reversed and remanded.

The opinion is U.S. v. Fusion Connect Inc. (In re Fusion Connect Inc.), 20-5798, 2021 BL 333387 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 2, 2021).



Subordination agreement did not transfer voting rights, but prudential standing nevertheless barred the subordinated creditor from participating in confirmation, Judge Somers says.

Deeply Subordinated Creditor Barred from Voting or Objecting to Plan Confirmation

A deeply subordinated creditor may neither vote on a chapter 11 plan nor object to confirmation if the creditor has no chance of receiving a distribution in either chapter 11 or chapter 7, according to Chief Bankruptcy Judge Dale L. Somers of Topeka, Kan.

The opinion could be read broadly to mean that an underwater creditor is barred by the doctrine of prudential standing from voting on a plan. Other courts may view the holding as applicable only to creditors who are deeply subordinated by contract.

The Debtor's Capital Structure

The corporate debtor's principal creditor was a bank with a secured claim of \$7.7 million. The subordinated creditor had a \$5.3 million unsecured claim. Both the bank and the subordinated creditor filed claims for the \$5.3 million.

In addition to providing that any recovery on the subordinated creditor's claim would go to the bank, the subordination agreement allowed the bank to file and vote the subordinated creditor's claim.

The chapter 11 plan evidently bifurcated the secured creditor's claim into a \$2.5 million secured claim and a \$5.2 million unsecured claim. General unsecured creditors, including the bank, were to be paid 15% of their claims.

The subordinated creditor was in a separate class to be paid \$120,000, but the payments would go to the bank.

The equity holders were to retain ownership after confirmation.

The subordinated creditor conceded that it would receive no distribution in either chapter 11 or chapter 7.

The debtor and the bank filed a motion to disallow the claim filed by the subordinated creditor and to declare that the bank could vote the subordinate claim.



In his March 31 opinion, Judge Somers ruled in favor of the subordinated creditor until the very end, but he then gave the prize to the bank and the debtor.

The Right to Vote and File a Claim

The bank argued that the subordination agreement allowed the bank to vote the subordinated claim in favor of the plan.

Judge Somers analyzed lower court cases coming down both ways. He adopted the analysis by former Bankruptcy Judge Eugene R. Wedoff of Chicago in *Bank of America, Nat'l Ass'n v. N. LaSalle St. Ltd. P'ship (In re 203 N. LaSalle Street P'ship)*, 246 B.R. 325 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2000).

Judge Wedoff gave several reasons why a subordination agreement cannot divest the subordinated creditor of voting rights. Among other things, Judge Wedoff said that the right to vote is controlled by the Bankruptcy Code, not by an intercreditor agreement. He also said that Section 510(a), permitting the enforcement of subordination agreements, does not allow a waiver of voting rights because subordination affects the priority in payment of claims, not voting rights.

Like the caselaw, Judge Somers cited commentators who come down both ways. Ultimately, he quoted the ABI Commission to Study the Reform of Chapter 11 by saying that a subordination agreement should not be enforced to preclude a subordinated creditor from voting. *American Bankruptcy Institute Commission to Study the Reform of Chapter 11: 2012-2014 Final Report and Recommendations*, 23 Am. Bankr. Inst. L. Rev. 1, 284 (2015).

Judge Somers held "that the attempted modification of voting rights stated in the Subordination Agreements is not enforceable."

Judge Somers also overruled the objection to the proof of claim filed by the subordinated creditor. He said that "subordination merely reorders priorities among creditors. Unlike the circumstance where a claim is assigned to another party, subordination does not involve transfer of the subordinated creditor's legal interest."

Prudential Standing

Judge Somers addressed three "distinct" standing doctrines: constitutional standing, statutory standing and prudential standing. Pertinent factually, he said there was "no circumstance under which the [subordinated creditor] has any financial stake in the outcome of the confirmation process."

The subordinated creditor had statutory standing under Section 1109(b), which provides that a "party in interest, including . . . a creditor, . . . may raise and may appear and be heard on any issue in a case under this chapter."



Constitutional standing under Article III deals with the required existence of a case or controversy. Judge Somers said he found no caselaw dealing with Article III standing principles applied to the right of subordinated creditors to participate in the confirmation process.

Because he was ruling next on prudential standing, Judge Somers found it unnecessary to rule on constitutional standing.

Prudential Standing

Prudential standing is a court-made doctrine. Judge Somers quoted the Supreme Court for saying that prudential standing encompasses "the general prohibition on a litigant's raising of another person's legal rights." *Lexmark Int'l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc.*, 572 U.S. 118, 126 (2014).

Judge Somers said that the subordinated creditor "would be litigating issues affecting the rights of third parties, not itself," because "there is no scenario under which the [subordinated creditor] will receive any direct financial benefit."

Were there a plan amendment to improve the recovery for the subordinated creditor, Judge Somers predicted that "other unsecured creditors would likely receive less."

Judge Somers surmised that the subordinated creditor aimed to vote against the plan and thereby invoke the absolute priority test under Section 1129(b). He said that other creditors had the "financial interest" in asserting the absolute priority rule and other cramdown requirements.

Absolute priority could have been an issue in cramdown were there an objecting class, because the plan allowed existing equity to retain ownership. If all creditor classes voted "yes," absolute priority would not be an issue.

Judge Somers decided that "prudential standing principles preclude the [subordinated creditor] from participating in the disclosure statement and Plan confirmation process."

Observations

The opinion confirms the subordinated creditor's statutory standing under Section 1109(b), the right to file a claim, and the statutory right to vote on the plan, yet prudential standing deprived the creditor of rights granted by Congress. Other courts may limit the persuasive value of the opinion to cases involving creditors who are deeply subordinated by contract.

If it were followed by other courts, the opinion would have important implications for chapter 11 plan confirmation. By preventing underwater classes of creditors from voting, a debtor might confirm a plan without addressing the requirements of cramdown in Section 1129(b). Or, as Prof.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Stephen J. Lubben told ABI, "By ignoring the vote of an out of the money creditor, equity does not even have to show it is paying 'new value."

Prof. Lubben added, "Nobody but the lenders could object in many cases where everything is all liened up." He is the Harvey Washington Wiley Chair in Corporate Governance & Business Ethics at the Seton Hall University School of Law.

Prof. Bruce A. Markell went the next step. He said that "the holders of equity interests in an insolvent company would not have standing." He saw the opinion as confusing "the financial facts with the bankruptcy process: it is the plan that allocates rights, not the financial situation of creditors."

On a practical level, Prof. Markell observed that "owners and out-of-the-money creditors participate all the time — usually to get a different plan which will allocate value differently." Prof. Markell is the Professor of Bankruptcy Law and Practice at the Northwestern Univ. Pritzker School of Law.

Prof. Lubben believes that the "discussion about raising 'other people's rights' is really off point, given that the creditor at issue was really just forcing compliance with Section 1129 — not somebody else's rights."

Prof. Markell said he agreed with the ruling about the transfer of voting rights.

A final note: If one subscribes to the idea that the subordination agreement validly transferred voting rights, then the outcome is correct in terms of voting on the plan, and perhaps also with regard to barring the subordinated creditor from objecting to confirmation.

The opinion is In re Fencepost Productions Inc., 19-41545 (Bankr. D. Kan. March 31, 2021).



Stays & Injunctions



Even for egregious, repeated violations of Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1, the bankruptcy court may only award recovery of economic losses, never punitive damages.

Second Circuit Makes *Taggart* Applicable to All Contempt Citations in Bankruptcy Court

Over a vigorous dissent, the Second Circuit overruled the bankruptcy court and in the process made two landmark rulings: (1) The *Taggart* standard for the imposition of contempt applies to all proceedings in bankruptcy court, not only for violating the discharge injunction; and (2) bankruptcy courts may not impose contempt sanctions for violations of Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1, which requires lenders to give notice within 180 days of fees or expenses being charged against a debtor.

According to the majority, sanctions even for repeated violations of Rule 3002.1 are limited to economic damages, which may be minimal.

The dissent concurred with the broad imposition of the *Taggart* standard but argued that contempt sanctions should be available under Rule 3002.1 or the bankruptcy court's inherent powers.

Perhaps accurately, the dissenter said that the majority rendered "a bankruptcy court powerless to levy any sanction under the Rule [3002.1] against a serial violator of the Rule's provisions over a substantial period of time where those violations . . . did not result in any actual economic harm to the multiple debtors who were the victims of the Rule violations."

The Repeated, Flagrant Violations of Rule 3002.1

Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1 was added in 2011 to avoid situations where chapter 13 debtors would have received a discharge but face foreclosure on account of undisclosed post-petition charges from mortgage lenders.

In his majority opinion on August 2, Circuit Judge Dennis Jacobs said the rule was also designed to aid mortgage servicers in fear of allegedly violating the automatic stay by notifying chapter 13 debtors about defaults on mortgages.

Rule 3002.1(c) requires mortgage lenders to file notices of post-petition fees and charges within 180 days of when the charges were incurred.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

For failure to file a notice, Rule 3002.1(i) allows the bankruptcy court to disallow the charges and "award *other appropriate relief, including* reasonable expenses and attorneys' fees caused by the failure." [Emphasis added.]

The opinion by the bankruptcy judge involved three debtors and a company advertising itself as one of the country's 10 largest mortgage originators and servicers.

The servicer had been in trouble before for violating Rule 3002.1. The bankruptcy judge said that the servicer had been "chastised" by a bankruptcy judge in North Carolina for violating the rule. In one of the three cases in her court, the bankruptcy judge said that the servicer previously agreed to pay a \$9,000 sanction for sending erroneous mortgage statements for three years.

In two of the three cases, the bankruptcy court had previously entered an order declaring that the debtors were current on all pre- and post-filing payments, fees and charges. Within a month after the so-called Debtor Current Orders, the servicer began billing the debtors for about \$250 in fees allegedly incurred during the periods encompassed by the Debtor Current Orders. In those two cases, the servicer had not filed notices required by Rule 3002.1(c).

In the third case, there was no Debtor Current Order, but the servicer billed for expenses without filing the Rule 3002.1(c) notice.

For violating the rule, the bankruptcy judge imposed a total of \$75,000 in sanctions under Rule 3002.1(i), representing \$1,000 for each of the 25 months in which the servicer billed the three debtors without filing a notice.

In one of the cases where there was a Debtor Current Order, the bankruptcy judge imposed \$100,000 in sanctions under Section 105. In the case with a Debtor Current Order where the lender had previously paid a \$9,000 sanction for improper billing, she assessed a \$200,000 sanction.

The bankruptcy court imposed Section 105 sanctions because she said that the record "categorically demonstrates" that the \$9,000 sanction two years earlier had failed to achieve its intended remedial effect of deterring the servicer from sending out "inaccurate account statements." Since she had given the servicer "an opportunity to bring its practices in line with the mandates of Rule 3002.1," the bankruptcy judge felt that "the time has come for 'the imposition of severe sanctions.""

The bankruptcy judge admitted that the sanctions were not in the nature of coercive civil contempt sanctions because the servicer already had waived the post-filing fees. She based her action on the court's "inherent authority" under Section 105 to impose punitive, non-contempt sanctions even when there had been belated compliance.



The sanctions totaled \$375,000 and were to be paid to the state's largest *pro bono* provider of legal services in bankruptcy cases. *In re Gravel*, 556 B.R. 561 (Bankr. D. Vt. Sept. 12, 2016). To read ABI's report on the first bankruptcy court opinion, <u>click here</u>.

The servicer appealed. The district court reversed, ruling that \$375,000 in sanctions exceeded the bankruptcy court's statutory and inherent powers. Remanding, the district court said that the bankruptcy court could enforce its orders short of punitive sanctions.

After remand, the bankruptcy court adopted its previous findings and imposed the same \$75,000 in sanctions for violating Rule 3001.2. The bankruptcy court reduced the other \$300,000 in sanctions to \$225,000. *In re Gravel*, 601 B.R. 873 (Bankr. D. Vt. June 27, 2019).

The servicer appealed. The Second Circuit accepted a direct appeal, overstepping an intermediate appeal to the district court.

Sanctions for the Debtor Current Orders

In his 33-page opinion, Judge Jacobs first reviewed the \$225,000 in contempt sanctions for violation of the Debtor Current Orders.

Those orders declared that the debtors were current on their mortgages, including all monthly payments and any other charges. The orders prohibited the servicer "from disputing that the debtors are current (as set forth herein) in any other proceeding."

Simply put, Judge Jacobs said that the servicer "did not, as a matter of law, violate" the Debtor Current Orders. The orders, he said, "did not enjoin the recording of expired fees on the statements" sent to the debtors.

Judge Jacobs applied the contempt standard established in *Taggart v. Lorenzen*, 139 S. Ct. 1795 (2019), where the Supreme Court held that there can be no sanctions for civil contempt of the discharge injunction if there was an "objectively reasonable basis for concluding that the creditor's conduct might be lawful under the discharge order." *Id.* at 1801. To read ABI's discussion of *Taggart*, click here.

Under *Taggart*, Judge Jacobs said there can be contempt for violating an "injunction only 'if there is *no fair ground of doubt* as to whether the order barred the creditor's conduct." *Id.* at 1799. [Emphasis in original.]

"Without an express injunction" barring the servicer from sending out statements contrary to the Debtor Current Order, Judge Jacobs said there was a "fair ground of doubt as to whether the listed fees can form the basis for contempt." He said that the bankruptcy court "could have crafted an order that would have forbidden the conduct."



No Contempt for Violating Rule 3002.1

Judge Jacobs turned to the \$75,000 in sanctions for violating Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1 by failing to file required notices.

Judge Jacobs began by noting how the sanctions were based on the number of incorrect mortgage statements, not the amount of incorrect charges that totaled \$716. The bankruptcy court found authority for the sanction in Rule 3002.1's authorization to "award other appropriate relief, including reasonable expenses and attorneys' fees caused by the failure."

Evidently minimizing the word "including" but focusing on "expenses and attorneys' fees," Judge Jacobs held that "other appropriate relief is limited to "nonpunitive sanctions." He said that other provisions in the Bankruptcy Code, such as Section 362(k)(1), explicitly authorize punitive sanctions. Similarly, he said that Rule 3002.1 lacks a reference to "just orders," like analogous Rule 37 of the Federal Rules of Civil procedure.

Given that the sanctions were not permitted by Rule 3002.1, Judge Jacobs deflected the argument that the \$75,000 in sanctions were permissible under the court's inherent powers. The circuit court, he said, could not consider the question because, in his view, the bankruptcy court had not adequately assessed whether the sanctions were authorized under inherent powers.

Judge Jacobs said it was "dubious" whether the bankruptcy court exercise its inherent powers because "there is no finding of bad faith." In short, he held,

The sanction was imposed under Rule 3002.1(i), and our holding is that the sanction went beyond the relief authorized by that rule.

Despite the holding, Judge Jacobs left the door open for sanctions in future cases when the bankruptcy court uses a few magic words. He said that his opinion "does not limit a bankruptcy court's inherent power to sanction offenders who act in bad faith. That is just not what the bankruptcy court did here; others might be free to do so if they were to make sufficient findings."

Judge Jacobs reversed and vacated the bankruptcy court's order. The majority did not remand and allow the bankruptcy judge to explain whether she had issued sanctions under the court's inherent powers.

The Dissent

Circuit Judge Joseph F. Bianco wrote a 36-page dissent, three pages longer than the majority's opinion. However, he agreed with the majority's holding that the Debtor Current Orders "did not clearly and unambiguously prohibit" the servicer's conduct. In other words, he appears to agree



that *Taggart* applies to all potential contempt findings in bankruptcy court, including violations of the automatic stay.

Although he "respectfully" dissented, Judge Bianco vigorously disagreed with vacating the \$75,000 in sanctions for violating Rule 3002.1. He believes that the "other appropriate relief" language in [Rule 3002.1(i)(2)] conferred upon bankruptcy courts . . . a proper basis to impose the \$75,000 punitive sanction against [the servicer] based upon its flagrant and repeated violations of the Rule."

Judge Bianco saw his understanding of the Rule as being "not only consistent with the plain text of the Rule itself but is further supported by the purpose of the Rule and the fact that the Rule was modeled after Rule 37 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which allows for similar punitive sanctions."

Even if Rule 3002.1 in itself did not permit the imposition of sanctions, Judge Bianco believes that the bankruptcy court has "independent authority under its inherent powers to impose this \$75,000 sanction against [the servicer] for its egregious conduct in violation of the Rule." The record, he said, was "more than sufficient" for upholding \$75,000 in sanctions under a court's inherent powers.

Judge Bianco went further. He read the "the plain text of Rule 3002.1 [as allowing] punitive, non-compensatory sanctions . . . consistent with the Rule's purpose."

On a practical level, Judge Bianco saw reason for punitive sanctions. He said that the "reimbursement of costs to a debtor for a Rule violation . . . does little to prevent future violations and therefore falls far short of safeguarding the Chapter 13 'fresh start' process for all such debtors."

Judge Bianco also disagreed with the majority failure to remand. He would have allowed the bankruptcy court on remand to expound on its "reasoning for the imposition of sanctions under its inherent powers."

Observations

When *Taggart* came down, the question arose, "Does the same standard apply to contempt for violation of the automatic stay?"

The Second Circuit has now answered the question. In the Second Circuit, *Taggart* seems to apply not only to automatic stay violations but also to any circumstance when the bankruptcy court is inclined to impose contempt sanctions.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In this writer's view, applying *Taggart* to automatic stay violations means there can be no contempt if the creditor has a non-frivolous argument aimed at explaining why there was no violation of Section 362.

The majority's opinion also means that bankruptcy courts (and the lawyers who draft proposed orders) must now lay out in detail the types of actions that are prohibited. Otherwise, contempt will be unavailable.

On Rule 3002.1, the lower courts are split about the availability of contempt. The Second Circuit is the first appeals court to reach the issue. There may be a circuit split eventually.

Fortunately, the Rule could be amended without Congressional action to permit contempt sanctions for violations of Rule 3002.1.

This writer predicts there will be a petition for rehearing *en banc*, but the Second Circuit rarely agrees to sit *en banc*. The vigorous dissent makes a strong case for sitting *en banc*.

The opinion will have wide-ranging effect on bankruptcy. For example, the panel made blanket statements without reflecting on how applying *Taggart* will affect enforcement of the automatic stay.

The circuit should grant rehearing *en banc*, allowing scholars and the wider community to appear as *amici* and comment on what may be the most significant circuit court decision this year on bankruptcy law.

The opinion is *PHH Mortgage Corp. v. Sensenich (In re Gravel)*, 20-1, 2021 BL 289648, 2021 Us App Lexis 22752 (2d Cir. Aug. 2, 2021).



Lack of authority on point is no defense to a willful violation of the automatic stay, according to the Third Circuit.

Good Faith Is No Defense to an Allegedly Willful Stay Violation, Third Circuit Says

The Third Circuit handed down an opinion containing several holdings that close the door on defenses a creditor could make after being charged with a willful violation of the automatic stay:

- The Third Circuit's *University Medical* decision in 1992 did not create a general good faith defense to an automatic stay violation;
- Willfulness and good faith are separate and distinct issues when it comes to automatic stay violations;
- The lack of authority on the precise facts of an alleged stay violation does not create a defense in itself; and
- The appeals court cast doubt on lower courts' decisions in the Third Circuit finding no stay violation from an educational institution's refusal to turn over a transcript if the underlying debt to the school is nondischargeable.

Contempt for Withholding a Transcript

When the debtor filed her chapter 13 petition, she owed about \$6,000 to a college. After filing, she requested that the college send her a transcript. The college sent a transcript, but it did not show that she had graduated.

When challenged about the accuracy of the transcript, the college said it had put a "financial hold" on a complete transcript because she owed the school \$6,000.

The college filed an adversary proceeding seeking a declaration that the debt was a nondischargeable student loan. Counterclaiming, the debtor alleged that withholding an accurate transcript was a willful violation of the automatic stay under Section 362(k).

Later, the college withdrew the nondischargeability claim with prejudice, establishing that the debt was dischargeable.

The bankruptcy court held a trial and ruled that the school had violated the automatic stay by withholding a complete transcript. Finding the violation to be willful, the bankruptcy judge entered judgment in favor of the debtor, awarding about \$200 in actual damages plus attorneys' fees to be



determined later. The bankruptcy court denied a request for punitive and emotional distress damages.

The district court affirmed, and so did the Third Circuit in a September 9 opinion by Circuit Judge Julio M. Fuentes.

The Amendment to Section 362(k)

The college conceded that it violated the automatic stay but argued that the violation was not willful. Section 362(k)(1) provides that "an individual injured by any willful violation of a stay provided by this section [362] shall recover actual damages, including costs and attorneys' fees, and, in appropriate circumstances, may recover punitive damages."

In large part, the college argued that its actions were not willful under *In re University Medical Center*, 973 F.2d 1065 (3d Cir. 1992). Much of Judge Fuentes' opinion was spent in explaining what *University Medical* did or did not hold and why it was not legislatively overruled by the amendment of Section 362(k) in 2005.

Before the so-called BAPCPA amendments in 2005, Section 362(k) said nothing about good faith. The amendment added subsection (2), which says:

If such violation is based on an action taken by an entity in the good faith belief that [the stay automatically terminated for the debtor's failure to file a statement of intention], the recovery under paragraph (1) of this subsection against such entity shall be limited to actual damages.

University Medical Wasn't Legislatively Overruled

The defendant in *University Medical* argued that its actions were not willful, thus providing insulation from damages and attorneys' fees. At the time the opinion was written in 1992, Section 362(k) did not say whether good faith was a defense. Then, the statute only addressed a "willful violation" of the stay.

However, the Third Circuit had ruled two years before *University Medical* that a defendant's good faith belief that its actions did not violate the stay did not, by itself, "establish a defense to willfulness," Judge Fuentes said. *See In re Atlantic Business & Community Corp.*, 901 F.2d 325, 329 (3d Cir. 1990). The appeals court said there was ample evidence that the defendant acted intentionally and with knowledge of the stay, despite the defendant's claim that its actions were in good faith.

In *University Medical*, Judge Fuentes said, the defendant did more than claim good faith. The defendant presented "persuasive authority" to show that a stay violation was "uncertain."

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

110



According to Judge Fuentes, the Third Circuit held in *University Medical* that good faith by itself was "insufficient" but that "persuasive authority negated any finding of willfulness" and obviated liability for damages.

Several bankruptcy courts concluded that *University Medical* was legislatively overruled because the amendment to Section 362(k) installed a good faith defense that was narrower than the 1992 decision. Judge Fuentes disagreed.

Judge Fuentes agreed with recently retired Bankruptcy Judge S. Martin Teel, Jr., who read *University Medical* to mean that good faith is not a defense to willfulness. Rather, willfulness is separate and distinct from good faith.

Judge Teel explained:

[W]hen the law is sufficiently unsettled, willful violation of the statutory command is absent, and damages are not recoverable, because the offending party has not acted in violation of a command of which it had fair notice.

In re Stancil, 487 B.R. 331, 343-44 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2013).

Judge Fuentes cited the First Circuit for also interpreting *University Medical* to mean that a good faith belief that one's actions do not violate the stay is not determinative of willfulness. *IRS* v. *Murphy*, 892 F.3d 29, 37-38 (1st Cir. 2018).

Judge Fuentes read *University Medical* as not creating a good faith defense, like the limited good faith defense created in 2005 for situations where there was an automatic termination of the stay for failure to file a statement of intention.

On the bottom line, Judge Fuentes concluded that *University Medical* remains good law. The 1992 opinion, he said, makes a willfulness defense "separate and distinct from one of good faith alone."

The College Had No Authority on Its Side

Unlike the defendant in *University Medical*, the college-appellant had no "persuasive authority" to support the notion that withholding a transcript did not violate the stay, Judge Fuentes said. The college, he said, "predominantly relies on the absence of case law addressing these precise facts."

Judge Fuentes held:

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

[A] lack of case law to the contrary does not render the law sufficiently unsettled under *University Medical*. Rather, the defendant must point to authority that reasonably supports its belief that its actions were in accordance with the stay.

The college cited two bankruptcy court decisions in the Third Circuit for the idea that withholding a transcript is no stay violation. Judge Fuentes distinguished both.

In both cases, the bankruptcy courts found no stay violation for withholding a transcript when the underlying debt to the school was nondischargeable. In the case on appeal, the college had withdrawn its complaint and conceded that the debt was dischargeable.

Judge Fuentes cited three other circuits and "many other federal courts" for holding that withholding a transcript is a stay violation, even when the debt is nondischargeable.

Because the college failed to show that the law was "sufficiently unsettled within the meaning of *University Medical*," Judge Fuentes upheld the district court for finding a willful stay violation.

There Was Sufficient Injury

The college claimed there was not a sufficiently meaningful injury to justify a stay violation.

The bankruptcy court had awarded the debtor about \$200 in lost wages for time spent in court to attend trial. The college, Judge Fuentes said, cited "no authority for its position that a debtor's lost wages from attending trial, even if a modest amount, is not a legitimate financial harm." Likewise, he saw no "compelling explanation" for the idea that "attorneys' fees do not constitute a financial injury on their own."

Judge Fuentes found other "cognizable injury" under Section 362 arising from the debtor's failure to receive a complete transcript.

Judge Fuentes affirmed the district court.

Observations

In *Taggart v. Lorenzen*, 139 S. Ct. 1795 (2019), the Supreme Court rejected a strict liability standard for violation of the discharge injunction. Instead, the Court held that there can be no sanctions for civil contempt of the discharge injunction if there was an "objectively reasonable basis for concluding that the creditor's conduct might be lawful under the discharge order." *Id.* at 1801. To read ABI's discussion of *Taggart*, click here.

In a footnote, Judge Fuentes seemed to say there was no reason to discuss *Taggart* because the court was not imposing a strict liability standard.



Increasingly, courts are saying that *Taggart* also applies to alleged violations of the automatic stay.

This writer submits that *Taggart* was worthy of discussion to determine whether the college in the Third Circuit case had an "objectively reasonable basis" for believing that withholding a transcript was no stay violation.

Did Judge Fuentes satisfy the *Taggart* standard by finding no "persuasive authority" to support the college's argument? Is no "persuasive authority" equivalent to no "objectively reasonable basis?" Were two distinguishable cases in bankruptcy court sufficient to give the college a defense under *Taggart*?

The opinion is California Coast University v. Aleckna (In re Aleckna), 20-1309 (3d Cir. Sept. 9, 2021).



A minority of courts hold that a suit in bankruptcy court can violate the automatic stay if based on a claim that could have been brought before bankruptcy and did not arise under the Bankruptcy Code.

Courts Split on Whether Suits in Bankruptcy Court Can Violate the Automatic Stay

Adopting the minority view, a bankruptcy judge in New Mexico decided that the automatic stay bars a creditor from suing the debtor *in bankruptcy court* if the claim is one that the creditor could have brought before bankruptcy and does not arise under the Bankruptcy Code.

The May 13 opinion by Bankruptcy Judge David T. Thuma of Albuquerque, N.M., could be one of those cases where facts buried in the record may have affected the outcome.

The Allegations of Improper Conduct

The Archdiocese of Santa Fe, N.M., filed a chapter 11 petition in December 2018 to deal with sexual abuse claims. Before bankruptcy in September 2017, the archdiocese published a list of priests and other "religious" persons who were credibly accused of sexual abuse. One of the men on the list, whom we shall call the accused, was shown as having been a member of the Benedictine Order.

The archdiocese published the list again after bankruptcy.

Before bankruptcy, the accused told the archdiocese that he was wrongly included in the list and that he had never been "religious" as that term is used within the church, had never been a seminarian working within the archdiocese who was "found guilty" of abuse, and was not a member of the Benedictine Order. Explaining the inaccuracy of the accusations in detail, the accused wrote to the archbishop, but the church did not remove him from the list, the accused said in court papers.

In court papers in bankruptcy court, the accused said that the archdiocese "summarily ordered him to cease and desist having any contact with the [cathedral in Santa Fe where he was a volunteer coordinator for wedding preparation] . . . and summarily ordered him to cease and desist any other contact with any other parish volunteer organization."

Also before the chapter 11 filing, the accused commenced a defamation action in state court, seeking compensatory and punitive damages. The complaint did not seek equitable relief, such as



a mandatory injunction to delete the accused from the list. After bankruptcy, the accused filed a \$200,000 proof of claim.

In bankruptcy court, the accused filed a motion asking Judge Thuma to enjoin the archdiocese by directing the removal of his name from the list. With refinements described below, Judge Thuma denied the motion without reaching the merits.

The accused made many denials in his prebankruptcy letter to the archdiocese and in his motion to be deleted from the list, but the papers could be understood to mean that he did not deny having inappropriate relations with a minor.

The Stay Applies to Some Suits in Bankruptcy Court

First, Judge Thuma asked whether the motion was filed in violation of the automatic stay.

Judge Thuma said there "is conflicting case law on whether it violates the automatic stay for a creditor to sue the debtor in bankruptcy court on a prepetition claim." The majority, he said, believe that "creditors may bring such proceedings in bankruptcy court without violating the stay."

Judge Thuma said that the majority justify the result by saying that a lawsuit in bankruptcy court is equivalent to filing a proof of claim.

The minority, according to Judge Thuma, believe the stay applies based on the "plain language" of Section 362(a)(1), which stops the commencement or continuation of an action on a claim that arose before bankruptcy.

Judge Thuma had three reasons for agreeing with the minority. First, he said, "the language of Section 362(a)(1) is clear" in the sense that it bars actions like the one by the accused that could have been brought before bankruptcy.

Second, Judge Thuma said that the minority view does not create "absurd results," because actions such as filing a claim, a dischargeability complaint or a stay relief motion could not have been brought before bankruptcy.

Third, Judge Thuma said that "suing the debtor in bankruptcy court is not equivalent to filing a proof of claim. Claims objections are contested matters, not adversary proceedings."

If the accused wants the archdiocese to remove his name from the list, Judge Thuma required the accused to take two steps. First, the accused must move for a modification of the automatic stay. If the motion is granted, the accused then must commence an adversary proceeding seeking a mandatory injunction. Or, the accused could remove the suit pending in state court that is



enjoined by the automatic stay. In that suit, the accused would be obliged to amend the complaint to seek equitable relief.

Once there is an adversary proceeding in bankruptcy court seeking an injunction, Judge Thuma said that "claim allowance would not be part of it." Judge Thuma said he would not take the claim for monetary relief "out of order" and adjudicate the amount of damages until the debtor lodges an objection to the claim.

Observations

There is more to the story than Judge Thuma could detail in his opinion.

Some of the court papers filed by the accused and the archdiocese are enlightening. Notably, the accused's motion seems not to allege that he never had sexual relations with anyone who was underage.

The accused, for instance, recounted how he wrote a letter to the archbishop in 2017 that could be interpreted as admitting that, when he was 19 years old, a priest introduced him to someone who was 17 and that he had a summertime relationship with that 17-year-old person. Following the relationship, the accused went to a monastery, where he remained for six years.

In a bankruptcy court filing, the accused recites how he was sued in 1993 with regard to the relationship. The court filing could be interpreted to mean that he settled the suit for \$5,000, on the advice of counsel.

Allegations by the archdiocese in answering the defamation complaint in state court provide more detail. The archdiocese said that the accused "was credibly accused of committing child sexual abuse in 1970, including non-consensual forcible oral sodomy and attempted anal sodomy of a minor, in a lawsuit filed in 1994 against the Archdiocese of Santa Fe, [the accused], and the Benedictine Monks."

The archdiocese's pleading in the defamation suit went on to say that the accused, in "correspondence with the Archdiocese, . . . admitted to engaging in sexual conduct with the minor in 1970." The archdiocese's answer in the defamation suit alleges that the accused "was a seminarian in the Archdiocese of Santa Fe who has been credibly and publicly accused of child sexual abuse that he committed under the auspices of the Archdiocese of Santa Fe, while residing at the Benedictine Monastery in Pecos, New Mexico."

The allegations by and against the accused help explain why Judge Thuma is requiring the accused to abide punctiliously by the Bankruptcy Code and Rules. The gravity of the allegations and the possible dispute about the facts don't counsel procedural shortcuts.



The opinion is *Roman Catholic Church of the Archdiocese of Santa Fe*, 18-13027 (Bankr. D. N.M. May 13, 2021).



Splitting with the Sixth Circuit, Pittsburgh district judge rules that a FLSA suit falls within the 'police and regulatory' exception to the automatic stay.

Pennsylvania District Judge Holds that FLSA Suit Is Not Halted by Automatic Stay

Declining to follow a Sixth Circuit holding to the contrary, a district judge in Pittsburgh decided that a suit by the government under the federal Fair Labor Standards Act falls within the Section 362(b)(4) "police and regulatory" exception to the automatic stay.

Years earlier, the U.S. Department of Labor had sued a corporation and its chief executive for wages and hours violations under FLSA. The government was seeking both an injunction to bar further violations and the recovery of back wages. This year, the corporation filed a petition to liquidate in chapter 7.

The debtor corporation filed a "suggestion of bankruptcy" with District Judge Mark R. Hornak, claiming that bankruptcy automatically enjoined the FLSA suit. The defendant CEO urged the court to extend the stay by enjoining the action as to him.

The government responded by arguing that the suit fell within the "police and regulatory" exception to the automatic stay. Section 362(b)(4) provides that a bankruptcy petition

does not operate as a stay . . . of the commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a governmental unit . . . to enforce such governmental unit's . . . police and regulatory power, including the enforcement of a judgment other than a money judgment, obtained in an action or proceeding by the governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit's . . . police or regulatory power. . . .

The defendants relied heavily on a Sixth Circuit decision holding that the exception does not apply to a FLSA suit. *See Chao v. Hospital Staffing Services, Inc.*, 270 F.3d 374 (6th Cir. 2001).

Judge Hornak observed that the Third Circuit had not ruled on the precise issue involving a FLSA suit. However, the Third Circuit applies two tests, he said.

First, the pecuniary purpose test focuses on whether the action seeks to protect the government's pecuniary interest as opposed to protecting public safety and health. Second, the public policy test inquires whether the government is effecting public policy as opposed to adjudicating private rights.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Citing *In re Nortel*, 669 F.3d 128, 141 (3d Cir. 2011), Judge Hornak said that the Third Circuit has "suggested" that legislative history indicates that the regulatory exception applies to suits by the government to fix damages for violation of police or regulatory laws.

In his March 18 opinion, Judge Hornak gave "due respect" to the reasoning of the Sixth Circuit but disagreed. He concluded that the logic of the Sixth Circuit would "yield a result that runs contrary to that obtained by the persuasive application of legal principles previously applied by this Court and other courts in this Circuit." Barring the government from obtaining an injunction and a judgment for back wages, he said, "would likewise substantially impair the core remedial purposes of the FLSA."

Judge Hornak saw the Sixth Circuit as according "too little weight to the role and responsibility of the Secretary of Labor in enforcing the provisions of the FLSA by instituting this type of enforcement action in this Court." In his view, a judgment for back pay would serve "a key purpose . . . to bring a culpable employer into compliance with the FLSA going forward." He added that "sizeable money damages [are] intended to foster that result."

Judge Hornak saw money damages as a "signal to the marketplace [about] the critical importance of employers' compliance with that vital federal statute."

By seeking a permanent injunction barring further violation of FLSA, Judge Hornak said that suit dealt with more than enforcing private rights. He therefore held that "this FLSA enforcement action falls within the police and regulatory exception to the automatic stay."

Having ruled that the automatic stay did not apply, Judge Hornak had no reason to decide about extending the stay to cover the CEO.

The opinion is Stewart v. Holland Acquisitions Inc., 15-01094 (W.D. Pa. March 18, 2021).



Compensation



Officers are presumptively disqualified from KERPs, "absent a strong showing that they do not perform any significant role in management," a district judge in New York says.

Being an 'Officer' Disqualifies Someone from a KERP, New York District Judge Says

Reversing a bankruptcy court in New York, District Judge J. Paul Oetken held that someone with the title of a corporate officer is not entitled to participate in a key employee retention program, or KERP, "absent a particularly strong showing that they do not perform a significant role in management."

In his July 9 opinion, Judge Oetken also held that the appeal was not equitably moot, even though the KERP payments had been made to six officers and the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay pending appeal.

On the subject of who is or is not an "officer" for the purpose of Section 503(c), Judge Oetken referred to the "messy state of the law on this topic." The section prohibits retention payments to an "insider" absent evidence that the payment is "essential" to retain someone who has a *bona fide* offer from another business. In turn, an "insider" is defined in Section 101(31)(B)(ii) to include an "officer."

The Six Corporate Officers and the KERP

The chapter 11 debtor established an \$8 million KERP for 190 employees. The group included six officers slated for retention bonuses aggregating \$1.8 million.

Among the six, one was the deputy general counsel, three were senior vice presidents, and two were vice presidents. The debtor conceded that all six were deemed to be officers under Delaware law.

The U.S. Trustee objected to approval of the KERP as to the six officers. The bankruptcy judge overruled the objection and approved the KERP across the board, adopting the debtor's argument that the six were officers in name only and had no broad decision-making authority.

The U.S. Trustee appealed but did not seek a stay pending appeal. The KERP payments were made to everyone. The chapter 11 plan was confirmed and consummated.



Equitable Mootness

The debtor contended that the appeal was equitably moot because the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay pending appeal and requiring repayment would be inequitable.

To determine whether the appeal was moot, Judge Oetken applied the five-part *Chateaugay* test. *See In re Chateaugay Corp.*, 10 F.3d 944, 952 (2d Cir. 1993).

Among the tests relevant to the case on appeal, Judge Oetken saw no reason he could not provide relief by compelling disgorgement. Further, the six officers knew about the appeal and had been represented by the debtor, effectively speaking.

It was "regrettable," Judge Oetken said, that the U.S. Trustee had not sought a stay, but clawing back the payments would not be "inequitable" if the payments were illegal in the first place.

Judge Oetken decided that the appeal was not equitably moot, noting that the lack of a stay "is much more dire" on appeal from a confirmation order.

The Significance of Being an 'Officer'

In approving the KERP, the bankruptcy court applied a functional test to determine whether the six officers had "sufficient authority" to be seen as officers under Section 503(c). The debtor argued that being an officer under Delaware law was neither controlling nor dispositive.

"From a policy standpoint," Judge Oetken said, "giving more weight to an objective criterion — whether an employee was appointed by the board — provides better guidance to parties than a functional, non-exhaustive test."

Although a "functional approach" may be appropriate "in many cases," Judge Oetken agreed "with the [U.S.] Trustee that with respect to officers *appointed or elected by the Board*, such individuals are 'officers' under the Bankruptcy Code, at least absent a particularly strong showing that they do not perform a significant role in management." [Emphasis in original.]

Judge Oetken concluded that the bankruptcy court "erred by inquiring beyond the fact that the six employees were appointed by [the] board." Even had he made a "more expansive analysis" beyond the fact that the six were appointed by the board and were officers under Delaware law, Judge Oetken said their designation as officers would be "dispositive, at least absent a strong showing that they do not perform any significant role in management."

In the case at hand, Judge Oetken said that the debtor "failed to overcome the strong presumption that, as board-appointed employees, the six employees are officers." He therefore reversed the order approving the KERP as to the six officers.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

122



The Standards on Appeal

In a footnote at the conclusion of his decision, Judge Oetken said that the case presented mixed questions of law and fact, where the issues were "primarily legal." On that basis, he reversed on *de novo* review.

If the questions were "primarily factual," Judge Oetken said, then the bankruptcy court's conclusion that the six were not officers was "clearly erroneous."

The opinion is *Harrington v. LSC Communications Inc.* (In re LSC Communications Inc.), 20-5006 (S.D.N.Y. July 9, 2021).



Closing a chapter 11 case after confirmation to avoid U.S. Trustee fees won't be necessary if the ruling by Judge Sontchi holds up.

Judge Sontchi Cuts Off U.S. Trustee Fees on Confirmation of a Chapter 11 Plan

When a trust created under a chapter 11 plan makes distributions to creditors, the distributions are not subject to fees for the U.S. Trustee system because transfers by a trust are not disbursements by the debtor, according to Delaware Chief Bankruptcy Judge Christopher S. Sontchi.

In his June 28 ruling, Judge Sontchi referred to the "absurdity" of the U.S. Trustee's position. He added, "I cannot stress enough how offensive I find the [U.S. Trustee's] attempt to double, or triple collect its 'tax.'" On the other hand, he said that the U.S. Trustee has "admirably" fulfilled its role "as the watchdog over the integrity of the administration of the U.S. bankruptcy system."

If Judge Sontchi's theory prevails, U.S. Trustees won't be collecting fees after confirmation of chapter 11 plans where distributions are made by trusts and not by the debtors. It will no longer be necessary to close chapter 11 cases to cut off taxes paid to the U.S. Trustee system.

The Litigation Trust

The facts were typical of significant chapter 11 cases. The debtors confirmed a plan in mid-2017 that created a litigation trust to which the debtors transferred their claims against third parties. For the quarter in which the assets were transferred to the trust, the debtors paid the maximum fee owing to the U.S. Trustee under 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6).

After the transfers to the trust, the chapter 11 plan provided that the debtors would have no further interest in the assets transferred to the trust. The plan also provided that quarterly fees would be paid to the U.S. Trustee "when due in accordance with applicable law." In addition, the plan said that the debtors would remain obligated to pay the quarterly U.S. Trustee fees until the cases were closed.

The trust brought suit in late 2017 asserting claims transferred from the debtors. The trust negotiated a \$90 million settlement this year. Judge Sontchi approved the settlement, and the trust received the settlement proceeds. The U.S. Trustee filed a motion asking Judge Sontchi to compel the trust to pay fees when the settlement proceeds are distributed to creditors.

Judge Sontchi denied the motion.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

124



The Debtors Didn't Make Disbursements

The U.S. Trustee based the motion on 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6), which calculates the fee based on "disbursements." The maximum quarterly fee is now \$250,000, following the increase effective in the first quarter of 2018.

Judge Sontchi cited the Fifth Circuit for saying that several circuits define "disbursements" to mean payments made by or on behalf of the debtor. He went on to quote the Sixth Circuit for saying that "disbursements" is "commonly understood in this context to apply to payments made with the funds generated from the liquidation of the debtor's assets." *Robiner v. Danny's Mkts., Inc.* (*In re Danny's Mkts., Inc.*), 266 F.3d 523, 525 (6th Cir. 2001).

For Judge Sontchi, the "common thread" in the opinions "is the fact that the debtor had some interest in, or control over, the money disbursed," quoting *In re Hale*, 436 B.R. 125, 130 (Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2010). Quoting a district judge in Delaware, he said "it is the ultimate payment of the expense by any entity on behalf of a debtor that is the subject of quarterly fees." *Walton v. Post-Confirmation Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of GC Companies, Inc. (In re GC Companies, Inc.)*, 298 B.R. 226, 230 (D. Del. 2003).

The trigger for payments of U.S. Trustee fees is commonly understood to be payments by or on behalf of the debtor, Judge Sontchi said. In the case at bar, the U.S. Trustee's motion failed because "the Trust is not paying expenses on behalf of any Debtors."

Rather, the disbursements triggering fees for the U.S. Trustee were made at confirmation when the debtors funded the trust. At the time, the debtors paid the maximum fees to the U.S. Trustee.

Judge Sontchi dug deeper into the plan to find further support for his conclusion. He cited the plan for providing that transfers to the trust were to be treated as transfers directly to trust beneficiaries — that is to say, to creditors.

Furthermore, the settlement proceeds were trust assets as to which the debtors had disavowed any further interest. Consistent with Section 1930, he said that the U.S. Trustee had already received its quarterly fee at confirmation based on transfers of claims made then by the debtor.

Judge Sontchi denied the U.S. Trustee's motion because transfers to creditors by the trust were not "disbursements" on behalf of the debtors.

Observations

Judge Sontchi's opinion gives tips on how to draft plans and related documents to cut off U.S. Trustee fees at confirmation.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In addition, the confirmation order could be written to provide that transfers by a trust will not be taxed by the U.S. Trustee. That way, the U.S. Trustee would be tasked with appealing the confirmation order and could not wait to claim fees after the trust makes disbursements.

The opinion is In re Paragon Offshore PLC, 629 B.R. 227 (Bankr. D. Del. June 28, 2021).



The Second Circuit split with the Fourth and Fifth Circuits by holding that the increase in fees for the U.S. Trustee system was unconstitutional because it was not imposed simultaneously in the two states with bankruptcy administrators.

Circuits Are Now Split on the Constitutionality of the 2018 Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees

Splitting with the Fourth and Fifth Circuits, the Second Circuit held that the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program violates the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution because the increase did not apply immediately to debtors in two states with bankruptcy administrators.

Due to the limited nature of the relief sought by the debtor, the Second Circuit stopped short of declaring that a later version of the increase violates the constitution. However, the opinion could be read to mean that the increase was unconstitutional for all debtors whose cases were pending when the increase came into effect.

But there's more. Some readers may see hints in the May 24 opinion by Circuit Judge William J. Nardini that the dual system of U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators by itself is constitutionally suspect.

By the way, dissenters in both the Fourth and Fifth Circuits believe that the increase was unconstitutional. As it now stands, five circuit judges see the increase as unconstitutional, while four circuit judges see no conflict with the Bankruptcy Clause.

The U.S. Trustee Fee Increase

The U.S. Trustee program has always been self-funding, with the cost paid by fees imposed on chapter 11 debtors based on the amount of their "disbursements." When the funds began to run dry, Congress raised the U.S. Trustee fees as part of the Bankruptcy Judgeship Act of 2017. Codified at 27 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6)(B), the quarterly fee increased as of January 1, 2018.

The increase did not apply in the two states that employ bankruptcy administrators rather than U.S. Trustees. For those districts, the Judicial Conference increased the fees as of October 2018, nine months after the increase became effective in the other 48 states. More significantly, the increase in Alabama and North Carolina did not apply to pending cases.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The original 2017 version of Section 1930 said that the Judicial Conference "may" raise the fee for bankruptcy administrators. When there was an immediate outcry about an unconstitutional lack of uniformity, Congress passed the Bankruptcy Administration Improvement Act of 2020, Pub. L. No. 116-325, requiring the Judicial Conference to charge the same fees in bankruptcy administrator districts. However, the amendment in 2020 did not make the increase applicable to pending cases in bankruptcy administrator districts.

A debtor in Connecticut was reorganizing in chapter 11 when the increase came into effect in 2018. The debtor sued the U.S. Trustee in bankruptcy court, claiming that the increase violated the uniformity aspects of the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution. The debtor contended that it should be paying fees under the "old" schedule because its case was pending when the increase came into effect.

The bankruptcy court granted the U.S. Trustee's motion to dismiss. The Second Circuit granted a petition for direct appeal.

The Connecticut debtor confirmed its chapter 11 plan and closed the case before the 2020 amendment came into effect.

Two Circuits Find No Constitutional Violation

Both 2/1 decisions, the Fourth and Fifth Circuits found no constitutional violation in the increase. *See Siegel v. Fitzgerald (In re Circuit City Stores Inc.)*, 19-2240, 2021 BL 158721, 2021 U.S. App. Lexis 12845 (4th Cir. April 29, 2021), and *Hobbs v. Buffets LLC (In re Buffets LLC)*, 979 F.3d 366 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020). To read ABI's discussion of *Circuit City* and *Buffets*, click here and here.

The dissenters in both cases found constitutional violations and at least hinted that the dual system of U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators may in itself be unconstitutional.

The next circuit decision will come from the Federal Circuit on an appeal from the Court of Federal Claims, where the judge adopted the analysis of the Fifth Circuit and dismissed a purported class action. *See Acadiana Management Group LLC v. U.S.*, 19-496, 151 Fed. Cl. 121 (Ct. Cl. Nov. 30, 2020). For ABI's report on *Acadiana*, click here.

The Geographical Exception Didn't Work

Judge Nardini explained how the crux of the constitutional issue lay in two facts: The increase did not apply for nine months in bankruptcy administrator districts, and the increase never applied to cases pending in administrator districts when the increase came into effect.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

To obviate the idea that uniformity was even required, the U.S. Trustee argued that the fee statute was not "a Law on the subject of Bankruptcies throughout the United States." U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 4.

Judge Nardini said the argument "has been repeatedly rejected by other courts." It "plainly fits" within the Supreme Court's broad definition of bankruptcy, because any increase affects how much creditors receive, he said.

Judge Nardini turned to the question of whether the statute was unconstitutional on its face by focusing on the "geographic discrepancy." He noted how the increase was "required" in U.S. Trustee districts but only "permitted" in two states.

Curiously, the U.S. Trustee contended that the failure of the Judicial Conference to invoke the increase immediately in administrator districts was an unauthorized act that should not render the statute non-uniform. Judge Nardini didn't buy the argument, because the statute used the word "may" and not "shall" when describing the Judicial Conference's ability to increase the fees in administrator districts.

Next, Judge Nardini rejected the theory espoused by the Fourth and Fifth Circuits that the fee discrepancy was permissible to deal with geographical differences, in the same sense that permitting differing exemptions among the states does not offend the notion of uniformity.

Supreme Court authority regarding the geographical exception to uniformity is found in *Blanchette v. Connecticut General Insurance Corp.*, 419 U.S. 102 (1974), where the high court upheld bankruptcy laws pertaining to railroads in only one region of the U.S. The justices reasoned that a non-uniform law was permissible because, as Judge Nardini said, all railroad bankruptcies were confined to that region, making it "a geographically isolated problem."

Judge Nardini said that the two other circuits "overlooked a critical distinction." He cited *Ry. Labor Execs.* 'Ass'n v. Gibbons, 455 U.S. 457, 473 (1982), where the Supreme Court said that a bankruptcy law "must at least apply uniformly to a defined class of debtors."

Judge Nardini found a lack of uniformity because two debtors, "identical in all respects save the geographic locations in which they filed for bankruptcy, are charged dramatically different fees." He also rejected the idea that the funding shortfall in U.S. Trustee districts resulted from a "geographically isolated problem."

The distinction "appears to exist," Judge Nardini said, "only because Congress chose — for politically expedient reasons — to create a dual bankruptcy system." He went on to say that "the [U.S. Trustee] program was intended to be a uniform, nationwide program, but lawmakers in Alabama and North Carolina resisted and, after receiving a number of extensions, ultimately were granted a permanent exemption from the [U.S. Trustee] program in an unrelated law."



Adopting a geographical exception to uniformity, Judge Nardini said, "would yield the following inexplicable rule: Congress must enact uniform laws on the subject of bankruptcy . . . except when Congress elects to treat debtors non-uniformly."

Relief Granted by the Appeals Court

Judge Nadini said that the debtor was only challenging Section 1930 as it read before the 2020 amendment. He therefore held that the 2017 statute, before adoption of the 2020 amendment, "was unconstitutional on its face insofar as it charged higher fees to debtors in [U.S. Trustee] Districts." He ruled that the debtor was entitled to a refund of anything it paid in excess of what it would have paid in a bankruptcy administrator district.

Judge Nardini limited the scope of the holding by saying, "We do not address the constitutionality of the current version, or of any other portion of § 1930, or of any other aspect of the [U.S. Trustee/bankruptcy administrator] District system."

Observations

"It's a nice, clearly written opinion," Prof. Stephen J. Lubben told ABI. He occupies the Harvey Washington Wiley Chair in Corporate Governance & Business Ethics at Seton Hall University School of Law.

Prof. Lubben went on to say that the opinion "does not greatly further our understanding of the Bankruptcy Clause, and it does leave open the question of whether the U.S. Trustee system itself is unconstitutionally nonuniform."

The dissents in the Fourth and Fifth Circuits could be read to insinuate that the dual system of U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators may be non-uniform and unconstitutional. Judge Nardini seemed skeptical about the underpinnings of the dual system when he referred to the "politically expedient reasons" for rejecting U.S. Trustees in two states.

However, bankruptcy administrators and U.S. Trustees are not judges. They do not make law and do not enforce law on their own. In substance, they are debtors' government-financed adversaries. Does the Constitution mandate that debtors' adversaries must be identical throughout the country?

Instead of U.S. Trustees, would it have been unconstitutional had Congress instead permitted local courts to employ attorneys to appear as watchdogs, perhaps combining the roles of case trustee and U.S. Trustee?

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

If the dual system is unconstitutional, what about trustees in chapters 7, 11, 12 and 13? In some respects, trustees have more important roles and more authority than U.S. Trustees. Is our system of trustees unconstitutional because trustees are not employed by the same governmental agency?

Prof. Lubben is the author of the leading scholarly commentary on the Uniformity Clause, *A New Understanding of the Bankruptcy Clause*, 64 CASE W. RES. L. REV. 319 (2013).

Note: Judge Nardini received his commission in November 2019, immediately after being confirmed by an 86-2 vote in the Senate. He had been executive editor of the *Yale Law Journal* and clerked for both the Second Circuit and the Supreme Court. He was an assistant U.S. Attorney in Connecticut for 15 years, including service as chief of the criminal division.

The opinion is *Clinton Nurseries Inc. v. Harrington (In re Clinton Nurseries Inc.)*, 20-1209 (2d Cir. May 24, 2021).



Dissenter in the Fifth Circuit believes that having both U.S. Trustees and bankruptcy administrators violates the Uniformity Clause.

Fifth Circuit Upholds Constitutionality of Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees

Siding with the majority of lower courts around the country, the Fifth Circuit upheld the constitutionality of the 2017 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program.

Circuit Judge Edith Brown Clement dissented. Notably, she believes that the "permanent division of the country into [U.S. Trustee] districts and [bankruptcy administrator] districts violates the Bankruptcy Clause." Rather than overturn the dual U.S. Trustee/bankruptcy administrator system, she would have limited the remedy by allowing the debtor to pay the fees in effect before the increase came into effect.

The dissent raises the question of whether someone will cite the dissent and mount a headlong challenge to the constitutionality of the dual systems.

The U.S. Trustee Fee Increase

To ensure that taxpayers do not finance the U.S. Trustee Program, Congress revised the U.S. Trustee fees as part of the Bankruptcy Judgeship Act of 2017. Codified at 27 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6)(B), the fee increases whenever the balance in the U.S. Trustee System Fund falls below \$200 million at the end of any fiscal year through 2022.

Since the fund balance was below the threshold, the fee increased as of Oct. 27, 2017, when the amendment became effective. With the increase, "the quarterly fee payable for a quarter in which disbursements equal or exceed \$1,000,000 shall be the lesser of 1 percent of such disbursements or \$250,000."

If the debtor disburses \$1 million a quarter, the increased quarterly fee is \$10,000, or \$40,000 a year. Under the prior fee schedule, the quarterly fee would have been \$4,785 if disbursements were \$999,999 in the quarter, or \$6,500 if the quarterly disbursements were \$1 million but less than \$2 million.

If quarterly disbursements are \$25 million or more, the fee is now \$250,000 a quarter. At \$25 million under the old schedule, the fee would have been \$20,000 a quarter. For a company with \$25 million in quarterly disbursements, the fee rose by 1,250%



The word "disbursements" is not defined in the statute.

The increase hits middle-market companies, because the fees for large companies in chapter 11 are capped at \$250,000 a quarter. The increase is tough on companies with low margins but high sales volumes.

In February 2019, Bankruptcy Judge Ronald B. King of San Antonio ruled that the increase in fees does not apply to pending cases because the amended statute, 27 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6)(B), is not retroactive. He went on to hold that the statute violates the Bankruptcy, Uniformity, and Due Process Clauses of the Constitution. *In re Buffets LLC*, 597 B.R. 588 (Bankr. W.D. Tex. 2019). To read ABI's discussion of *Buffets*, click here.

The Fifth Circuit accepted a direct appeal from the decision by Judge King.

The Majority Reverse Judge King

Writing for himself and Circuit Judge Carl E. Stewart, Circuit Judge Gregg Costa noted that a majority of bankruptcy courts have found the increase to be constitutional. He agreed with the majority and found the increase to be applicable to the debtor whose chapter 11 plan had been confirmed before the increase came into effect.

The gravamen of the debtor's argument was based on the six districts in Alabama and North Carolina that Congress allowed to continue using bankruptcy administrators in lieu of the U.S. Trustee program. In those districts, the fees are set by the Judicial Conference of the U.S.

The Judicial Conference raised the fees for the bankruptcy administrators, but the increase was only applicable to cases filed on or after October 1, 2018. In the case on appeal to the Fifth Circuit, the debtor confirmed its plan in 2017. The U.S. Trustee took the position that the increase applied to the debtor because its case was still pending when the increase came into effect.

Bankruptcy Judge King sided with the debtor, but the majority on the circuit panel didn't.

Judge Costa first ruled that all of the debtor's expenditures were classified as "disbursements," including routine operating expenses.

Next, Judge Costa decided that the increase applied even though the debtor's case was pending when the increase came into effect. He ruled that the "applicability of the new fee thus turns on when debtors make disbursements, not when their cases are filed or confirmed." Based on "statutory history," he said that "new disbursements, not new cases, trigger the higher fees."

Similarly, Judge Costa concluded that the increase was not impermissibly retroactive because it neither attached new consequences to completed events nor affected vested rights. He held that



the "mere upsetting of their expectations as to amounts owed based on future distributions does not make for a retroactive application."

Judge Costa said that a debtor with a confirmed plan is no different from a homeowner who faces increased real estate taxes after purchasing a home.

Next, Judge Costa addressed what he called the "main event": Did the increase contravene the uniformity aspects of the Bankruptcy Clause because it was not applicable in districts with bankruptcy administrators?

Judge Costa found "no uniformity problem" because the Supreme Court found a uniformity violation just once, when a bankruptcy law was made applicable to only one railroad. He said the Supreme Court does not "bar every law that allows for a different outcome depending on where a bankruptcy is filed," such as exemptions that are not uniform among the states.

Finally, Judge Costa rejected the debtor's due process challenge because the "fee increase easily survives rational basis review" and similarly "defeats the takings claim."

The Dissent

Judge Clement was persuaded by *St. Angelo v. Victoria Farms Inc.*, 38 F.3d 1525 (9th Cir. 1994), amended by 46 F.3d 969 (9th Cir. 1995), where the Ninth Circuit found a constitutional defect when an earlier iteration of Section 1930 resulted in different fees between U.S. Trustee and bankruptcy administrator districts. The Ninth Circuit remedied the defect by "equalizing fees."

Significantly, Judge Clement interpreted *St. Angelo* as finding a constitutional violation in "the arbitrary use of two dissimilar systems." She characterized the "underlying constitutional infirmity" as a "dis-uniform law on the subject of bankruptcies."

Now that Congress has again treated debtors differently, Judge Clement said that "the problem is once again causing harm."

In terms of remedy, Judge Clement sided with the Ninth Circuit by saying that the court has "no power to force Alabama and North Carolina into the UST program." So, Judge Clement said she would "ameliorate the harm of unconstitutional treatment" by having the debtor pay fees under the old schedule.

Judge Clement ended her dissent by saying that Congress had created the dual systems for "no better reason than political influence." She noted how bankruptcy administrators were authorized by a "permanent exemption from the UST Program [tucked] into an unrelated bill during the November 2000 lame duck session" of Congress.



In language that could be quoted in future litigation, Judge Clement said she "would hold that the permanent division of the country into UST districts and BA districts violates the Bankruptcy Clause."

While dissenting from the majority's analysis of uniformity, Judge Clement concurred with the majority regarding retroactivity and takings.

Scholarly Observations

The majority opinion cited the leading scholarly commentary on the Uniformity Clause, written by Prof. Stephen J. Lubben, the Harvey Washington Wiley Chair in Corporate Governance & Business Ethics at the Seton Hall University School of Law. Stephen J. Lubben, *A New Understanding of the Bankruptcy Clause*, 64 CASE W. RES. L. REV. 319 (2013).

In a message to ABI, Prof. Lubben observed that "the debtor could have only brought up a potentially viable 'uniformity' argument if it had argued that the U.S. Trustee system itself violated the Bankruptcy Clause. Once you concede the validity of the system, it makes perfect sense for Congress to have a two-speed fee system that addresses the fact that there are not U.S. Trustees across the nation."

Prof. Lubben added that "both opinions offer a kind of roadmap for setting up a real challenge to the U.S. Trustee system."

The opinion is *Hobbs v. Buffets LLC (In re Buffets LLC)*, 19-50765, 2020 BL 427007, 2020 Us App Lexis 34866 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020).



Dissenters in the Fourth and Fifth Circuits evidently believe that the dual U.S. Trustee/Bankruptcy Administrator system is unconstitutional.

Another Circuit Upholds the 2018 Increase in U.S. Trustee Fees

Siding with majority in the split decision by the Fifth Circuit, the Fourth Circuit ruled 2/1 on April 29 that the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program applies to pending cases and violates neither the Due Process nor the Bankruptcy Clauses of the U.S. Constitution.

In dissent, Fourth Circuit Judge A. Marvin Quattlebaum, Jr. would have held the increase to be unconstitutional because some debtors in two states pay lower fees. Although the issue was not before him, Judge Quattlebaum's dissent seems to say that the division of the country into U.S. Trustee and Bankruptcy Administrator districts is unconstitutional in itself.

The Large U.S. Trustee Fee Increase

To ensure that taxpayers do not finance the U.S. Trustee Program, Congress raised the U.S. Trustee fees as part of the Bankruptcy Judgeship Act of 2017. Codified at 27 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6)(B), the quarterly fee increased as of January 1, 2018.

The increase did not apply in the two states that continue using Bankruptcy Administrators rather than U.S. Trustees. For those districts, the Judicial Conference increased the fees as of October 2018, about nine months after the increase became effective in the other 48 states. Perhaps more significantly, the increase in Alabama and North Carolina did not apply to pending cases.

Electronics retailer Circuit City had confirmed a liquidating chapter 11 plan in Virginia in 2010. The increase in 2018 obliged Circuit City's liquidating trust to pay \$575,000 more than would have been owing under the old fee schedule.

After a bankruptcy court in Texas ruled that the increase was unconstitutional and not applicable to pending cases, Circuit City sued, making the arguments that prevailed in Texas.

In July 2019, the bankruptcy court in Virginia ruled in favor of Circuit City and held that the increase was not retroactive and did not apply to pending cases. In addition, the bankruptcy court decided that the increase was unconstitutional. *In re Circuit City Stores Inc.*, 08-35653, 2019 BL 264824, 2019 Bankr. Lexis 2121 (Bankr. E.D. Va. July 15, 2019). To read ABI's discussion of the bankruptcy court opinion, <u>click here</u>.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Both sides appealed, and the Fourth Circuit granted a direct appeal, overstepping an intermediate appeal to the district court. While the appeal was pending, the Fifth Circuit reversed the Texas bankruptcy court in a 2/1 opinion, holding that the increase applied to pending cases and did not offend the constitution. *See Hobbs v. Buffets LLC (In re Buffets LLC)*, 979 F.3d 366 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020). To read ABI's discussion of *Buffets*, click here.

The Fourth Circuit's Majority Opinion

Fourth Circuit Judge Robert B. King handed down the opinion for the majority. In substance, he agreed with the Fifth Circuit's *Buffets* opinion. He said that the uniformity aspect of the Bankruptcy Clause does not "straightjacket" Congress by forbidding distinctions among classes of debtors. He said that "most courts" do not see a uniformity problem with the fee increase, although debtors with pending cases in two states do not pay the increase.

Like the Fifth Circuit, Judge King did not believe that the statute made arbitrary geographic distinctions based on the residence of the debtor. Rather, he said, the distinction is the result of Virginia's use of the U.S. Trustee system.

Judge King explained that fees rose in U.S. Trustee districts to solve the program's self-funding shortfall. There was not a similar problem in Bankruptcy Administrator districts where funding is from the judiciary's general budget. He thus held that the increase did not violate the uniformity mandates of either the Due Process or Bankruptcy Clauses.

Circuit City had cross-appealed the bankruptcy court's conclusion that the increase applied to pending cases.

Judge King first decided that Congress meant for the increase to apply to all cases, "without regard to the case's filing date." In his view, the increase was not retroactive because it "plainly applies only to *future* disbursements, which are triggered by a debtor's conduct occurring after the effective date." [Emphasis in original.]

Judge King said that the "increase merely upsets debtors' 'expectations as to amounts owed based on future distributions'" quoting *Buffets*, *supra*, 979 F.3d at 375. Debtors, he said, "reasonably expected to pay fees pursuant to some formula."

The appeals court's majority reversed in part and affirmed in part, ruling that the increase was constitutional and not impermissibly retroactive.

The Dissent

The dissent by Judge Quattlebaum bears reading by constitutional law buffs. Why? Because he and Fifth Circuit Judge Edith Brown Clement have all but said that the dual U.S.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Trustee/Bankruptcy Administrator system is unconstitutional. Judge Clement was the dissenter in *Buffets*.

"Make no mistake about it," Judge Quattlebaum said in opening his dissent. We "have two bankruptcy courts in the U.S.," because two states have Bankruptcy Administrators. Given that the fees are lower for debtors whose cases were already pending in the two Bankruptcy Administrator states, he said that "many unsecured creditors in [48 states with U.S. Trustees] are receiving less of the amounts owed to them than similarly situated creditors in Alabama and North Carolina."

The two systems, Judge Quattlebaum said, are "candidly and unapologetically nonuniform. And the quarterly fees that Chapter 11 debtors pay in the Trustee Program and the Bankruptcy Administrator system are also non-uniform."

Judge Quattlebaum pointed out how the U.S. Trustee system is funded by debtors, while the Bankruptcy Administrators' budgets come from the appropriations for the judiciary. He rejected the contention that there is no constitutional problem because uniformity only applies to substantive bankruptcy laws.

In Judge Quattlebaum's view, causing similarly situated creditors to receive less in U.S. Trustee districts is "sufficiently substantive to implicate the Bankruptcy Clause." He also rejected the notion that the fees are nonetheless uniform. To illustrate his point, he cited the Bankruptcy Administration Improvement Act of 2020, Pub. L. 116-325, 134 Stat. 5085 (2021), which became law on January 12, 2021.

The change in January used the word "shall" to mandate the increase in Bankruptcy Administrator districts. Previously, Section 1930 had used the word "may."

"While [the amendment] likely ameliorates the uniformity issue going forward, it does not eliminate the problem in the as-applied challenge before us," Judge Quattlebaum said.

"Indeed," according to Judge Quattlebaum, "the difference in bankruptcy systems is arbitrary and financially damages unsecured creditors in every state other than Alabama and North Carolina." While "the constitutionality of the two types of bankruptcy systems is not before the court, I would nonetheless hold that the amended quarterly fee statute, as applied to [Circuit City], violates the Bankruptcy Clause."

If it were up to him, Judge Quattlebaum would have found "the amended quarterly fee statute [to be] unconstitutionally non-uniform."



The Pending Appeals

In split decisions, the Fourth and Fifth Circuits have now upheld the fee increase both as a matter of constitutional law and statutory interpretation.

On November 30, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims adopted the Fifth Circuit's analysis in *Buffets* and upheld the constitutionality of the increase in a class action. *See Acadiana Management Group LLC v. U.S.*, 151 Fed. Cl. 121 (Ct. Cl. Nov. 30, 2020). A petition for reconsideration is pending. To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

However, District Judge John W. Holcomb of Riverside, Calif., held on April 1 that the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program is unconstitutional and not applicable to pending cases. *USA Sales Inc. v. Office of the U.S. Trustee*, 19-02133, 2021 BL 121542 (C.D. Cal. April 1, 2021). To read ABI's report, click here.

Judge Holcomb stayed his judgment pending appeal. The time for appeal expires around the middle of May.

There is reason to believe that the Ninth Circuit might affirm *USA Sales*. In 1995, the Ninth Circuit held that Congress' decision to impose quarterly fees in U.S. Trustee districts, but not in Bankruptcy Administrator districts, violated the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution. *St. Angelo v. Victoria Farms Inc.*, 38 F.3d 1525 (9th Cir. 1994), amended by 46 F.3d 969 (9th Cir. 1995).

Congress soon thereafter required the judiciary impose the same fees in Bankruptcy Administrator districts. *St. Angelo* then became moot, until Congress again upset the uniformity applecant by raising the fees in 2018.

If the Ninth Circuit upholds *USA Sales* based on *St. Angelo*, there will be a split of circuits and nifty questions presented to the Supreme Court on petitions for *certiorari*. It is within the realm of possibility that the dual U.S. Trustee/Bankruptcy Administrator systems will be found unconstitutional.

Granted, there may be a uniformity problem regarding fees for debtors with pending cases. But is there a uniformity problem because a debtor has a different government adversary in two states?

The Supreme Court may think long and hard before issuing a uniformity opinion for bankruptcy that could have wide repercussions elsewhere.

The opinions are Siegel v. Fitzgerald (In re Circuit City Stores Inc.), 19-2240 (4th Cir. April 29, 2021).



California district judge sides with the dissenter in the Fifth Circuit in saying that the parallel systems of U.S. Trustees and Bankruptcy Administrators violates the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution.

A District Court Rules that the U.S. Trustee Fee Increase Isn't Retroactive

Disagreeing with the Fifth Circuit and most lower courts, District Judge John W. Holcomb of Riverside, Calif., held that the 2018 increase in fees paid by chapter 11 debtors to the U.S. Trustee Program is unconstitutional and not applicable to pending cases.

Siding with the dissenter in the Fifth Circuit, Judge Holcomb even said in his April 1 opinion that the division of the country into U.S. Trustee and Bankruptcy Administrator districts in itself is a violation of the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution.

Typical Facts in Pending Cases

The facts before Judge Holcomb were similar to those in cases where other debtors challenged the steep increase in fees for the U.S. Trustee Program.

The debtor filed a chapter 11 petition in May 2016 and had been paying about \$13,000 a quarter to the U.S. Trustee. When the increase came into effect as of January 1, 2018, the fee jumped to an average of some \$87,500 per quarter for 2018 until the case ended in a structured dismissal in 2019.

To recover the \$600,000 difference between the old rate and the new rate, the debtor sued in district court after dismissal of the bankruptcy case, contending that the increase was not retroactive. Even if the statute made the increase retroactive, the debtor argued that the existence of the parallel U.S. Trustee and Bankruptcy Administrator districts made the increase unconstitutional because the fees were not uniform.

The debtor won on both counts, and more. The opinion by Judge Holcomb is the most thorough so far in parsing the issues.

The U.S. Trustee Fee Increase

To ensure that taxpayers do not finance the U.S. Trustee Program, Congress raised the U.S. Trustee fees as part of the Bankruptcy Judgeship Act of 2017. Codified at 27 U.S.C.



§ 1930(a)(6)(B), the quarterly fee increased as of January 1, 2018, obliging the debtor to pay almost \$600,000 more than would have been owing under the old fee schedule.

For some companies, the increase could be 1,250%. The increase was particularly steep for companies with low margins but high sales volumes, because the fee is measured by the debtor's "disbursements."

The increase did not apply in the two states that continue using Bankruptcy Administrators rather than U.S. Trustees. For those districts, the Judicial Conference increased the fees as of October 2018, about nine months after the increase became effective in the other 48 states. Furthermore, the increase in Alabama and North Carolina did not apply to pending cases.

During the time when the increase was in effect, Judge Holcomb said that the debtor's net loss was about \$500,000. In other words, the debtor would have been profitable were it not for the increase.

The Increase Wasn't Retroactive

Citing rules of statutory construction, Judge Holcomb decided that the increase was not retroactive in view of the statute's own language. In significant part, he relied on words in the statute not considered by other courts, such as the Fifth Circuit in *Hobbs v. Buffets LLC* (*In re Buffets LLC*), 979 F.3d 366 (5th Cir. Nov. 3, 2020).

The only circuit court to reach the question so far, the Fifth Circuit held 2/1 in *Buffets* that the increase was not unconstitutional. To read ABI's report on *Buffets*, click here.

Section 1930(a)(6)(B) provides that the "parties commencing a case under title 11 shall pay to the clerk . . . the following filing fees: . . . a quarterly fee . . . to the United States trustee . . . , in each case under chapter 11 of title 11, other than under subchapter V, for each quarter" According to Judge Holcomb, no court upholding the increase considered the significance of the words "commencing a case."

Judge Holcomb found fault with the statute's failure to state clearly that the increase was applicable to pending cases. Indeed, he interpreted the statutory language to mean that the increase was not applicable to pending cases.

Judge Holcomb said that "commencing a case . . . is the conduct to which liability attaches." Therefore, he said, "whether the 2017 Amendment applies to a particular case depends upon when the case was commenced, not when the disbursements are made (because the disbursements are already contemplated by the statute at the time of filing)." The "plain text of the statute," he said, "can reasonably be interpreted as applying only to cases commenced on or after the enactment date."



Judge Holcomb noted that Congress cleared up the ambiguity regarding retroactivity when amending Section 1930(a)(6) once again in 2020 in the Bankruptcy Administration Improvement Act of 2020, Pub. L. No. 116-325, January 12, 2021, 134 Stat. 5085. He said there was "no such express command [to make the increase retroactive] with respect to the applicability of the 2017 Amendment to pending cases."

Given the "most logical reading of [Section 1930]," Judge Holcomb held "that the schedule of quarterly fees in any particular Chapter 11 case is determined as of the date that the case is commenced, and that fee schedule applies for the duration of the case." For these reasons and others, he "respectfully disagree[d] with the reasoning of other courts."

Constitutionality

Even if the statute were interpreted to apply the increase to pending cases, Judge Holcomb held that the statute was unconstitutional under the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution, because the increase did not apply to pending cases in Bankruptcy Administrator districts.

Debtors in pending cases are "experiencing geographic discrimination without any explanation from Congress," Judge Holcomb said. "Accordingly, the 2017 Amendment cannot constitutionally be applied to pending cases outside of [Bankruptcy Administrator districts], and the 2017 Amendment remains unconstitutionally non-uniform as applied to pending cases."

Although Judge Holcomb held that the increase violated the Bankruptcy Clause for a lack of uniformity, he found no violation of the Due Process or Equal Protection Clauses.

St. Angelo Redux

The Ninth Circuit held in 1995 that Congress' decision to impose quarterly fees in U.S. Trustee districts, but not in Bankruptcy Administrator districts, violated the Bankruptcy Clause of the Constitution. *St. Angelo v. Victoria Farms Inc.*, 38 F.3d 1525 (9th Cir. 1994), amended by 46 F.3d 969 (9th Cir. 1995).

Judge Holcomb understood "the panel majority in *St. Angelo* [as holding] that the disparate programs in [U.S. Trustee] Districts and [Bankruptcy Administrator] Districts established by Congress, without justification, violated the Bankruptcy Clause." The problem in *St. Angelo* was remedied when Congress called on the Judicial Conference to exact the same fees in Bankruptcy Administrator districts.

Judge Holcomb said that "the constitutional infirmity identified in *St. Angelo*, which had been dormant since the early 2000s, again became an active problem" when Section 1930 was amended in 2017.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Holcomb appeared to say that the establishment of the parallel systems in itself is a violation of the Bankruptcy Clause when he said that he "would hold that the 2017 Amendment and the division of the country into [U.S. Trustee] Districts and [Bankruptcy Administrator] Districts violates the Bankruptcy Clause."

He is not alone in believing that the dual system is unconstitutional.

Dissenting in the Fifth Circuit's *Buffets* opinion, Circuit Judge Edith Brown Clement was persuaded by *St. Angelo* and said she "would hold that the permanent division of the country into [U.S. Trustee] districts and [Bankruptcy Administrator] districts violates the Bankruptcy Clause." *Buffets*, *supra*, 979 F.3d at 384.

The Pending Appeals

The Fifth Circuit is the only the appeals court to rule so far on the retroactivity and constitutionality of the increase.

A similar appeal was argued on December 8 in the Fourth Circuit and is *sub judice*. *See Fitzgerald v. Siegel*, 19-2240 (4th Cir.). With regard to the Fourth Circuit appeal, <u>click here</u> to read ABI's report about the decision by Bankruptcy Judge Kevin R. Huennekens of Richmond, Va., finding constitutional violations. Judge Huennekens adopted the reasoning of Bankruptcy Judge Ronald B. King of San Antonio, who was reversed by the Fifth Circuit in *Buffets*.

On November 30, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims adopted the Fifth Circuit's analysis in *Buffets* and upheld the constitutionality of the 2017 increase. *See Acadiana Management Group LLC v. U.S.*, 151 Fed. Cl. 121 (Ct. Cl. Nov. 30, 2020). A petition for reconsideration is pending. To read ABI's report, click here.

The opinion is USA Sales Inc. v. Office of the U.S. Trustee, 19-02133 (C.D. Cal. April 1, 2021).



Preferences & Claims



Not having challenged pre-petition liens on time, a chapter 7 trustee was barred from taking over an adversary proceeding initiated by a now-dissolved chapter 11 creditors' committee.

Jevic Rises from the Dead to Bar Claims Brought Originally by the Creditors' Committee

Jevic is still making law!

You remember *Jevic*, don't you? That's where the Supreme Court held in March 2017 that a so-called structured settlement ending a chapter 11 case cannot include a distribution to creditors in violation of the priorities in Section 507(a).

Jevic has now made law on a different but equally important subject: Bankruptcy Judge Brendan L. Shannon of Delaware followed the Tenth Circuit by holding that a so-called DIP financing order can preclude a subsequent chapter 7 trustee from taking over a lawsuit originally filed by the chapter 11 creditors' committee challenging the liens of secured lenders.

Because a creditors' committee evaporates on conversion to chapter 7, the new *Jevic* opinion means that no one is left to attack the lenders' liens. The creditors have no one to blame but themselves, since they are the ones who agreed to the wording of the DIP financing order.

The new *Jevic* decision counsels committees to rethink language typically employed in DIP financing orders.

The Tortured History

Jevic Holding Corp. filed a chapter 11 petition in Delaware in 2008, almost exactly 13 years ago. One month after filing, the bankruptcy court entered an order, known as a DIP financing order, granting final approval for post-petition financing. In return for new financing, the debtor waived any claims it might have had against the lenders.

The financing order went on to say that the waivers "shall be binding upon the Debtors and any successor thereto (including without limitation any Chapter 7 or Chapter 11 trustee appointed or elected for any of the Debtors) in all circumstances."

In typical fashion, the financing order gave interested parties 75 days to investigate and challenge pre-petition liens. Within the time limit, the official creditors' committee sued the lenders, challenging their claims and liens.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

After mediation, the debtor, the banks and the committee reached a settlement where the lenders would set aside some money for distribution to general unsecured creditors after dismissal. The distribution scheme in the settlement did not follow the priority rules contained in Section 507.

Pointedly, the settlement gave nothing to workers for their \$8.3 million in priority claims for unpaid wages. The workers objected to the settlement because some settlement proceeds were going to lower-ranked general unsecured creditors.

The bankruptcy court approved the settlement, and the Third Circuit upheld the structured dismissal in a 2-1 opinion, eliminating any chance of recovery by priority wage claimants.

The Supreme Court reversed and remanded in a 6/2 opinion, with the two dissenters arguing that the petition for *certiorari* should have been dismissed as having been improvidently granted. *Czyzewski v. Jevic Holding Corp.*, 137 S. Ct. 973, 197 L. Ed. 2d 398, 85 U.S.L.W. 4115 (Sup. Ct. March 22, 2017). To read ABI's report on *Jevic*, <u>click here</u>.

On remand, the case ended back in the lap of Judge Shannon, who once again nixed a revised settlement in May 2018 and converted the case to chapter 7. To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

After conversion, the chapter 7 trustee filed a motion in 2019 for his substitution as plaintiff in the still-pending suit by the creditors' committee against the lenders. The lenders objected to substitution, contending that the trustee was a successor to the debtor and was thus barred from attacking the lenders' liens and claims.

The Tenth Circuit Paves the Way

Judge Shannon denied the substitution motion in an opinion on May 5 and adopted the approach by the Tenth Circuit in *Hill v. Akamai Tech. Inc. (In re MS55 Inc.)*, 477 F.3d 1131 (10th Cir. 2007).

Akamai taught that "a Chapter 7 trustee succeeds to the rights of the debtor-in-possession and is bound by prior actions of the debtor-in-possession to the extent approved by the court." *Id.* at 1135. In that respect, Judge Shannon said it was "undisputed" that the DIP financing order waived the debtor's claims against the lenders.

The debtor's waiver invoked the additional provision in the financing order saying that the debtor's waivers would be binding on a chapter 7 trustee "in all circumstances."

The lenders contended that Akamai was on point. Indeed, it was, although not precisely. In Akamai, the DIP financing order waived the debtor's claims against the lenders but gave the



committee the right to investigate and challenge. Unlike the *Jevic* committee, however, the *Akamai* committee had not sued before conversion.

Judge Shannon characterized the Tenth Circuit as holding that "the Chapter 7 trustee's rights to pursue avoidance actions are derivative of the debtor's rights; so, the trustee was barred from bringing an avoidance action against the secured creditor because the court-approved financing order barred the debtor from doing so."

The *Jevic* trustee pointed out factual distinctions to argue that he was the proper party in interest to pursue the committee's lawsuit because the committee had dissolved on conversion.

Judge Shannon disagreed. The trustee was not appointed during the 75-day investigation period "and, therefore, cannot assert a challenge." Once the 75-day investigation period ended, he said that "a party in interest's right to challenge the Prepetition Indebtedness ended, including any right of a Chapter 7 Trustee appointed during that period."

Judge Shannon also quoted *Akamai* regarding the committee's challenge. The Denver-based appeals court said that the "creditors' committee may have retained a right of action, but that does not remove the existing bar against the debtor-in-possession or, post-conversion, the trustee enforcing those rights." *Id.* at 1135-1136.

In other words, the right of the committee to sue was "not transferrable to the Chapter 7 Trustee, who is bound by the provisions of the Final DIP Order," Judge Shannon said.

The trustee argued that bootstrapping on the committee was not necessary because the claims belong to the estate and therefore vested in the trustee on conversion. Again, Judge Shannon disagreed. The trustee could pursue claims after conversion, "*except* when the debtor bars itself, and its successor, from asserting those rights." [Emphasis in original.]

In short, Judge Shannon denied the substitution motion because the trustee "is bound by the stipulations, admissions and waivers made by the Debtors pre-conversion."

Observations

The new *Jevic* decision should alter the negotiation over DIP lending orders. If everyone were to agree or the court were to order, a financing order presumably could permit a chapter 7 trustee to assume prosecution of a timely challenge.

The opinion is Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors v. CIT Group/Business Credit Inc. (In re Jevic Holding Corp.), 08-51903, 2021 BL 168313 (Bankr. D. Del. May 5, 2021).



A triangular setoff valid under state law does not satisfy the mutuality requirement in Section 553(a).

Third Circuit Rejects Triangular Setoffs and Adopts Rationale by Judge Shannon

Joining three other circuits, the Third Circuit disallowed triangular setoffs, saying they lack "mutuality" as required by Section 553(a).

Embracing the "sound" analysis by Bankruptcy Judge Brendan L. Shannon in *In re SemCrude, L.P.*, 399 B.R. 388 (Bankr. D. Del. 2009), the appeals court adopted his "well-reasoned conclusion" regarding mutuality.

The creditor owed the chapter 11 debtor some \$7 million. The agreement between the two allowed the creditor to offset anything the debtor owed to any of the creditor's subsidiaries.

The debtor owed \$9 million to one of the creditor's subsidiaries.

The creditor asserted a right of setoff under Section 553(a). Were it allowed, the creditor would have owed nothing to the debtor, and the subsidiary would have had a claim for \$2 million. Were the setoff disallowed, the creditor would be obliged to pay the debtor \$7 million while the subsidiary would have a \$9 million claim.

Bankruptcy Judge Kevin Gross of Delaware disallowed the setoff, saying there was no mutuality required by Section 553(a). Judge Gross relied heavily on *SemCrude*. After 14 years as a bankruptcy judge, Judge Gross stepped down from the bench one year ago to join a firm in Wilmington.

The district court affirmed Judge Gross, prompting the creditor to appeal.

In an opinion on March 19 by Circuit Judge Kent A. Jordan, the Third Circuit affirmed.

The outcome was governed by Section 553(a), which provides that the Bankruptcy Code "does not affect any right of a creditor to offset a mutual debt owing by such creditor to the debtor . . . against a claim of such creditor against the debtor"

Like the bankruptcy court, the appeals court assumed that the triangular setoff was valid and enforceable under state law. In large part, the creditor argued that Section 553(a) permits any setoff that is allowed by state law. In other words, the creditor believed that Section 553(a) imposed no independent mutuality limitation beyond whatever the requirement would be under state law.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The Third Circuit had not written on the meaning of "mutual." In addition, Judge Jordan said that the Third Circuit had not decided whether a contract "can create an exception to the requirement of direct mutuality."

Citing *SemCrude*, Judge Jordan found a "compelling body of precedent" that "treats mutuality in § 553 as a limiting term, not a redundancy."

Saying the analysis by Judge Shannon in *SemCrude* was "sound," Judge Jordan said that Judge Gross and the district court "rightly treated mutuality as a distinct statutory requirement under § 553." He therefore held "that contracts cannot turn nonmutual debts into debts subject to setoff under the Code, as if they had been mutual."

If state law subsumed whatever mutuality requirements there might be, Judge Jordan said that "mutual" in Section 553(a) would be "redundant." He continued:

We again agree with and adopt the *SemCrude* court's well-reasoned conclusion that Congress intended for mutuality to mean only debts owing between two parties, specifically those owing from a creditor directly to the debtor and, in turn, owing from the debtor directly to that creditor. Congress did not intend to include within the concept of mutuality any contractual elaboration on that kind of simple, bilateral relationship.

Judge Jordan joined the Second, Fifth and Seventh Circuits by holding "that triangular setoffs — in which party A owes party B who next owes party C who then owes party A — are definitionally not mutual." He said that *SemCrude* "persuasively rejected the attempt to escape triangularity by redefining what constitutes a 'claim' under § 553," citing *SemCrude*, *id.*, 399 B.R. at 397.

Judge Jordan buttressed his interpretation of the statute with policy arguments. For instance, he said that disallowing triangular setoffs "promotes predictability in credit transactions."

The creditor had alternatives to accomplish the desired result. Judge Jordan said that the creditor could have perfected a security interest in the subsidiary's account receivable from the debtor.

The opinion is McKesson Corp. v. Orexigen Therapeutics Inc. (In re Orexigen Therapeutics Inc.), 20-1136, 2021 BL 98952 (3d Cir. March 19, 2021).



The Third Circuit found loopholes in the purchase agreement permitting the buyer to assert an administrative claim, even though the breakup fee was disallowed.

Third Circuit Resurrects an 'Admin' Claim When the Stalking Horse Had No Breakup Fee

The Third Circuit handed down an opinion that will be cited (incorrectly) for the notion that a stalking horse bidder is entitled to an administrative expense claim even in the absence of a breakup fee.

Properly read, the opinion makes these practice points: (1) the bankruptcy court should not deny a stalking horse's administrative claim on a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment, unless (2) the purchase and sale agreement was artfully written with an ironclad provision precluding the stalking horse from receiving any compensation other than a highly circumscribed breakup fee.

In short, the Third Circuit found loopholes in the debtor's drafting of the purchase agreement and reorganization plan.

The Vanishing Breakup Fee

Electric energy giant Energy Future Holdings Corp. agreed to sell its Oncor regulated electric distribution business for a price that would have brought \$9.8 billion into the chapter 11 estate. The agreement included a \$275 million breakup or termination fee payable to the purchaser if the debtor were to terminate the agreement for almost any reason.

At the approval hearing, however, the bankruptcy judge understood that the buyer would not earn the termination fee if state regulators were to refuse to approve the sale and the debtor terminated the agreement. Misunderstanding the breakup fee, the bankruptcy judge approved the purchase agreement and the breakup fee in September 2016. State regulators did not disapprove the sale until April 2017.

The regulators wanted to ensure that Oncor would not go bankrupt. The regulators refused to approve the sale because the buyer would not accept conditions limiting its ability take money out of Oncor or operate the business in a fashion that could endanger Oncor's financial stability.

After a second rejection by the regulators, the debtor terminated the agreement. At that juncture, the buyer seemed entitled to the \$275 million breakup fee because the agreement, as

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

written, called for the payment if the debtors terminated, even though the regulators had disapproved the acquisition. The agreement had no deadline for the buyer to obtain regulatory approval.

After termination of the agreement with the buyer, the debtor sold the business to another purchaser for several hundred million dollars less. The successful buyer was willing to live with the limitations on the operation of the business imposed by the regulators.

In July 2017, bondholders filed a motion for reconsideration, asking the bankruptcy judge to revoke approval of the termination fee that he had granted in September 2016.

Ruling on the creditors' motion for reconsideration, the bankruptcy judge said it became clear that the purchaser would appeal the regulators' decision "to all levels of review, leaving the debtors no choice but to terminate" the sale agreement and "risk triggering the termination fee or else incur months or years of continued interest and fee obligations."

In his October 2017 opinion revoking approval of the breakup fee, the bankruptcy judge said the debtor had been "forced to terminate the [purchase] agreement [in July 2017] to pursue a lower offer because [the purchaser] had the debtor in a corner." *In re Energy Future Holdings Corp.*, 575 B.R. 616 (Bankr. D. Del. 2017). To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

The Third Circuit accepted a direct appeal and upheld the bankruptcy court in September 2018. *In re Energy Future Holdings Corp.*, 904 F.3d 298 (3d Cir. Sept. 13, 2018). For ABI's report on the circuit decision, <u>click here</u>.

Denial of the 'Admin' Claim

In the *post hoc* reconsideration and revision of the breakup agreement, both the bondholders and the circuit court recognized that the erstwhile buyer was entitled to seek an administrative expense claim under Section 503(b)(1)(A) for "the actual, necessary costs and expenses of preserving the estate."

Of course, that's what happened. The stalking horse filed an application for a \$60 million administrative claim. Bondholders filed a motion to dismiss the administrative claim and a motion for summary judgment.

On several grounds, the bankruptcy court tossed out the administrative claim, granting both the motion to dismiss and the motion for summary judgment. The district court affirmed, prompting another appeal to the Third Circuit.



The Circuit Finds a 'Plausible' Claim

The Third Circuit reversed and remanded in a 38-page opinion on March 15 by Wendy Beetlestone, a district judge in Philadelphia sitting by designation.

Judge Beetlestone cited authorities laying out the constituents of an allowed administrative claim. In this writer's view, her description of an allowed administrative claim is broader than it is in practice and, in some situations, narrower than in practice.

For instance, Judge Beetlestone held that the merits of an administrative claim are judged with the benefit of hindsight. Traditionally, counsel fees are judged by the perceived merits of the services at the time they are rendered.

There is a feature to the case that could make it altogether distinguishable when compared to later cases. In balancing the benefit to the estate against the costs to the estate, Judge Beetlestone noted how the buyer had been enticed to spend tens of millions given the assurance of a breakup fee that was later denied.

Judge Beetlestone decided that the buyer laid out a plausible claim that should not have been rejected on a motion to dismiss. It was erroneous, she said, to find no plausible benefit to the estate. She concluded that the work performed by the buyer had drawn a "roadmap" for later purchasers that "assisted in and sped up" the eventual sale of Oncor.

Judge Beetlestone overturned the grant of summary judgment because she found loopholes in the purchase and sale agreement and in the reorganization plan that allowed the buyer to assert an administrative claim.

Some language in the opinion could be read to mean that a stalking horse buyer is entitled to an administrative expense claim even in the absence of a breakup fee. For instance, Judge Beetlestone said that the buyer

plausibly contends that its labor in drafting the [purchase and sale agreement and the reorganization plan] (later relied upon [by the eventual purchaser]), settling with creditors objecting to the merger, and proving to future bidders that Debtors' interest in Oncor would necessarily have the [regulators' conditions] attached saved Debtors from reinventing the wheel even after the deal with [the purchaser] fell through. These arguments find support in the record.

Given evidence that the original buyer's work benefitted the debtor's estate, Judge Beetlestone said it was error for the lower courts to conclude that the buyer had not made a plausible case for costs necessary to preserve the estate.



Judge Beetlestone summed up the holdings on the last page of the opinion. She said that the buyer

plausibly alleged that through a post-petition transaction, the [purchase and sale agreement], it benefitted the estate by providing valuable information, and accepting certain risks that paved the way for the later . . . deal [with the eventual purchaser]. The precise monetary value of this benefit cannot be distilled from pleadings alone. And likewise, the costs [the debtor] allegedly imposed on the estate are equally uncertain. With respect to the motion to dismiss the question before us is not whether [the debtor] actually benefitted the estate, but whether it plausibly alleged that it did so.

Judge Beetlestone reversed both lower courts and remanded for the bankruptcy court to undertake further proceedings "consistent with this opinion."

Observations

The opinion might be understood to mean that any bidder, not necessarily just a stalking horse, can plead a plausible claim for an administrative expense. However, statements in the opinion should be read in the context of a buyer who only found out years later that it would not receive a seemingly ironclad \$275 million breakup fee. Perhaps the result in the Third Circuit was a one-off event born from a sense of rachmones.

Curiously, the opinion does not cite, discuss or analyze Section 503(b)(3)(D), which allows an administrative claim to a creditor, indenture trustee, equity holder or committee who makes a "substantial contribution" in a case under chapters 9 or 11.

Does the Third Circuit's decision open the door to asserting a valid administrative claim on a basis broader than Section 503(b)(3)(D)? Does the opinion mean that the equivalent of a substantial contribution claim could be given to a party not listed in Section 503(b)(3)(D)? Would the Third Circuit have reached a different conclusion if Section 503(b)(3)(D) were taken into consideration? Do the limitations in Section 503(b)(3)(D) become virtually meaningless if any participants in a chapter 11 case, not just creditors, are entitled to an administrative claim for benefitting the estate?

Fundamentally, and perhaps correctly, the opinion could be nothing more than a pronouncement about pleading. Judge Beetlestone did not bluntly insinuate that the disappointed purchaser is entitled to an allowed claim, although it is possible to read the opinion as suggesting that some claim should be allowed on remand.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

For bankruptcy judges, the opinion is cautionary. Given the Third Circuit's liberal standards for pleading a plausible administrative claim, bankruptcy courts should slog through a trial and make findings of fact to disallow a claim.

For debtors' counsel, the opinion means that purchase agreements and chapter 11 plans should be tightly written to obviate the possibility of a valid administrative claim even if the stalking horse is not entitled to a breakup fee.

The opinion is NextEra Energy Inc. v. Energy Future Holdings Corp. (In re Energy Future Holdings Corp.), 19-3492, 2021 BL 90462, 2021 Us App Lexis 7400 (3d Cir. March 15, 2021).



There can be no question about whether the beneficiary of a surety bond has been 'paid in full' before the surety has subrogation rights.

Third Circuit Makes Strict Rules Before Subrogation Rights Kick In

Affirming Bankruptcy Judge Christopher S. Sontchi of Delaware, the Third Circuit explained the meaning of Section 509(c), the most incomprehensible provision in the Bankruptcy Code.

In essence, the Third Circuit rigorously interpreted "paid in full" in Section 509(c) to benefit the beneficiary of a payment and performance bond. There can be no question about whether the beneficiary of the bond has been paid in full before the bonding company is subrogated to the claim and rights of the beneficiary.

The Contracts and the Bond

A contractor had multiple contracts with the U.S. government. The contractor was required to post a payment and performance bond.

The contractor defaulted on one of the construction contracts. The government tapped on the shoulder of the bonding company, which hired another contractor to complete the job.

According to the August 18 opinion by Chief Circuit Judge D. Brooks Smith, the bonding company was out of pocket by some \$12 million more than the government paid to complete the project.

The defaulting contractor ended up in chapter 7. Just before bankruptcy, the contractor filed an income tax return and claimed a \$5.5 million carryback refund from the IRS.

The bonding company was still paying to complete the project while the bankruptcy was in progress. The government notified the bonding company in February 2016 that the project was "sufficiently complete" to allow occupancy. However, the bonding company did not make the final payment to the replacement contractor until September 2016.

The government filed a claim against the contractor for some \$170 million, including more than \$80 million on the bonded project.

On the other side of the fence, the trustee was contending that the government owed more than \$50 million on other projects.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The disputes led to a compromise with the bankruptcy trustee where the government agreed to release the \$5.5 million refund to the trustee and waive its setoff rights. In return, the government was given an allowed unsecured, nonpriority claim for \$170 million.

The bonding company objected to the settlement, claiming it was subrogated to the government's rights to the \$5.5 million tax refund. The objection resulted in a companion settlement where the \$5.5 million was held in escrow, and the bonding company was assured that the primary settlement would not waive the bonding company's claims, "if any," to the tax refund.

The bankruptcy court approved the primary settlement in June 2016, waiving the government's setoff rights. Note that the bonding company would not make the final payment to the replacement contractor until September 2016.

In approving the settlement and overruling the bonding company's objections, Bankruptcy Judge Sontchi granted summary judgment in favor of the secured lender that had a lien on the contractor's assets, including the tax refund. Judge Sontchi concluded that the government had not been "paid in full" when the waiver became effective. He therefore ruled that the government was entitled to waive its right of setoff and thus defeat the bonding company's subrogation rights.

The district court affirmed, and so did Judge Smith.

'Paid in Full' in Section 509(c)

Judge Smith began by laying out the common law elements of subrogation and explained how they were modified by Section 509.

Departing from common law, Judge Smith said that "Section 509(a) provides that a surety is partially subrogated to the rights of a creditor to the extent that the surety has made *any* payments (*i.e.*, short of payment in full)." [Emphasis in original.]

Fortunately for us, Judge Smith translated Section 509(c) into plain English. The subsection, he said, "provides that those subrogation rights are subordinated to the remainder of the creditor's claim until the creditor has been paid in full." He cited legislative history as reflecting the concern of Congress that the statute should not permit a bonding company to compete with the insured until the insured's claim has been paid in full.

Judge Smith said that the statute does not define "paid in full." There are broad and narrow interpretations of the words. Under either, the bonding company loses, he said.

The broad interpretation requires full payment of all claims that the beneficiary of the bond has against the contractor, not just the contract to which the bond applied. Under that definition,



the bonding company would lose because the government had many other unpaid claims against the bankrupt contractor.

The narrow construction requires full payment of the claims covered just by the bond. Thus, Judge Smith launched into an analysis of whether the government had been paid in full by June 2016, when the government waived its right to set off the tax refund.

Judge Smith said there was "no evidence in the record" to show that the government had been paid in full when the waiver was made. To the contrary, he said, the government was not paid in full until the bonding company made the last payment to the replacement contractor months after the waiver.

Judge Smith also said that the bonding company's agreement years before to complete the project did not in itself "satisfy" the bonding company's suretyship obligations.

Affirming Judge Sontchi, Judge Smith held that the government had not been "paid in full" under Section 509(c) before the bankruptcy court approved the settlement waiving the government's right of setoff. The bonding company was not yet subrogated and had no right to object to the government's waiver of setoff rights.

The opinion is Giuliano v. Insurance Co. of Pennsylvania (In re LTC Holdings Inc.), 20-3057 (3d Cir. Aug. 18, 2021).



Circuit Judge Ambro generously interprets Katz to mean that ratification of the Constitution waived state sovereign immunity broadly for suits to augment a bankrupt estate.

Third Circuit Finds Broad Waiver of Sovereign Immunity for Suits Augmenting the Estate

In *Katz*, the Supreme Court ruled that states waived sovereign immunity for some types of bankruptcy proceedings when the states ratified the Constitution with its Bankruptcy Clause.

Third Circuit Judge Thomas L. Ambro generously interpreted *Katz* to find a broad waiver of sovereign immunity when a debtor sues the state to augment the estate. More particularly, Judge Ambro ruled that sovereign immunity does not prevent a liquidating trustee from bringing an inverse condemnation suit against the state.

The Inverse Condemnation Suit

A company leased an offshore oil-production platform from the State of California and owned an onshore facility for processing and refining oil. A rupture in the pipeline forced the company into chapter 11, where it abandoned the lease for the platform. Walking away from the platform gave the state large claims for plugging and abandoning the wells.

Invoking police powers, the state took the position that it could take over the onshore facility without payment. After the company confirmed a liquidating chapter 11 plan, the liquidating trustee mounted an inverse condemnation suit against the state in bankruptcy court.

In his May 24 opinion, Judge Ambro explained that inverse condemnation occurs when an owner sues the government for the value of property that was taken. Direct condemnation is when the government initiates proceedings to acquire title under its eminent domain authority.

The state filed a motion to dismiss, claiming the suit was barred by sovereign immunity. The bankruptcy court denied the motion to dismiss, and the district court authorized a direct appeal, but only regarding sovereign immunity. The Third Circuit accepted the appeal and heard argument in late September 2020.

Constitutional Waiver via Katz

The opinion reads like a treatise laying out various circumstances when states have no sovereign immunity. Although not involved in the appeal, legislation can waive state sovereign

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

immunity when "Congress unequivocally expresse[s] its intent to end immunity," Judge Ambro said. See, e.g., Section 106.

Then came *Central Virginia Community College v. Katz*, 546 U.S. 356 (2006), where the Supreme Court ruled there was no sovereign immunity barring a debtor from suing a state instrumentality to recover a preference.

Judge Ambro identified three principles arising from *Katz*. First, by ratifying the Constitution containing the Bankruptcy Clause, states waived sovereign immunity in certain bankruptcy proceedings designed to "effectuate the *in rem* jurisdiction of the bankruptcy courts." *Id.* at 378.

Second, Katz did not say that foreign immunity is waived in all bankruptcy proceedings. Id.

Third, Judge Ambro said that *Katz* "does not require a proceeding to be technically *in rem*" if the action is ancillary to and in furtherance of *in rem* jurisdiction, even if the action involves *in personam* process. *Id.* at 370 and 372.

Judge Ambro summarized *Katz's* holding as follows: "States cannot assert a defense of sovereign immunity in proceedings that further a bankruptcy court's *in rem* jurisdiction no matter the technical classification of that proceeding."

Applying Katz to Inverse Condemnation

Judge Ambro read *Katz* as identifying three functions where proceedings are in furtherance of *in rem* jurisdiction: (1) exercising jurisdiction over estate property; (2) equitably distributing estate property; and (3) effectuating the debtor's discharge. The court, he said, "must focus on function, not form."

The inverse condemnation suit, Judge Ambro said, "furthers the Bankruptcy Court's exercise of jurisdiction over property of the Debtors and their estates, as it seeks a ruling on rights in the Onshore Facility." Although the suit was not clearly *in rem*, he said that "its function is to decide rights in [the debtor's] property" and whether the state can use the debtor's property "for free."

Because the onshore facility was a "significant asset," Judge Ambro said that the suit "also furthers the second critical function — facilitating equitable distribution of the estate's assets."

Confirming the plan did not reinstate the state's immunity. Judge Ambro held that "critical *in rem* functions did not end when the Plan became effective, as the Trust exists primarily to facilitate the 'equitable distribution of [the debtor's property] among the debtor's creditors," quoting *Katz* at 546. Moreover, he said that the estate's *in rem* jurisdiction extended to estate property that was transferred to the liquidating trust.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Ambro therefore held that the state's "defense of Eleventh Amendment immunity fails."

Finally, Judge Ambro rejected the idea that the state enjoyed sovereign immunity under California law. If that were true, he said that "state legislation [could] easily end-run the deemed waiver of state sovereign immunity effected by the Bankruptcy Clause and recognized in *Katz*."

Having found a constitutional waiver of sovereign immunity, Judge Ambro did not reach the additional question of whether the state had waived immunity by filing a proof of claim.

The opinion is Davis v. California (In re Venoco LLC), 20-1061 (3d Cir. May 24, 2021).



The Tenth Circuit will likely take sides on a split between the Ninth and Seventh Circuits on Section 544(b) state-law claims brought by a trustee in the shoes of an actual creditor.

Split Heading to the Tenth Circuit on Sovereign Immunity for Section 544(b) Claims

The Internal Revenue Service seems to be setting up the Tenth Circuit to take sides on the following circuit split:

Does the waiver of sovereign immunity under Section 106(a)(1) bar a trustee from suing the government under Section 544(b) for receipt of a fraudulent transfer based on *state* law?

In 2017, the Ninth Circuit held in *Zazzali v. U.S. (In re DBSI Inc.)*, 869 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir. Aug. 31, 2017), that the waiver of sovereign immunity under Section 106(a)(1) allows a trustee to file a derivative suit against the IRS for receipt of a state-law fraudulent transfer under Section 544(b)(1). To read ABI's report, click here.

The Ninth Circuit had split with a Seventh Circuit opinion rendered three years earlier, *In re Equipment Acquisition Resources Inc.*, 742 F.3d 743 (7th Cir. 2014). The Chicago-based appeals court had reasoned that the waiver of immunity does not extend to Section 544(b)(1) suits because any actual creditor would have been barred from suing by the government's sovereign immunity.

The same issue is coming up in the Tenth Circuit from a district court decision in favor of the trustee finding a waiver of sovereign immunity.

Same Facts as DSBI

A corporation filed a chapter 11 petition in 2017. The case was converted to chapter 7.

More than three years before bankruptcy, the corporation had paid the IRS about \$150,000, representing tax liabilities for two individuals who were officers, directors and shareholders of the debtor corporation.

Utilizing Section 544(b)(1), the chapter 7 trustee sued the IRS to recover the payments as fraudulent transfers under Utah's version of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The IRS agreed that the debtor corporation received no value and that the debtor was insolvent at the time of the transfer. The IRS also conceded there was an unsecured creditor in existence at the time who still held an allowable claim at the time of bankruptcy, to supply the requirement of an actual creditor under Section 544(b)(1).

The IRS argued, however, that no actual creditor could exist because any actual creditor would be barred from suing the government under the doctrine of sovereign immunity.

Bankruptcy Judge R. Kimball Mosier of Salt Lake City ruled in favor of the trustee on motion for summary judgment. *Miller v. United States (In re All Resort Group Inc.)*, 617 B.R. 375 (Bankr. D. Utah 2020).

The IRS appealed but lost again in an opinion on September 8 by District Judge Bruce S. Jenkins.

Judge Jenkins adopted Bankruptcy Judge Mosier's memorandum decision and order and affirmed "for the reasons set forth" by Judge Mosier.

We shall therefore discuss the opinion by Judge Mosier. To read Judge Mosier's opinion in full text, <u>click here</u>.

Same Facts as DBSI

The circumstances before Judges Mosier and Jenkins were the same as in *DBSI*, except that the IRS was held liable in the Ninth Circuit where the stakes were larger. In *DBSI*, the IRS was nailed for \$17 million in fraudulent transfers resulting from tax payments made by a corporation on behalf of shareholders. In the Utah case, the trustee was only after \$150,000.

After losing in the Ninth Circuit, the IRS twice sought and obtained extensions of time from the Supreme Court for filing a petition for *certiorari* that would have raised the split with the Seventh Circuit. Ultimately, either the IRS or the U.S. Solicitor General decided against filing a 'cert' petition.

The IRS was represented before District Judge Jenkins by attorneys from the Tax Division of the Justice Department in Washington. With comparatively few dollars in the balance, it's a reasonable assumption that the IRS will appeal to the Tenth Circuit, aiming for a result like the Seventh Circuit's.

Win or lose, an enlarging circuit split may spin off a petition for *certiorari* to come before the Supreme Court in the term to begin in October 2022.



The Arguments on Sovereign Immunity

The Bankruptcy Code of 1978 contained a waiver of sovereign immunity, but the Supreme Court held that the waiver was not "unequivocally expressed." *United States v. Nordic Village Inc.*, 503 U.S. 30, 33. (1992). Congress legislatively overruled *Nordic Village* in the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1994 by rewriting Section 106(a) entirely and listing 59 sections of the Bankruptcy Court as to which sovereign immunity was "abrogated as to a governmental unit."

Section 544 is one of the listed sections.

Judge Mosier acknowledged the spilt among the circuits and among lower courts with regard to the waiver of immunity for state-law claims under Section 544(b). He framed the question as whether the waiver extends to claims under state law.

Further complicating the question, the trustee admitted that sovereign immunity would have barred the "actual" creditor from suing the IRS if there were no bankruptcy. In other words, could there be an actual creditor to satisfy the requirement in Section 544(b) if no actual creditor could have sued successfully before bankruptcy?

Judge Mosier held that "the plain text of § 106(a)(l) unequivocally abrogates sovereign immunity as to the underlying state law cause of action." The statute, he said, "contains no exceptions, qualifiers or carve-outs in its language."

Regarding the disability of the actual creditor to sue the IRS on its own, Judge Mosier said it has no bearing on the availability of that defense against a trustee inside bankruptcy.

Judge Mosier buttressed his conclusion by legislative history and the "goal of estate maximization."

Preemption

The IRS made a second argument: federal "field" preemption.

The IRS Code would not allow someone to sue the IRS to recover funds voluntarily paid by someone else. The IRS therefore argued that Utah fraudulent transfer law intruded into an area exclusively controlled by federal law.

Judge Mosier saw no federal preemption. To begin with, the trustee's claim was under federal law, namely Section 544(b). Second, the trustee was not aiming to recover a tax payment. The trustee was after a fraudulent transfer.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Mosier granted the trustee's motion for summary judgment and denied the IRS's cross-motion for summary judgment. He held that "\\$ 106(a)(1) unequivocally waives the federal government's sovereign immunity with respect to the underlying state law causes of action incorporated through \\$ 544(b) and that the IRC does not preempt such claims."

The district court's opinion is U.S. v. Miller, 20-00248 (D. Utah Sept. 8, 2021).



A standard provision in a trust indenture meant no recovery for the indenture trustee's attorneys.

Contingency Fees Under a Trust Indenture May Not Result in a Claim, Judge Shannon Says

An indenture trustee has no independent claim against the debtor for attorneys' fees incurred in efforts to recover on bonds unless the indenture trustee has paid or is obligated to pay counsel, according to Delaware Bankruptcy Judge Brendan L. Shannon.

The opinion means that trust indentures need to be rewritten if the holders and the issuer intend to cover circumstances where counsel are representing bondholders on a contingency and the lawyers drill a dry hole.

In a major chapter 11 reorganization, a bank served as indenture trustee for an issue of about \$1.25 billion in unsecured bonds that were subordinated to almost all claims. The bondholders ended up receiving nothing in the confirmed chapter 11 plan.

Typical Indenture Provisions

When bonds go into default or bankruptcy, indentures typically provide that the indenture trustee is not required to incur expenses absent indemnification by the holders. In the case before Judge Shannon, a pair of bondholders agreed to indemnify the indenture trustee for \$3 million.

The indenture trustee retained counsel. The engagement agreement gave the lawyers the right to recover the greater of their hourly rates or 10% of the bondholders' recovery. However, the engagement agreement went on to say that the indenture trustee's liability to pay counsel would be limited to the \$3 million indemnification. The agreement also said that the indenture trustee would not be obligated to use its own funds to pay counsel.

Although not relevant to the case at hand, indentures usually also include a so-called trustee's lien. Based on the concept of a possessory lien, the provision means that the indenture trustee can recover its expenses from the distribution earmarked for noteholders before paying the remainder to noteholders. The indenture trustee's lien was inapplicable to the case before Judge Shannon because there was no distribution for bondholders in the plan.

The bondholders' lawyers went on to spend almost \$30 million more than the \$3 million indemnification. So, the indenture trustee filed an unsecured proof of claim for the \$30 million. Had the claim been allowed, the plan would have paid almost one-third, meaning that the lawyers would have been paid about \$10 million for their trouble.



The \$30 Million Unsecured Claim

The debtor objected to the \$30 million claim, even though the confirmed plan specifically provided that the indenture trustee could file an unsecured claim for its fees and expenses. The lawyers still ended up with nothing under Judge Shannon's June 25 opinion.

The debtor did not base the objection on anything in the Bankruptcy Code or the plan. Rather, the debtor relied on the indenture to disallow the \$30 million unsecured claim.

The indenture provided that the debtor must "reimburse the Trustee . . . for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred or made by the Trustee" Naturally, the indenture trustee argued that it had "incurred" \$30 million in unpaid counsel fees.

Judge Shannon framed the question as "whether professional fees are 'incurred' when the client has no obligation to pay them." He cited *Black's Law Dictionary* and caselaw for the notion that an expense is "incurred" only when there is liability for the expense. Of course, the indenture trustee had no liability for the \$30 million in the case at hand as a consequence of the disclaimer in the engagement agreement.

Judge Shannon therefore held that the indenture did "not require [the debtor] to reimburse [the indenture trustee] for amounts that [the indenture trustee] is not obligated to pay, that is, amounts that were not incurred."

Having failed by relying on the words "incurred" and "reimburse," the indenture trustee proffered another provision in the indenture that did not include those words. Following default by the debtor, that section said that the debtor will "pay . . . such further amount as shall be necessary to cover the costs and expenses of collection."

The provision didn't underpin a valid claim for two reasons, Judge Shannon said.

First, if the indenture trustee "has not incurred any liability to pay the costs or expenses of collection, then there is no amount to pay to [the indenture trustee]."

Second, Judge Shannon said there were no "costs and expenses of collection" because the noteholders collected nothing.

Judge Shannon held that the other sections did "not create a right to payment for fees and costs that [the indenture trustee] is not obligated to pay." [Emphasis in original.]

Judge Shannon allowed the claim for \$3 million, the amount of the indemnification, but disallowed the remainder.



The opinion is In re Tribune Media Co., 08-13141 (Bankr. D. Del. June 25, 2021).



An administrative creditor isn't a 'guarantor' of the success of the project, Delaware's Bankruptcy Judge Goldblatt says.

Increasing Debtor's Profit or Revenue Isn't Required to Establish an 'Admin' Claim

To establish an administrative claim, the creditor isn't required to show that the goods or services led to an increase in the debtor's value or profits.

Rather, Bankruptcy Judge Craig T. Goldblatt of Delaware said that it's enough if the debtor believed that the goods or services provided during chapter 11 would enhance revenue or the value of the business.

Judge Goldblatt was sworn in on April 26. He had been an advocate arguing in the Supreme Court and was a partner with Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr LLP. He was on the winning side in *City of Chicago v. Fulton*, 141 S. Ct. 585, 208 L. Ed. 2d 384 (Sup. Ct. Jan. 14, 2021), and had clerked on the Supreme Court for Justice David H. Souter.

The Abandoned Project

The debtor was an oil and gas exploration and production company operating in the Permian Basin in west Texas and southeastern New Mexico. The debtor built a facility for the disposal of toxic wastewater generated while drilling. Before and during the chapter 11 case, the debtor was working on a project to commercialize wastewater disposal and offer the service to other drillers.

The creditor provided consulting services for the wastewater commercialization project, generating invoices for more than \$200,000. Having control of the debtor's use of cash collateral, the secured lenders told the debtor to abandon the project and refused allow the use of cash collateral to pay the consultant's bills connected to the project.

The creditor responded with a motion asking Judge Goldblatt to allow and direct immediate payment of an administrative expense claim under Section 503(b)(1)(A) for the "actual, necessary costs and expenses of preserving the estate."

In his June 2 opinion, Judge Goldblatt explained how the Third Circuit has said that administrative expenses must "yield a benefit to the estate." *In re Energy Future Holdings Corp.*, 990 F.3d 728, 741 (3d Cir. 2021). Earlier, however, the Third Circuit recognized that courts must allow administrative claims so that creditors will be encouraged to continue doing business with

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

debtors. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Resources v. Tristate Clinical Laboratories, 178 F.3d 685, 690 (3d Cir. 1999).

Everyone agreed that the creditor provided the services. The debtor did not contest the amount but argued that the value of the services was "too speculative" to warrant administrative status. The debtor and the lender also contended that the creditor could only shoulder the burden of proof by showing that the services increased profit or revenue or enhanced the debtor's competitive position.

Judge Goldblatt disagreed. The caselaw, he said, "does not support the proposition that a non-insider third party that provides goods or services to a debtor-in-possession on ordinary commercial terms must prove that receipt of those goods or services led directly to increased profits. None of the cases cited by the parties so holds."

The record demonstrated the debtor's belief that the project would generate greater revenue or enhance the value of the business. "That is all that is required," Judge Goldblatt said.

When a commercial vendor provides goods or services at standard rates and under standard terms, the creditor "does not become a guarantor of the success of the venture," Judge Goldblatt said.

The debtor had pledged to file a chapter 11 plan "promptly" and to emerge from bankruptcy in three months. Judge Goldblatt allowed the administrative claim but did not order immediate payment. Nonetheless, he was "sensitive" to the fact that delayed payment "may adversely affect" the creditor and that other administrative claims had already been paid.

So, Judge Goldblatt allowed the claim and permitted the creditor to renew the motion for immediate payment if the claim is not paid within 60 days.

The opinion is In re MTE Holdings LLC, 19-12269 (Bankr. D. Del. June 2, 2021).



Fifth Circuit says that Oklahoma protected that state's oil and gas producers while Texas didn't.

Texas Legislature Didn't Succeed in Giving Lien Priority to Oil and Gas Producers

The Texas legislature blew it.

In 2009, the Delaware bankruptcy court decided that Oklahoma law did not give oil and gas producers a lien in proceeds that would prime the lien of a bank lender. Oklahoma dutifully amended its law in 2010 to close the loophole and protect the state's oil and gas producers.

Texas had a lien statute with the same defect as Oklahoma's, but Texas did not amend its law. You can guess the result: The Fifth Circuit upheld Bankruptcy Judge Craig A. Gargotta of San Antonio by ruling on direct appeal that oil and gas producers in Texas had an unperfected security interest in proceeds that came behind the out-of-state bank's lien on the debtor's deposit accounts.

In her opinion on February 3, Circuit Judge Edith H. Jones said that producers in Texas "must beware 'the amazing disappearing security interest' and continue to file financing statements." She added, "The Texas legislature should take note."

Simple Facts

The facts were simple. Producers in Texas and Oklahoma sold and delivered oil and natural gas to the debtor, a Delaware corporation. The debtor should have paid the producers on the 20th of the month after delivery, but the debtor's chapter 11 filing intervened.

The debtor had sold the producer's petroleum products before filing to so-called downstream purchasers. On the petition date, the debtor had \$27.6 million in accounts receivable from the downstream purchasers that were later collected.

The debtor's New York bank had a perfected security interest in deposit accounts, accounts receivable and proceeds. The security agreements with the bank were governed by Delaware law.

The Texas Lien Statute

Judge Jones explained how Texas and Oklahoma exacted "special laws . . . whose purpose was to facilitate and ensure payment to the states' oil and gas producers for sales of their production." The Texas lien law was made a nonstandard provision in the Texas Uniform Commercial Code § 9.343. It gives producers a first priority purchase money security interest in oil and gas produced



in Texas. The security interest in the oil and gas and accounts receivable extends for an unlimited time to proceeds and is perfected automatically, without filing a financing statement.

In other words, the Texas nonuniform provision "deviates" from "Texas's (and Delaware's) uniform Article 9 requirements for perfection, the effect of perfection, the length of perfection, and priority among security interests," Judge Jones said.

The Oklahoma Lien Statute

As amended in 2010, the Oklahoma Lien Act § 549 gives producers a lien in proceeds until the producer is paid, without filing a financing statement.

"Critically, 'the interest owner's oil and gas lien created by the Lien Act is not a UCC Article 9 security interest but rather arises as part of a real estate interest of the interest owner in the materials," Judge Jones said, quoting Section 549.3.

Texas Producers Lose in Bankruptcy Court

Bankruptcy Judge Gargotta wrote a 49-page opinion in March 2019, ruling that the bank had lien priority over the Texas producers. However, the Oklahoma producers came out ahead of the bank.

The Texas producers appealed. The Fifth Circuit accepted a direct appeal recommended by Judge Gargotta.

The Choice of Law

The producers faced "a formidable choice of law hurdle in that Delaware, the state of Debtor's formal organization, does not recognize certain nonstandard UCC security interests," Judge Jones said. Finding that Delaware's law governed perfection would be a death sentence for the Texas producers because the standard provisions in the Delaware UCC require a financing statement.

Therefore, the pivotal issue was choice of law.

There being no choice of law in the Bankruptcy Code, Judge Jones said that the federal independent judgment test and Texas law both follow the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts. Invoking the Restatement, the Fifth Circuit had previously applied the law of the state with the "most significant relationship."

Also under circuit precedent, the Fifth Circuit had applied the Texas choice of law rules in Texas UCC § 9.301. For priority and perfection, that section looks to the law where the debtor is



"located." In turn, Section 9.307(e) defines "location" as the state of "organization" for a limited liability corporation like the debtor.

Thus, "Delaware law governs the competing priorities under either Texas choice of law or the federal independent judgment test," Judge Jones said. She therefore agreed with Judge Gargotta "that substantive Delaware UCC law governs these priority disputes."

Texans Lose, Sooners Win

The Delaware UCC, of course, requires filing financing statements to perfect security interests in goods, inventory, and proceeds. Consequently, the "Texas Producers are out of luck under Delaware UCC law, which does not recognize the priority of their unfiled, unperfected security interests in proceeds under Texas UCC Section 9.343," Judge Jones said.

Judge Jones affirmed "the bankruptcy court's conclusion that the Bank's interests in the disputed collateral prime any interests held by the Texas Producers."

The Oklahoma producers came out on top because "the Delaware UCC does not preempt statutory liens created by other states," Judge Jones said. She added that "the Oklahoma Lien Act [adopted in 2010] was meant to cure the defects found in the state's Lien Act of 1988 by the Delaware bankruptcy court in *In re SemCrude*. 407 B.R. 112 (Bankr. D. Del. 2009). . . . In that case, the court held that Oklahoma producers were subject, as Texas Producers still are, to UCC rules governing choice-of-law and priority and perfection of security interests."

With regard to the Oklahoma producers, Judge Jones ruled that the producers' liens were prior to the bank's. She remanded for the producers "to prove up the extent and amount of their secured claims."

Observations

Will the Texas producers file motion for rehearing and ask the circuit court to certify the question to the Texas Supreme Court? Or, should it be a certification to the Delaware Supreme Court?

All is not lost for producers in Texas whose purchasers are not (yet) in bankruptcy. They can solve their perfection problems by filing financing statements. But will filings now give them priority over previously perfected bank liens? Texas producers may come out on top because the nonuniform Texas UCC purports to give them purchase money security interests.

The opinion is Deutsche Bank Trust Co Americas v. U.S. Energy Development Corp. (In re First River Energy LLC), 986 F.3d 914 (5th Cir. Feb. 3, 2021).



At least in New York, a litigation finance agreement can't be written to remove all of the lender's exposure to the borrower's bankruptcy.

Brooklyn Decision Shows Why Litigation Finance Is Risky if the Plaintiff Files Bankruptcy

Someone who finances prosecution of a personal injury claim in New York has nothing more than an unsecured claim if the debtor who holds the claim files bankruptcy before settlement or entry of judgment on the claim, according to Bankruptcy Judge Elizabeth S. Stong of Brooklyn, N.Y.

The debtor was injured before bankruptcy. Also before bankruptcy, the debtor signed a litigation finance agreement under which he received \$20,000. He would be liable to return the \$20,000 plus interest only if he settled or won the suit, and then only from the winnings.

In New York, personal injury claims cannot be sold or assigned. However, New York permits assignment of proceeds from a personal injury claim.

That's what happened. The litigation finance agreement gave the lender an assignment of proceeds of the claim to secure the debt. The finance agreement also granted the lender a security interest in the proceeds of the claim.

The debtor said in the litigation finance agreement that he did not intend to file bankruptcy at any time in the future. If there were a bankruptcy, the debtor agreed to schedule the litigation proceeds as having been assigned to the lender and not to show the agreement as giving rise to a debt owing to the lender.

By the time of bankruptcy, the lender's claim was almost \$50,000, because interest on the claim was slightly above 50% *per annum*.

After the debtor filed a chapter 7 petition, the trustee retained special counsel, who promptly secured a \$75,000 settlement. Judge Stong approved the settlement and payment of special counsel's \$25,000 fee.

The lender had filed a secured claim for about \$50,000 and claimed the remainder of the settlement.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Combining his personal injury exemption under Section 522(d)(11)(D) with his wildcard exemption under Section 522(d)(5), the debtor claimed exemptions totaling some \$39,000, to be taken from the net settlement proceeds.

The lender objected to the debtor's exemption claim, contending that the assignment prevented the proceeds from becoming part of the estate, and if the proceeds were estate property, the lender claimed an equitable lien on the proceeds.

The debtor, of course, contended that the assignment of the proceeds was ineffective after bankruptcy.

What's paid first: the lender's claim or the debtor's exemption?

Judge Stong ruled in favor of the debtor in her May 6 opinion, concluding that the lender had neither an enforceable assignment of proceeds as of the filing date nor an equitable lien or constructive trust.

Judge Stong said there was no question about the validity of the debtor's claimed exemptions. The question was whether the lender's rights took the proceeds out of the estate and out of the hands of the debtor. In other words, did the claim and proceeds become estate property under Section 541?

Judge Stong concluded that the debtor at least had an equitable interest in the claim and potential proceeds on the filing date. However, the absence of a judgment or settlement on the filing date was pivotal.

As another bankruptcy judge in Brooklyn had held 10 years earlier, the assignment of future proceeds would come into effect on settlement or entry of judgment and would not relate back to the date of the assignment. That is to say, there was no prebankruptcy assignment of proceeds because none existed until after bankruptcy.

There being no assignment on the filing date and no relation back, the automatic stay in Section 362(a)(4) and the limitation on the postpetition effect of a security interest in Section 552(a) together preclude enforcement of the lien on proceeds that could only arise after filing.

Without a lien, could the lender nonetheless claim the proceeds via an equitable lien or constructive trust?

Among the criteria recognized in the Second Circuit for creation of a constructive trust, the most important is the prevention of unjust enrichment. In turn, unjust enrichment requires some prepetition unjust conduct, Judge Stong said.



There being no unjust conduct, Judge Stong ruled there was no equitable lien or constructive trust.

Judge Stong relegated the lender to the status of an unsecured creditor.

The opinion is *In re Reviss*, 628 B.R. 386 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. May 6, 2021).



Small Biz. Reorg. Act



Apartment buildings are single asset real estate, but hotels aren't, says Orlando's Bankruptcy Judge Karen Jennemann.

Hotel Isn't 'Single Asset Real Estate' and Is Eligible for Subchapter V Reorganization

The owner and operator of a 79-room hotel is not a single asset real estate debtor and is therefore entitled to reorganize as a small business debtor under Subchapter V of chapter 11, according to Bankruptcy Judge Karen S. Jennemann of Orlando, Fla.

The debtor's principal secured creditor filed a motion for a declaration that the debtor owned single asset real estate and was therefore ineligible for reorganization under Subchapter V. The outcome was especially important, because the lender held both secured and unsecured claims since the property was worth less than the debt.

If it were to remain in Subchapter V, the debtor could confirm a plan without making a new value contribution because the absolute priority rule does not apply to unsecured creditors of a small business debtor. Section 1191(b) and (c).

Judge Jennemann stated the conclusion up front in her April 20 opinion. She said that "hotels generally, and this hotel in particular, do not constitute single asset real estate projects." She therefore concluded that "this Debtor is eligible to file this Subchapter V Chapter 11 case."

Why, you ask?

Judge Jennemann explained that a hotel is different from an apartment project. A hotel, she said, provides "additional value or activities (other than property management) that would remove it from categorization as a 'single asset real estate' project."

The outcome turned on two provisions in the definitions laid down in Section 101. First, Section 101(51D)(A) provides that a small business debtor may not be "a person whose primary activity is the business of owning single asset real estate."

In Section 101(51B), single asset real estate is defined to be "real property constituting a single property or project, other than residential real property with fewer than 4 residential units, which generates substantially all of the gross income of a debtor who is not a family farmer and on which no substantial business is being conducted by a debtor other than the business of operating the real property and activities incidental thereto."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Jennemann distilled the three elements of single asset real estate based on Fifth Circuit precedent. They are (1) the ownership of real property constituting a single property or project, (2) which generates substantially all of the debtor's gross income, and (3) on which no substantial business is conducted aside from operating the real property and activities incidental thereto. *Ad Hoc Group of Timber Noteholders v. Pacific Lumber Co. (In re Scotia Pac. Co.)*, 508 F.3d 214, 220 (5th Cir. 2007).

Judge Jennemann laid out the hotel owner's activities other than ownership of the property. The debtor had 15 employees, cleaned rooms every day, served breakfast, maintained a swimming pool, and provided laundry, internet and phone services.

The additional operations and services, Judge Jennemann said, "constitute something more than 'operating the real property and activities incidental hereto." Hotels "provide many services besides just renting rooms."

Given the additional activities, Judge Jennemann said that courts "rarely find" that hotels are single asset real estate like vacant land and apartment buildings. A hotel requires more staff and constant maintenance as compared to an apartment building, where tenants sign a one-year lease "and require little additional assistance." A hotel demands that the debtor provide "substantially more day-to-day activities than operating an apartment building."

The creditor contended that the extra services didn't count because they generated no additional income. Judge Jennemann disagreed. The additional services, she said, "require[] the debtor to do something other than merely rent hotel rooms."

Judge Jennemann conceded there are "a few cases" holding that hotels are single asset real estate. She said they either reached their conclusions "without analysis," or the debtor conceded it was single asset real estate.

Judge Jennemann ruled that the debtor was entitled to proceed under Subchapter V.

The opinion is In re Enkogs1 LLC, 626 B.R. 860 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. April 20, 2021).



When drafting a statute, Congress cannot 'think of every single esoteric possibility,' Judge Mignault says.

West Virginia Judge Allows Conversion to Subchapter V After Deadlines Passed

Chief Bankruptcy Judge B. McKay Mignault of Charleston, W.Va., allowed a debtor to convert a chapter 13 case to Subchapter V of chapter 11 after the deadlines in the Subchapter V had passed.

In her April 16 opinion, Judge Mignault described Subchapter V as "a valuable tool for qualifying debtors and will facilitate reorganizations that were not possible before." It "would have been helpful," she said, if Congress had "provide[d] some guidance with respect to conversion from other bankruptcy chapters, but the drafters of our laws cannot be rightfully expected to think of every single esoteric possibility when undertaking their responsibilities."

"[I]t is up to the courts to interpret those laws as best they can when confronted with unanticipated fact patterns," Judge Mignault said.

Unexpected Ineligibility for Chapter 13

The debtor filed his chapter 13 plan alongside his chapter 13 petition. According to Judge Mignault, the debtor had "diligently progressed" until the Internal Revenue Service filed a proof of claim that put his total debt above the cap allowed in chapter 13.

Although the debtor "must have known" he was liable for federal taxes, Judge Mignault said "he was not aware of the amount of those taxes until the IRS processed his return."

Two months after the IRS claim hit the docket, the debtor reported to Judge Mignault that his debt was now too large for chapter 13 and that he intended to convert the case to Subchapter V of chapter 11.

Eighteen days later, the debtor filed a conversion motion along with a motion to extend the Subchapter V deadlines. The U.S. Trustee lodged a limited objection, opposing conversion because the Subchapter V deadlines had passed.

Debtor Wasn't 'Justly Accountable' for the Delay

Judge Mignault began analyzing the merits by mentioning the benefits of the Small Business Reorganization Act, which became effective in February 2020 and is codified primarily in Subchapter V of chapter 11, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1181 – 1195. The benefits include the absence of the

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

absolute priority rule, no mandatory creditors' committee, no mandatory disclosure statement, no U.S. Trustee fees and the possibility of confirming a plan even if all classes reject the plan.

In return for the benefits conferred by the SBRA, Judge Mignault said that Subchapter V includes "several tight deadlines," including a status conference within 60 days of the order for relief and a plan that must be filed within 90 days of the order for relief.

Because conversion to chapter 11 does not reset the order for relief, the two deadlines had elapsed by the time the debtor filed his conversion motion.

The debtor's potential salvation rested in Sections 1188(b) and 1189(b), where the court may extend the deadlines under "circumstances for which the debtor should not justly be held accountable."

So far, Judge Mignault said that only a "handful of courts" have ruled on the propriety of proceeding under the SBRA when the deadlines have already passed. The courts come down both ways, the judge said.

Among others, Judge Mignault at length discussed *In re Seven Stars on the Hudson Corp.*, 618 B.R. 333 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2020), one of the cases not permitting conversion after the deadlines passed. To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

On the other side of the fence, Judge Mignault parsed several decisions permitting a switch to Subchapter V, including *In re Trepetin*, 617 B.R. 841 (Bankr. D. Md. 2020), a scholarly opinion by former professor and now Bankruptcy Judge Michelle M. Harner of Baltimore. To read ABI's report on *Trepetin*, click here.

Choosing sides, Judge Mignault followed her brother and sister judges in the Fourth Circuit by permitting a switch to Subchapter V. The judge said she "cannot endorse such a restrictive view of the applicable law as is counseled by the court in *Seven Stars*."

Judge Mignault said the debtor qualified for conversion under Section 1307(d) because he had not confirmed a chapter 13 plan. He had not been dilatory and was not aware of his disqualification for chapter 13 until the IRS filed its claim.

The debtor "promptly" filed the conversion motion and "should not justly be held accountable for the circumstances necessitating an extension of the deadlines," Judge Mignault said.

Judge Mignault granted the conversion motion and reset the deadlines.

The opinion is *In re Keffer*, 20-20334 (Bankr. S.D. W.Va. April 16, 2021).



Increasingly, courts are allowing defunct corporations to proceed under the SBRA while individual owners of defunct businesses aren't being treated as small business debtors in chapter 11.

Liquidating a Defunct Corporation Qualifies for the SBRA. Judge Lonez Savs

Mopping up a defunct business qualifies a corporate debtor for liquidation under the flexible rules for chapter 11 laid down in the Small Business Reorganization Act, or SBRA.

According to Bankruptcy Judge Christopher M. Lopez of Houston, collecting accounts receivable and maintaining the physical assets qualify as being engaged in commercial activities, even when the historical business is no longer operating.

The Nonoperating Plant

The debtor owned and previously operated a facility that converted waste heat from a nearby plant into electricity and steam sold to other nearby plants. After disputes with its primary creditor and supplier of waste heat, the debtor halted operations. The debtor and its creditor were mired in litigation and arbitration when the debtor filed a chapter 11 petition and elected to be treated as a small business under the SBRA.

The debtor filed a chapter 11 plan to liquidate the assets, collect accounts receivable, prosecute claims and distribute proceeds to creditors.

The primary creditor and the U.S. Trustee objected to the SBRA election, because the debtor was no longer operating its historical business. Judge Lopez overruled the objection in his July 1 opinion and allowed the debtor corporation to continue as a small business.

Qualification Under the SBRA

The SBRA became effective in February 2020 and is codified primarily in Subchapter V of chapter 11, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1181 – 1195. The issue before Judge Lopez arose under the definition of a "debtor" in Section 1182(1)(A), which "means a person engaged in commercial or business activities"

Although the quoted terms are not defined in the Bankruptcy Code, Judge Lopez applied the "plain meaning" of the words. He agreed with cases holding that "engaged in' commercial or

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

business activities means a debtor was actively participating in one of these activities on the petition date." The word "commercial," he said, means "of or relating to commerce."

Although the debtor was no longer producing and selling steam and electricity, Judge Lopez identified the following commercial activities: The company was

- Managed by two principals of its limited partner and employed an independent contractor;
- Litigating a multi-million-dollar lawsuit with its principal creditor;
- Collecting \$160,000 in accounts receivable from its principal creditor;
- Maintaining its facilities;
- Working on a plan to pay creditors by selling assets with an estimated value of \$3
 million; and
- Filing reports and tax returns with state and federal authorities.

Judge Lopez held that pursuing litigation, collecting accounts receivable, selling assets and maintaining assets "are all commercial and business activities."

The objectors argued that the debtor had no W-2 employees, but Judge Lopez said that "neither do many U.S. small businesses, and, regardless, that is not required under Section 1182(1)(A)." He said that the section "also does not require a debtor to maintain its core or historical business operations on the petition date."

Contending that Subchapter V was not intended for liquidations, the objectors relied on the SBRA's legislative history by saying it was designed to promote reorganizations. "But this does not change the outcome," Judge Lopez said. The language of the statute is clear, leaving no room to consider legislative history. To the contrary, he noted how the SBRA permits the sale of a debtor's assets.

Judge Lopez agreed with *In re Offer Space, LLC*, Case No. 20-27480, 2021 WL 1582625, at *2 (Bankr. D. Utah Apr. 22, 2021), where Bankruptcy Judge William T. Thurman of Salt Lake City held that a debtor need not be operational so long as it had a bank account and was managing its few remaining assets. To read ABI's report on *Offer Space*, <u>click here</u>.

Judge Lopez distinguished and declined to follow two cases where *individuals* owned defunct businesses and were held ineligible for Subchapter V, even though their debts arose from the defunct business. He was referring to *In re Johnson*, 2021 WL 825156 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. Mar. 1, 2021); and *In re Thurmon*, 2020 WL 7249555 (Bankr. W.D. Mo. Dec. 8, 2020). To read ABI's reports on those cases, click <u>here and here.</u>

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Unlike *Johnson* and *Thurmon*, where the debtors were individuals, the debtor before Judge Lopez was a corporation. He found that this debtor was "engaged in commercial or business activities," overruled the objections and allowed the debtor to proceed under Subchapter V.

The opinion is *In re Port Arthur Steam Energy LP*, 629 B.R. 233 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. July 1, 2021).



Utah's Judge Thurman says that a corporation liquidating its remaining assets is engaged in business 'activities' and is therefore eligible for Subchapter V.

Corporations Are More Likely Eligible for the SBRA than Owners of Defunct Businesses

So long as it has a bank account and is managing its few remaining assets, a corporate "debtor's business need not be operational to be eligible for . . . relief" in Subchapter V of chapter 11, according to Bankruptcy Judge William T. Thurman of Salt Lake City.

The corporate debtor developed and sold software to direct marketers. The company had financial difficulty and sold the software, its primary asset, in August 2020 in exchange for the buyer's stock worth some \$1 million.

The debtor filed a chapter 11 petition in December 2020 and elected treatment as a small business debtor under the Small Business Reorganization Act. The SBRA became effective in February 2020 and is codified primarily in Subchapter V of chapter 11, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1181 – 1195.

At the meeting of creditors, the debtor's principal testified that the company's remaining assets consisted of a bank account, accounts receivable, claims in a lawsuit against a third party, and stock from the buyer. The principal also testified that the company had no employees and was not conducting business as it had before the sale.

In addition, the principal said the company had no intention of reorganizing and was "using reasonable efforts to pay its creditors and realize value for its assets," Judge Thurman said.

The schedules declared that the debts totaled some \$3.5 million and that the estimated value of the assets was about \$400,000.

Immediately after the meeting of creditors, the U.S. Trustee filed a motion objecting to the debtor's eligibility to proceed under Subchapter V.

In his April 22 opinion, Judge Thurman laid out the four requisites for Subchapter V eligibility: the debtor (1) must be a person, which includes a corporation; (2) must be engaged in commercial or business activity; (3) may not have more than \$7.5 million in debt on the petition date, and (4) must have more than 50% of its debt from commercial or business activities.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The U.S. Trustee only challenged the second test, which arises from Sections 1182(1)(A) and 101(51D). The term "small business debtor" means "a person engaged in commercial or business activities"

In sum, the U.S. Trustee argued that the debtor was ineligible for Subchapter V because the company was not operational on the filing date, had no employees and no intention of reorganizing, and aimed only to liquidate its remaining assets, including the purchaser's stock.

Parsing the statute, Judge Thurman was constrained by Tenth Circuit authority, which calls for interpreting the Bankruptcy Code liberally in favor of debtors and "strictly against the creditor." *In re Woods*, 743 F.3d 689, 694 (10th Cir. 2014).

First, Judge Thurman held that the debtor "must be *presently* 'engaged in commercial or business activities' on the date of filing the petition for relief." [Emphasis added.] In that regard, he agreed with three recent cases holding that formerly being in business is insufficient. *See In re Johnson*, 2021 WL 825156 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. Mar. 1, 2021); *In re Thurmon*, 2020 WL 7249555 (Bankr. W.D. Mo. Dec. 8, 2020); and *In re Ikalowych*, 20-17547, 2021 BL 138960, 2021 Bankr. Lexis 997 (Bankr. D. Colo. April 15, 2021). To read ABI's reports on those cases, click here, here and here.

Next, Judge Thurman decided that the debtor was "actively engaged in commercial or business activities by" having a bank account, holding accounts receivable, exploring claims against a third party, managing the stock of the seller, and "winding down its business and taking reasonable steps to pay its creditors and realize value for its assets."

In reaching this conclusion, Judge Thurman said that the statutory words "activities" and "operations" are not "interchangeable." The word "activities" is broader.

Had the statute only used "operations," Judge Thurman said he would have ruled for the U.S. Trustee because the business was not operational on the filing date. When "considering the totality of the circumstances," he concluded that the debtor's "activities adequately demonstrate that it was "engaged in commercial or business activities' on the Petition Date."

Judge Thurman found "nothing in the legislative history or the text of the statute [that] precludes a small business debtor, who has gone out of business, from availing itself of Subchapter V and pursuing a liquidation plan."

Along the way, Judge Thurman rejected the notion that filing bankruptcy and everything it entails would satisfy the requirements of Subchapter V. If filing were enough, "then any and every debtor that filed for bankruptcy relief and elected to proceed under Subchapter V would automatically satisfy the 'engaged in commercial or business activities' requirement."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Ending his opinion, Judge Thurman addressed cases like *Thurmon* and *Johnson* and their holdings that someone who owns a nonoperating business is not eligible for Subchapter V. He agreed with *Ikalowych's* "rationale that a debtor's actions in winding down its business constitute 'commercial or business activities.'"

Distinguishing *Thurmon* and *Johnson*, Judge Thurman said that both involved debtors who were individuals, not the defunct businesses they had owned. In those cases, he said, the debtors "were a level removed from the businesses themselves."

Judge Thurman said that the factual distinction was "an important aspect of the eligibility analysis when considering the totality of the circumstances."

Observations

"I believe that guarantors of commercial/business debt are eligible for Subchapter V even if the business is shuttered and will not reopen at the time of the individual's filing," Robert J. Keach told ABI.

Mr. Keach was involved in drafting the SBRA and testified for its passage before the Senate and House subcommittees. He believes that the "the statute was intended to be interpreted broadly, to facilitate restructuring and rehabilitation of businesses and individuals with business debt."

In Mr. Keach's opinion, "restructuring a commercial/business debt — the guaranty — is commercial 'activity' in and of itself, and that activity is ongoing at the time of filing." In his view, "courts on the other side of this issue are interpreting 'engaged in commercial or business activities' too narrowly."

Like Judge Thurman, Mr. Keach said that the "use of the word 'activities' as opposed to just 'engaged in business' expresses that breadth." Indeed, Mr. Keach went further when he said that "the additional inclusion of a required nexus between the current activity and the qualifying debt is not found anywhere in the statute, although that nexus exists in the guaranty case."

"A narrow interpretation, in my humble opinion, runs counter to the purpose of the statute," Mr. Keach said.

The chair of the business restructuring and insolvency practice group at Bernstein Shur Sawyer & Nelson P.A. in Portland, Maine, Mr. Keach was the co-chair of the ABI commission that recommended the legislation Congress adopted in the SBRA.

The opinion is In re Offer Space LLC, 629 B.R. 299 (Bankr. D. Utah April 22, 2021).



A fast-food worker can (conceivably) qualify as a small business debtor under Subchapter V, according to Bankruptcy Judge Thomas B. McNamara.

Denver Judge Opens the SBRA Door Wide for People with Debt from Failed Companies

Regarding eligibility for reorganization under the Small Business Reorganization Act, Subchapter V of chapter 11, Bankruptcy Judge Thomas B. McNamara of Denver took a novel approach.

Although the debtor must be *currently* engaged in business at the time of filing, he said that a fast-food worker flipping hamburgers would qualify if half of the debt arose from the "commercial or business activities of the debtor." In other words, in the opinion of Judge McNamara, a debtor's debt must arise from business, but the debtor isn't required to be engaged in that business when she or he files under Subchapter V. The debtor isn't even required to be an owner of the business in which she or he is employed on the filing date.

The Defunct Business

The debtor indirectly owned a business repairing hail damage to cars. He was the sole owner of a limited liability company that in turn owned 30% of the LLC that performed car repairs.

The repair business failed, terminated operations and turned the assets over to the secured lender, leaving the debtor on the hook for about \$6.4 million in debt on the repair business that he had personally guaranteed. Losing income from the repair business, the debtor started working as an insurance salesman shortly before filing his chapter 11 petition and asking for treatment as a small business debtor under Subchapter V.

Totaling all of his scheduled debt, the debtor owed about \$7.4 million, just below the \$7.5 million cap for Subchapter V. Both before and after the chapter 11 filing, the debtor said he was engaged in "winding down" the repair business, although neither he nor the business was generating any income.

The U.S. Trustee and the primary secured creditor of the repair business filed a motion for a declaration that the debtor was not eligible for Subchapter V because he was not currently engaged in business. The Subchapter V trustee supported the debtor by contending that he was eligible.



'Engaged' Means Currently Engaged in Business

In his April 15 opinion, Judge McNamara first tackled the question of whether someone must be engaged in business on the filing date to be eligible for Subchapter V. The question turned on the statute, Section 1182(1)(A), which says that a small business debtor "means a person engaged in commercial or business activities," other than owning single-asset real estate.

Agreeing with the objectors, Judge McNamara applied the test as of the filing date. However, he gave the debtor some leeway by examining the "relevant . . . circumstances immediately preceding and subsequent to the Petition Date as well as the Debtor's conduct and intent." He cautioned that courts should not add qualifiers "where Congress imposed none."

Judge McNamara launched into a lengthy statutory and grammatical analysis. The statute and dictionaries, he said, give an "exceptionally broad" meaning to "commercial or business activities."

Alluding to similar statutory language regarding eligibility for reorganization as a railroad or family farmer, Judge McNamara said that courts require "that a person or entity is presently doing something."

Judge McNamara conceded that there was "some contrary authority," citing *In re Wright*, 2020 WL 2193240 (Bankr. D.S.C. April 27, 2020), where the bankruptcy court held that Subchapter V is not limited to someone engaged in business on the filing date. To read ABI's report on *Wright*, click here.

Previously, Judge McNamara said, the *Collier* treatise did not require being in business on the filing date. He noted, however, that "the treatise authors changed their minds and no longer argue against a temporal restriction as of the Petition Date."

Finally, Judge McNamara cited "more persuasive subsequent case law" requiring engagement in business on the filing date. He cited *In re Johnson*, 2021 WL 825156, at *6 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. Mar. 1, 2021), and *In re Thurmon*, 2020 WL 7249555, at *3 (Bankr. W.D. Mo. Dec. 8, 2020). To read ABI's reports on those cases, click here and here.

At that point, 20 pages into the opinion, it appeared as though Judge McNamara was on the cusp of tossing the debtor out of Subchapter V. Not so fast!

The debtor was still the direct or indirect owner of two LLCs, neither of which had been dissolved by the state. As a manager of both, the debtor continued to have corporate responsibility and was performing some services (albeit limited) in winding down the repair business.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Judge McNamara's next assignment was to distinguish cases he had just cited approvingly, such as *Johnson* and *Thurmon*. In *Johnson*, he said, the businesses had been "dissolved and no longer existed." *Thurmon* was different because the debtor before Judge McNamara still owned two LLCs, one of which was not liquidated and was looking for new business.

The Blockbuster

Two pages from the end, Judge McNamara dropped the blockbuster, based on his understanding of the statute's "exceptionally broad" meaning given to "commercial or business activities." He held that being a "wage earner" selling insurance for someone else still constitutes "commercial or business activity."

Judge McNamara saw "no reason that 'commercial or business activities' are somehow reserved only for business titans, company owners, or management." In other words, he said that "virtually all private sector wage earners may be considered as 'engaged in commercial or business activities."

Judge NcNamara nonetheless cautioned that "not . . . every private sector wage earner is eligible for relief under Subchapter V of the Bankruptcy Code. Not at all." More than 50% of the debt must have arisen from "the commercial or business activities of the debtor," as required by Section 1182(1)(A).

"The typical hamburger artist, earning just minimum wage, will almost never be putting his own capital at risk and incurring debts which arise from his work. So, Subchapter V will not be for everyone," Judge McNamara said.

The 26-page opinion boiled down to two significant facts: (1) More than half of the debt was attributable to the debtor's guarantee or his company's obligations, and (2) the debtor was employed selling insurance, although for a company in which he was only an employee and had no ownership interest.

Judge McNamara overruled the eligibility motion and permitted the debtor to proceed toward confirmation.

The opinion is In re Ikalowych, 629 B.R. 261 (Bankr. D. Colo. April 15, 2021).



Part-time self-employment, coupled with debt from a defunct business, qualified the debtor for reorganization under Subchapter V of chapter 11.

Debt from a Defunct Business Can Help to Qualify for Subchapter V

The owner of a defunct business was eligible for reorganization under Subchapter V of chapter 11 when she earned "material" income from part-time personal services not attributable to employment by a company she didn't own.

The May 7 opinion by Bankruptcy Judge Benjamin A. Kahn of Durham, N.C., isn't altogether favorable to a prospective debtor under the Small Business Reorganization Act, which became effective in February 2020 and is codified primarily in Subchapter V of chapter 11, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1181 – 1195.

The debtor had owned a corporation in the business of providing information transport consulting services. The company went out of business about two years ago and has no assets. The debtor did not intend to resurrect the corporate business.

Following the failure of her corporate business, the debtor became a salaried employee of a company in the same industry. She had no ownership interest in her new employer and received a W-2 as an employee.

In addition, the debtor worked part-time as an independent contractor-consultant for two other companies, where she helped with their information technology. She received 1099s from both.

The debtor filed a chapter 11 petition and elected treatment as a small business debtor. The U.S. Trustee and the SBRA trustee both objected. Judge Kahn denied the objections.

First, Judge Kahn dealt with the question of whether the debtor was "engaged in commercial or business activities," as required by the definition of a small business debtor in Section 101(51D). There is no definition in the statute and "scant" legislative history, the judge said.

Judge Kahn recited how the "majority" of recent decisions require the debtor to be currently engaged in business, citing *Offer Space*, *Ikalowych* and *Thurman*. To read ABI's reports on those decisions, click here, here and here.

Although she was no longer operating her failed company, Judge Kahn did not rule against the debtor, because he held that her 1099 work as a sole proprietor and consultant "is clearly the



delivery of services in exchange for a profit." Persuaded particularly by *Offer Space*, he said that her services as a sole proprietor "provide a material contribution to Debtor's income."

Judge Kahn found nothing in the statute or legislative history requiring that the debtor's selfemployment be full-time.

The U.S. Trustee and the Subchapter V trustee also objected, claiming there must be a nexus between the business debt arising from the defunct business and the debtor's current business activities.

Judge Kahn rejected the idea, finding "no such implication" in the statute. Furthermore, requiring the debt to have arisen from current business activities "would be far too limiting for the remedial purposes of Subchapter V."

Judge Kahn found support for his conclusion in *Blanchard*, where a bankruptcy court in New Orleans held that personal guarantees of a defunct business's debts will suffice for an individual to qualify as a debtor under the SBRA. To read ABI's report on *Blanchard*, <u>click here</u>.

Finding no requirement for a nexus in the statute, Judge Kahn said that a contrary rule would "disqualify meritorious small businesses from the remedial purposes of subchapter V simply by having significant debts from former operations."

There being no theoretical disqualification, Judge Kahn turned the numbers and the question of whether more than half of the debtor's debt arose from "commercial or business activities," as required by Section 101(51D).

The debtor owed about \$60,000 on a home mortgage that originally had been her principal residence. However, the debtor now lived elsewhere and had rented the home continuously for almost 20 years. The debtor had been unable to rent the home for the last two years because she could not afford the necessary repairs to make the home habitable.

Judge Kahn decided that the debtor could not count the mortgage among her business debts because she had originally obtained the mortgage as her residence. It therefore "did not arise from the Debtor's commercial or business activities," he said.

On the other hand, Judge Kahn did count debt incurred to repair the previously rented home as business debt.

Counting the business debts against personal debts, Judge Kahn found that just over half qualified the debtor for Subchapter V. He overruled the objections to proceeding under the SBRA.

The opinion is *In re Blue*, 21-80059, 2021 BL 189811 (Bankr. M.D.N.C. May 7, 2021).



The owner of defunct businesses was held ineligible to be a small business debtor because he was no longer the owner of an operating business. Being a non-owner executive of an operating business didn't qualify him.

Split Grows on Whether a Subchapter V Debtor Must Be 'Currently' Engaged in Business

On a question where the lower courts are split, Bankruptcy Judge Edward L. Morris of Fort Worth ruled that the owner of a defunct business does not qualify for reorganization as a small business debtor under subchapter V of chapter 11.

On the petition date, the individual chapter 7 debtor owned seven defunct oil and gas exploration and production companies. All of them were out of business with no plans for returning to operation.

The U.S. Trustee and several creditors objected to the debtor's chapter 7 discharge. In response, the debtor filed a motion for conversion to chapter 11, conditioned on his ability to reorganize as a small business debtor under subchapter V of chapter 11.

Although the debtor was otherwise entitled to convert to chapter 11, the U.S. Trustee and the objecting creditors contended that he was not eligible for subchapter V because the businesses he owned were all defunct.

The debtor countered by pointing to his current employment: He was the president of an oil and gas company owned by his mother. However, he had no ownership interest in his mother's company.

In his March 1 opinion, Judge Morris decided that the debtor was not eligible for subchapter V.

The outcome turned on the definition of a "small business debtor" in Section 101(51D). The term "means a person engaged in commercial or business activities" Judge Morris gave the terms their "plain and unambiguous meanings" because they are not defined in the Bankruptcy Code

The debtor argued that "engaged in" encompasses prior ownership and management. Judge Morris disagreed.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The term "is inherently contemporary in focus instead of retrospective, requiring the assessment of the debtor's current state of affairs as of the filing of the bankruptcy petition," Judge Morris said. He said that "engaged in" means "a person occupied with or busy in commercial or business activities – not a person who at some point in the past had such involvement."

Judge Morris found support for his conclusion in cases involving railroad and chapter 12 family farmer reorganizations. He cited the Third Circuit for holding that a former railroad does not qualify for subchapter IV of chapter 11. To qualify for chapter 12, a "majority of courts," he said, require someone to be currently engaged in farming, except when operations are halted seasonally.

Consequently, the debtor was not "engaged in" business and was thus ineligible to be a small business debtor.

Judge Morris also analyzed whether the debtor was engaged in "commercial or business activities." The debtor contended that managing his mother's company qualified.

Again, Judge Morris disagreed. The debtor, he said, was "nothing more than an employee" and was not conducting his mother's business for his own profit.

Judge Morris said that "a person engaged in 'commercial or business activities' is a person engaged in the exchange or buying and selling of economic goods or services for profit." Being an employee of his mother's company, even with "heightened obligations does not qualify as a small business debtor under section 101(51D)."

Judge Morris therefore denied the motion for conversion to chapter 11 because it was conditioned on qualifying for subchapter V.

Observations

Judge Morris cited Bankruptcy Judge Cynthia A. Norton of Kansas City, Mo., who likewise ruled that debtors must be currently engaged in business to qualify for reorganization under subchapter V of chapter 11. *In re Thurmon*, 20-41400, 2020 WL 7249555 (W.D. Mo. Dec. 8, 2020). To read ABI's report on *Thurmon*, click here.

Judge Morris also cited but disagreed with *In re Wright*, 20-01035, 2020 WL 2193240 (Bankr. D.S.C. April 27, 2020), where Bankruptcy Judge Helen B. Burris of Spartanburg, S.C., held that restructuring the debt of a defunct business is enough to qualify. To read ABI's report on *Wright*, click here.

The opinion is In re Johnson, 19-42063, 2021 BL 71942 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. March 1, 2021).

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

193



Only individuals in subchapter V of chapter 11 are barred from discharging debts found to be nondischargeable under Section 523(a).

Corporate Debtors in Subchapter V May Discharge Nondischargeable Debts

The first court to grapple with the new issue, Bankruptcy Judge Maria Ellena Chavez-Ruark of Greenbelt, Md., decided that corporate debtors in subchapter V of chapter 11 may discharge debts that would not be discharged under Section 523(a).

In other words, according to Judge Ruark, only individual debtors in subchapter V are unable to discharge debts that are found to be excepted from discharge under Section 523(a).

Before bankruptcy, more than a dozen former employees filed a wages and hours suit in district court against a restaurant under state law and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act. The suit was automatically stayed when the restaurant corporation filed a petition in October under subchapter V of chapter 11.

The employees sued the debtor in bankruptcy court, claiming that the wages and hours claims were nondischargeable under Section 532(a)(2)(A) and (a)(6), as debts obtained by false representations, false pretenses or actual fraud, or resulting from a willful and malicious injury.

The debtor proposed a cramdown plan. If the plan had been consensual, Section 1191(a) meant that the debtor's discharge would have arisen under Section 1141(d). Because the plan called for cramdown, the discharge would be governed by Section 1192.

The two governing statutes therefore were Sections 1192 and 523.

Section 1192 gives the debtor "a discharge of all debts provided in section 1141(d)(1)(A) of this title, and all other debts allowed under section 503 of this title and provided for in the plan, except any debt... of the kind specified in section 523(a) of this title."

With an amendment made alongside the adoption of subchapter V, Section 523(a) provides that a "discharge under section . . . 1192 . . . does not discharge an individual debtor from any debt" defined in 19 paragraphs that followed.

The debtor filed a motion to dismiss, contending that the exceptions to discharge apply only to an individual debtor in subchapter V. That is to say, the debtor took the position that corporate



debtors in subchapter V receive the same broad discharge as larger corporate debtors in traditional chapter 11 cases.

The right of a corporate debtor to discharge nondischargeable debts in subchapter V would have been clearer were the debtor confirming a consensual plan. Sections 1141(d)(1) and (d)(3) together say that corporate debtors receive discharges of nondischargeable debts while individual debtors do not.

The employees latched onto the differences between Sections 1141 and 1192 to argue that any debt excepted from discharge in Section 523(a) is not discharged in subchapter V, regardless of whether the debtor is an individual or a corporation.

The Judge Ruark granted the debtor's motion to dismiss in an opinion on March 19. It was her first published opinion since ascending to the bench four months ago.

Judge Ruark found herself bound by the plain language of the statutes. Section 523(a), she said, "is clear and unambiguous that it applies only to individual debtors." In light of the reference to Section 1192 in Section 523(a), she said that "the only reasonable meaning is that Congress intended to continue to limit application of the Section 523(a) exceptions in a Subchapter V case to individuals."

Judge Ruark held that "the plain language of Section 523(a) is unequivocal and confirms that the exceptions to a debtor's discharge, including a discharge under Section 1192, apply only to an individual."

Judge Ruark conceded that two chapter 12 cases make Section 523(a) exceptions to discharge applicable to corporate farm debtors, but she cited two courts that had refused to extend those two cases to chapter 11.

The *Collier* and *Norton* treatises both say that Section 523(a) exceptions to discharge apply to corporate debtors in subchapter V. Judge Ruark declined to follow the treatises, finding them "unpersuasive because they fail to examine the plain language of the statute and instead state unsupported conclusions."

On the other hand, Judge Ruark cited Bankruptcy Judge Paul W. Bonapfel, who said in his treatise that Section 523(a) applies only to individuals in subchapter V.

Judge Ruark found no cause to rely on legislative history, because the statute was clear. However, she found "[n]othing in the legislative history for Section 1192 [to] support[] the conclusion that Congress intended to expand the application of Section 523(a) to a non-individual." Had Congress intended to make "a dramatic change in existing Chapter 11 law," she said that the "House Report most certainly would have addressed it."



The opinion is Gaske v. Satellite Restaurants Inc. Crabcake Factory USA (In re Satellite Restaurants Inc. Crabcake Factory USA), 21-00012 (Bankr. D. Md. March 19, 2021).



The Eleventh Circuit decided that the SBA acted within its rulemaking power by precluding chapter 11 debtors from receiving PPP loans under the CARES Act.

Eleventh Circuit Bans Chapter 11 Debtors from Receiving 'PP' Loans

The Eleventh Circuit reversed the bankruptcy court by holding that the Small Business Administration did not violate the CARES Act, nor did it act arbitrarily, in prohibiting chapter 11 debtors from obtaining "loans" under the Paycheck Protection Program, or PPP.

Bankruptcy courts have been split in deciding whether chapter 11 debtors are entitled to receive PPP loans.

'Loans' Under the CARES Act

The \$2.2 trillion Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act became law on March 27 and provided for the SBA to make PPP "loans" that would be "fully forgiven" if at least 75% was spent for payroll. The remainder may be used for interest on mortgages, rent and utilities. Section 1102 of the legislation, known as the CARES Act, contains the provisions regarding the PPP loans.

The SBA issued an application form requiring the applicant to state whether it is "presently involved in any bankruptcy." If the answer is "yes," the form goes on to say that "the loan will not be approved." However, the legislation itself said nothing about excluding companies in bankruptcy from the PPP program.

Pursuant to statutory rulemaking authority, the SBA issued revised regulations on April 28, specifically saying that debtors are excluded because they "would present an unacceptably high risk for an unauthorized use of funds or non-repayment of unforgiven loans."

The Statutory Background

In June, a bankruptcy judge in Florida decided that the SBA violated the Administrative Procedures Act by exceeding its authority and was arbitrary and capricious in excluding debtors from the PPP program. He certified a direct appeal to the Eleventh Circuit. To read ABI's report on the bankruptcy court's opinion, click here.

The 44-page opinion for the Eleventh Circuit on December 22 by Circuit Judge Edward E. Carnes was a straightforward application of the *Chevron* deference doctrine in deciding whether



the SBA exceeded its statutory rulemaking authority. Chevron USA Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984).

Judge Carnes explained that Congress established the PPP loan program part of the SBA's existing authority to make so-called Section 7(a) loans. By statute, Section 7(a) loans must have "sound value." Creditworthiness is part of the lending criteria.

Even before the PPP, Section 7(a) loan applications inquired as to whether the applicant had ever filed bankruptcy. A prior bankruptcy, however, does not automatically preclude an applicant from receiving a Section 7(a) loan.

Judge Carnes noted that the CARES Act did not exempt applicants from the "sound value requirement" for Section 7(a) loans. However, the CARES Act did give rulemaking authority to the SBA on top of the agency's power to make regulations under 15 U.S.C. § 634(b).

Applying Chevron to the PPP Loan Program

The first question in a *Chevron* analysis asks whether the agency exceeded its statutory authority. Judge Carnes found no "unambiguous answer to the question of whether bankruptcy debtors are eligible for PPP loans."

"Instead," Judge Carnes said that the "text of the Cares Act shows Congress placing the PPP within § 7(a), leaving intact the sound value requirement, and delegating rulemaking authority to the SBA."

Judge Carnes therefore concluded that "Congress did delegate to the SBA the question of whether bankruptcy debtors are eligible for PPP loans." He then moved to the second question: Were the SBA's regulations reasonable?

Under *Chevron*, the court does not substitute its judgment for the agency's. Rather, "we consider only whether the SBA's interpretation is rational," Judge Carnes said. He found that the regulations were a "reasonable accommodation" of competing interests.

Finally, Judge Carnes decided that the regulations were neither arbitrary nor capricious, because the standard is "exceedingly deferential."

Judge Carnes summarized his ruling as follows:

The SBA did not exceed its authority in adopting the non-bankruptcy rule for PPP eligibility. That rule does not violate the Cares Act, is based on a reasonable interpretation of the Act, and the SBA did not act arbitrarily and capriciously in adopting the rule.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

198

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Judge Carnes vacated the bankruptcy court's injunction directed at the SBA and remanded with instructions.

The opinion is USF Federal Credit Union v. Gateway Radiology Consultants PA (In re Gateway Radiology Consultants PA), 20-13462, 2020 BL 497712 (11th Cir. Dec. 22, 2020.)



Consumer Bankruptcy



Discharge/Dischargeability



No circuit split: The Second Circuit agrees with the Fifth and Tenth Circuits that only a subset of private student loans is automatically nondischargeable.

All Private Student Loans Are Not Excepted from Discharge, Second Circuit Holds

Employing emphatic language, the Second Circuit joined two other circuits by holding that all student loans are not excepted from discharge simply because they are student loans.

Technically speaking, the appeals court held that private student loans are not excepted from discharge under Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii). The only subset of private student loans excepted automatically from discharge are those falling under Section 523(a)(8)(B).

As Circuit Judge Dennis Jacobs said in his July 15 opinion, a private loan is excepted from discharge under Section 523(a)(8)(B) only if it was "made to individuals attending eligible schools for certain qualified expenses."

The Loans in the Class Action

The facts of the case explain the breadth of the holding.

A student took down about \$12,500 in loans from a private lender in the course of obtaining an undergraduate degree. The loans were not made through the college's financial aid office and were disbursed directly to the student's bank account. The student alleged that the loans were not made solely to cover the cost of attendance.

Soon after college, the student filed a chapter 7 petition, listed the student loans among his debts and received a general discharge. Of course, the discharge order did not specify which debts were discharged and which were not.

As Judge Jacobs said, the lender hired a collection agent "to pester" the debtor. Assuming the loans had not been discharged, the debtor paid them off.

In 2017, the debtor reopened his bankruptcy case and filed a purported class action in bankruptcy court. According to Judge Jacobs, the debtor's adversary proceeding alleged that the lender "employed a scheme of issuing dischargeable loans to unsophisticated student borrowers and then demanding repayment even after those loans are discharged in bankruptcy."

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

202

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The lender filed a motion to dismiss that was denied by Bankruptcy Judge Elizabeth S. Stong of Brooklyn, N.Y. The lender appealed, and the district court certified a direct appeal to the Second Circuit. The appeals court accepted the appeal.

No Circuit Split

The lender argued on appeal in the Second Circuit that Congress intended in Section 523(a)(8) to bar discharge of all private student loans. The Fifth and Tenth Circuits already disagreed. *See Crocker v. Navient Sols. LLC (In re Crocker)*, 941 F.3d 206 (5th Cir. 2019); and *McDaniel v. Navient Sols. LLC (In re McDaniel)*, 973 F.3d 1083 (10th Cir. 2020). To read ABI's reports on those cases, click here and here.

As the Second Circuit is wont to do, Judge Jacobs assigned little import to the circuits with which he would agree. He launched into his own analysis, which he defined as solely a question of statutory interpretation subject to *de novo* review. Indeed, he said that the "inquiry begins (and in this case ends) with the statutory text."

The lender conceded that the loan could be nondischargeable only under Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii), which makes a debt automatically nondischargeable if it was "an obligation to repay funds received as an educational benefit, scholarship, or stipend."

Therefore, Judge Jacobs said, the debt would be excepted from discharge only if it was "an educational benefit," a term not defined in the statute. On that point, the lender relied on a nonprecedential Second Circuit opinion that appears to say that a private loan is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii).

Reflexively, Judge Jacobs said that his panel was not bound by a nonprecedential opinion. Furthermore, he said that the prior panel dealt with a different issue and "did not squarely take on the statutory interpretation question."

Looking at the statutory language, Judge Jacobs said that the lender's argument was "unsupported by plain meaning." He quoted the Tenth Circuit for saying that "no normal speaker of English" would read the language as the lender urged. *McDaniel, supra*, 973 F.3d at 1096.

If Congress had intended to make all private loans nondischargeable, "it would not have done so in such stilted terms," Judge Jacobs said. The statutory text "more naturally" coincides with "educational benefits that students may become obligated to repay, such as conditional grants."

Notably, Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii) does not use the word "loan" but is "sandwiched" between two other subjections that do use the word. Judge Jacobs surmised that the omission was "intentional."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

If the lender's reading were law, Judge Jacobs said, "virtually all student loans" would be made nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii), leaving the other subjections with no work. He parsed the section's history and concluded that the 2005 amendments to the Bankruptcy Code were not designed to make all student loans dischargeable.

The "more significant modification" in the 2005 amendments was the introduction of Section 523(a)(8)(B), Judge Jacobs said. That new subjection "excepts a subset of private loans," namely "any other educational loan that is a qualified education loan, as defined in section 221(d)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, incurred by a debtor who is an individual."

In other words, the lender was contending that Congress enacted Section 523(a)(8)(B) to preclude the discharge of a type of loans that were already excepted from discharge.

Judge Jacobs supported his reading of the statute with the canon of construction known as *noscitur a sociis*. He said that the rule "instructs us to cabin [the words 'educational benefit'] such that its scope aligns with that of its listed companions — 'scholarship' and 'stipend.'"

In that respect, Judge Jacobs said that "scholarship" and "stipend" are conditional grants not generally required to be repaid. The "defining characteristic" of a loan, "by contrast, is an unconditional obligation to pay it back."

Judge Jacobs summarized the types of student loans that are discharged and those that are not. Nondischargeable debts in Section 523(a)(8)(A)(i) are "government and nonprofit-backed loans and educational benefit overpayments," along with "private loans made to individuals attending eligible schools for certain qualified expenses" under Section 523(a)(8)(B).

The only nondischargeable obligations under Section 523(a)(8)(A)(ii) are "scholarships, stipends and conditional education grants," not loans.

Judge Jacobs upheld denial of the lender's motion to dismiss, holding that an educational benefit "is therefore best read to refer to conditional grant payments similar to scholarships and stipends."

The opinion is Homaidan v. Sallie Mae Inc., 20-1981 (2d Cir. July 15, 2021).



Second Circuit insinuates that "undue hardship" and the Brunner test are synonymous.

Unsurprisingly, Second Circuit Reaffirms the Strictures of *Brunner*

In 1987 when it handed down *Brunner v. N.Y. State Higher Educ. Servs. Corp. (In re Brunner)*, 831 F.2d 395 (2d Cir. 1987), the Second Circuit claims to have anticipated legislative intent 10 years later when Congress adopted the current iteration of Section 523(a)(8), the statute that makes student loans nondischargeable except when the debtor suffers "undue hardship."

The debtor owed about \$60,000 in student loans. The bankruptcy court ruled that the debt was nondischargeable because the *pro se* debtor had not shown undue hardship. The district court affirmed, and the debtor appealed to the Second Circuit, this time represented by counsel.

The Second Circuit affirmed on March 11 in an opinion by Circuit Judge José A. Cabranes.

Judge Cabranes characterized the debtor as arguing that "the *Brunner* test has, over time, become too high a burden for debtors to satisfy." [Note: If that be a fair characterization of the argument, the relief the debtor sought could only be obtained if the Second Circuit were sitting *en banc*.]

Judge Cabranes disagreed. He said that the "Brunner test reflects the Section 523(a)(8) statutory scheme exhibiting 'clear congressional intent... to make the discharge of student loans more difficult than that of other nonexcepted debt..." *Id.* at 396.

Judge Cabranes laid out the three fact findings that a debtor must establish by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) The debtor cannot maintain a "minimal" standard of living; (2) additional circumstances exist to show that the debtor's financial condition is "likely to persist for a significant portion of the repayment period," and (3) the debtor made a good faith attempt to repay the loan.

The debtor failed all three tests, Judge Cabranes said.

On the first test, Judge Cabranes said that the debtor's income was above the federal poverty level. Her expenses, he said, "allow her to make loan repayments while maintaining a minimal standard of living. Further, [the debtor] failed to undertake steps to improve her overall financial condition and reduce her discretionary expenses."



According to Judge Cabranes, the debtor was "fairly young" at age 52, in good health, with no dependents and two graduate degrees. Therefore, she failed the second test because she "is able to maintain her current level of income."

The debtor failed the third test because she had not attempted to consolidate her loans or qualify for income-based repayment programs. Moreover, Judge Cabranes said, the debtor had received \$4,000 tax refunds for four years but used none of the money to repay student loans.

Judge Cabranes affirmed the judgment of the bankruptcy court because the debtor had failed to prove her satisfaction of the *Brunner* tests.

Observations

Brunner is an elaborate test compared to the straightforward "undue hardship" standard adopted by Congress 10 years later in Section 523(a)(8). Had Congress intended to adopt *Brunner*, this writer assumes that the drafters would have included language in the statute alluding to the elements of the test laid down by the Second Circuit and adopted elsewhere.

Judge Cabranes insinuated that someone above the poverty level cannot show "undue hardship." Is poverty the bright-line test defining "undue hardship?"

Section 523(a)(8) could be understood to mean that former students are obliged to incur "due hardship" in the course of repaying student loans. What hardship should former students be obligated to endure?

Did Congress mean to say that a former student must pay student loans to the point that the debtor's disposable income after paying student loans results in a standard of living at the poverty level?

On top of the *Brunner* test's departure from the statutory language, there is a long-standing circuit split that warrants Supreme Court review. There are three standards among the circuits, and they are irreconcilable with one another.

Standing alone, the Eighth Circuit developed the so-called totality-of-the-circumstances test, where the court must consider (1) the debtor's future financial condition, (2) the debtor's and dependents' reasonable and necessary living expenses, and (3) "other relevant facts and circumstances surrounding each particular bankruptcy case." *Long v. Educ. Credit Mgmt. Corp.* (*In re Long*), 322 F.3d 549, 554 (8th Cir. 2003). Rejecting *Brunner*, the Eighth Circuit said it preferred a "less restrictive approach." *Id.*

Brunner is followed in the Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Although professing to follow *Brunner*, the Fifth Circuit tightened its already higher standard in 2019 by ruling that a debtor may not discharge a student loan unless "repayment would impose intolerable difficulties on the debtor." *Thomas v. Department of Education (In re Thomas)*, 931 F.3d 449 (5th Cir. July 30, 2019).

Earlier in *In re Gerhardt*, 348 F.3d 89, 92 (5th Cir. 2003), the Fifth Circuit held that discharging student loans requires the debtor to "show that circumstances out of her control have resulted in a 'total incapacity' to repay the debt now and in the future." *Gerhardt*, 348 F.3d at 92.

What is "undue hardship?" Is *Brunner* the test? The Supreme Court should intervene if Congress does not ameliorate a statute that can impose life-long penury on some former students.

The opinion is *Tingling v. Educational Credit Management Corp. (In re Tingling)*, 20-757, 2021 BL 86424, 2021 Us App Lexis 7100 (2d Cir. March 11, 2021).



Bankruptcy Judge Eduardo Rodriguez explained why the Second Circuit was wrong in ruling that violators of Rule 3002.1 are only liable for compensatory damages.

Texas Judge Disagrees with Second Circuit on Sanctions for Violating Rule 3002.1

Taking sides with the dissenter and disagreeing with the Second Circuit's majority opinion on August 2, Bankruptcy Judge Eduardo Rodriguez from the Southern District of Texas held that a debtor can mount a claim for sanctions and punitive damages under Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1(i)(2) when a lender violates Rule 3002.1(b) and (c) by failing to give notice of changes in the payment, charges, fees and expenses claimed by a secured lender.

The facts were complex but boil down to this: A couple filed a chapter 13 petition in 2011 and confirmed a plan. The plan cured arrears on their home mortgage and called for the trustee to make monthly payments. Throughout, the debtors paid what the plan specified in terms of monthly mortgage payments.

The debtors completed their plan payments. The trustee issued a notice of plan completion, and the debtors received a discharge.

Rule 3002.1 Notices Not Given

As later revealed, the lender had changed the monthly payments three times during the life of the chapter 13 plan but never filed the notices required by Rule 3002.1(b) and (c).

After discharge, the lender began claiming the mortgage was in default and threatened foreclosure. To stop foreclosure, the debtors filed a second chapter 13 petition in 2020. The servicer filed a claim that included about \$33,000 in arrears on the mortgage.

The debtors filed a complaint against the lender, making a plethora of claims. The adversary proceeding also objected to the claim on the mortgage.

Of principal significance for our story, the debtors sought monetary sanctions and punitive damages under Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1(i)(2) for failure to give the notices required by subparts (b) and (c) of the Rule.

The lender filed a motion to dismiss, claiming that the rule is procedural and does not give rise to a claim for damages. In large part, the lender relied on *PHH Mortgage Corp. v. Sensenich (In*

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

208

re Gravel), 20-1, 2021 U.S. App. LEXIS 22752 (2d Cir. Aug. 2, 2021). To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

The Second Circuit's Gravel Decision

Gravel made two landmark holdings. First, all three circuit judges agreed that the standard in *Taggart v. Lorenzen*, 139 S. Ct. 1795 (2019), for violation of the automatic stay applies to all contempt citations in bankruptcy court. In *Taggart*, the Court held that there can be no sanctions for civil contempt of the discharge injunction if there was an "objectively reasonable basis for concluding that the creditor's conduct might be lawful under the discharge order." *Id.* at 1801. To read ABI's discussion of *Taggart*, click here.

Over a vigorous dissent, two circuit judges in *Gravel* held that bankruptcy courts may not impose contempt sanctions for violating Bankruptcy Rule 3002.1. Rather, the majority ruled that a debtor may only recover compensatory damages, which often will be nominal.

Judge Rodriguez Disagrees with Gravel

Judge Rodriguez opened his discussion of the lender's Rule 3002.1 dismissal motion by laying out the requirements and purpose of the rule. It applies to claims secured by a mortgage on a debtor's principal residence where the debtor or the trustee is making payments under a chapter 13 plan.

Within 21 days, Rule 3002.1(b) requires the lender to serve notice on the trustee, the debtor and the debtor's counsel anytime there is a change in the payment. Rule 3002.1(c) similarly requires notice regarding fees, expenses and charges allegedly incurred by the debtor after filing.

If the lender has not given the required notices, Rule 3002.1(i) provides that the court may prevent the lender from presenting evidence about the omitted information or "award other appropriate relief, including reasonable expenses and attorney's fees caused by the failure."

The rule was adopted to obviate situations where debtors complete their plan payments, receive discharges and then face foreclosure on a mortgage allegedly in default throughout the chapter 13 case.

The lender argued that Rule 3002.1 is a procedural rule that does not give rise to a cause of action. Judge Rodriguez knocked down that and other arguments.

Judge Rodriguez said he was not required to decide whether the rule creates an independent cause of action because the "plain language" in subsection (i)(2) permits the court to award "other appropriate relief." He therefore denied the motion to dismiss the claim for damages under (i)(2).



The sanction that the court could impose was a "different question," Judge Rodriguez said.

The lender argued that the debtor could not pursue sanctions in the second chapter 13 case that occurred during the first chapter 13 case. Again, Judge Rodriguez disagreed.

Finding no cases on point, Judge Rodriguez observed that the lender's failure to give notices during the first case was continuing to harm the debtors, because the failure to abide by the rules caused them to incur expenses and file the second chapter 13 case.

Judge Rodriguez therefore decided that the plaintiffs could raise a claim in the second case for shortcomings during the first case.

Next, Judge Rodriguez addressed *Gravel* and the debtors' right to claim sanctions and punitive damages.

Judge Rodriguez Sides with the Gravel Dissenter

Judge Rodriguez explained why the Second Circuit majority concluded that Rule 3002.1 is limited to non-punitive sanctions. He quoted the dissenter who saw the rule's plain meaning as giving the court discretion to impose punitive monetary sanctions.

If there were no possibility of punitive damages, Judge Rodriguez paraphrased the dissenter as saying that "mortgagees have little incentive to make the systemic changes required to service loans properly in chapter 13."

Judge Rodriguez said he "respectfully disagrees with the majority and agrees with the dissent. The plain language of Rule 3002.1(i) places few restrictions on the types of remedies bankruptcy courts can issue." The rule's only limit, he said, is the word "appropriate" while the word "including" is not limiting.

For Judge Rodriguez, going beyond compensatory damages "best serves the policy goals underlying the bankruptcy system." Costs and attorneys' fees alone "may be insufficient," he said, because violations "may either go unnoticed by the debtor or the debtor will find it easier to pay the small fees rather than litigate them."

Judge Rodriguez therefore denied the lender's motion to dismiss by holding that "sanctions and punitive damages may be assessed under Rule 3002.1(i)(2) as 'other appropriate relief' where circumstances warrant. Plaintiffs must nevertheless satisfy their evidentiary trial burden to prove they are entitled to such relief."

The opinion by Judge Rodriguez has several other holdings on issues that arise from time to time in consumer bankruptcies. He analyzed whether claim preclusion or judicial estoppel would bar the

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



debtor from attempting to avoid the mortgage in the second case when there had been no claim to that effect in the first case.

Judge Rodriguez also denied the lender's motion to dismiss the debtors' claims about violating the automatic stay and the discharge injunction.

Observations

Don't hold your breath waiting for a ruling on appeal. The decision by Judge Rodriguez is interlocutory, and the case doesn't seem an attractive candidate for an interlocutory appeal.

There may be a settlement, precluding us all from knowing whether the Fifth Circuit would disagree with the Second Circuit.

Without a settlement, the lender will face the expense of a trial before Judge Rodriguez, followed by appeals to the district court and the circuit.

Since appeals could go in favor of the debtor and make bad law for lenders and servicers, the financial community could be better off having *Gravel* as the only appellate authority regarding Rule 3002.1.

The opinion is *Blanco v. Bayview Loan Servicing LLC (In re Blanco)*, 20-10078, 2021 BL 347772, 2021 Bankr Lexis 2502 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Sept. 14, 2021).



On an upcoming certified appeal, the Eleventh Circuit can decide whether violating a PACA trust is a 'defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity' that makes a debt nondischargeable.

PACA Violation Doesn't Result in Nondischargeability for Defalcation, Tampa Judge Says

On a question where the lower courts are split, Bankruptcy Judge Roberta A. Colton of Tampa, Fla., sided with the minority and held that violating a PACA trust does not make a debt nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(4) for defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity.

With no controlling precedent from the Eleventh Circuit and a split among courts in Florida, Judge Colton certified a direct appeal to the court of appeals.

The facts were typical for a case involving the Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act, known as PACA, 7 U.S.C. § 499a *et seq*. A company that purchased and resold produce was unable to pay its suppliers. A couple owned and controlled the business and therefore had personal liability to the sellers under PACA.

To dispense with their personal liability, the couple filed chapter 7 petitions. The suppliers responded with a complaint to declare that the debts owing to them were incurred by "fraud or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity" and thus were not dischargeable under Section 523(a)(4).

The Genesis of PACA

To protect farmers and dealers of fresh produce, Congress originally adopted PACA in 1930. The statute was later amended to impose a floating trust on a purchaser's inventory and proceeds. The floating trust gives rights in a debtor's inventory and accounts receivable to beneficiaries of the PACA trust ahead of secured creditors. In other words, produce suppliers have priority over secured lenders.

For individuals who have personal liability under PACA, violation of the statutory trust raises the specter of having their debts declared nondischargeable.

The details about the floating trust were critical for Judge Colton, because the statute does not require segregation. Section 499e(c) of PACA provides that "a buyer's produce, products derived from that produce, and the proceeds gained therefrom are held in a non-segregated, floating trust for the benefit of unpaid suppliers who have met the applicable statutory requirements."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

On the question of dischargeability, Judge Colton said in her April 2 opinion that the "well-reasoned majority view" will not allow individuals to escape debt to suppliers. She cited the "equally well-reasoned minority approach" coming down in favor of dischargeability. Bankruptcy Courts in Florida have opinions on both sides.

Lack of Segregation Is Dispositive

Regarding Section 523(a)(4), Judge Colton began with fundamental principles, starting with Supreme Court authority from 1934 saying that the fiduciary exception is "strict and narrow." *Davis v. Aetna Acceptance Co.*, 293 U.S. 328, 333, (1934). Moving to the Eleventh Circuit, she said that "a breach of an express or technical trust is potentially non-dischargeable." *Guerra v. Fernandez-Rocha (In re Fernandez-Rocha)*, 451 F.3d 813, 816 (11th Cir. 2006).

Judge Colton went on to paraphrase *Guerra* by saying that breaches of constructive or resulting trusts do not fall within the Section 523(a)(4) discharge exception. She said that a PACA trust "falls somewhere between an express trust and a constructive trust."

Again citing binding precedent, Judge Colton noted that the Eleventh Circuit found a debt to be nondischargeable when the state statute required segregation of insurance premiums paid to a broker. *Quaif v. Johnson*, 4 F.3d 950, 953-954 (11th Cir. 1993).

Synthesizing authorities, Judge Colson said that "a statutory trust [like PACA] will only meet the definition [of 'fiduciary capacity'] if it effectively creates a technical trust."

Significantly, PACA permits and contemplates comingling and "fails to create the same type of a relationship characteristic of the conventional fiduciaries," Judge Colton said. She cited the Fifth Circuit for finding that a debt was dischargeable because state lottery law did not require segregation. *Texas Lottery Comm'n v. Tran (In re Tran)*, 151 F.3d 339 (5th Cir. 1998).

For Judge Colton, the lack of segregation was outcome-determinative. She interpreted the Eleventh Circuit as steering "the lower courts toward narrowing the scope of Section 523(a)(4) and [pointing] toward the need to have, at a minimum, 'some' segregation."

Although she said that "reasonable minds can and do differ," Judge Colton came down on the side of the debtors by dismissing the dischargeability complaint. In view of "the importance of this issue and the split of authority within this circuit," she certified a direct appeal to the Eleventh Circuit on May 5.

The opinion is *Spring Valley Produce v. Forrest (In re Forrest)*, 20-00447 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. April 2, 2021).



Arbitration



Are the lower courts out of step with the Supreme Court when it comes to enforcement of arbitration of disputes in bankruptcy court?

Refusal to Arbitrate the Validity of a Security Interest Is Tersely Affirmed in California

Eventually, the Supreme Court will decide whether debtors can be compelled to arbitrate core and non-core disputes with creditors. For now, at least, courts in the Ninth Circuit are giving short shrift to motions to compel arbitration.

In recent years, the Supreme Court has been adamant about enforcing arbitration agreements in nonbankruptcy disputes. In May 2018, the Supreme Court compelled employees to arbitrate wages and hours claims governed by the Fair Labor Standards Act. The court said a statute like the FSLA did not manifest a clear intention to override the Federal Arbitration Act. *Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis*, 200 L. Ed. 2d 889 (Sup. Ct. May 21, 2018).

When (and if) the issue reaches the Supreme Court, the question will be this: Does the Bankruptcy Code manifest a clear intention to override the Arbitration Act? Certainly, there is nothing in the language of the Code that bars arbitration. Will the Supreme Court enforce arbitration agreements against debtors or find an exception to arbitration in the overall structure, purpose and policy regarding bankruptcy?

Two years after *Epic*, the Second Circuit decided that *Epic* was not controlling and ruled that a debtor is not compelled to arbitrate a claim that a creditor violated the discharge injunction. *GE Capital Retail Bank v. Belton (In re Belton)*, 961 F.3d 612 (2d Cir. June 16, 2020). To read ABI's report on *Belton*, <u>click here</u>.

Similarly, the Fifth Circuit held before *Belton* but after *Epic* that the bankruptcy court has discretion not to enforce an arbitration agreement when a debtor initiated a class action contending that a creditor had violated the discharge injunction. *Henry v. Educational Finance Service (In re Henry)*, 941 F.3d 147 (5th Cir. Oct. 17, 2019). To read ABI's report on *Henry*, <u>click here</u>.

In a California case, an arbitration dispute arose in a chapter 11 case in San Diego. Before bankruptcy, a law firm had been successful in prosecuting a lawsuit on behalf of the debtor. The firm filed a secured proof of claim, saying it had a security interest in proceeds from the judgment.

The debtor objected to the claim, contending that the security interest was invalid or unenforceable. The law firm responded by demanding arbitration under an arbitration clause in the pre-bankruptcy engagement agreement with the debtor.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The bankruptcy court denied the motion to compel arbitration, and the law firm appealed. District Judge Cathy Ann Bencivengo of San Diego affirmed in a four-page opinion on January 20.

According to Judge Bencivengo, the outcome was controlled by the Ninth Circuit's pre-*Epic* decision in *Kirkland v. Rund (In re EPD Investment Co. LLC)*, 821 F.3d 1146 (9th Cir. May 9, 2016). To read ABI's report on *EPD*, click here.

According to Judge Bencivengo, the bankruptcy court's discretion under *EPD* to override an arbitration agreement is governed by three factors: (1) having bankruptcy issues decided in bankruptcy court; (2) the centralization of bankruptcy disputes in bankruptcy court; and (3) avoiding piecemeal litigation.

Judge Bencivengo quickly affirmed denial of arbitration. She said that Bankruptcy Judge Louise D. Adler had not abused her discretion because the application of the facts to the *EPD* factors was neither "illogical, implausible, [n]or without support in the record."

The opinion is *In re Cuker Interactive LLC*, 20-01854, 2021 BL 18267, 2021 Us Dist Lexis (S.D. Cal. Jan. 20, 2021).



Decision by Bankruptcy Judge Michelle Harner demonstrates the flaw in the Fourth Circuit's rule requiring parallel proceedings in bankruptcy court and in arbitration when disputes are both core and non-core.

Arbitration Clause Results in Temporary Stay of 'Core' Proceedings in Bankruptcy Court

Although she would have reached "a very different conclusion" if a dissent had been governing authority in the Fourth Circuit, Bankruptcy Judge Michelle M. Harner of Baltimore temporarily halted proceedings in bankruptcy court in favor of arbitration, even on "core" claims arising under the Bankruptcy Code.

In her June 1 opinion, Judge Harner said that consolidating all disputes in bankruptcy court — rather than allowing arbitration to proceed — would have been "most efficient and fair . . . [and] also most consistent with the objectives of the Code." Saying she could not "ignore precedent," Judge Harner instead halted proceedings in bankruptcy court temporarily on disputes between the debtor and its principal creditor, which had filed a proof of claim.

Judge Harner could not have written a more persuasive opinion suggesting that the Fourth Circuit should reconsider *Moses v. CashCall, Inc.*, 781 F.3d 63 (4th Cir. 2015), where the circuit's *per curiam* opinion was accompanied by four separate opinions, including a dissent.

Judge Harner was the Francis King Carey Professor of Law and the Director of the Business Law Program at the University of Maryland Francis King Carey School of Law before her appointment to the bankruptcy bench in 2017.

The Uncertain Status of Arbitration in Bankruptcy

In the Supreme Court, the leading authority on the enforceability of arbitration agreements is (had been?) *Shearson/American Express Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987). In view of the Federal Arbitration Act, the high court held that an arbitration agreement can only be overridden by a "contrary congressional command." *Id.* at 226.

Some circuit courts interpret *McMahon* more liberally by overriding arbitration agreements in bankruptcy cases, even though the Bankruptcy Code contains no express language barring enforcement of the FAA. For example, the Second Circuit refused to enforce an arbitration agreement and allowed a class action to proceed in bankruptcy court, alleging violations of the

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

discharge injunction. *Credit One Bank NA v. Anderson (In re Anderson)*, 884 F.3d 382 (2d Cir. March 7, 2018), *cert denied*, 139 S. Ct. 144 (2018). To read ABI's report, <u>click here</u>.

Similarly, the Fifth Circuit held in *Henry v. Educational Finance Service (In re Henry)*, 944 F.3d 587 (5th Cir. Oct. 17, 2019), that the bankruptcy court has discretion not to enforce an arbitration agreement when a debtor has initiated a class action contending that a creditor had violated the discharge injunction. To read ABI's report, click here.

Two months after *Anderson*, the Supreme Court compelled employees to arbitrate wages and hours claims governed by the Fair Labor Standards Act. *Epic Systems Corp. v. Lewis*, 200 L. Ed. 2d 889 (Sup. Ct. May 21, 2018). *Epic* said that a statute like the FLSA did not manifest a clear intention to override the Federal Arbitration Act.

Epic raised the following question: Does the Bankruptcy Code manifest a clear intention to override arbitration agreements, or does bankruptcy for some reason represent an exception to *Epic*'s exacting standard?

Although "a few courts have questioned the ongoing force of *McMahon* given subsequent Supreme Court decisions, most courts have continued to follow its guidance," Judge Harner said.

Whatever other circuits may be saying, Judge Harner was bound by *CashCall*.

Even before *Epic*, the Fourth Circuit interpreted *McMahon* more strictly. In *CashCall*, the Fourth Circuit ruled that a bankruptcy court has discretion to refuse arbitration of "core" claims.

More specifically, *CashCall* allowed the bankruptcy court to decide whether a loan bearing 149% interest was void under state law. In other words, the debtor was not compelled to arbitrate a core issue involving the allowance of a claim.

On the other hand, *CashCall* required arbitration of a noncore claim where the debtor sought damages under state law for a loan that was allegedly void.

The rationale underpinning *CashCall* lacks clarity because there were five opinions among the three circuit judges on the panel, including the *per curiam* opinion for the court and a dissent.

The Facts Before Judge Harner

The creditor had an agreement to provide financing for the debtor in return for an interest in some of the debtor's whistleblower lawsuits. The financing was allegedly secured by recoveries in the lawsuits.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Disputes arose before bankruptcy, and the creditor invoked an arbitration clause in the financing agreement. The arbitration was stayed automatically when the debtor filed a chapter 11 petition.

In bankruptcy, the creditor filed a motion to modify the automatic stay to allow the arbitration to proceed. The creditor also filed an adversary proceeding seeking a ruling that debts were not dischargeable.

The debtor commenced an adversary proceeding making six claims against the creditor.

The parties' litigations in bankruptcy court and in arbitration fell into three categories: (1) claims on both sides to decide who breached the financing agreement; (2) the debtor's claims that the creditor violated the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and state law governing the financing agreement; and (3) the debtor's claims under Sections 502, 510, 523, 543, 544, 547 and 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Applying *CashCall* to the Facts

Judge Harner interpreted *CashCall* and other authorities for the proposition that characterizing a claim as "constitutionally core is indicative of Congressional intent to limit arbitrations." The question is more complex, she said, when issues are both core and non-core.

When a claim is constitutionally core, Judge Harner deduced that she had discretion to override an arbitration agreement. Citing a concurring opinion in *CashCall*, she saw her discretion as "far more limited with respect to non-constitutionally core or non-core proceedings."

Indeed, Judge Harner interpreted *CashCall* to mean that she must allow arbitration of "certain state law issues in this case, despite the potential attendant delay and adverse effects on the Debtor's estate."

Before ruling definitively, Judge Harner addressed the debtor's claims arising entirely under the Bankruptcy Code that could not have been asserted before bankruptcy. She found "strong support" that they were constitutionally core. For instance, deciding who breached the financing agreement would be resolved in ruling on the allowance of the creditor's proof of claim.

The debtor's fraudulent transfer claims could have been brought under state law, but Judge Harner said that the creditor had filed a proof of claim, "making the alleged fraudulent transfer claim part of the claims administration process and potentially subject to section 502(d) of the Code."

Judge Harner concluded that the fraudulent transfer claims were "more closely aligned" with a constitutionally core proceeding.



On the other hand, the debtor's FDCPA claims were aimed at augmenting the estate and were not constitutionally core.

Likewise, the debtor's claims for breach of contract "are grounded in state law and are likely non-core proceedings" that could be decided under state law either by an arbitrator or a state court. Still, Judge Harner said, "certain of those claims intersect with several of the Debtor's Bankruptcy Claims, raising the specter of inconsistent results and potential conflicts between this chapter 11 case and the prepetition arbitration proceeding."

Bifurcation Required by CashCall

Judge Harner interpreted *CashCall* as requiring "a bifurcation of the constitutionally core and the non-core claims," but she quoted the dissenter as expressing "concern regarding such bifurcation and its potentially adverse effect on the bankruptcy case and the objectives of the Code." *CashCall*, *id.*, 781 F.3d at 66, 88.

In referring to bifurcation, Judge Harner meant the Fourth Circuit majority's requirement that proceedings must run parallel in bankruptcy court and in arbitration when there are core and non-core claims arising from the disputes.

Although saying that bifurcation was "suboptimal" and that she "agrees with [the dissenter's] concerns," Judge Harner found herself "bound both by the circuit's position in *CashCall*, as well as other precedent underscoring the important role played by arbitration in the judicial system, including in bankruptcy cases."

Finding herself required to bifurcate, Judge Harner ruled that the bankruptcy claims must remain in bankruptcy court while non-bankruptcy claims proceed in arbitration.

Judge Harner didn't like the result. If she were "writing on a clean slate, or if [the dissenter's opinion] in *CashCall* had been that of the circuit, the Court likely would have reached a very different conclusion." Consolidating all disputes in bankruptcy court would have been "not only most efficient and fair to all potentially affected parties, but also most consistent with the objectives of the Code. The Court cannot, however, ignore precedent."

Bankruptcy Proceedings Temporarily Stayed

Bifurcation "presents opportunities for overlap in facts, duplication in effort, and conflicting results," Judge Harner said. She therefore sought "procedural mechanisms to protect the parties."

With regard to the "overlap" between the claims in bankruptcy court and in arbitration, Judge Harner felt "compelled to defer to the arbitrator, but solely on the resolution of the state law and non-bankruptcy claims subject to arbitration."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

If the chapter 11 petition had been filed before arbitration commenced, Judge Harner said she "might reach a different conclusion and delay any requested arbitration pending resolution of the Bankruptcy Claims."

"Nonetheless," Judge Harner modified the automatic stay in Section 362(a) "to allow the prepetition arbitration proceeding to continue." She cautioned the arbitrator not to rule on any bankruptcy claims and precluded the parties from enforcing any arbitration ruling "outside" of the bankruptcy court.

There was more to Judge Harner's decision because there might be conflicting results or the possibility that one forum could be bound by the other's decision.

To avoid the "uncertainty introduced" by bifurcation, Judge Harner issued a temporary, 90-day stay halting the debtor's adversary proceeding and its claims under the Bankruptcy Code. During the stay, the judge said she would "monitor how these matters progress . . . to guard against undue delay or gamesmanship."

Judge Harner said she "dislike[d] the element of uncertainty introduced by this approach" but decided it was "warranted and most appropriate" in the absence of "clear authority under the Code or case law giving this Court more discretion to refuse arbitration in the context of nonconstitutionally core or non-core claims."

Observations

Judge Harner's opinion has shown how bifurcation required by the majority in *CashCall* is unworkable, in this writer's opinion and as predicted by the dissenter.

If arbitration proceeds quickly, the arbitrator could make fact findings compelling the result on bankruptcy issues such as dischargeability and claim allowance. Of course, arbitral awards are not subject to appeal, and there is little or no discovery in arbitration. Results might be different in bankruptcy court where there is discovery.

In other words, arbitrators may end up deciding core claims like dischargeability, because the Fourth Circuit requires parallel proceedings in bankruptcy court and in arbitration.

Perhaps the Supreme Court eventually will decide whether or to what extent disputes in bankruptcy cannot be arbitrated. However, the Court denied *certiorari* in *Anderson*. A few more *certiorari* petitions about arbitration in the bankruptcy context may persuade the justices to rule on the question.

Keep this in mind, though: The high court might tell us that arbitration agreements are always enforceable even in bankruptcy cases.



The opinion is In re McPherson, 21-10205 (Bankr. D. Md. June 1, 2021).



Stays & Injunctions



Pennsylvania's Judge Conway hints that failure to stop proceedings after bankruptcy can be an automatic stay violation, even after Fulton.

Refusing to Release an Attachment After Filing Is No Stay Violation Following *Fulton*

After *Fulton*, a creditor's refusal to lift the attachment of a bank account is no violation of the automatic stay under any subsection Section 362(a), according to Bankruptcy Judge Mark J. Conway of Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

The October 6 opinion by Judge Conway hints that a creditor must stop legal proceedings after bankruptcy that would impair the debtor's interest in property, *Fulton* notwithstanding.

The Pre-Filing Attachment

Before bankruptcy, the creditor obtained a \$33,300 judgment against the soon-to-be debtor. Also before bankruptcy, the creditor obtained a writ of execution and served it on a credit union holding an account belonging to the debtor that contained about \$1,100.

Service of the writ froze the account and gave the creditor a judicial lien. After service of the writ, the debtor filed a chapter 13 petition. The creditor did not undertake further proceedings in state court after bankruptcy that would have been required to transfer the funds in the account from the credit union to the creditor.

On several occasions after filing, counsel for the debtor contacted the lender and demanded the lifting of the attachment. The lender declined.

A few months after filing, the debtor commenced an adversary proceeding against the lender, alleging a willful violation of the automatic stay under Section 362(k), thereby opening the door to actual and punitive damages and attorneys' fees. The complaint also sought turnover.

The debtor and the creditor filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Before the hearing, the debtor confirmed a plan promising to pay the creditor in full, and the lender released the funds in the account to the debtor.

Judge Conway was therefore only required to rule about a stay violation and contempt.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

224



Nothing Offended in Section 362(a)

Naturally, *Fulton* was front and center. *See City of Chicago v. Fulton*, 141 S. Ct. 585, 208 L. Ed. 2d 384 (Sup. Ct. Jan. 14, 2021). The Supreme Court held "that mere retention of property does not violate the [automatic stay in] § 362(a)(3)." *Id.* 141 S. Ct. at 589. Section 362(a)(3), the Court said, only "prohibits affirmative acts that would disturb the *status quo* of estate property." *Id.* at 590.

In *Fulton*, the City of Chicago was itself holding the debtor's car at the time of the chapter 11 filing. Admitting that the lender had taken no action after bankruptcy, the debtor contended that *Fulton* did not apply because the credit union was in possession of the funds, not the judgment creditor.

Judge Conway first analyzed the facts under Section 362(a)(3), the same subsection at issue in *Fulton*. That section prohibits "any action" to obtain possession or exercise control over estate property.

In the case at hand, Judge Conway said that the creditor's actions were "perhaps more appropriately characterized as inactions." He paraphrased *Fulton* as holding that "the mere retention of estate property" is no stay violation.

Applying *Fulton*, Judge Conway held that the creditor's refusal to withdraw the prepetition attachment "does not violate Section 362(a)(3)." Rather, the creditor only maintained the *status quo*. Further, withdrawing the attachment could have deprived the creditor of its judicial lien on the account.

Judge Conway found no violation of the other subsections in Section 362(a).

Subsections (a)(4) through (a)(6) likewise bar "any action" to create or enforce a lien or to recover on a prepetition claim. Given that the creditor had a lien before the filing date, Judge Conway said that the creditor "had to have done something post-petition" to violate subsections (a)(4) or (a)(5). Likewise, he held that the "mere retention of a valid pre-petition" attachment does not violate (a)(4) through (a)(6).

Next, Judge Conway examined Section 362(a)(1). The debtor claimed there was an (a)(1) violation because the subsection does not begin with "any act." Rather the subsection bars the "commencement or continuation" of a proceeding to collect on a claim.

Judge Conway approvingly cited *In re Iskric*, 496 B.R. 355 (Bankr. M.D. Pa. 2013), where the court found a stay violation because the creditor allowed the continuation of state court proceedings resulting in the debtor's incarceration.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Conway read *Iskric* as "an example of a factual scenario where if a creditor has put a process into effect that, without intervention, causes a change in the *status quo* as to property of the estate or the debtor, then a creditor must act to avoid that change."

Cases like *Iskric* did not apply, in Judge Conway's opinion, because the creditor "did nothing to further or 'continue' the garnishment process."

Similarly, the creditor did not violate Section 362(a)(2), prohibiting enforcement of a judgment. Judge Conway held that the failure to withdraw the attachment "cannot be construed as, or equated with, taking an affirmative action to enforce a judgment."

In short, Judge Conway granted summary judgment in favor of the creditor by dismissing the complaint.

The opinion is *Margavitch v. Southlake Holdings LLC (In re Margavitch)*, 20-00014 (Bankr. M.D. Pa. Oct. 6, 2021).



Wages & Dismissal



Disagreeing with two other circuits, the Sixth Circuit finds no power in the bankruptcy court to avoid dismissing a chapter 13 case even if the debtor filed repeatedly in bad faith to avoid foreclosure.

Sixth Circuit Creates a Split by Requiring Dismissal of an Abusive Chapter 13 Filing

Splitting with two other circuits, the Sixth Circuit ruled that the bankruptcy court must dismiss a chapter 13 petition, even when the latest repeat filing was in bad faith.

The debtor bought a home with a \$530,000 mortgage and defaulted a year later. Days before the scheduled foreclosure in 2007, he filed a chapter 13 petition. The sale was cancelled, and the debtor dismissed the petition a few days later.

The debtor used the same tactic in 2017 and in 2019, stopping a foreclosure sale with a chapter 13 filing and dismissing the petition a few days later.

In his five-page opinion on June 9, Circuit Judge Raymond M. Kethledge mentioned that the lender in the most recent chapter 13 filing had not made a motion before dismissal seeking sanctions under Rule 9011 for filing petitions in bad faith, nor had the lender filed a motion to modify the automatic stay.

However, the lender in the last case filed a motion four months after dismissal to reopen the case under Rule 9024. The bankruptcy court granted the motion and lifted the automatic stay for two years.

The debtor appealed and filed a motion for a stay in district court. The district judge denied the stay motion but granted leave for an interlocutory appeal. The appeals court agreed to hear the appeal, to determine whether the district court's denial of a stay amounted to an abuse of discretion.

The outcome turned on Section 1307(b). If a chapter 13 case has not been previously converted from chapters 7, 11, or 12, the section provides that, "On request of the debtor at any time, . . . the court shall dismiss a case under this chapter."

Judge Kethledge said that the "provision is mandatory," by use of the word "shall." In comparison, Section 1307(c) says that the court "may" dismiss a case for "cause." He found "nothing in § 1307 that renders § 1307(b) discretionary in cases where the debtor filed the bankruptcy petition in bad faith."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The Fifth and Ninth Circuits, Judge Kethledge said, relied on *Marrama v. Citizens Bank of Massachusetts*, 549 U.S. 365 (2007), to hold that the bankruptcy court has discretion to deny dismissal of a chapter 13 case if the petition was filed in bad faith. *See Jacobsen v. Moser (In re Jacobsen)*, 609 F.3d 647, 660 (5th Cir. 2010); and *Rosson v. Fitzgerald (In re Rosson)*, 545 F.3d 764, 773–74 (9th Cir. 2008).

In *Marrama*, the majority's opinion said:

On the contrary, the broad authority granted to bankruptcy judges to take any action that is necessary or appropriate "to prevent an abuse of process" described in § 105(a) of the Code, is surely adequate to authorize an immediate denial of a motion to convert filed under § 706 in lieu of a conversion order that merely postpones the allowance of equivalent relief and may provide a debtor with an opportunity to take action prejudicial to creditors.

Marrama, supra, 549 U.S. at 375.

Judge Kethledge proceeded to pick apart the precedential value of *Marrama*. First, *Marrama* involved a motion under Section 706(a) for conversion of a chapter 7 case to chapter 13. That section provides that the court "may" convert, not "shall." He also characterized the language quoted above as *dicta*.

More to the point, Judge Kethledge interpreted *Law v. Siegel*, 571 U.S. 415 (2014), as "largely reject[ing] that *dictum*." He read *Law* as "flatly reject[ing] the idea that § 105(a) vests in the bankruptcy courts equitable power to disregard the Code's provisions when they lead to results that seem unfair."

Judge Kethledge said that the "command of § 1307(b) is no mere procedural nicety, which is likely why no circuit court has accepted [the lender's] argument since *Law* was decided in 2014."

Judge Kethledge reversed the district court's denial of a stay and remanded with instructions for the bankruptcy court to dismiss the most recent chapter 13 filing. However, he said that the "bankruptcy court need not take any action to restore the *status quo* prior to its . . . reinstatement of [the chapter 13] case."

Observations

With respect, the federal judiciary is a co-equal branch of government. Do our courts today believe that Congress is capable of adopting statutes that cannot be abused? Why can't courts exercise powers under Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code to prevent abuse of title 11?

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Law was a different type of case. There, the bankruptcy court attempted to deprive a debtor of his statutory right to the ownership of property, based on equitable considerations. The appeal in the Sixth Circuit dealt with delaying a procedural right to afford time to prevent an abuse of the Bankruptcy Code.

In the case on appeal, the debtor's home was sold at foreclosure after the bankruptcy was reopened and the stay modified in favor of the lender. By saying that the bankruptcy court was not required to restore the *status quo*, the Sixth Circuit is apparently suggesting that the violation of the debtor's procedural right didn't require setting aside actions in reliance on court orders.

Perhaps the Sixth Circuit's opinion means that a bankruptcy court may delay dismissal to afford time for a creditor to petition the court for relief to avoid an abuse of the Bankruptcy Code.

If that's what it means, debtors won't be able to abuse the right to dismiss. If it means more, we have a problem.

The foregoing are the opinions and commentary of this writer, not ABI.

The opinion is Smith v. U.S. Bank N.A. (In re Smith), 999 F.3d 452 (6th Cir. June 9, 2021).



The Ninth Circuit leaves the door open for a bankruptcy court to sanction a misbehaving chapter 13 debtor before granting the debtor's motion for voluntary dismissal.

Another Circuit Holds that Dismissal Is Mandatory Under Section 1307(b)

Concluding that *Law v. Siegel*, 571 U.S. 415 (2014), implicitly overruled its own precedent, the Ninth Circuit held on September 1 that a bankruptcy court must dismiss a chapter 13 case on motion by the debtor under Section 1307(b), regardless of the debtor's abusive conduct.

Significantly, the appeals court left the door open for the bankruptcy court to address the debtor's misconduct alongside dismissal.

The Sixth Circuit reached the same result less than three months ago. *See Smith v. U.S. Bank N.A. (In re Smith)*, 20-3150, 2021 BL 318517 (6th Cir. June 9, 2021). There, the Cincinnati-based appeals court held that the bankruptcy court must dismiss a chapter 13 petition, even when the latest repeat filing was in bad faith. To read ABI's report, click here.

Like the Ninth Circuit, the Sixth Circuit hinted that a debtor cannot dismiss to evade the consequences of misconduct.

The Facts

Husband and wife debtors filed a chapter 13 petition. Later, they were indicted in federal court for fraud.

According to the opinion by Circuit Judge Diarmuid F. O'Scannlain, the debtors refused to make disclosures in bankruptcy court for fear of compromising their defenses in the criminal action. They refused to hold a meeting of creditors, did not file tax returns, and did not propose a plan.

The creditor who was the victim of the alleged fraud filed a claim in the chapter 13 case, along with a motion for conversion to chapter 7 under Section 1307(c). The bankruptcy court decided that conversion would be proper under Section 1307(c) and (e), but the debtors asked for more time to cure their defaults.

The bankruptcy court gave them 30 days. The debtors did not comply but filed a motion for voluntary dismissal under Section 1307(b) before the 30 days ran out.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Relying on Ninth Circuit authority, *Rosson v. Fitzgerald (In re Rosson)*, 545 F.3d 764 (9th Cir. 2008), the bankruptcy court denied the motion to dismiss and converted to chapter 7. The debtor appealed, but the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel affirmed.

The outcome in the Ninth Circuit turned on *Law* and Section 1307(c), which provides that, "On request of the debtor at any time, . . . the court shall dismiss a case under this chapter."

Law Overrules Rosson

In *Rosson*, the debtor had been directed to deposit proceeds from an arbitration award. When the debtor didn't, the bankruptcy court intended to convert the case to chapter 7 *sua sponte*. Before the bankruptcy court could convert, the debtor filed a motion to dismiss under Section 1307(b). The bankruptcy court converted and denied the motion to dismiss.

Noting a circuit split but upholding conversion, the Ninth Circuit in *Rosson* read *Marrama* to mean that an unqualified right to dismiss was subject to the bankruptcy court's powers under Section 105(a). *Id.* at 773.

Six years later, the Supreme Court handed down *Law*, reversing the Ninth Circuit. Judge O'Scannlain paraphrased *Law* as making clear "that a bankruptcy court may not use its equitable powers under § 105(a) to contravene express provisions of the Bankruptcy Code."

Judge O'Scannlain had "no doubt that *Law* undercuts the reasoning of *Rosson*." He therefore held that "*Rosson* has been effectively overruled by *Law* and is no longer binding precedent in this Circuit."

Freed from circuit precedent, Judge O'Scannlain held:

Section 1307(b)'s text plainly requires the bankruptcy court to dismiss the case upon the debtor's request. There is no textual indication that the bankruptcy court has any discretion whatsoever.

Judge O'Scannlain acknowledged that the Fifth and Eighth Circuits had held to the contrary, but both decisions came down before *Law*. Those decisions, he said, both rely on a "now-discredited theory." He noted that no circuit has aligned itself with those two circuits after *Law*.

Judge O'Scannlain said that the "absolute right" to dismiss is "entirely consistent" with the policy of Section 303(a), designed to make chapter 13 a voluntary alternative to chapter 7. He thus held that the "debtor [has] an absolute right to dismiss a Chapter 13 bankruptcy case, subject to the single exception" in Section 1307(b) for debtors whose cases previously had been converted from chapters 7, 11 or 12.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Immediately before reversing and remanding, Judge O'Scannlain said:

We are confident that the Bankruptcy Code provides ample alternative tools for bankruptcy courts to address debtor misconduct.

Observations

Can a chapter 13 debtor play fast and loose with the court and creditors, then lay down a getout-of-jail-free card if it doesn't go well? Does the Ninth Circuit mean that a bankruptcy court must dismiss *immediately* when the debtor files a voluntary dismissal motion under Section 1307(b)?

In line with Judge O'Scannlain's reference to "ample alternative tools," perhaps a court could defer dismissal long enough for a creditor to obtain relief from the automatic stay.

Perhaps also, the bankruptcy court could defer dismissal for long enough to impose sanctions under Rule 11.

And most significantly, perhaps the bankruptcy court could dismiss, but dismiss with prejudice, and thereby render claims nondischargeable.

It is difficult to believe that Congress wrote a statute to mean that debtors can evade the consequences of their own misconduct.

The opinion is *Nichols v. Marana Stockyard & Livestock Market Inc. (In re Nichols)*, 20-60043, 2021 BL 330861 (9th Cir. Sept. 1, 2021).



Ninth Circuit BAP doesn't require a formal motion to dismiss with prejudice when a debtor files a voluntary motion to dismiss as of right under Section 1307(b).

A Motion to Dismiss as of Right Doesn't Bar the Court from Dismissing with Prejudice

A chapter 13 debtor filed a motion under Section 1307(b) for dismissal of right. Had he succeeded, the debtor would have been entitled to file again and attempt to discharge all his debts, because Section 349(a) says that dismissal does not bar discharging debts in a later case, unless the court orders otherwise for cause.

However, a creditor opposed the debtor's motion for dismissal without prejudice and asked for the dismissal to be made with prejudice. Significantly, the creditor never filed a cross motion seeking dismissal with prejudice under Section 1307(c).

Finding "egregious" conduct by the debtor, the Bankruptcy Judge Martin R. Barash of Woodland Hills, Calif., dismissed the chapter 13 case with prejudice. Dismissal with prejudice had the same effect as a denial of discharge of the debtor's then-existing debts.

Was there an error in dismissing with prejudice in the absence of a formal motion to that effect?

Writing for the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel on July 27, Bankruptcy Judge Christopher M. Klein found no error and upheld dismissal with prejudice.

Judge Klein's erudite opinion reads like a treatise, laying out everything there is to know about the proper procedures, standards, burdens of proof and burdens of persuasion when it comes to dismissal with or without prejudice.

The Misbehaving Debtor

The debtor had filed chapter 12 petitions in 2010 and 2012. The 2012 case converted to chapter 7 followed by the entry of discharge.

The debtor filed a chapter 13 petition in 2018. A creditor, whom Judge Klein called the debtor's nemesis, opposed confirmation of the debtor's plan. In the objection, the creditor said that the case should be either dismissed or converted. The creditor did not file a motion to dismiss or convert.

The bankruptcy court heard witnesses and took evidence at a two-day confirmation trial. The issues included the debtor's good faith, or lack of it.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In post-trial briefing, the creditor urged the court to dismiss with prejudice for bad faith. Again, the creditor did not file a motion to convert or dismiss with prejudice under Section 1307(c).

Conceding that his plan could not be confirmed, the debtor filed a motion to dismiss under Section 1307(b). The creditor filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss and asked for dismissal with prejudice under Section 349(a) for egregious bad faith. Again, the creditor did not file a motion to dismiss under Section 1307(c).

Section 1307(c) allows the U.S. Trustee or a party in interest to move for conversion or dismissal by showing "cause."

The bankruptcy court held another hearing and considered the entire record. Technically speaking, the only motion before the court was the debtor's motion to dismiss under Section 1307(b) and the creditor's opposition with a request for dismissal with prejudice under Section 349(a).

In his decision, Bankruptcy Judge Barash cited the four-part test in *Leavitt v. Soto (In re Leavitt)*, 171 F.3d 1219 (9th Cir. 1999), *aff'g* 209 B.R. 935 (9th Cir. BAP 1997), as governing authority to determine whether the totality of the circumstances warranted dismissal with prejudice. Judge Barash dismissed with prejudice, after finding egregious and inequitable bad faith plus manipulation and abuse of the Bankruptcy Code.

The debtor appealed, to no avail.

Procedures for Dismissal with Prejudice Under Section 349(a)

For the BAP, Judge Klein surveyed the subtle differences about dismissal under Sections 1307(b), 1307(c) and 349. "The salient point," he said, "is that Section 349(a) is an independent question that applies to all forms of dismissal, including Section 1307(b)."

For example, Judge Klein explained how Section 349(a) and 1307(c) require "cause," while a debtor's motion under Section 1307(b) does not. "Unless the court, for cause, orders otherwise," Section 1307(b) says that "the dismissal of a case under this title does not bar the discharge, in a later case under this title, of debts that were dischargeable in the case dismissed. . . ."

There are different forms of dismissal with prejudice. The weak form, Judge Klein said, can contain a temporary refiling prohibition or provide that a new filing will not apply the automatic stay to a particular creditor. The strong form, he said, "is tantamount to denial of discharge" and is reserved "for egregious circumstances and necessitates that courts proceed with caution and pay attention to due process requirements consistent with denial of discharge."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The bankruptcy court properly applied *Leavitt*, Judge Klein said. Although *Leavitt* dealt with "cause" for dismissal under Section 1307(a), he saw "no principled reason" why it should not also apply to Section 1307(b) dismissals.

Procedurally speaking, Judge Klein ran into a problem. Although *Leavitt* may be the standard, the rules and the Code don't say when or how the Section 349(a) prejudice issue must be raised.

In the case on appeal, the procedures afforded due process consistent with complaints to deny discharge under Section 727. In addition, the creditor's opposition to the debtor's motion to dismiss without prejudice "was a correct procedure for presenting the Section 349(a) issue to the court."

Next, Judge Klein said that the bankruptcy court correctly treated the dispute as a Rule 9014 contested matter. He therefore found no error in the procedure leading to dismissal with prejudice.

Next, Judge Klein dealt with the burden of persuasion. The creditor, he said, has the burden because dismissal with prejudice is "tantamount to denying discharge."

With regard to how much evidence it takes to carry the burden of persuasion, Judge Klein said that the "quantum" required to overcome the presumption of discharge without prejudice "is likewise influenced by the emphasis on egregious circumstances and the similarity to the consequences of denial of discharge."

Even if the quantum for a strong form of dismissal with prejudice were more than the preponderance of the evidence, Judge Klein said that the creditor had proven "a 'huge' and egregious manipulation of bankruptcy process in bad faith." The evidence, he said, was "overwhelming."

The evidence and the findings were more than sufficient to justify dismissal with prejudice.

Given the findings, did the bankruptcy court abuse its discretion in dismissing with prejudice?

The bankruptcy court had employed the proper *Leavitt* standard and made findings supported by the record that were neither illogical nor implausible. Judge Klein thus concluded there was no abuse of discretion in dismissing with prejudice.

In short, "the debtor's 'right' to dismiss under §1307(b) does not immunize the debtor from the consequences of an adverse § 349(a) determination," Judge Klein said.

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



Observations

There is a split of circuit on the question of whether a court must dismiss when a debtor files a motion to dismiss under Section 1307(b).

Splitting with the Fifth and Ninth Circuits, the Sixth Circuit held in June that the bankruptcy court must dismiss a chapter 13 petition, even when the latest repeat filing was in bad faith. *See Smith v. U.S. Bank N.A. (In re Smith)*, 999 F.3d 452 (6th Cir. June 9, 2021). To read ABI's report, click here.

Smith and Judge Klein's opinion are not necessarily incompatible. If importuned and if the evidence were sufficient, a court could respond to a debtor's motion under Section 1307(b) by dismissing, except with prejudice.

If that's true, a debtor's motion to dismiss isn't a get-out-of-jail-free card, nor should it be.

On Language — Old Word Resurrected

Near the end of the opinion, Judge Klein said that the debtor's "Nemesis was not willing to let [the debtor] absquatulate."

Quoting an academic, Judge Klein said that the word absquatulate was invented following the Panic of 1837:

The newly independent Republic of Texas gained a reputation as a popular destination for dishonorable failures. . . . "Gone to Texas," abbreviated in "three ominous letters G.T.T.," became a shorthand symbol found on abandoned businesses. . . . Absconding to squat on western lands and perambulate from one property to another had become so common a practice that writers invented a new verb to describe this process: to absquatulate.

The opinion is *Duran v Gudino (In re Duran)*, 20-1045, 2021 BL 283667 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. July 27, 2021).



Tenth Circuit splits with the Third and Seventh Circuits on allowing a debtor to cure defaults after a five-year plan has ended.

Circuits Split on Allowing Debtors to Cure Chapter 13 Plan Defaults After Five Years

Splitting with the Third and Seventh Circuits, the Tenth Circuit held that a chapter 13 debtor cannot cure a post-confirmation default on a mortgage after the five-year plan has expired. In other words, the appeals court believes that a belated payment would be an impermissible modification of the plan after the term of the plan has ended.

Even though the debtor had tendered cure payments, the appeals court upheld dismissal of the case, with the effect of denying the debtor's discharge, although she had made all plan payments to the chapter 13 trustee.

The Accident and the Default

In 2014, the debtor confirmed her chapter 13 plan, with monthly mortgage payments going directly to the lender. She was current on the mortgage at filing and remained current until she had an auto accident in 2018. With additional expenses after the accident, the debtor missed two mortgage payments "in the final months of her five-year plan," Circuit Judge Robert E. Bacharach said in his July 23 opinion for himself and Circuit Judge David M. Ebel.

Parenthetically, Judge Bacharach said the debtor missed two more mortgage payments after the plan was over.

Following the conclusion of the plan, the bank filed a motion to dismiss. The debtor opposed the motion, tendered the defaulted payments and proposed that she be granted a discharge after paying the arrears.

Although not mentioned in Judge Bacharach's opinion, the debtor evidently did not file a motion asking for a hardship discharge under Section 1328(b).

Bankruptcy Judge Elizabeth E. Brown of Denver granted the motion to dismiss and denied a motion for reconsideration. The Tenth Circuit granted a direct appeal, overstepping an intermediate appeal to the district court or the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel.



A Cure or a Plan Modification?

Judge Bacharach stated the question as follows: Were the tendered payments a permissible cure or an impermissible attempt to modify the plan after the term of the plan had ended?

More precisely, Judge Bacharach asked whether the proffered cure would be a payment made "under the plan," therefore entitling the debtor to a discharge under Section 1328(a). That section provides that the court "shall" grant a discharge "after completion by the debtor of all payments under the plan." Of course, the debtor contended that cure payments would be made "under the plan."

The bank argued, successfully, that the proffered payments were not a cure but were an impermissible modification of the plan after the five-year term of the plan had ended.

What Does 'Under the Plan' Mean?

Judge Bacharach said that the courts differ on the meaning of "after completion by the debtor of all payments under the plan." He cited a string of cases holding that untimely payments are allowable, while "many other courts" believe that late payments are not made "under the plan."

While the lower courts are split on whether late payments are permissible, the Third and Seventh Circuits have found discretion to allow a final payment after five years. *See In re Klaas*, 858 F.3d 820 (3d Cir. 2017); and *Germeraad v. Powers*, 826 F.3d 962 (7th Cir. 2016). For ABI's reports on those cases, <u>click here</u> and <u>here</u>.

Judge Bacharach said the disagreement was "understandable" given "the ambiguity inherent in the combination of §§ 1307(c), 1322, 1325, 1328(a), and 1329."

To resolve the ambiguity, Judge Bacharach took counsel from *Fla. Dep't of Revenue v. Piccadilly Cafeterias Inc.*, 554 U.S. 33 (2008), which he interpreted to mean that "the payments are 'under the plan' only if they are subject to or under the authority of the plan."

In the case on appeal, "the more natural reading here is that the payments could fall 'under' a plan only if the plan remained in existence," Judge Bacharach said. In other words, payments "would permit a discharge only if they had been made during the existence of the plan."

Of course, the term of the plan had ended, making the debtor ineligible to modify the plan and receive a discharge.

As a backstop, Judge Bacharach looked at legislative history because he had found the statute to be ambiguous. He was persuaded by the House Report and the notion that amended chapter 13 was designed to have "strict deadlines" preventing plans from running longer than five years.



Judge Bacharach upheld dismissal because "the plan's expiration left the bankruptcy court without authority to grant a discharge."

The Concurrence

Circuit Judge Allison H. Eid concurred in the judgment. She found no ambiguity in the statute. In her view, "a plan can only last five years."

A "plan expires after five years," Judge Eid said, "and payments cannot be 'under' a plan that has come to an end." She concurred only in the judgment and not in finding the statute to be ambiguous.

Observations

The Tenth Circuit's strict reading creates problems, particularly if the default occurs shortly before the end of the term of the plan, leaving the debtor no time to cure. Or, what if the trustee has miscalculated required payments? Is the debtor barred from making up the shortfall after the plan ends?

In the case on appeal, the debtor would have been a good candidate for a hardship discharge. In that regard, the court's ability to grant a hardship discharge under Section 1328(b) suggests there is flexibility in the statute. The section allows the court to grant a discharge "at any time after the confirmation of the plan" if the default "is due to circumstances for which the debtor should not justly be held accountable."

Although not free from doubt, the words "at any time after confirmation" suggest that the end of the term of the plan is not a cutoff for filing a hardship discharge motion. If that's true, then why can't a court provide a better result for creditors by allowing the debtor to make all payments required by the plan?

Although not considered in the circuit's opinion, barring a debtor from curing plan defaults seems grossly unfair for someone who has diligently made payments for five years, to the best of her or his ability. Indeed, if the debtor might be entitled to a hardship discharge, why not allow the debtor to cure defaults and ensure her right to a discharge?

The opinion is *Kinney v. HSBC Bank USA N.A. (In re Kinney)*, 20-1122, 2021 BL 280759 (10th Cir. July 23, 2021).



If a case is dismissed, all assets revest in the debtor and nothing remains in the bankruptcy estate, not even undisclosed assets.

Undisclosed Assets Revest in the Debtor After Dismissal but Not After Closing, BAP Says

Unscheduled, undisclosed property is treated altogether differently when a case was dismissed compared to what happens if the case was closed, as the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel explained in an April 2 opinion.

If the case was administered and closed, undisclosed or unscheduled property remains in the estate, perhaps indefinitely. On the other hand, if the case was dismissed, all property reverts to the debtor, including undisclosed property.

The debtor's standing is also different after dismissal. Because all property revested in the debtor, the debtor can pursue undisclosed property after dismissal. If the case was administered and closed, the debtor would not have standing to collect undisclosed property.

The Undisclosed Malpractice Claim

Two individuals owned a corporate debtor that owned apartment buildings. The owners conferred with bankruptcy lawyers about the efficacy of filing a chapter 11 petition for the corporation. The lawyers advised against a filing in chapter 11 and recommended filing a chapter 7 petition instead.

The owners consulted another bankruptcy lawyer, who put the debtor corporation into chapter 11, but not before the lender had installed a receiver in state court. The owners did not put themselves into bankruptcy.

In the chapter 11 case, the debtor did not schedule malpractice claims as an asset.

The bankruptcy court approved a sale of the corporation's property, but the estate was administratively insolvent. The debtor corporation filed a motion to dismiss the chapter 11 case under Section 1112(b)(1). When no one objected, the bankruptcy court granted the dismissal motion.

Using the district's standard form, the order dismissed the case and closed it, "but only for administrative purposes."



The Malpractice Suit

After dismissal, the owners and the debtor corporation sued the lawyers they first consulted, claiming malpractice for not recommending a chapter 11 filing before the receiver was installed.

In state court, both sides agreed that the malpractice claim was a prepetition asset. They disagreed about whether the claim was owned by the bankruptcy estate or the debtor corporation.

Not sure who owned the claim, the judge in state court asked the parties to reopen the bankruptcy, schedule the malpractice claim, and have the bankruptcy court decide who owned the claim.

The debtor corporation filed a motion asking Bankruptcy Judge Peter C. McKittrick of Portland, Ore., to reopen the chapter 11 case. He reopened the case, but "for administrative purposes only, including but not limited to filing amended schedules." He said it was impossible to reopen the dismissed chapter 11 case under Section 350(b) because it has not been closed under Section 350(a).

The case reopened, and the debtor amended the schedules to list the malpractice claim as an asset.

The Appeal Dismissed in the BAP

The malpractice defendants appealed the order to the BAP that reopened the chapter 11 case.

Writing for the BAP, Bankruptcy Judge Julia W. Brand dismissed the appeal because the malpractice defendants lacked standing.

Judge Brand noted that the malpractice defendants were not creditors of the debtor corporation. Reopening the chapter 11 case, she said, did not diminish their property, impose any burdens on them, or detrimentally affect their rights. Reopening the case would require the firm to defend the suit in state court but did not preclude them from asserting any defenses.

Consequently, the law firm was not a "person aggrieved" and therefore had no standing to appeal.

The Discussion of Dismissal vs. Closing under Section 350

The significance of the opinion lies in the BAP's discussion of the distinction between closing a case after dismissal and closing a case under Section 350(a) after the case has been "fully administered."

2021 CONSUMER PRACTICE EXTRAVAGANZA



If the case has been "fully administered," Section 350(a) requires the court to close the case.

Judge Brand pointed out that the chapter 11 case had been administratively closed after dismissal. It was not a statutory closing mandated by Section 350(a) after the case has been fully administered.

Judge Brand noted that no one had moved to vacate dismissal. She said that administrative reopening did not vacate the dismissal, reinstate the case, create a bankruptcy estate to administer, or trigger the automatic stay.

Had the case been administered and closed under Section 350(a), all scheduled property would have been "abandoned to the debtor" under Section 554(c). If there had been an administration and closure, Bankruptcy Judge Christopher M. Klein said in a concurring opinion that "unscheduled property is neither abandoned nor administered and remains property of the estate, essentially forever," citing Section 554(c) & (d).

However, the case had not been administered and closed. It had been dismissed, making Sections 350 and 554 inapplicable. On the other hand, Section 349 was applicable.

After dismissal, Section 349(b)(3) "revests the property of the estate in the entity in which such property was vested immediately before the commencement of the case under this title."

In the case of dismissal, Judge Brand characterized the section as saying that "all of the estate property revested in them at that time under § 349(b)(3), 'regardless of whether the property was scheduled,'" citing *Menk v. LaPaglia (In re Menk)*, 241 B.R. 896, 912 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 1999). [Emphasis in original.]

Consequently, Judge Brand said, the malpractice claim "is now owned by" the debtor corporation. "In short, the [debtor corporation is] the proper plaintiff," she said.

Judge Klein's Concurrence

Judge Klein wrote a concurring opinion to "foster informed communication with state courts" about the distinction between closing and dismissing a case and the consequences for property of the estate.

As guidance for state courts when there has been an administered and closed case followed by the debtor's prosecution of an unscheduled asset, Judge Klein said that judicial estoppel is not the issue. Rather, the debtor lacks standing to prosecute a claim that belongs to the estate. The trustee is the real party in interest, and the debtor lacks standing.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

When a dismissed case is administratively reopened, Judge Klein said that "an unscheduled cause of action could not be property of the estate," because nothing was left in the estate. He went on to say that "amending the schedules would have no legal effect." He surmised that the bankruptcy judge allowed the debtor to amend the schedules "apparently as an accommodation to the state court's requirement that schedules be amended so there would be no doubt about the state court's authority."

Judge Klein ended his concurrence with a hint about what might happen next in state court. He said that the BAP expressed no view "regarding what, if anything, the Oregon state court should do in consequence of the omission from the schedules of the prepetition cause of action."

In other words, Judge Klein was hinting that judicial estoppel might bar the owners and the debtor corporation from prosecuting claims they had not scheduled in the bankruptcy case.

Other Observations

What happens next in state court?

Judicial estoppel could be a problem for the owners and the debtor, but better-reasoned opinions are saying that judicial estoppel does not preclude a trustee from liquidating an unscheduled asset.

Let's assume, however, that the suit proceeds in state court and judicial estoppel doesn't knock out the owners and the debtor. Also assume that the plaintiffs obtain a judgment against the malpractice defendants.

The malpractice claim had not been abandoned in chapter 11, so ownership did not vest permanently in the debtor.

The U.S. Trustee or a creditor could have the bankruptcy2 court revoke dismissal, convert to chapter 7 or appoint a chapter 11 trustee, and take the judgment into the estate. Or, the U.S. Trustee or a creditor could revoke dismissal sooner and take over prosecution of the suit if the state court was on the verge of dismissing based on judicial estoppel.

From the BAP's opinion, it is unclear whether further proceedings in bankruptcy court would serve any purpose because the debtor said that no remaining unsecured creditors existed.

The opinion is Sandford Landress v. Cambridge Land Co. II LLC (In re Cambridge Land Co. II LLC), 20-1110 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. April 2, 2021).



A former bankruptcy judge, now a district judge, makes important law on involuntary petitions.

Defenses to Preferences Are Considered in Counting an Involuntary Debtor's Creditors

In an involuntary petition, creditors who received voidable transfers may not be counted in deciding whether the alleged debtor has 12 or more creditors. On an issue where lower courts are split, District Judge Robert R. Summerhays of Lafayette, La., ruled that a creditor who received a preference is still counted if the debtor can show that the creditor has a statutory defense to the preference.

Judge Summerhays had been a bankruptcy judge since 2006. He was elevated to the district court bench in September 2018.

One creditor filed an involuntary chapter 7 petition against an individual debtor. In response, the debtor filed schedules showing about 25 creditors. If the debtor indeed had 25 creditors, the court would have dismissed the petition because Section 303(b) requires three petitioning creditors if the debtor has 12 or more creditors.

The involuntary petitioner submitted that at least 15 of the scheduled creditors had received preferences and therefore should not be counted under Section 303(b)(2). That section excludes a creditor who is a "transferee of a transfer that is voidable under section . . . 547"

The debtor responded by arguing that the transferees all had ordinary course defenses to a preference under Section 547(c)(2). The bankruptcy court sided with the involuntary petitioner and ruled that the petitioner was only required to make a *prima facie* case showing that a creditor had received a preference. The ordinary course defense would not be considered.

The bankruptcy judge entered an order for relief, and the debtor appealed. Judge Summerhays vacated and remanded in an opinion on January 22.

The involuntary petitioner relied on a 1981 case from Long Island, N.Y., where the bankruptcy court held that a creditor could be excluded from the count if the creditor had received a preference, without considering defenses.

There, the bankruptcy judge reasoned that a creditor with a potential preference would hope to avoid bankruptcy and therefore should be excluded from the count, based on a presumption about congressional intent.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Summerhays was more persuaded by the statutory language, his own logic, and a 1983 bankruptcy court decision from Oklahoma.

By disregarding the defenses, Judge Summerhays said that the New York decision "ignores the text of section 303(b)(2) and section 547(b)." In particular, Section 547(b) says that a transfer is avoidable "[e]xcept as provided in subsections (c) and (i) of this section."

"In other words," Judge Summerhays said, "a preferential transfer is not avoidable \dots and, hence, not subject to exclusion under section 303(b)(2), if one of the Section 547(c) defenses applies to the transfer."

Consequently, Judge Summerhays held that "Section 546(c) defenses must be considered in determining whether to exclude a creditor under section 303(b)(2)." He added that "suppositions and presumptions about policy and congressional intent cannot supplant the express language of the statute."

Judge Summerhays vacated and remanded, with instructions to apply the ordinary course defense in counting whether the debtor had 12 or more creditors.

The opinion is Williams v. Roos, 19-01674, 2021 BL 22297 (W.D. La. Jan. 22, 2021).

Section 1326(a)(2) by itself does not bar garnishment of funds held by a trustee on dismissal before confirmation.

On Dismissal of a '13,' *Barton* May (or May Not) Bar Garnishments

If a chapter 13 case has been dismissed before confirmation, the Tenth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel seems inclined to allow judgment creditors to garnish funds that the trustee would otherwise return to the debtor.

The nonprecedential opinion on April 27 by Bankruptcy Judge Michael E. Romero includes an in-depth survey of the split on Section 1326(a)(2) and questions like the right of a chapter 13 trustee to collect a fee when dismissal occurs before confirmation. The opinion examines decisions going both ways on the right of creditors to garnish funds held by the trustee on dismissal of a chapter 13 case.

\$29,000 Held by the Trustee on Dismissal

In the case before the BAP, the debtor had filed three successive chapter 13 petitions. The previous two had been dismissed quickly.

In the third and last case, the debtor filed to prevent state court clerks from collecting some \$30,000 in judgments made in sanction for frivolous and vexatious litigation.

Eventually, the bankruptcy court refused to confirm the debtor's chapter 13 plan. Together with denial of confirmation, the bankruptcy court dismissed the chapter 13 case. On dismissal, the chapter 13 trustee was holding about \$29,000, after deducting the trustee's fees.

The debtor's former wife and the state court clerks filed motions for authority to garnish the funds being held by the trustee that would otherwise be distributed to the debtor under Section 1326(a)(2). The wife contended that her domestic support obligations were prior to the clerks' judgments.

Section 1326(a)(2) and the *Barton* Doctrine

Section 1326(a)(1) requires a chapter 13 debtor to commence making payments to the trustee within 30 days of filing.

Subsection (a)(2) provides that payments made by the debtor "shall be retained by the trustee until confirmation or denial of confirmation. . . . If a plan is not confirmed, the trustee shall return



any such payments not previously paid \dots to creditors \dots , after deducting any unpaid claim allowed under section 503(b)."

The bankruptcy court denied the motions, finding that the burden and inconvenience imposed by the garnishments on the trustee would not permit an exception to the *Barton* doctrine. The bankruptcy judge also decided that the plain language of Section 1326(a)(2) precluded diverting the funds away from the debtor in garnishment. The bankruptcy judge stayed his order pending appeal.

First pronounced by the Supreme Court in 1881 in *Barton v. Barbour*, 104 U.S. 126 (1881), the Supreme Court made a "general rule" that receivers could not be sued without permission from the appointing court. *Id.* at 128. The doctrine was expanded to cover bankruptcy trustees after adoption of the Bankruptcy Act of 1898. Later still, *Barton* was broadened to protect court-appointed officials and fiduciaries, such as trustees' and debtors' counsel, real estate brokers, accountants, and counsel for creditors' committees.

As Judge Romero said in his opinion, *Barton* was further extended to cover trustees after dismissal.

Barton Applies to the Garnishments

The BAP agreed with the bankruptcy court that *Barton* applied, meaning that the creditors could not garnish funds held by the trustee without the bankruptcy court's permission. As Judge Romero said, however, the holding "speaks only to whether pre-suit leave is required, not whether such leave should or should not be granted."

Next, Judge Romero analyzed caselaw laying out factors to consider when deciding whether actions should be permitted despite *Barton*. For the BAP, he ruled that the "mere possibility of inconvenience cannot serve as a blanket protection for trustees from a legal process to which any other person may ordinarily be subjected."

On *de novo* review, the BAP agreed that *Barton* required court approval before initiating garnishment. On the other hand, the panel ruled that the bankruptcy court had "abused its discretion by denying *Barton* leave based upon unsupported allegations of potential inconvenience to the Trustee without weighing the other important factors bearing upon such a decision."

Section 1326(a)(2)

Regardless of *Barton*, the bankruptcy court had also decided that Section 1362(a)(2) barred the proposed garnishment.



As Judge Romero explained, there are two lines of cases interpreting Section 1362(a)(2). The courts taking a "plain meaning" approach conclude generally that a chapter 13 trustee must return everything to the debtor. For example, he cited an unpublished Alabama decision holding that the section preempts state law garnishments.

The other line of cases, Judge Romero said, take "a more practical approach" and view the section in a broader context. Those courts as a general matter would permit a trustee to deduct his or her fee before returning the remainder to the debtor, after payment of outstanding administrative claims.

More on point factually, Judge Romero discussed "debtor-of-a-debtor" cases that "approve of post-dismissal garnishments" by "taking a more nuanced and functional approach to applying the statute."

In the debtor-of-a-debtor cases, Judge Romero said that the chapter 13 trustee "is effectively no longer operating as a court-appointed fiduciary" following dismissal and "can no longer be thought of as a representative of the estate exercising control over property of the estate."

After dismissal, Judge Romero decided that "the legal relationship between the debtor and a trustee following dismissal is akin to a traditional bailment." A bank, he said, "is not excused from complying" with a garnishment. He therefore saw "no reason why a different rule should apply to trustees merely because they were formerly an estate representative and the property used to be in *custodia legis* through an estate which no longer exists."

In terms of the purpose of Section 1326(a)(2), Judge Romero saw the trustee as "in fact . . . returning the property to the debtor, not in the form of a cash payment, but in the form of a debt reduction The transfer may not be to the debtor, but it is nevertheless made for the debtor's benefit."

In short, the BAP ruled that Section 1326(a)(2) by itself did not preclude honoring the garnishments. The panel reversed and remanded for the bankruptcy court to conduct further proceedings on the *Barton* doctrine.

Observations

In the case before the BAP, the fee of the chapter 13 trustee was about \$1,500.

In the case on appeal, the trustee was faced with competing garnishments. Who comes first? The court clerks or the former wife?

To ensure no liability in disbursing the funds, the trustee would become ensnared in further litigation in bankruptcy court or state court to decide who should be paid and how much. The

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

\$1,500 fee would quickly become a losing proposition if the trustee were involved in deciding whom to pay.

A bright-line rule calling for payment to the debtor would aid the trustee in preventing the case from becoming a loser.

Jurisdiction is also an issue. Surely, the bankruptcy court at least has "related to" jurisdiction to decide which garnishment comes first. Why should the bankruptcy court rather than state court make such decisions after dismissal?

If the trustee were to return the funds to the debtor, the creditors would be justly concerned that the debtor would squirrel the money away before they could locate and attach the debtor's bank account. Is it the purpose of the bankruptcy court to assist in the collection of judgments when the distribution is not being made under the Bankruptcy Code?

Courts are always inclined to sort out disputes when the parties and the *res* are before the court. Sometimes, however, the desire to resolve disputes should take second place behind regard for the court's limited jurisdiction and the purpose of the forum.

Congress intended to give debtors incentives for attempting chapter 13 arrangements. That's why Section 1326 gives funds back to the debtor on dismissal before confirmation. If the bankruptcy court becomes a collection agent when chapter 13 fails, is the intent of Congress being fulfilled?

Disallowing garnishments would not mean, by analogy, that a chapter 13 trustee cannot be paid if dismissal precedes confirmation. Trustees rely on 28 U.S.C. § 586(e) as statutory authority for being paid after dismissal. Creditors have no similar statutory authority to demand payments from a chapter 13 trustee on dismissal.

The foregoing factors could be considered in deciding whether *Barton* precludes honoring a garnishment.

The opinion is Warren v. Bednar (In re Bednar), 20-041 (B.A.P. 10th Cir. April 27, 2021).



Plans & Confirmation



When personal property loans are cross-collateralized, a chapter 13 plan must use the same option for cramming down both loans, the Fifth Circuit says.

Cross-Collateralization Turns Two Loans into One Claim in the Fifth Circuit

If a chapter 13 debtor has two secured claims that are collateralized with personal property, and if the loans are cross-collateralized, a chapter 13 plan may not surrender the collateral for one loan and cram down the other, according to the Fifth Circuit.

In other words, the Fifth Circuit believes that cross-collateralizing two personal property loans converts two claims into one claim, with the result that the debtor may employ only one of the options for dealing with secured claims under Section 1325(a)(5).

Apparently at different times, the debtor purchased two cars. He financed both with secured loans from the same lender. The security agreements cross-collateralized the loans.

The debtor filed a chapter 13 plan, cramming down on the lender. The plan called for surrendering one car and cramming down the loan on the other to the value of the car that the debtor was keeping. The bankruptcy court overruled the lender's objection and confirmed the plan. The district court reversed.

The outcome turned on the two options for dealing with (*i.e.*, cramming down) a secured creditor that does not accept the plan. Under Section 1325(a)(5)(B) and (C), the debtor may pay the allowed amount of the secured claim (that is, the value of the collateral) "or" surrender the collateral.

The debtor focused on the statutory language allowing the debtor to select an option "with respect to each allowed secured claim." The lender countered, contending that the use of "or" in Section 1325(a)(5) means that a debtor may use only one of the options.

The appeal was *sub judice* in the circuit for almost two years. In an opinion on January 14, Circuit Judge Priscilla R. Owen agreed with the lender.

Judge Owen relied heavily on Fifth Circuit precedent, *Williams v. Tower Loan of Mississippi* (*In re Williams*), 168 F.3d 845 (5th Cir. 1999). She characterized *Williams* as involving a chapter 13 debtor who "sought to address one secured claim by surrendering some of the collateral securing the claim and paying the cram down value of the remaining collateral."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In *Williams*, Judge Owen said the circuit "held that the debtor's plan could not be approved because '[t]he plain language of [§ 1325(a)(5)] does not give the debtor the right to adopt a combination of the options offered in (B) and (C)." She characterized *Williams* as holding "that debtors must select the same § 1325(a)(5) option for all of the collateral securing a single claim."

The Second Circuit reached the same result in a chapter 12 case, Judge Owen said, citing *First Brandon National Bank v. Kerwin* (*In re Kerwin*), 996 F.2d 552 (2d Cir. 1993).

Applying the facts to the law, Judge Owen held that the plan "must select the same § 1325(a)(5) option for both items of collateral."

Judge Owen affirmed the district court and set aside confirmation, saying that the debtor's argument was "contrary to the plain language of § 1325(a)(5)."

Observation

Williams was not controlling. Influential, yes, but not on point and distinguishable. *Williams* dealt with one claim having several elements of collateral. The case before Judge Owen arguably dealt with two claims.

One may wish to question where the statute converts two secured notes into one claim, when each has different primary capital. Although there is one creditor who could file one proof of claim, aren't there two claims? Judge Owen seems to have expanded *Williams* substantially.

The loans did not entail purchase money security interests in their entirety. In other respects, the Bankruptcy Code gives fewer rights to holders of non-purchase money security interests.

Another court might find that the plain language of the statute supports the debtor, not the creditor.

The opinion is Barragan-Flores v. Evolve Federal Credit Union (In re Barragan-Flores), 984 F.3d 471 (5th Cir. Jan. 14, 2021).



Courts are split on whether a debtor may amend a chapter 13 plan to cure postpetition defaults on a principal residence.

Amended Chapter 13 Plan Allowed to Cure Post-Petition Mortgage Defaults

On a question where the courts are split, Bankruptcy Judge Jerrold N. Poslusny, Jr. of Camden, N.J., allowed a debtor to pay post-petition mortgage arrears through an amended chapter 13 plan.

Siding with the two circuits that ruled in favor of the debtors, Judge Poslusny decided that the amendment was in accord with the plain language of the statute, along with the legislative history and "the underlying principles of Chapter 13."

Three Post-Petition Mortgage Defaults

The debtor confirmed a 36-month plan in 2018 that would cure mortgage arrears while the debtor made post-petition mortgage payments directly to the servicer. Twice after confirmation, the debtor defaulted on post-petition mortgage payments. After the lender moved for stay relief, Judge Poslusny entered a consent order both times requiring the debtor to cure the defaults.

Following the third default, the servicer again sought stay relief. The debtor opposed, saying that her husband lost his job as a result of the pandemic. In addition, the debtor sought to modify her plan to cure the post-petition defaults and to extend the duration of the plan to 73 months.

The servicer opposed plan modification, contending that a modified plan may not cure postpetition defaults on a home mortgage. Judge Poslusny disagreed in his June 24 opinion.

The Split

Judge Poslusny said that the courts are split. However, the Fifth and Eleventh Circuit both permit modified plans to cure post-petition home mortgage defaults.

The outcome turned largely on the language of Section 1322(b)(2) and (5). Subsection (2) bars a chapter 13 plan from modifying a mortgage on the debtor's principal residence. However, subsection (5) allows a plan to cure "any default within a reasonable time."

The two circuits found the answer in the plain language of subsection (5) that allows a plan to cure "any default," notwithstanding the anti-modification language in subsection (2). According to Judge Poslusny, the two circuits emphasized the lack of language in subsection (5) limiting cures to prepetition defaults.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Poslusny paraphrased the Eleventh Circuit by saying that an amendment would be "'consistent' with legislative intent, legislative history, and underlying principles of Chapter 13 to provide for flexible payments plans" while giving homeowners "'continuing rights to cure default and preserve their primary assets.'" *Green Tree Acceptance Inc. v. Hoggle (In re Hoggle)*, 12 F.3d 1008, 1010 (11th Cir. 1994).

Judge Poslusny found the circuits more persuasive than other courts "adopting a restrictive reading of the Code." He noted how subsection (5) has no restrictive language and "makes no distinction between a pre-petition default and a post-petition default."

A Plan Longer than 60 Months

Having decided that the debtor may cure a post-petition default, Judge Poslusny turned to the question of whether the debtor could extend the plan for a total of 73 months.

The debtor rested her proposition of a plan longer than 60 months on the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act of 2020. It allows extending a chapter 13 plan up to 83 months if the debtor has incurred "material financial hardship" as a result of the pandemic.

No one contested the debtor's claims that her husband lost his job as a result of the pandemic. Judge Poslusny therefore approved the amended plan, with a proviso that the debtor must remain current on mortgage payments.

The opinion is *In re Smith*, 18-23830 (Bankr. D.N.J. June 24, 2021).



Deferred payments to unsecured creditors in a chapter 13 plan must equal the present value of the distributions required by the best interests test, Judge Halfenger says.

Courts Split on Whether Counsel Fees Are Considered in Chapter 13 Best Interests Test

On a question where the lower courts are split, Chief Bankruptcy Judge G. Michael Halfenger of Milwaukee decided that the fees paid for a chapter 13 debtor's counsel must be taken into consideration in calculating whether the plan satisfies the best interests test.

The debtor filed a 36-month chapter 13 plan calling for payments to unsecured creditors totaling about \$4,000. The debtor's counsel fees of some \$4,500 were presumed to be reasonable and would be an automatically allowed administrative expense under the local rules.

Were the debtor's assets to be liquidated in chapter 7, the chapter 13 trustee calculated that the unsecured creditors would receive \$8,500 in distributions after paying some \$1,700 for the chapter 7 trustee's commissions.

The chapter 13 trustee objected to confirmation of the chapter 13 plan, contending that unsecured creditors must be paid \$8,500 to satisfy the so-called best interests test under Section 1325(a)(4). In other words, the trustee believed that the debtor's attorneys' fees should not be taken into consideration in calculating the best interests test.

In his February 16 opinion, Judge Halfenger acknowledged two bankruptcy court decisions that supported the trustee and disallowed deductions for the debtor's counsel's fees in the best interests calculation.

Judge Halfenger said the trustee's position had "some intuitive appeal" and was based on a policy that unsecured creditors should not be paying the attorneys' fees that would be avoided if the debtor filed directly into chapter 7.

However, Judge Halfenger said that the policy, "no matter how strong," cannot "overcome either the statute's plain text or the Supreme Court's construction of the same phrase." He therefore disagreed with the trustee and found the answer in the language of the governing statutes and rules.

Section 1325(a)(4) calls for employing the best interests test as of "the effective date of the plan," a term not defined in the Bankruptcy Code. The word "effective" means the "operative" date of the plan, Judge Halfenger said.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Halfenger concluded that a "plan is operative when its terms are binding on the debtor and creditors — *i.e.*, when the court confirms it." He cited two Supreme Court opinions reaching the same conclusion in different contexts under chapter 13.

What about the debtor's counsel's fees? What would their status be on confirmation?

The fees fell under the so-called no-look local rule and would be automatically allowed as administrative expenses on confirmation, because no one objected.

If the case converted to chapter 7 before confirmation, the debtor's counsel's fees would be allowed chapter 13 administrative expenses that the chapter 7 trustee would be obliged to pay in full before making distributions to unsecured creditors under Sections 507(a)(2) and 726(a)(1).

Judge Halfenger therefore deduced that the debtor's counsel's fees are included in the determination of best interests. There was a glitch, however.

The plan called for paying counsel fees before the chapter 13 trustee commences paying unsecured claims. The result would be a delay of at least one year before the first payments to unsecured creditors.

The best interests test in Section 1325(a)(4) requires giving unsecured creditors "the value" they would receive "as of the effective date of the plan." Citing Supreme Court authority, Judge Halfenger said that value as of the effective date means that the present value of the deferred payments must equal \$4,000.

Judge Halfenger in substance directed the debtor to amend the plan to give unsecured creditors the present value of \$4,000 in future payments.

The opinion is *In re Buettner*, 20-42696, 2021 BL 54866, 2021 Bankr Lexis 363 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. Feb. 16, 2021).



Courts are split on whether chapter 13 effectively prohibits debtors from making voluntary contributions to 401(k) plans.

Congress Must Decide: May Chapter 13 Debtors Contribute to 401(k) Plans?

Congress needs to fix the mess it made in Section 541(b)(7) and say clearly whether chapter 13 debtors are entitled to make voluntary contributions to 401(k) retirement plans. As it now stands, there are four interpretations of the section, typically giving three different results.

So far, only the Sixth Circuit has tackled the issue. It will be years before there is enough appellate authority for the Supreme Court to resolve what assuredly will be a split.

As a matter of public policy, it is imperative that Congress decide whether debtors are required to suffer the effects of bankruptcy years later in retirement, if they happen to live in districts and circuits that do not permit 401(k) contributions during chapter 13.

The New and Newer Sixth Circuit Opinions

In a 2/1 decision, the Sixth Circuit held last year that a chapter 13 debtor who was consistently making contributions to a 401(k) for six months before bankruptcy may continue contributions in the same amount by deducting the contributions from "disposable income" in Section 1325(b)(2).

The majority in *Davis* rejected the holding by some courts that contributions are never included in disposable income, whether or not the debtor was making contributions before bankruptcy. The dissenter would have held that a debtor cannot make contributions after bankruptcy, even if he or she was making them beforehand. *Davis v. Helbling (In re Davis)*, 960 F.3d 346 (6th Cir. 2020). To read ABI's report on *Davis*, click here.

In a unanimous opinion on August 10, the Sixth Circuit held that a chapter 13 debtor may not make 401(k) contributions if the debtor had not been making contributions before bankruptcy, even if (1) the debtor had a history of making contributions in prior years when he was able, and (2) the debtor was not eligible for a 401(k) plan in the months before bankruptcy.

The new opinion was authored by Circuit Judge Joan Larsen. She was also the writer of the majority opinion last year in *Davis*.



The Four-Way Split

Section 541(b)(7)(A) is one of the most poorly drafted provisions in the Bankruptcy Code. It was added in 2005 by the Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer Protection Act because courts were mostly holding that wages voluntarily withheld as 401(k) contributions were part of disposable income.

As amended, the section provides that property of the estate does not include contributions to 401(k) plans. The end of the subsection includes a so-called hanging paragraph that says, "except that such amount under this subparagraph shall not constitute disposable income as defined in section 1325(b)(2)."

There are four interpretations of the statute, with three results: (1) Retirement contributions can never be deducted from disposable income, even if the debtor was making contributions before bankruptcy; (2) a debtor may continue making contributions, but not more than the debtor was making before bankruptcy; and (3) a debtor may make contributions after bankruptcy up to the maximum allowed by the IRS, even if the debtor was making none before bankruptcy.

This writer respectfully submits that none of the interpretations inexorably flows from the statutory language.

Facts in the New Case

For most of his 17 years working for a former employer, the debtor had been making contributions to his 401(k) plan. In 2017, he took a new job with an employer that did not offer a 401(k) plan, so he could not make contributions.

Six weeks before filing a chapter 13 petition in June 2018, the debtor went to work for a different employer offering a 401(k) plan and began making contributions. Judge Larsen said the record was unclear about when the debtor began making the contributions.

Before *Davis* came down, the bankruptcy court ruled that the debtor could not deduct the contributions from his payments to creditors. Also before *Davis*, the district court affirmed. To read ABI's report on the district court opinion, <u>click here</u>. The appeal to the circuit was held in abeyance pending the outcome in *Davis*.

The new case presented facts not present in *Davis*. Although he had a history of making contributions, the debtor had made none consistently in the six months before bankruptcy.



Contributions Before Bankruptcy Are Required

The debtor argued that the circuit court should expand *Davis* by allowing the debtor to rely on his history of making voluntary contributions when he had been able to so do.

"Because neither the statute nor our caselaw supports" the argument, Judge Larsen upheld the lower courts.

Judge Larsen laid out the four interpretations of the statute and explained how *Davis* rejected the idea that a chapter 13 debtor may never make voluntary contributions. She cited the Sixth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel for having ruled that "to the extent a debtor is making recurring 401(k) contributions 'at the time' of filing, she may continue to do so post-petition." *Burden v. Seafort* (*In re Seafort*), 437 B.R. 204, 209-210 (B.A.P. 6th Cir. 2010).

"But that also means that a debtor may not begin, resume, or otherwise increase the amount of such contributions post-filing in an attempt to reduce payments to unsecured creditors," Judge Larsen said, again interpreting the BAP. *Id.* at 210.

Judge Larsen stated the circuit's holding as follows:

We hold only that the bankruptcy code's text does not permit a Chapter 13 debtor to use a history of retirement contributions from years earlier as a basis for shielding voluntary post-petition contributions from unsecured creditors. This is true even if the debtor had no ability to make further contributions in the six months preceding filing; the code makes no exception for such circumstances.

Commentary

In years past, employers offered defined-benefit pension plans that were protected in employees' bankruptcies. Today, they are few and far between.

If a typical consumer is to provide for retirement, she or he must make contributions to 401(k)s and individual retirement accounts. Otherwise, a worker will be left with nothing more than Social Security benefits and retirement in abject poverty.

A financially struggling consumer may be unable to make 401(k) contributions, even if offered by the employer. Consequently, requiring consistent 401(k) contributions by chapter 13 debtors before bankruptcy flies in the face of reality. Furthermore, a consumer eligible for chapter 7 is not precluded from making contributions immediately after filing.

Typically, requiring a chapter 13 debtor to include 401(k) contributions in disposable income will not result in an additional major recovery by each unsecured creditor.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

260

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Congress needs to decide whether chapter 13 debtors must suffer the consequences of bankruptcy in retirement years later, when the benefit to each creditor was nominal.

Chapter 13 was designed not to be punitive when someone files a chapter 13 petition but does not succeed. Barring individuals from providing for retirement makes chapter 13 punitive for debtors who succeed.

The opinion is *Penfound v. Ruskin (In re Penfound)*, 19-2200, 2021 BL 300792 (6th Cir. Aug. 10, 2021).



A chapter 13 debtor was permitted to make a fraction of the pension contributions permitted by the IRS Code.

Chapter 13 Debtor May (Sometimes) Contribute to Retirement Plans

With qualifications implying that all chapter 13 debtors may not qualify, Chief Bankruptcy Judge Helen E. Burris of Spartanburg, S.C., sided with the majority and allowed the debtor to continue making voluntary contributions to her retirement account.

Before bankruptcy, the 36-year-old debtor had been making monthly contributions of some \$470 to her retirement account, enough to qualify for her employer's maximum contribution. The debtor had been making the contributions for three years. The balance in her retirement account was \$38,000, Judge Burris said in her May 20 opinion.

Originally, the debtor's chapter 13 plan called for \$98,400 in payments over the five-year life of the plan. The chapter 13 trustee objected, leading to a compromise where the debtor upped the payments to \$109,000.

A creditor objected to confirmation of the amended plan, contending that the debtor was not devoting all her disposable income to the plan and that the plan was not filed in good faith, given ongoing contributions to the retirement plan.

To the extent the statute provides an answer, several sections are pertinent. To confirm the plan, the debtor is required to devote all of her "projected disposable income" to unsecured creditors under Section 1325(b)(1).

Section 541(b)(7)(A), one of the most poorly drafted provisions added in 2005 by the Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer Protection Act, provides that property of the estate does not include contributions to 401(k) plans. The end of the subsection includes a so-called hanging paragraph that says, "except that such amount under this subparagraph shall not constitute disposable income as defined in section 1325(b)(2)."

Finally, Section 707(b) provides grounds for dismissal and uses the term "current monthly income." While charitable contributions are specifically excluded as grounds for dismissal, the statute is silent about contributions to a retirement plan.

There have been four interpretations of the statute, with three results: (1) Retirement contributions can never be deducted from disposable income, even if the debtor was making contributions before bankruptcy; (2) a debtor may continue making contributions, but not more

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

than the debtor was making before bankruptcy; and (3) a debtor may make contributions after bankruptcy up to the maximum allowed by the IRS, even if the debtor was making none before bankruptcy.

So far, only the Sixth Circuit has tackled the split. See Davis v. Helbling (In re Davis), 960 F.3d 346 (6th Cir. 2020). In a 2/1 decision, the majority held that a debtor who was making contributions to a 401(k) before bankruptcy may continue making contributions in the same amount by deducting the contributions from "disposable income."

The majority in *Davis* rejected the holding by some courts that contributions are never included in disposable income, whether or not the debtor was making contributions before bankruptcy. The dissenter would have held that a debtor cannot make contributions after bankruptcy, even if he or she was making them beforehand. To read ABI's report on *Davis*, <u>click here</u>.

The Fourth Circuit ducked the split on statutory interpretation in 2017. See Gorman v. Cantu (In re Cantu), 713 F. App'x 200, 202 (4th Cir. 2017). To read ABI's report, click here.

Two of the circuit judges in *Cantu* believed that the trustee had only appealed the bankruptcy court's good faith finding and not a second question of statutory interpretation. The appeals court decided that the bankruptcy court's finding of good faith was not clearly erroneous because the debtor was only planning to contribute \$3,200 a year when the maximum permissible contribution under tax law would have been \$18,000.

The creditor wanted Judge Burris to adopt the approach of the dissenter in *Davis* and bar contributions to retirement plans, even if the debtor was making contributions before bankruptcy.

Tackling the question herself, Judge Burris noted that neither Section 1325 nor Section 707 "explicitly authorizes" deduction of retirement contributions from disposable income.

Judge Burris declined to follow the *Davis* dissent and "instead joins the majority and other courts within the Fourth Circuit that have held that post-petition voluntary retirement contributions are not considered disposable income, so long as such contributions are made in good faith." She interpreted the hanging paragraph to show the intent of Congress "to exclude retirement contributions from available disposable income under Section 1325(b)."

Turning to the question of good faith, Judge Burris saw the Fourth Circuit as calling for an examination of the totality of the circumstances.

First, Judge Burris refused to infer bad faith solely because the debtor would continue making retirement plan contributions.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The creditor had defeated the debtor regarding good faith when the original plan came on for confirmation. The amended plan, Judge Burris said, "is significantly different and provides far more" for creditors.

In addition, the debtor had been making contributions for several years "and in amounts consistent with what she intends post-petition," Judge Burris said. Although she was only 36 years of age, "her monthly contribution is well within the allowable limit" of \$19,500.

Furthermore, Judge Burris said that a "substantial portion" of unsecured debts would be paid by the plan. She therefore overruled the objection regarding good faith and directed entry of an order confirming the plan.

Observations

The issue raises questions of policy and statutory interpretation. Given that the statutory muddle has been on the books for 16 years, the prospect of a congressional fix is remote. "It is more likely that the issue will continue to be left to the judiciary to clean up," Jamie Olinto told ABI.

Mr. Olinto is a partner in the Jacksonville, Fla., office of Adams & Reese LLP. He saw this newest case as showing a tendency for courts to "settle on a standard which allows for flexibility in balancing the oft-competing interests of debtors and their creditors to reach what the jurist reasons to be a fair and equitable result rooted in whether the debtor is acting in good faith."

In other words, debtors in different parts of the country will live under different regimes until Congress or the Supreme Court resolves the split.

Given the lack of clarity in the statute itself, this writer submits that courts are entitled to use their common sense and notions of fairness to divine an answer.

Fewer and fewer Americans have defined benefit pension plans funded altogether by their employers. If a worker is lucky enough to have any retirement plan, it likely will be a defined contribution plan where the employer may only make matching contributions.

Barring or limiting pension contributions precludes chapter 13 debtors from cashing in on significant tax advantages available to other Americans and means they will have lower incomes in retirement. When retirees may have nothing more than meager Social Security benefits and whatever they have been able to contribute to 401(k)s or IRAs, preventing chapter 13 debtors from providing for their retirements is bad policy, in this writer's view.

Courts should not make policy choices preventing some Americans from taking advantage of tax benefits, unless the result is clearly commanded by the Bankruptcy Code, in this writer's view.



The opinion is *In re Pizzo*, 20-01758, 2021 BL 188943, 2021 Bankr Lexis 1393 (Bankr. D.S.C. May 20, 2021).



Judge Grossman didn't abolish 'chapter 20' entirely. He required the debtor to treat the subordinate mortgage lender like all other unsecured creditors, even though the debtor's personal liability to the lender had been discharged in the prior chapter 7 case.

In 'Chapter 20,' Discharged Mortgage Claim Resurrects as Unsecured, EDNY Judge Says

He didn't abolish so-called chapter 20 entirely, but Bankruptcy Judge Robert E. Grossman of Central Islip, N.Y., has made it unworkable for many chapter 13 debtors.

The typical chapter 20 case works like this: The consumer first files under chapter 7 to extinguish personal liability on a subordinate, underwater home mortgage. Later, sometimes the day after receiving a chapter 7 discharge, the consumer files a separate chapter 13 case to strip off the mortgage lien that survived chapter 7 as an *in rem* liability solely against the real property.

When chapter 20 works, the debtor emerges from the subsequent chapter 13 case with the underwater mortgage stripped off and no personal liability on the subordinate mortgage debt.

The Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel has validated chapter 20, at least when the debtor receives a discharge in chapter 13. *See Washington v. Real Time Resolution Inc. (In re Washington)*, 602 B.R. 710 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. July 30, 2019). To read ABI's report on *Washington*, click here.

In Judge Grossman's modified version of chapter 20, the lien is stripped off in the subsequent chapter 13 case. Although the debtor's personal liability on the mortgage note was discharged in the prior chapter 7 case, he ruled that the mortgage debt is nonetheless an unsecured claim to be treated like all other unsecured claims in the chapter 13 plan.

The Underwater, Subordinate Mortgage

The facts demonstrate why Judge Grossman's modified chapter 20 was likely unpalatable for the debtor in the case before him.

The debtor had received a chapter 7 discharge 12 years earlier. She filed a chapter 13 petition in early 2021, listing her home with a value of about \$550,000. The home was subject to an \$850,000 first mortgage and a \$300,000 second mortgage. The second, or subordinate, mortgage

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

was underwater, meaning there was no equity in the property above the first mortgage to satisfy any portion of the second mortgage.

The debtor's personal liability on the subordinate mortgage had been discharged in the prior chapter 7 case. However, the second mortgage remained a lien on her home as a consequence of *Dewsnup v. Timm*, 502 U.S. 410 (1992).

The debtor filed a chapter 13 plan promising to pay unsecured creditors 100%.

Aiming to escape all liability on the second mortgage and effectively void the second mortgage lien, the debtor filed a motion asking Judge Grossman to strip off the subordinate lien and declare that the lender's unsecured claim would be zero under the chapter 13 plan.

In his August 5 opinion, Judge Grossman said he would strip off the lien, but he ruled that the entire amount of the mortgage debt would be a valid, unsecured claim in the debtor's chapter 13 plan to be paid in full over the life of the plan, if the debtor were to confirm the plan.

The decision may have made chapter 13 unworkable for the debtor, given that she was proposing a 100% plan for unsecured creditors. Chapter 13 still might work if the best interests test would allow the debtor to reduce the percentage payout to an amount she could realistically afford.

Critique of Courts Permitting Chapter 20

Judge Grossman said that courts disagree on a chapter 13 debtor's ability to strip off an underwater mortgage when the *in personam* obligation on the mortgage loan was discharged in a prior chapter 7 case.

Courts that eliminate subordinate mortgage debt in a subsequent chapter 13 rely on "several problematic assumptions," Judge Grossman said. Those courts "equate[] the discharge injunction with the elimination of the underlying debt." The discharge does not eliminate the debt, it only bars collection as a personal liability of the debtor, Judge Grossman said.

Judge Grossman went on to say that the claim filed by the mortgage holder in the chapter 13 case "is not an act to collect a discharged debt and does not run afoul of § 524."

Courts that eliminate the debt in chapter 13 also overlook Section 522(c), Judge Grossman said. That section provides "that the property remains liable during and after the case for debt secured by a lien that is (i) not avoided under subsections (f) or (g), and (ii) not void under § 506(d)." Therefore, he said that "the *in rem* lien securing the mortgage claim that survives bankruptcy is protected to the extent that it is not void under § 506(d)."

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Grossman went on to say that Section 506(d) does not provide a mechanism to disallow a claim. As such, he said that the claim on the subordinate mortgage "is fully enforceable and cannot be disallowed under § 502."

Judge Grossman held that the debtor "is required to treat [the subordinate lender] the same as all unsecured creditors. [The lender] and the Debtor's other unsecured creditors are entitled to payment consistent with § 1325(a)(4) (the best interest of creditors test) and § 1325(b) (the disposable income test), which could mean payment of a small percentage of their claims or payment in full."

Judge Grossman granted the debtor's motion by allowing the debtor to strip off the lien but disallowed the motion to the extent that the debtor sought to reduce the amount of the claim to zero, based on an assumption that the debtor confirms a plan and receives a discharge.

Observations

There are good arguments on both sides of chapter 20. The aversion to eliminating both the claim and lien rests in part on the idea that the lender's efforts at collecting the claim in the chapter 13 case is not in violation of the discharge injunction. Is the filing of a claim in chapter 13 an act to collect a discharged debt as a personal obligation of the debtor?

Section 102(2) cuts both ways. The section says a "claim against the debtor" includes a claim against property of the debtor. On the one hand, the section suggests that the lender's *in rem* claim against the property is a claim against the debtor in chapter 13. On the other hand, does the section also suggest that the lender is violating the discharge injunction by asserting an *in rem* claim?

One day, the issue will reach several courts of appeals. There may be a split dropped into the laps of the justices on the Supreme Court, who may once again be asked to reexamine whether *Dewsnip* was correctly decided.

If the justices are inclined to believe that *Dewsnup* was a mistake that ignored the plain meaning of the statute (as the late Justice Antonin Scalia argued), debtors may prevail by stripping off the underwater lien while eliminating the mortgage debt in a later chapter 13 case.

Advocates of chapter 20 may have an attractive argument based on the plain language of the statutes, but those in Judge Grossman's camp appeal to a sense of fairness in believing that a subordinate lender should have a claim paid the same percentage as other unsecured creditors.

The opinion is *In re Hopper*, 21-70139 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. Aug. 5, 2021).



Compensation



Local or state bar groups should work up standard-form retainer agreements and disclosures to facilitate bifurcated fee arrangements.

Standards Laid Down for Bifurcated Fee Arrangement in the Southern District of Florida

Chief Bankruptcy Judge Laurel M. Isicoff of Miami wrote an opinion that serves the purpose of a local rule by explaining how and when a consumer can sign up for a so-called bifurcated arrangement to pay fees for filing a chapter 7 petition in the Southern District of Florida.

Judge Isicoff said that the rulings in her June 16 opinion represented "the legal conclusions of all of the judges of the Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of Florida." She drew on prior opinions allowing bifurcated fee arrangements, such as *In re Carr*, 613 B.R. 427 (Bankr. E.D. Ky. 2020). To read ABI's report on *Carr*, click here.

The Access-to-Justice Problem

Judge Isicoff began her 41-page opinion by laying out the "access to justice" problem created in 2004 when the Supreme Court handed down *Lamie v. U.S. Trustee*, 540 U.S. 526, 538 (2004). The high court's decision meant that a chapter 7 lawyer cannot require the debtor, after filing, to pay for post-petition services if the obligation arose pre-petition.

Lamie became a burden for many consumers who can't afford to pay the entire fee before filing. For those unable to pay up front, the decision left consumers with four options: (1) the debtor can delay filing until enough money is in hand; (2) the lawyer can perform the services and hope the debtor pays after filing; (3) the lawyer can bifurcate the fee arrangement; or (4) the debtor can file a chapter 13 petition to pay counsel as part of the plan.

The Bifurcated Arrangement

The cases before Judge Isicoff involved bifurcated fee arrangements with three different chapter 7 debtors and two law firms. In one case, the debtor paid \$335 before filing. In the other two cases, the debtors paid nothing before filing. In other words, the lawyer in those two cases advanced the filing fee.

Post-petition, the debtors were to pay between \$1,300 and \$1,600 under separate engagement agreements signed after filing. All three debtors received discharges.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

270



The law firms had separate pre-petition and post-petition engagement agreements with their clients, explaining services to be provided before and after filing. Essentially, the debtors could pay their lawyers after filing, hire a new lawyer, or proceed *pro se* after filing. Judge Isicoff's opinion contains details about the disclosure that the lawyers made to their clients and the disclosures made to the court about the fee arrangements.

The Objections and the Rulings

The U.S. Trustee filed objections. Although not opposing bifurcated fee arrangements altogether, the U.S. Trustee wanted Judge Isicoff to, among other things, prohibit the post-petition payment for pre-petition services. The U.S. Trustee found shortcomings in some of the disclosures to the clients and to the court.

In short, none of the fee arrangements passed muster entirely. However, Judge Isicoff did not require the lawyers to disgorge any fees but told them to obey the dictates of her opinion in new cases.

For consumers' lawyers in Florida, and for counsel elsewhere relying on Judge Isicoff's opinion as authority for what works and what doesn't work, the opinion must be read line by line. There are dozens of fine points throughout the opinion that must be obeyed punctiliously. We will make no effort to note them all here.

For this writer, the main takeaway from Judge Isicoff's opinion is the excruciating detail that must be included in engagement agreements and in fee disclosures to ensure compliance with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules and the ethical standards for the state bar association.

Reading between the lines, the opinion means that local or state bar groups and judges should draft standard form engagement agreements and disclosures to be used by consumers' lawyers to ensure that debtors are properly advised about their rights and the implications inherent in bifurcated fee arrangements.

Several of Judge Isicoff's holdings are noteworthy:

- Post-petition agreements cannot be used to pay for pre-petition services.
- Before filing, the lawyer (not a nonlawyer) must meet with the client and analyze
 whether filing is appropriate and, if it is, under what chapter.
- Before filing, the lawyer at a minimum must prepare the petition, the creditor matrix, a statement of attorney compensation, the credit-counseling certificate and a motion to pay the filing fee in installments, if required.
- If the post-petition engagement agreement is filed immediately after filing, there must be a 14-day rescission period.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

- When the lawyer has advanced the filing fee, reimbursing the lawyer after filing violates
 the Bankruptcy Code and the Rules of the Florida Bar Association. In other words, a nomoney-down chapter 7 filing only works when the debtor pays the fee in installments
 after filing or the court waives the filing fee.
- The \$335 that one client paid before filing was a reasonable fee for pre-filing services.
- The zero-dollar prefiling fee was also reasonable.
- In reviewing the reasonableness of fees paid after filing, the court takes into account not just the services that were actually rendered but also those that might have been required. Judge Isicoff found that the fees were all reasonable.

Observations

Judge Isicoff has a point. There is a problem with equal access to the bankruptcy process. Too many people file *pro se*, with predictably disastrous results. Others are shunted into a more expensive and lengthy chapter 13 case due simply to the inability to pay a retainer before filing. And others don't file at all.

Until Congress acts, this writer recommends that local or state bar groups and judges should work up standard forms to facilitate bifurcated fee arrangements for chapter 7 debtors.

The opinion is *In re Brown*, 20-23632 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. June 16, 2021).



Curiously, bifurcated fee arrangements are sometimes permitted in the Eastern District of Kentucky.

Bifurcated Fee Arrangements Barred in Western District of Kentucky

The bankruptcy judges in the Western District of Kentucky have effectively banned so-called bifurcated fee arrangements where chapter 7 debtors pay counsel fees after filing. The October 5 opinion by Bankruptcy Judge Joan A. Lloyd of Louisville, Ky., also bars lawyers from advancing the filing fee before filing and collecting the filing fee after filing.

Although the decision by Judge Lloyd largely follows holdings by Bankruptcy Judge Laurel M. Isicoff of Miami, Judge Lloyd declined to adopt Judge Isicoff's decision to allow bifurcated fee arrangements so long as disclosures are up to snuff. *See In re Brown*, 631 B.R. 77 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. June 16, 2021). To read ABI's report on *Brown*, click here.

Judge Lloyd declined to follow one of her sister judges from the Eastern District of Kentucky who allowed the use of bifurcated fee arrangements in certain delineated circumstances. *See In re Carr*, 613 B.R. 427 (Bankr. E.D. Ky. 2020). To read ABI's report on *Carr*, click here.

Judge Lloyd discussed the issue with the other judges in her district, who agreed that her legal conclusions would be the opinion of all judges in the district.

The Arrangement to Pay Fees After Filing

The fee bifurcated arrangement on review by Judge Lloyd was the most aggressive that a debtor's lawyer could employ. The arrangement was designed as an end run on *Lamie v. U.S. Trustee*, 540 U.S. 526, 538 (2004), where the Supreme Court held that a chapter 7 lawyer cannot require the debtor to pay for post-petition services after filing if the obligation arose pre-petition.

Judge Lloyd was reviewing a dozen chapter 7 cases filed by the same lawyer. The debtorclients paid nothing before filing. The lawyer even advanced the filing fee before filing.

The client signed two engagement agreements, one before filing and one afterward. Under the prefiling agreement, the client paid nothing. However, the lawyer interviewed the client, prepared and filed the petition, paid the filing fee and filed a list of creditors. The client was not obligated to sign a post-filing engagement agreement.

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

When the client signed the post-filing agreement, the lawyer became obligated to prepare and file the other required documents and attend the meeting of creditors. The post-filing agreement did not require the lawyer to appear in adversary proceedings.

Under the post-filing agreement, the client became obligated to pay a total of \$2,500 in monthly installments in the first year after filing. In addition to the lawyer's services, the payments covered the \$335 filing fee paid by the lawyer before filing.

Unknown to the client, the lawyer had a factoring agreement with a secured lender. Immediately after filing, the lender would pay the lawyer 60% of the \$2,500 fee. The lender collected the client's monthly payments and had a security interest in the lawyer's receivables.

For its services, the lender was entitled to retain 25% of collections from the client. The lender retained another 15% of the fee to cover its advances under the \$50,000 line of credit with the lawyer.

In her opinion, Judge Lloyd said that the same lawyer "consistently charged" a \$1,250 flat fee for clients who paid the entire fee before filing.

After an initial hearing about the fee arrangements, Judge Lloyd required the lawyer to seek an ethics opinion from the Kentucky Bar Association. The bar group declined to offer an opinion, for a variety of reasons.

The fee and factoring arrangements failed on many levels. Judge Lloyd found multiple violations of the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules and the Kentucky Rules of Professional Conduct.

Lawyer Can't Walk Away After Filing the Petition

Judge Lloyd said that the factoring agreement was "clearly designed to defeat existing bankruptcy law and rules enacted over at least a century ago to protect debtors, and all the machinations inherent in its processes will not save it from review and censure. Further, the Kentucky Rules of Professional Conduct are no less forgiving to counsel."

Judge Lloyd was no less critical about the notion that the lawyer has no obligations after filing if the client declines to sign a post-filing engagement agreement. Under the local rules, she said that filing the petition obligated the lawyer to perform all services in the ensuing chapter 7 case. In other words, the client's failure to sign the post-petition engagement agreement could not relieve the lawyer from the obligation to prepare and file the remaining required papers and represent the client in the chapter 7 case, other than in adversary proceedings.



Furthermore, the client's obligation to repay the \$335 filing fee after filing was a discharged debt that the lawyer could not collect after filing.

More particularly, Judge Lloyd held that advancing the filing fee and the concomitant repayment obligation in the post-filing agreement violated both the Bankruptcy Code and the Kentucky ethics rules. In addition to violating the automatic stay and the discharge injunction, advancing the filing fee violated Section 526(a)(4), because the lawyer was advising the client to incur more debt in advance of bankruptcy.

Judge Lloyd saw a "serious conflict of interest" when the lawyer asked the client to sign the post-petition agreement although the lawyer was already obligated to perform the post-filing services and was barred from collecting the filing fee.

Judge Lloyd concluded that the lawyer made inadequate disclosure about the bifurcated agreement and none regarding the factoring arrangement. She said, among other things, that the client was paying far more for representation and had no role in negotiating the factoring costs that raised the price for the debtor. The failure to disclose the factoring agreement was "[p]articularly troublesome," Judge Lloyd said.

Judge Lloyd concluded that the factoring agreement violated the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, the local rules, and the state's ethics rules. With regard to the factoring agreement, Judge Lloyd said "it is doubtful that any amount of disclosure can remedy the problem."

Judge Lloyd also identified undisclosed fee-splitting as a consequence of the factoring agreement, a failure of disclosure in the lawyer's Rule 2016 disclosure, and a violation of Section 329. She said that the failure to disclose was "particularly troubling" because the client was being charged "a higher fee" than someone who paid in advance of filing.

Finally, Judge Lloyd held that the fee was not "reasonable," given the \$1,250 flat fee the same lawyer would charge clients who paid in advance of filing.

Judge Lloyd said that similar arrangements may not be used "by any attorney" in the district.

For a client who can't pay the filing fee in advance of filing, Judge Lloyd noted at the end of her opinion that debtors may pay the filing fee in installments or ask for a waiver of the fee. To pay counsel fees after filing, she said that debtors can use chapter 13.

The opinion is *In re Baldwin*, 20-10009 (W.D. Ky. Oct. 5, 2021).



The Ninth Circuit BAP joins the minority on an issue that's headed for the court of appeals.

Chapter 13 Trustees Are Paid Even if Dismissal Comes Before Confirmation, BAP Says

In a split decision, the two judges on the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel took sides with the minority of courts around the country by ruling in a nonprecedential opinion that a standing chapter 13 trustee is entitled to retain her fee if the case is dismissed before confirmation.

All three judges on the panel offered their opinions. Bankruptcy Judge Gary A. Spraker wrote a concurring opinion to support the majority opinion by Bankruptcy Judge Scott Gan. Bankruptcy Judge William J. Lafferty penned a dissent. The three opinions consume 53 pages.

Combined, the opinions are the best exposé so far on both sides of the question. The opinions are a particularly fine discussion of the plain meaning doctrine, and when or whether it should be the end of the discussion. The opinions on both sides also analyze every conceivable canon of statutory construction applicable to the issue.

Typical Facts

A couple filed a chapter 13 petition in December 2019. Four months later, the court granted their voluntary motion to dismiss. On dismissal, the trustee was holding about \$2,200. No one objected to the allowance and payment of the debtors' counsel fee of some \$1,800.

The bankruptcy court struck language in the proposed dismissal order that would have allowed the standing chapter 13 trustee to take her fee from the remaining \$400. Instead, the bankruptcy judge ruled in substance that the trustee was not entitled to her fee because the case was dismissed before confirmation.

As authority, the bankruptcy court cited *In re Evans*, 615 B.R. 290 (Bankr. D. Idaho Feb. 13, 2020), by Chief Bankruptcy Judge Joseph M. Meier of Boise, Idaho. To read ABI's report on *Evans*, click here. *Evans* was appealed, but there is no decision as yet.

Likely more concerned about the precedent than the \$400, the chapter 13 trustee appealed and won in a 2/1 decision.



The Dueling Statutes

28 U.S.C. § 586(e) says that a standing trustee "shall *collect* such percentage fee from all payments . . . under [chapter 13] plans. . . . "[Emphasis added.]

Section 1326(a)(1) requires a chapter 13 debtor to commence making payments to the trustee within 30 days of filing. Subsection (a)(2) provides that payments made by the debtor "shall be retained by the trustee until confirmation or denial of confirmation. . . . If a plan is not confirmed, the trustee shall return any such payments not previously paid . . . to creditors . . . , after deducting any unpaid claim allowed under section 503(b)." The subsection says nothing explicitly about the standing trustee's fee.

To add further confusion, chapter 12 and Subchapter V of chapter 11 explicitly say what happens when dismissal precedes confirmation. Section 1226(a)(2) specifically allows the trustee to retain the statutory fee if a plan is not confirmed, and Section 1194(a) allows a Subchapter V trustee to be paid if the case is dismissed before confirmation.

What's to be taken from chapter 13's failure to say explicitly whether a trustee is paid if the case is dismissed before confirmation?

The Majority Opinion – No Ambiguity – 28 U.S.C. § 586(e) Controls

Judge Gan found no ambiguity in the statutes. He held that "a standing trustee is entitled to collect the statutory fee under § 586(e) upon receipt of each payment under the plan and is not required to disgorge the fee if the case is dismissed prior to confirmation." He also held that the standing trustee "obtains ownership of her percentage fee" when the debtor makes a payment under the plan.

In addition to what he said was the "common sense" and controlling meaning of "collect," Judge Gan pointed out how a standing trustee's compensation is controlled entirely by Section 586(e). The court has no control over the amount or payment via Section 330.

Simply stated, Judge Gan said "that the plain meaning of 'shall collect such percentage fee' means that a standing trustee obtains the fee upon receipt of each plan payment."

Judge Gan reversed and remanded, devoting much of his opinion to explaining why Section 1326(a)(2) was not pertinent.

Concurring, Judge Spraker said that a chapter 13 trustee's fee is akin to a "user fee," where "payment does not depend upon the success of the endeavor that generates the fee." Mirroring Judge Gan and disagreeing with *Evans*, he said that "the trustee is entitled to her fee as she receives the debtor's plan payments whether that plan is confirmed or not."

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE



Judge Spraker said he did not base his conclusion on the idea that a standing chapter 13 trustee should be paid for her services regardless of whether the plan is confirmed. Rather, he agreed with Judge Gan "because I find [his] reasoning more natural and less damaging statutorily to give effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of § 586(e)."

The Dissent

From a "purely policy standpoint," Judge Lafferty said in his dissent that he would agree with the majority and pay the chapter 13 trustee. However, he gave weight to the different result that Congress has mandated for chapter 12 and Subchapter V cases.

Judge Lafferty said he disagreed "vigorously" with the idea that the conclusion is found in the "unambiguous' language in one provision of what [the majority] believes to be the only relevant statute."

Judge Lafferty was not inclined to ignore legislative history. The House Report said that the fee is "fixed" by Section 586(e) but is payable under Section 1326(a)(2). Judge Lafferty's dissent is an admirable survey of theories about when the plain meaning doctrine should or should not be invoked.

Recommendation and Observations

For anyone confronting the issue, the BAP opinion and Evans have everything there is to say.

There likely will be no appeal to the Ninth Circuit from the BAP opinion because the debtor was not motivated to appear on the first level of appeal. With only \$400 in the balance, the debtor is not likely to appeal to the circuit.

However, *Evans* is *sub judice* in district court. Odds are, there will be an appeal to the circuit regardless of the outcome.

We salute the BAP for making its decision nonprecedential. Although BAP opinion are not binding except in the case on appeal, making the opinion nonprecedential signals to bankruptcy judges throughout the Ninth Circuit that they are at liberty to rule on the issue as they see fit.

The opinion is McCallister v. Harmon (In re Harmon), 20-1168, 2021 BL 276666, 2021 Bankr Lexis 1960 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. July 20, 2021).



Long Island judge finds no ambiguity in two statutes that other courts have found ambiguous when read together.

Courts Split on Paying Chapter 13 Trustee Fees in Cases Dismissed Before Confirmation

Taking sides on an issue where the courts are divided, Bankruptcy Judge Robert E. Grossman of Central Islip, N.Y., decided that a chapter 13 trustee is entitled to retain his or her statutory fee even if the case is dismissed before plan confirmation.

The debtor appealed the same day the decision came down.

Judge Grossman found the result in the plain language of the statute but carefully parsed decisions coming out the other way, including a contrary opinion in February by Chief Bankruptcy Judge Joseph M. Meier of Boise, Idaho. *In re Evans*, 19-40193, 2020 BL 53269, 2020 WL 739258 (Bankr. D. Idaho Feb. 13, 2020). To read ABI's report on *Evans*, click here.

The debtor in Judge Grossman's case filed a chapter 13 plan where he paid the trustee \$362,000 in a lump sum. Soon after, the debtor decided to dismiss the case. After dismissal, the trustee returned about \$341,500 to the debtor but retained some \$20,500 as his fee.

The debtor filed a motion asking the court to require the trustee to disgorge the fee. Technically speaking, the debtor was not objecting to the trustee's final report. The debtor lost on every argument he raised.

Two statutes informed Judge Grossman on the outcome.

28 U.S.C. § 586(e) says that a trustee "shall *collect* such percentage fee from all payments . . . under [chapter 13] plans" [Emphasis added.]

Section 1326(a)(1) requires a chapter 13 debtor to commence making payments to the trustee within 30 days of filing. Subsection (a)(2) provides that payments made by the debtor "shall be retained by the trustee until confirmation or denial of confirmation. . . . If a plan is not confirmed, the trustee shall return any such payments not previously paid . . . to creditors . . . , after deducting any unpaid claim allowed under section 503(b)." The subsection says nothing explicitly about the trustee's fee.

As Judge Meier said in the *Evans* case, the two statutes "appear to conflict" and "are ambiguous" when "construed together." Unlike chapter 13, where the statute does not address the

AMERICAN BANKRUPTCY INSTITUTE

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

issue directly, Judge Meier also pointed out how Section 1226(a)(2) specifically allows the trustee to retain the statutory fee if a plan is not confirmed.

Before addressing the two statutes, Judge Grossman first examined his power to provide a remedy. He ruled in his November 12 opinion that he lacked the equitable power to require disgorgement of part or all of the fee. Because the fee is fixed by statute, he said that "the Court has no authority to fix the dollar amount of the fee the Trustee receives in each Chapter 13 case."

Next, Judge Grossman said that the proper procedure called for objecting to the trustee's final report, as opposed to moving for disgorgement. He then examined the two statutes as though the debtor had objected to the final report.

Finding no ambiguity, Judge Grossman said that the "plain meaning" of Section 586(e) "reveals that the Trustee collects his percentage fee regardless of whether the plan is confirmed." He emphasized the statutory language which provides that the trustee "shall collect [his fee] from all payments received by [the trustee] under the plan. . . ."

Judge Grossman went on to say that the word "plan" is not limited to confirmed plans. He found no ambiguity in the word even taking Section 1326(a)(1) into consideration. He said that Section 1326(a)(1) requires returning payments to the debtor that are "not yet due and owing to creditors."

Judge Grossman interpreted the sections to mean that "the Debtor is only entitled to a return of the funds earmarked for creditors."

The policy underlying the system of standing chapter 13 trustees also influenced the decision by Judge Grossman. Congress designed the system to be self-funding.

"To permit debtors to evade payment of these fees solely on the basis of the success of their plans," Judge Grossman said, "would result in an outcome inconsistent with Congressional intent and would ultimately hinder the abilities of the Trustee Program to fund itself."

Judge Grossman held that "the Trustee's fee is a user fee, directed by statute, that must be universally paid by all chapter 13 debtors regardless of the outcome of each case."

The opinion is In re Soussis, 19-73686, 2020 BL 439963 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. Nov. 12, 2020).



Exemptions



By adopting a BAP opinion, the Ninth Circuit backed away from disallowing exemptions when a debtor disposes of exempt property after the filing date.

Ninth Circuit Joins the Fifth by Endorsing the 'Snapshot Rule' for Exemptions

By adopting an opinion by the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel "in full," the Ninth Circuit has limited its own precedents constricting a debtor's ability to exempt a homestead.

In *Wolfe v. Jacobson (In re Jacobson)*, 676 F.3d 1193 (9th Cir. 2012), and *England v. Golden (In re Golden)*, 789 F.2d 698 (9th Cir. 1986), the Ninth Circuit declared that the debtors were not entitled to exemptions because the debtors sold their homesteads before or after filing. Both cases have now been limited to their particular facts.

Prior Ninth Circuit Authorities

In *Golden*, the earlier of the two cases, the chapter 7 debtor sold her home *before* bankruptcy and claimed an exemption to cover the proceeds. However, the debtor did not reinvest the proceeds in another home within six months, as required by California law. The Ninth Circuit ruled that the failure to reinvest under state law resulted in the loss of the homestead exemption, even though she would have been entitled to exempt the proceeds on the filing date.

In *Jacobson*, the Ninth Circuit expanded on *Golden*. The chapter 7 debtor sold her home *after* filing but did not reinvest the proceeds within six months as required by California law. Interpreting *Golden*, the Ninth Circuit reversed the BAP and held that the debtor lost the exemption, even though she would have been entitled to the exemption on the filing date.

The Case on Appeal

The case on appeal involved a chapter 7 debtor who co-owned a home in Washington State with her parents. She said that her interest was worth \$90,000 and claimed a \$125,000 homestead exemption.

She resided in the home on the filing date but married a short time later and moved in with her new husband. The chapter 7 trustee objected to the exemption, contending that she lacked the intent to reside in the home on the filing date and lost the exemption under Washington law when she moved out.



The BAP Opinion

The bankruptcy court overruled the objection, and the BAP affirmed in an opinion on March 23 by Bankruptcy Judge William J. Lafferty of Oakland, Calif. Others on the panel were Bankruptcy Judges Julia W. Brand and Scott H. Gan.

The trustee appealed the BAP's opinion. The Ninth Circuit heard argument on February 5. In a *per curiam* but precedential opinion on March 5, the appeals court affirmed "for the reasons stated" by the BAP. The circuit court went further by adopting the BAP opinion "in full."

Note: In nonprecedential opinions, appellate courts frequently affirm "for the reasons stated below." However, taking the next step in a precedential opinion and adopting the lower court's opinion is rare. In this instance, adopting the BAP opinion is significant because it has the effect of limiting *Jacobson* and *Golden*.

Washington Law

The debtor elected Washington exemptions, which grant a homestead exemption to property where the owner resides or intends to reside and that is "actually intended or used" as a principal residence. If the owner is not residing in the home, the owner may have an exemption by recording a declaration of exemption.

However, Washington law presumes a homestead to be abandoned if, in the absence of a declaration, the owner abandons the home continuously for six months.

Washington liberally construes the exemption in favor of debtors.

The BAP's Reasoning

Judge Lafferty laid out what is commonly known as the snapshot rule. He cited Section 522(b)(3)(A) for the proposition that "exemptions are to be determined in accordance with the state law applicable on the date of filing," citing *Jacobson*.

Although the debtor moved out shortly after filing, Judge Lafferty said:

[T]he plain language of Washington's homestead statute reflects that Debtor was entitled to an automatic homestead exemption *on the petition date*, so long as she was occupying the Property as her principal residence, regardless of her future plans In other words, *if the owner is occupying the homestead property as of the petition date, the inquiry ordinarily ends there*; intent comes into play only if the owner does not occupy the property. [Emphasis added.]

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The trustee countered by arguing that the exemption was conditioned on the debtor's remaining in the property or filing a declaration of nonabandonment. Naturally, the trustee relied on *Jacobson* and *Golden*, where the debtors' actions before or after filing resulted in loss of the exemption for failure to abide by state law.

Judge Lafferty conceded that the two cases "support the trustee's position," but he said in a footnote that "*Jacobson* appears to be an outlier in holding that post-petition events may impact a debtor's right to an exemption. In any event, that case is both factually and legally distinguishable from the matter presented here."

Rather than expand circuit precedent, Judge Lafferty instead focused on Washington law and "decline[d] to read the statute so broadly, particularly in light of the principle that Washington exemption statutes are to be interpreted liberally in favor of protecting family homes."

Judge Lafferty went on to say that the cases cited by the trustee, including the two Ninth Circuit precedents, were "all distinguishable" on their facts. The debtor resided in the home on the petition date, and that "was sufficient to confer automatic protection of the homestead," he said.

Moving out of the home was "simply irrelevant," Judge Lafferty said. He saw "no policy that would be served by denying Debtor her exemption under these facts." Indeed, he indicated that policy bent in favor of the debtor. He said that "a debtor's right to a homestead exemption in a chapter 7 case should not be predicated on the happenstance of how long the case remains pending."

Judge Lafferty (and therefore the Ninth Circuit) affirmed and remanded the case for the bankruptcy court to determine the amount of the exemption.

Observations

The opinion by Judge Lafferty is a ringing endorsement of the snapshot principle, where exemptions are determined as of the filing date and subsequent events do not matter, even if they would matter under state law.

Jacobson is indeed an "outlier," as Judge Lafferty said. The Fifth Circuit has moved away from results like Jacobson.

In In re Frost, 744 F.3d 384 (5th Cir. 2014), a couple owned a home when they filed a chapter 13 petition. Later, they sold the home but did not reinvest the proceeds in another exempt homestead. Without saying in the opinion whether the case was in chapter 7 or 13, the Fifth Circuit held in Frost that the proceeds lost their exempt status, relying in part on In re Zibman, 268 F.3d 298 (5th Cir. 2001). In Zibman, the debtors sold their home before filing but did not reinvest within the time required by state law.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

In *Hawk v. Engelhart (In re Hawk)*, 871 F.3d 287 (5th Cir. Sept. 5, 2017), the Fifth Circuit backed away from *Frost* and *Zibman* by holding that property in an exempt individual retirement account on the filing date did not lose its exempt status if it was converted to nonexempt property after the filing of a chapter 7 petition.

Six months later, the Fifth Circuit expanded *Hawk* to cover homesteads, thus allowing a chapter 7 debtor to sell a home after filing but not lose the exemption, even if the proceeds were not reinvested in another house. *Lowe v. DeBerry (In re DeBerry)*, 884 F.3d 526 (5th Cir. March 7, 2018).

In other words, *DeBerry* and *Jacobson* are irreconcilable. They reach opposite results on the same facts. Indeed, *DeBerry* is squarely on point for the appeal in the Ninth Circuit and leads to the same holding and conclusion as the opinion by Judge Lafferty.

To read ABI's reports on *Hawk* and *DeBerry*, click <u>here</u> and <u>here</u>.

The opinion is Klein v. Anderson (In re Anderson), 20-60014 (9th Cir. March 1, 2021).



Where the courts are split, Idaho judge sides with the Tenth Circuit BAP and allows a chapter 13 debtor to retain post-petition appreciation in the value of a homestead following conversion to chapter 7.

Court Lets the Debtor Keep Appreciation in a Home on Conversion from 13 to 7

On an issue where courts are split, Chief Bankruptcy Judge Joseph M. Meier of Boise, Idaho, followed the Tenth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel by holding that post-petition appreciation in the value of a homestead belongs to the debtor when a case converts from chapter 13 to chapter 7.

On filing her chapter 13 petition, the debtor valued her homestead at about \$100,000. It was subject to a mortgage for about \$62,000. At the time, the Idaho homestead exemption was \$100,000.

The bankruptcy court entered an order limiting the debtor's exemption in the home to \$32,000.

A few months after confirming her chapter 13 plan, the debtor converted the case to chapter 7. The chapter 7 trustee evidently believed that the home was worth more than \$100,000. Surmising that the home was actually worth \$140,000, the trustee wanted to sell the home out from under the debtor and limit her exemption in the proceeds to \$32,000.

In his January 8 opinion, Judge Meier decided that post-petition appreciation in the home belongs to the debtor.

The debtor's first argument failed to persuade Judge Meier. She contended that the chapter 7 estate did not include her homestead because it vested in her on confirmation of the chapter 13 plan under Section 1327(b).

The outcome of the debtor's first argument turned on statutory language. When a chapter 13 case converts to chapter 7, Section 348(f)(1)(A) now provides that "property of the estate in the converted case shall consist of property of the estate, as of the date of filing of the [chapter 13] petition, that remains in the possession of or is under the control of the debtor on the date of conversion."

Judge Meier held that the plain language of the statute brought the home into the chapter 7 estate because the debtor owned the home on filing her chapter 13 petition.



The next question was this: Did the debtor's homestead exemption of \$32,000 become immutably fixed on the chapter 13 filing date?

Again, the debtor lost, but the loss was not fatal.

"Under the 'snapshot rule,'" Judge Meier said, "the exemptions that can be claimed and the amount of such exemptions are frozen as of the date of the petition. [Citing Ninth Circuit authority.] The conversion of this case does not change the value of the Home or the exemption against it as they existed at the time of the petition."

Judge Meier thus held that the debtor's "homestead exemption remains limited to [\$32,000] — the amount this Court previously determined Debtor could claim as an exemption based on the date of the petition."

The debtor was left with a final argument: Even though she was stuck with a \$32,000 homestead exemption, was the debtor entitled to retain post-petition appreciation in the value of the home after conversion to chapter 7?

Here, courts are divided and the statute has no clear answer. Aside from caselaw in her favor, the debtor's best argument was based on the legislative history regarding Section 348(f)(1)(A), which Judge Meier quoted.

Judge Meier was persuaded by the analysis by Bankruptcy Judge Elizabeth E. Brown of Denver in *In re Barrera*, 620 B.R. 645 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2020). Judge Brown was affirmed by the Tenth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel in *Rodriguez v. Barrera* (*In re Barrera*), 20-003, 2020 BL 381720, 2020 WL 5869458 (B.A.P. 10th Cir. Oct. 2, 2020) (appeal pending). To read ABI's report on the BAP's *Barrera* opinion, click here.

Judge Meier said that Barrera "better reflects the legislative intent of § 348."

"Based on the comments in the House Report," Judge Meier decided that "Congress took issue with the remedy Trustee seeks in this motion." He noted that the debtor "had equity in the Home on the date of the petition, [and] the home would likely have been abandoned to the Debtor if this case had proceeded under chapter 7 from its commencement."

Judge Meier held that "the appreciation should not belong to the estate now merely because the case began as a chapter 13 case and was converted to a chapter 7 case." He held that "the appreciation in the Home inured to the Debtor upon conversion."

The opinion is *In re Cofer*, 19-40361 (D. Idaho Jan. 8, 2021).



Having a family member in the home who made a formal request for legal residence will suffice to permit a Florida homestead exemption, Judge Jennemann said.

Lack of Permanent Resident Status Doesn't Always Defeat a Homestead Exemption

Someone who does not have legal residence in the U.S. will still qualify for a Florida homestead exemption if she has at least one family member in the home who "hopes" to gain legal residency and has made a formal request for permanent residency, according to Bankruptcy Judge Karen S. Jennemann of Orlando, Fla.

The debtor owned a half interest in the home where she had lived for more than 20 years. Her half interest was worth almost \$150,000, and she claimed a Florida homestead exemption of more than \$36,000 in her chapter 7 case.

In her May 27 opinion, Judge Jennemann said the debtor was not entitled to reside permanently in the U.S.

"Courts uniformly hold" that someone lacking permanent resident status in the U.S. is ineligible for the Florida homestead exemption. Why? Because Florida law has both a subjective and an objective test.

Objectively speaking, the debtor must actually use and occupy the home. Subjectively, the debtor "must express an actual intent to live permanently in the home," Judge Jennemann said. Someone without permanent resident status cannot satisfy the subjective test.

The debtor's daughter saved the debtor's homestead exemption.

The daughter had lived in the home since she arrived in the U.S. as a minor. The daughter had enrolled in the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals program in 2012 and "hopes to gain legal residency under DACA," Judge Jennemann said.

The daughter was married to a U.S. citizen serving abroad in the U.S. military. The son-in-law listed the home as his permanent residence.

Judge Jennemann denied the trustee's objection to the homestead exemption claim.

Judge Jennemann said that a "few courts" have allowed the Florida homestead exemption "when the debtor has family members residing at the claimed homestead who are legally

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

authorized to permanently reside in the U.S." She cited a Florida appellate court for allowing the exemption based on a temporary visa held by the homeowners and their son, who was a U.S. citizen.

In two other cases, the exemption was allowed to immigrants who did not have so-called green cards but had arrived legally in the U.S. under temporary visas and promptly applied for political asylum. They "had the intent to permanently reside in the U.S.," Judge Jennemann said.

Judge Jennemann found the case before her to be "even more compelling." The daughter had enrolled in the DACA program and "hopes one day to receive permanent legal residency." If unsuccessful, the daughter had applied for a green card after marrying a citizen.

Judge Jennemann overruled the objection because the debtor had at least one family member living in the home who had made a "formal legal request" to "gain legal status of a permanent resident."

The opinion is *In re De Bauer*, 20-04228 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. May 27, 2021).



Estate Property



Are there two tests for the existence of a claim, one test for claims against the debtor and another for claims by the debtor?

'Accrual Test' Survives to Say Whether the Debtor or the Estate Owns a Claim

The Third Circuit's long-vilified *Frenville* opinion is experiencing a rebirth in the Sixth Circuit, at least with regard to legal malpractice claims committed against the debtor. On January 26, the Cincinnati-based appeals court held that a malpractice claim belonged to the debtors, not to the chapter 7 estate, because the claim did not accrue under state law until the debtors lost their discharges.

The Malpractice Claim

A couple consulted with counsel about their financial problems. The lawyers recommended filing a chapter 7 petition.

In their schedules, the debtors listed \$6,000 in assets. The trustee later determined that they had million in assets in a web of trusts and shell companies. Eventually, the debtors lost their discharges for failure to disclose assets.

The Sixth Circuit's opinion by Circuit Judge Bernice Bouie Donald did not say whether the debtors contributed to their own loss of discharge by failing to disclose assets to their attorneys. The opinion also does not state whether the lawyers knew about the potential nondisclosed assets and advised their clients not to schedule them, or even told them about the risk of nondisclosure.

The debtors filed a legal malpractice suit against their lawyers in state court after losing their discharges. Having received derivative standing, a creditor filed a malpractice suit in bankruptcy court. On cross motions for summary judgment, the bankruptcy court applied Tennessee law and granted summary judgment in favor of the debtors, holding that the malpractice claim belonged to them. The bankruptcy court reasoned that the malpractice claim accrued under state law after bankruptcy because damage did not occur until the debtors sustained injury when the court denied their discharges.

The Bankruptcy Appellate Panel affirmed in April 2019. *Church Joint Venture LP v. Blasingame (In re Blasingame)*, 597 B.R. 614 (B.A.P. 6th Cir. April 5, 2019). Because there was no pre-petition injury, the BAP ruled that "the malpractice cause of action arose post-petition and is not property of the bankruptcy estate." *Id.* at 619. To read ABI's report on the BAP opinion, click here.



Frenville

There is no longer a circuit split regarding the test to determine when a claim arose *against a bankruptcy estate* and was therefore discharged. As we shall see, there is less clarity in knowing whether a claim *against a third party* belongs to the estate or the debtor.

In Avellino & Bienes v. M. Frenville Co. (In re M. Frenville Co.), 744 F.2d 332 (3d Cir. 1984), the Third Circuit had held that a claim was not discharged in bankruptcy if it had not arisen *under state law* before bankruptcy. Third Circuit sat *en banc* in 2010, overruled *Frenville* and sided with seven other circuits. See Jeld-Wen Inc. v. Van Brunt (In re Grossman's Inc.), 607 F.3d 114 (3d Cir. 2010).

In *Grossman's*, the Third Circuit held that an asbestos claim is presumptively discharged if exposure occurred before bankruptcy, even though injury was not manifest until years later. The *en banc* court reasoned that *Frenville* was contrary to the broad definition given to the word "claim" in the Bankruptcy Code.

As shown by the Sixth Circuit's new decision, the discredited *Frenville* concept still holds water in deciding whether a claim belongs to the estate or the debtor.

Is Segal v. Rochelle Still Good Law?

Typically, an analysis of estate property begins with a concept laid down by the Supreme Court under the former Bankruptcy Act. In *Segal v. Rochelle*, 382 U.S. 375 (1966), the Court ruled that an intangible claim is estate property if it is "sufficiently rooted in the prebankruptcy past." *Id.* at 380.

Judge Donald observed that the "sufficiently rooted" language "has a long and disputed history." She noted that the statutory definition of estate property changed with the adoption of the Bankruptcy Code in 1978.

Generally speaking, the Code attempted to broaden the concept of estate property. Judge Donald said that some circuits believe that the definition of estate property in Section 541 codified *Segal*, while others question whether the "rooted" concept survived the Code.

"There is little agreement" among the circuits, Judge Donald said, on how to apply *Segal* to a malpractice claim against a debtor's attorneys. Some apply the test "expansively," allowing the estate to capture contingent and unripe claims. Others rely on accrual under state law, thus allowing a debtor to retain a malpractice claim.



Although Sixth Circuit precedent did not answer the question on appeal, Judge Donald found guidance in *Tyler v. DH Capital Mgmt. Inc.*, 736 F.3d 455 (6th Cir. 2013). In *Tyler*, the occurrence of a pre-petition violation was one indicia of a claim belonging to the estate.

Judge Donald asked, "when did the violation occur?" Did the violation occur on the breach of duty or when damage was incurred? For the answer, she looked to Tennessee law.

Tennessee had changed its rule. Now, a malpractice claim accrues when a patient discovers or should have discovered injury.

Weaving Segal together with Tennessee law, Judge Donald said,

[W]hile it remains difficult to determine whether, if ever, an unaccrued claim can be "sufficiently rooted" in a debtor's past, it is clear that at the very least there must be some awareness of the claim in order for it to exist as a legal interest and be properly included in the debtor's bankruptcy petition.

Judge Donald said that "Tennessee courts have likewise applied this same reasoning to their accrual rule, seeking to ameliorate the unjust results caused by treating a claim as accrued prior to a plaintiff's knowledge of the injury."

Applying the facts to the law, Judge Donald held that "the malpractice cause of action could not have become a legal interest under Tennessee law until after the judgment denying the [debtors'] discharge was entered because the [the debtors] were unaware of the filing attorneys' conduct, which allegedly constituted malpractice."

When the debtors filed their chapter 7 petition, "the malpractice claims were not a legal interest under Tennessee law such that they could be considered as property of the bankruptcy estate under federal law," Judge Donald said. She therefore affirmed the BAP and held that the malpractice claim belonged to the debtors.

Observations

Crucial facts are missing that could have affected the result.

Did the debtors tell counsel about their trusts and ownership interests? Did the debtors only tell counsel about the \$6,000 in assets that ended up in the schedules, withholding information about other assets? Did counsel advise the debtors that their web of ownership interests need not be disclosed? Did counsel advise the debtors about the risk of nondisclosure? Did counsel know about the additional assets but omit them from the schedules at the direction of the debtors?



The trustee should have been able to discover answers to the foregoing questions because the trustee presumably controlled the debtors' attorney/client privilege.

If the debtors were responsible for nondisclosure, the lawyers may have a defense regardless of who owns the claim. Or, the lawyers may have a defense to a claim by the debtors but no defense to a claim by the trustee if the lawyers violated their obligations under Rule 9011. After all, nondisclosure caused the trustee and the surrogate to incur additional costs in discovering and recovering nondisclosed estate property.

If the debtors were responsible in part for nondisclosure, equitable principles might preclude them from owning the claim, assuming no bar under *Law v. Siegel*, 571 U.S. 415 (2014). It is also conceivable that a full revelation of the facts might show that the debtors and the trustee could assert different claims with different measures of damages.

Judge Donald's Dissent in Underhill

In her opinion, Judge Donald six times cited the nonprecedential Sixth Circuit opinion in *Underhill v. Huntington National Bank (In re Underhill)*, 579 F. App'x 480 (6th Cir. 2014). Judge Donald dissented in *Underhill*. She mostly cited her own dissent. The BAP decision relied heavily on *Underhill*.

In *Underhill*, a couple filed a chapter 7 petition, claiming that their closely-held corporation had no claims. The trustee reported "no assets."

As it turned out, the corporation had a tortious interference claim. The couple sued and received an \$80,000 settlement. A creditor learned about the settlement and reopened the couple's bankruptcy. The bankruptcy court ruled that the settlement proceeds were estate property, and the BAP affirmed.

Interpreting *Segal*, the Sixth Circuit majority reversed the BAP. Judge Donald dissented, saying that the debtors were aware of the claim before filing but did not list any contingent or unliquidated claims. She said that the tortious interference claim was based in part on pre-petition conduct of which the debtors were aware.

Consequently, Judge Donald believed that the claim was "sufficiently rooted" in the prebankruptcy era to qualify as estate property.

Under Sixth Circuit precedent, Judge Donald said in *Underhill* that it was of "little significance" under Ohio law whether a tortious interference claim requires actionable damages. She said the majority "misplaced" reliance on the fact that the tortious interference claim was not actionable until after bankruptcy.



Had the facts been fully developed, Judge Donald might have been able to resuscitate her *Underhill* dissent. If the debtors were aware of the failure to disclose assets, her *Underhill* dissent would suggest that she could have found the malpractice claim to be estate property.

Overview

Should "claim" have a different meaning, depending on whether the claim is by or against the estate? On one level, two definitions make sense.

With regard to claims against an estate, a broad definition of claim makes sense. Companies could not reorganize in chapter 11 if they were to be sued after bankruptcy based on claims that did not manifest until after discharge.

Even with an expansive definition of "claim," creditors are protected by the Due Process Clause if unmanifested claims are discharged. Why? Because, debtors must create trusts to satisfy claims that do not manifest until after bankruptcy.

In the case of claims by a debtor, a broad definition can be unfair. The issue arises with regard to medical malpractice claims that do not manifest until after bankruptcy. Should a trustee swoop down and snatch away a malpractice claim that did not manifest until years after bankruptcy? Should debtors lose the fruits of a claim when malpractice caused actual pain and suffering or necessitated subsequent surgeries?

Having one definition is appealing but doesn't account for laudable human sympathies. Is the bankruptcy court still essentially a court of equity or an institution that unthinkingly applies a vaguely written statute?

The opinion is *Church Joint Venture LP v. Blasingame (In re Blasingame)*, 986 F.3d 633 (6th Cir. Jan. 26, 2021).



Exemptions never come into play with inherited 401(k)s because they aren't estate property in the first place, Judge Hodges explains.

Unlike IRAs, Debtors Keep Inherited 401(k)s Because They Aren't Estate Property

In *Clark v. Rameker*, 573 U.S. 122 (2014), the Supreme Court held that individual retirement accounts inherited before bankruptcy are not exempt and belong to creditors. It follows, does it not, that a debtor cannot keep a 401(k) inherited before bankruptcy?

Answer: Wrong. Unlike an IRA, an inherited 401(k) does not become estate property, for reasons explained by Bankruptcy Judge George R. Hodges of Asheville, N.C.

The Inherited IRA

Not long before filing a chapter 7 petition, the debtor inherited a 401(k) from someone who was neither her spouse nor a relative. The debtor told the trustee about the inherited 401(k) but did not list it among her assets, nor did she claim an exemption. Rather, the debtor took the position that the 401(k) was not estate property, thus making exemptions and scheduling irrelevant.

Disagreeing, the trustee filed a turnover motion, relying largely on *Clark*, where the Supreme Court held that an inherited IRA is not exempt under Section 522(b)(3)(C) because it doesn't fit the description of "retirement funds."

In his June 4 opinion, Judge Hodges concluded that an inherited 401(k), unlike an inherited IRA, never becomes estate property. He wasn't required to decide whether an inherited 401(k) is an exempt asset, the focus of *Clark*.

Clark Distinguished

Judge Hodges distinguished *Clark*. There, the question was whether an inherited IRA fell under Section 522(b)(3)(C), which exempts "retirement funds" if they are exempt from taxation under specified provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

Clark focused on the characteristics of inherited IRAs that make them something other than "retirement funds." Unlike retirement funds, the holder of an IRA cannot make additional investments, must continually make withdrawals, and may withdraw everything without incurring a penalty.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Judge Hodges observed that inherited 401(k)s have "the same legal characteristics," but the result was not the same.

Unlike IRAs, the trusts holding 401(k)s must have anti-alienation provisions as required by both the IRS Code and ERISA.

The anti-alienation provisions in 401(k) trusts invoke Section 541(c)(2), which provides that "a restriction on the transfer of a beneficial interest of the debtor in a trust that is enforceable under applicable nonbankruptcy law is enforceable in a case under this title." Property in a trust that complies with Section 541(c)(2) does not become estate property.

Judge Hodges held that the outcome was not controlled by *Clark*, but by Section 541(c)(2) and *Patterson v. Shumate*, 504 U.S. 753 (1992). In *Patterson*, the Supreme Court held that "applicable nonbankruptcy law" includes ERISA-qualified plans. *Id.* at 759.

IRAs, Judge Hodges said, "are not qualified plans under ERISA." By way of contrast, "a 401(k) plan is a qualified plan under ERISA and qualifies for tax benefits and protection that an IRA does not."

To qualify under ERISA, the trust for a 401(k) must provide that it "may not be assigned or alienated." For tax benefits, the IRS Code also requires that assets in a 401(k) may not be assigned or alienated.

Judge Hodges therefore concluded that "401(k) plans contain enforceable transfer restrictions for purposes of § 541(c)(2)'s exclusion of property from the bankruptcy estate."

Furthermore, Judge Hodges mentioned how the "Supreme Court in *Patterson* even acknowledge[d] that ERISA-qualified plans receive greater protection than IRAs in bankruptcy," because IRAs are not included in ERISA's anti-alienation provision.

Judge Hodges noted that Section 541(c)(2) does not mention "retirement funds" like Section 522(b)(3)(C), the focus of *Clark*. Thus, he said, "the legal characteristics of inherited IRAs relevant to the Supreme Court's analysis in *Clark* are not relevant to the analysis of 401(k)'s."

In the case before Judge Hodges, the funds had not been withdrawn from the 401(k) before bankruptcy, meaning that they were protected by the trust's anti-alienation provisions. He therefore held that the funds in the 401(k) "are not property of the estate" under Section 541(c)(2) and belong to the debtor. The lack of an exemption didn't matter because exemptions only apply to estate property.

The opinion is In re Dockins, 20-10119 (Bankr. W.D.N.C. June 4, 2021).



Fair Debt Collection Practices Act



A statutory violation by itself won't necessarily give a plaintiff constitutional standing.

Sixth Circuit Erects Barriers to FDCPA Suits by Consumers in a 2/1 Opinion

Over a dissent, the Sixth Circuit held that a debt collector's failure to identify itself accurately does not give the creditor constitutional standing to file suit for violation of the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692-1692p.

The August 16 opinion is the latest example of courts striving to understand the Supreme Court's recent rulings about constitutional standing in *Spokeo Inc. v. Robins*, 136 S. Ct. 1540 (2016), and *TransUnion LLC v. Ramirez*, 141 S. Ct. 2190 (2021). To read ABI's reports, click here and here.

The trend is not favorable for consumers who file suits based on statutory violations and not much more.

The Simple Facts

The essential facts underpinning the appeal to the Sixth Circuit are few and simple.

A consumer owed a small debt to a hospital. The hospital turned over collection to an outfit that was allegedly a debt collector whose activities would be regulated by the FDCPA.

The debt collector sent a handful of letters to the consumer asking for payment. The letters correctly identified the debt collector. The consumer did not allege that the letters violated the FDCPA.

The debt collector also left several voicemail messages that did not state the debt collector's full corporate name. The failure to give the full name could have been confusing because there was another company with a similar name.

After receiving three or four voicemail messages, the consumer contacted a lawyer and sent a cease and desist letter to an entity that was not the debt collector who had left the voicemail messages. After the letter, the consumer received one more voicemail message, indicating that the cease and desist letter may not have accomplished its purpose.

A few months later, the consumer sued the alleged debt collector, claiming violations of the FDCPA. After the close of discovery, the defendant filed a motion for summary judgment. The



district court granted the motion and dismissed the suit, having decided that the defendant was not a debt collector subject to the FDCPA.

The Majority's Opinion

The consumer appealed. In an eight-page opinion for the majority, Circuit Judge R. Guy Cole, Jr. vacated the order granting summary judgment and remanded with instructions to dismiss the suit for lack of jurisdiction.

The circuit court raised standing for the first time on appeal because, as Judge Cole said, a court has an independent duty to establish its own jurisdiction, and a plaintiff's lack of Article III standing is jurisdictional.

Under *Spokeo*, Judge Cole explained that a plaintiff has constitutional standing under Article III if there was an injury in fact that was "fairly traceable" to the defendant's conduct and that is likely to be redressed by a favorable court ruling.

To establish injury in fact, *Spokeo* decreed that the injury must be "particularized" and "concrete." The parties agreed that the injury was particularized but disagreed about whether the consumer had suffered a concrete injury.

The consumer contended that his harm was concrete because he was confused about the identity of the caller, consulted a lawyer, sent a cease and desist letter to the wrong entity and then received another call.

On that score, Judge Cole cited *Spokeo* for teaching that a statutory violation is a violation of a procedural right that by itself may not satisfy the requirement of injury in fact. He went on to cite *TransUnion* for the proposition that the mere risk of future harm by itself does not qualify as concrete harm.

Judge Cole therefore said that the consumer was required to show that the procedural violation itself was a concrete injury "of the sort traditionally recognized" or caused an independent concrete injury.

For Judge Cole, the defendant's failure to identify itself accurately was not close enough to an invasion of privacy to bestow standing.

With regard to independent concrete injury, the consumer claimed he was harmed because he was confused, hired counsel, sent a cease and desist letter to the wrong entity and received another voicemail.

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

300



Judge Cole ruled that the consumer could not show concrete harm simply by having hired counsel. If that were enough, he said, hiring "counsel to affirmatively pursue a claim would nullify the limits created under Article III."

In conclusion, Judge Cole said the consumer had shown nothing more than "a bare procedural violation of the FDCPA" and therefore lacked constitutional standing to mount suit. He reversed and remanded with instructions to dismiss the suit for lack of jurisdiction.

The Dissent

Circuit Judge Karen Nelson Moore "respectfully" dissented. For her, confusion about the debt collector's proper corporate name and the resulting voicemail message was a "sufficiently concrete" injury to confer standing, constitutionally speaking.

Judge Moore said that misidentification of the debt collector and the subsequent voicemail "resembles a harm recognized under the common-law tort of intrusion upon seclusion." In her view, the "difference between one unwanted call and many is one of degree, not of kind." A single unwanted call, she said, "is a concrete harm" conferring standing.

"We may think that Congress has elevated a relatively insignificant harm, but that was Congress's decision to make, and it is not a reason to hold that [the plaintiff] lacks standing to sue," Judge Moore said.

"In sum," Judge Moore said, there was constitutional standing, and therefore jurisdiction, in view of the "single unwanted voicemail." Although one voicemail "may seem trivial or insignificant, . . . it is concrete and that is all that we are to decide under the Court's standing precedent."

Observations

Much like substantive due process violations found by the Supreme Court during the Franklin Roosevelt administration, the lack of Article III jurisdiction flowing from a statutory violation isn't something Congress can address through legislation.

Lawyers for consumers must hope that federal courts will follow Judge Moore's dissent and find constitutional standing even for "trivial" injuries.

Even if trivial injury suffices to establish standing, it doesn't mean that a court or jury would find liability for violating the FDCPA.

This case is an example. Even if the consumer had standing, the district court still dismissed on summary judgment after ruling that the defendant was not a debt collector.



The opinion is Ward v. National Patient Account Services Solutions Inc., 20-5901. 2021 BL 308015, 2021 Us App Lexis 24369 (6th Cir. Aug. 16, 2021).



Municipal Debt Adjustment & Puerto Rico



Cutting off post-petition liens under PROMESA did not violate the Takings Clause.

Court of Claims Rebuffs Puerto Rico Bondholders' Claims of Unconstitutional Takings

Holders of secured Puerto Rico retirement system bonds lost in their latest effort at squeezing blood out of a rock.

Building on decisions by the Supreme Court and the First Circuit, Judge Richard A. Hertling of the U.S. Court of Claims ruled on November 23 that the federal government was not liable for a Takings Clause violation when bondholders lost their security interest in employer contributions as a consequence of the enactment of the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act, or PROMESA (48 U.S.C. §§ 2161 et. seq.).

Bondholders Lose Their Post-Petition Liens

After the Supreme Court ruled that Puerto Rico was ineligible for chapter 9 municipal bankruptcy, Congress quickly adopted PROMESA. Large swaths of chapter 9, governing municipal bankruptcy, are incorporated into PROMESA, including Section 552. With the exception in Section 552(b), Section 552(a) cuts off a prepetition security interest in property acquired after filing.

Including the retirement system, Puerto Rico and many of its instrumentalities sought relief under PROMESA in 2017. In the debt-adjustment proceedings, Puerto Rico's federally appointed Financial Oversight and Management Board effectively represented the retirement system.

At the Oversight Board's behest, the Puerto Rico legislature passed legislation requiring the retirement system to transfer its assets to the commonwealth's general fund. In return, Puerto Rico's government assumed responsibility for paying retirement benefits. The transfer meant that employer contributions went to the general fund, not to bondholders. The Oversight Board took the position that Section 552 cut off the retirement system bondholders' security interest in employer contributions made after filing.

The retirement system bondholders mounted several lawsuits, so far unsuccessfully. At the end of January, the First Circuit upheld the district court and ruled that Section 552 cut off the security interest held by bondholders in contributions made to Puerto Rico's retirement system by employers after filing. *In re Fin. Oversight & Mgmt. Bd. for P.R.*, 948 F.3d 457, 462 (1st Cir. 2020) ("Section 552 Decision"), *cert. denied sub nom. Andalusian Glob. Designated Activity Co.*

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

v. Fin. Oversight & Mgmt. Bd. for P.R., No. 20-126 (Nov. 16, 2020). To read ABI's report on the January opinion, click here.

In the lawsuit before Judge Hertling, the bondholders raised three claims under the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment. They contended there had been unconstitutional takings of (1) their liens and their contractual right to timely payment on the bonds; (2) their liens on post-petition employer contributions, and (3) their contractual right to timely payment from post-petition employer contributions.

In addition to the January First Circuit opinion, Judge Hertling's decision was informed by the Supreme Court's holding on June 1 that the appointment of the Oversight Board did not violate the Appointments Clause of the Constitution because the members were exercising "primarily local duties." *Fin. Oversight & Mgmt. Bd. for P.R. v. Aurelius Inv., LLC*, 140 S. Ct. 1649 (2020). To read ABI's report, click here.

The opinion by Judge Hertling is a *tour de force* on the law of takings. Had he not dismissed the bondholders' claims, federal legislation would often hit a tripwire making the government liable for the impairment of contracts.

The First Claim Fails

The Supreme Court's decision in June led to the demise of the bondholders' first claim, based on the notion that PROMESA effected an unconstitutional taking of their liens. The result turned on whether the Oversight Board was a federal entity.

If the Oversight Board was not a federal entity, the Court of Claims would lack subject matter jurisdiction under the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 149.

In *Aurelius*, the Supreme Court held that the Oversight Board exercised primarily local duties. Judge Hertling said that "*Aurelius* is dispositive; it speaks to the precise issue the Court needs to address in order to determine its jurisdiction."

The Oversight Board "is an instrumentality of Puerto Rico, not the federal government," Judge Hertling said. Consequently, the bondholders' "first claim therefore is not against the United States as required under the Tucker Act."

Judge Hertling dismissed the first claim after also ruling that the Oversight Board's actions could not be attributed to the U.S.



The Second and Third Claims Fail

The second and third claims were doomed by the First Circuit's decision this year that the bondholders had no enforceable security interest in post-petition contributions. On both claims, the bondholders argued that Section 552 effected a taking of their security interests in post-petition employer contributions.

Unlike the First Circuit, Judge Hertling was looking at the question in terms of an unconstitutional taking, not the operation of Section 552 alone. He reached the same result as the First Circuit because he ruled that the bondholders only held an "expectancy" in post-petition contributions. In a constitutional sense, there could be no taking of property, because the property did not exist on the filing date.

Judge Hertling said that the First Circuit opinion collaterally estopped those bondholders who were parties to the appeal in Boston.

For bondholders not parties to the Boston appeal as to whom collateral estoppel did not apply, Judge Hertling agreed with the First Circuit. He dismissed the second claim, holding that the bondholders "did not have a property interest in their purported liens on post-petition employer contributions. Accordingly, the plaintiffs cannot establish a taking and have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted."

The bondholders' third claim likewise failed. He ruled that "Section 552 impaired the plaintiffs' contractual right to post-petition employer contributions, but this impairment does not constitute a taking under the Fifth Amendment. Accordingly, the plaintiffs fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted."

Judge Hertling explained that the bonds themselves were not "taken." Rather, he said, they were "impaired," and an impairment "is insufficient to support a claim for a taking."

The opinion is Altair Global Credit Opportunities Fund (A) LLC v. U.S., 17-970, 2020 BL 455062 (Ct. Cl. Nov. 23, 2020).



Confirmation appeals in two big cases are dismissed on the same day for equitable mootness.

Tempnology Didn't Undercut the Validity of Equitable Mootness, First Circuit Says

The Supreme Court's *Tempnology* decision did not undercut the validity of the doctrine of equitable mootness used to dismiss appeals from chapter 11 confirmation orders, according to the First Circuit. *See Mission Product Holdings Inc. v. Tempnology LLC*, 139 S. Ct. 1652 (2019). The Boston-based appeals court did say that equitable mootness is more accurately characterized as equitable laches.

The First Circuit's February 8 opinion also held that equitable mootness applies in arrangement proceedings to restructure the debt of Puerto Rico and its instrumentalities under the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act, or PROMESA (48 U.S.C. §§ 2161 *et. seq.*).

On the same day, a district court in Oakland, Calif., invoked equitable mootness to dismiss an appeal from the order confirming the chapter 11 plan for giant electric utility PG&E Corp.

The Cofina Plan

In his opinion for the Boston-based appeals court, Circuit Judge William J. Kayatta, Jr. explained how Puerto Rico created an entity known as Cofina to issue bonds to cover budget shortfalls. The 2006 law granted a statutory lien carving out a portion of sales tax revenue exclusively for Cofino bondholders.

With Puerto Rico, Cofina and the island commonwealth's instrumentalities in PROMESA proceedings, a dispute broke out between the Cofina bondholders and the holders of general obligation bonds. A settlement evolved in mediation that was incorporated into Cofina's plan. The settlement and the plan gave about 54% of sales tax revenue to Cofina bondholders.

Several junior Cofina bondholders objected to the plan and appealed when the plan was confirmed over their objections. The appealing bondholders did not seek a stay, and the plan was consummated. As a result of consummation, Judge Kayatta said that Cofina distributed \$322 million to creditors plus \$1 billion in sales tax revenues to the commonwealth and Cofina. Newly issued Cofina bonds traded tens of thousands of times, and lawsuits were dismissed with prejudice.

Puerto Rico's Financial Oversight Management Board and others filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as equitably moot.



Equitable Mootness Defined

Like all other circuits, the First Circuit adopted a form of equitable mootness.

The appealing bondholders argued that *Tempnology* made the doctrine invalid, because the Supreme Court decided that the appeal was not moot even though the debtor had distributed all its cash. To read ABI's report on *Tempnology*, <u>click here</u>.

Judge Kayatta dismissed the argument, saying that the Supreme Court decided that the appeal was not moot under Article III because the impossibility of granting any effectual relief had not been shown. Cofina's appeal, he said, did not involve Article III mootness. He conceded there was a "live controversy."

Contrasted to constitutional mootness, Judge Kayatta said that equitable mootness deals with how the court decides a controversy, "not whether we have jurisdiction to decide it." He went on to say that equitable mootness "is perhaps a misnomer."

"The doctrine might better be viewed as akin to equitable laches, the notion that the passage of time and inaction by a party can render relief inequitable," Judge Kayatta said. He went on to justify equitable mootness as a reflection of the bankruptcy court's inherently equitable powers, as shown in venerable Supreme Court decisions such as *Pepper v. Litton*, 308 U.S. 295, 304 (1939).

Having established the viability of equitable mootness, Judge Kayatta needed little more than two pages to rule that the doctrine applies in PROMESA cases. "Nothing in PROMESA undercuts the inherently equitable nature of a proceeding to approve a plan of adjustment," he said.

'They Sat on Their Hands'

With equitable mootness alive and well, Judge Kayatta applied the facts to the law. The appellants, he said, "sat on their hands" by never seeking a stay pending appeal. Their "complete and repeated lack of diligence . . . cuts sharply against them," he said.

Regarding the feasibility of granting the appellants any relief, Judge Kayatta said they "offer no practical way to undo all of this and return to the pre-confirmation status quo."

Judge Kayatta recognized "that, in some cases, it might be possible to modify a stand-alone component of a plan to satisfy an idiosyncratic claim without upsetting the interests of third parties." However, he said that the appellants offered "no relevant stand-alone component [of the plan] that might be modified."

Judge Kayatta dismissed the appeal as equitably moot.



The PG&E Appeal

PG&E, a California utility, confirmed and immediately consummated a chapter 11 plan in July 2020. Among other things, effectuating the plan entailed establishing a \$13.5 billion fund for fire victims, creating an \$11 billion trust, making \$42 billion in disbursements, and issuing new stock plus billions of dollars in debt.

Some creditors objected to the plan and appealed. They objected to provisions in the plan requiring them to exhaust their own insurance coverage before turning to the plan for payment.

The plan had been consummated, District Judge Haywood S. Gilliam, Jr. said, and the appellants offered no "adequate explanation" for failing to pursue a stay pending appeal.

Judge Gilliam could fathom no relief he might grant were he to reverse. Other creditors would be harmed, he said, because they would receive less if the appellants were no longer required to exhaust their own insurance coverage.

Judge Gilliam dismissed the appeal as equitably moot on February 8.

The opinions are <u>Pinto-Lugo v. Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico</u> (<u>In re Financial Oversight and Management Board for Puerto Rico</u>)</u>, 987 F.3d 173 (1st Cir. Feb. 8, 2021); and <u>Paradise Unified School District v. Fire Victim Trust</u>, 20-05414 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 8, 2021).



Cross-Border Insolvency



Judge Vaughan explains why a foreign debtor isn't required to have a presence in the U.S. before the debtor's foreign representatives can win recognition under chapter 15.

Eleventh Circuit Predicted to Split with the Second Circuit on Foreign Recognition

Bankruptcy Judge Lori V. Vaughan of Orlando, Fla., predicts that the Eleventh Circuit will split with the Second Circuit and hold that a bankruptcy court may grant foreign main recognition under chapter 15 even if the debtor has no residence, domicile, place of business or property in the U.S.

Judge Vaughan was referring to a Second Circuit decision, *In re Barnet*, 737 F.3d 238 (2d Cir. 2013), where Australian liquidators of a corporation were seeking foreign main recognition under Section 1517. The bankruptcy court granted recognition even though the debtor had no residence, domicile, place of business or property in the U.S., a seeming requirement under Section 109(a).

On direct appeal, the Second Circuit reversed, based on the plain language of Section 103, which makes Section 109 applicable in chapter 15 cases.

Believing that *Barnet* was wrongly decided, Prof. Jay L. Westbrook told ABI that Judge Vaughan wrote an "excellent opinion, reflecting the fact that chapter 15 is fundamentally different in focus and procedure and its unique definition of 'debtor' should obviously prevail over the general one."

Prof. Westbrook is the country's leading authority on cross-border insolvency and occupies the Benno C. Schmidt Chair of Business Law at the University of Texas School of Law. He was an author of a scholarly article debunking *Barnet* line by line. *See* Glosband and Westbrook, "Chapter 15 Recognition in the U.S.: Is a Debtor 'Presence' Required?," *Int. Insolv. Rev.*, Vol. 24: 28–56 (2015).

The Individual Debtor in Judge Vaughan's Case

The debtor was an individual in the case before Judge Vaughan. He had been adjudicated bankrupt in the High Court of Justice of England and Wales. The joint liquidators filed a chapter 15 petition and sought recognition of the proceedings in the U.K. as the foreign main proceeding.

The standards for recognition are contained in Section 1517(a), which provides that the court "shall" grant recognition if:

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

- (1) such foreign proceeding for which recognition is sought is a foreign main proceeding or foreign nonmain proceeding within the meaning of section 1502;
- (2) the foreign representative applying for recognition is a person or body; and
- (3) the petition meets the requirements of section 1515.

The debtor conceded that the liquidators satisfied all three requirements for recognition under Section 1517. Still, the debtor argued that the court should not grant recognition because he did not fit the description of a debtor in Section 109. That section says:

[O]nly a person that resides or has a domicile, a place of business, or property in the United States, or a municipality, may be a debtor under this title.

The debtor claimed that he did not have a residence or domicile in the U.S. and no longer had any business or property in the U.S. Relying on *Barnet*, the debtor called on Judge Vaughan to deny recognition.

Judge Vaughan declined the invitation. For a host of reasons, she concluded that "the Eleventh Circuit would likely disagree with the *Barnet* holding."

Section 109(a) Yields to More Specific Provisions

Judge Vaughan's August 31 opinion leaves the reader with the impression that Section 109(a) was thoughtlessly drafted and inconsistent with other, more specific provisions in chapter 15 regarding recognition.

Because the facts met all three requirements of Section 1517(a), Judge Vaughan said that the "plain language" of the section "requires this Court to recognize the U.K. bankruptcy."

"For the purposes of this chapter [15]," Section 1502(1) defines a "debtor" to mean "an entity that is the subject of a foreign proceeding." Judge Vaughan therefore concluded that Section 109(a) does not apply in chapter 15 cases. Were it otherwise, Section 1502(1) would have no meaning.

Judge Vaughan also took guidance from 28 U.S.C. § 1410(3), which places venue of chapter 15 cases where there is a lawsuit against a debtor who has no business or assets in the U.S.

Judge Vaughan alluded to subsections (b) through (g) of Section 109, which specifies who may be debtors under chapters 7, 9, 11, 12 and 13. Chapter 15 is "[n]otably absent," she said.

Section 109(h) requires individuals to have taken a course in credit counseling. Because a foreign debtor would always have been declared bankrupt in another country, Judge Vaughan said



that the "plain language" of Section 109(h) "would always require a waiver by the Court or an exception to apply."

"[A]s a whole," Judge Vaughan held that "the plain language" of Section 109 "demonstrates it should not apply to recognition of foreign debtors under chapter 15."

Barnet Won't Be Followed

To conclude her opinion, Judge Vaughan considered whether the Eleventh Circuit would follow *Barnet*. She cited *In re Goerg*, 844 F.2d 1562 (11th Cir. 1988), where the Eleventh Circuit held under former Section 304 that a foreign representative could conduct ancillary proceedings regarding a foreign debtor that did not qualify as a debtor under Section 109. Section 304 was the predecessor to chapter 15.

Because Section 109 was on the books when *Goerg* was written, Judge Vaughan concluded that the Eleventh Circuit would continue to follow *Goerg* and would reject *Barnet*.

Even if *Barnet* were the standard, Judge Vaughan held that the debtor met the requirements of Section 109(a), because he was an indirect owner of corporations that owned property in the district. Further, the foreign representatives held claims that would qualify as property in the U.S.

Judge Vaughan granted recognition as a foreign main proceeding.

Observation

The ink was barely dry on *Barnet* before it was emasculated by the bankruptcy courts. Even though she was reversed in *Barnet*, the bankruptcy judge granted recognition on remand, finding that the retainer given to U.S. counsel for the foreign representatives and claims in the U.S. satisfied Section 109(a). *In re Octaviar Administration Pty Ltd*, 511 B.R. 361 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 19, 2014). Other courts have used the same rationale to grant recognition.

The article by Prof. Westbrook and Mr. Glosband, *supra*, picks apart every flaw in *Barnet*. Fundamentally, they explain why the Second Circuit "confuse[d] the foreign debtor with the foreign insolvency representative." *Id.* at 28. In detail, they explain why the Second Circuit "either reject[ed] or ignore[d] the meaning, plain or otherwise, of other sections of title 11 that establish that the debtor subject to the foreign proceeding is not a debtor under title 11 and that the foreign proceeding, not the debtor, must be eligible for recognition." *Id.* at 44.

The two commentators say that Section 109(a) does apply in chapter 15 cases, but they explain the limited circumstances where it governs. For instance, the foreign debtor must have a presence in the U.S. when foreign representatives use their power under Section 1511 to file a "full" case

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

under Sections 301, 302 or 303. Section 109(a) also applies when a foreign debtor files a bankruptcy case in the U.S. to enforce a foreign discharge.

"Conversely," Prof. Westbrook and Mr. Glosband said, "the reason that section 109(a) does not apply to recognition is that the debtor in the foreign proceeding will not, by virtue of chapter 15 recognition of the foreign proceeding, become 'a debtor under this title.""

The two commentators faulted the Second Circuit for failing to "explain why the plain meaning of section 109(a) trumps the plain meaning of section 1502." "For the purposes of this chapter," Section 1502(1) says that the term "debtor' means the entity that is the subject of a foreign proceeding."

Prof. Westbrook and Mr. Glosband meticulously explain why "section 1502(1) supplants section 101(13) within and without Chapter 15; the phraseology 'for purposes of' does not permit the application of dual definitions."

Whenever a court or counsel faces a question similar to the issue confronting Judge Vaughan, we recommend extensive reliance on the article by Prof. Westbrook and Mr. Glosband.

The opinion is *Al Zawani*, 21-10251, 2021 BL 329515, 2021 Bankr Lexis 2367 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. Aug. 31, 2021).



Citing Ritzen as the reason, the Eleventh Circuit disagreed with the Second Circuit regarding the finality of Rule 2004 discovery orders in chapter 15 cases.

Circuits Split on Finality of Rule 2004 Discovery Orders in Chapter 15 Cases

In a nonprecedential opinion, the Eleventh Circuit split with the Second Circuit by holding that a discovery order in a chapter 15 case under Bankruptcy Rule 2004 is nonfinal and thus not appealable, even if the discovery was not sought in a pending adversary proceeding or contested matter.

The Atlanta-based appeals court appears to have ruled that a discovery order is not final and therefore not appealable if the fruits of discovery could be used in an adversary proceeding or contested matter that might be brought later.

Discovery by the Foreign Representative

The foreign representative of a Brazilian airline had received recognition of the Brazilian liquidation as a foreign main proceeding under chapter 15. According to the July 19 opinion by Circuit Judge Beverly B. Martin, the chapter 15 case was designed to locate assets of the debtor that were in the U.S. or transferred through the U.S.

In Brazil, the Brazilian trustee was in litigation attempting to pierce the corporate veil as to certain nondebtor third parties. The Brazilian trustee was aiming to include the third parties' assets in the bankrupt estate.

Not having yet pierced the corporate veil, the Brazilian court had frozen the third parties' assets and indicated in an order that the freeze should be implemented in the U.S. chapter 15 case.

The Brazilian trustee, as the foreign representative, obtained subpoenas from the bankruptcy court in Miami under Bankruptcy Rule 2004, directing several financial institutions to produce documents about the third parties' banking and financial information.

The bankruptcy court denied the third parties' motion for a protective order. The third parties appealed, but the district court dismissed the appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction. The district court reasoned that the discovery order was nonfinal and thus not appealable. The third parties appealed once again to the circuit.



Ritzen Governs

Judge Martin began from the "general proposition" that discovery orders are nonfinal. However, the primary authority on finality in the bankruptcy context is *Ritzen Group Inc. v. Jackson Masonry LLC*, 140 S. Ct. 582, 205 L. Ed. 2d 419 (Sup. Ct. Jan. 14, 2020), where the Supreme Court held that an order denying a motion to modify the automatic stay is a final order that may be appealed. To read ABI's report on *Ritzen*, <u>click here</u>.

More specifically, Judge Martin quoted the Supreme Court for holding that orders in a bankruptcy case "qualify as 'final' when they definitively dispose of discrete disputes within the overarching bankruptcy case." *Id.*, 140 S. Ct. at 586.

To decide whether an order is final and appealable, the Supreme Court went on to command that the appellate court must identify "the appropriate procedural unit for determining finality." *Id.*, 140 S. Ct. at 588-589.

In the case on appeal, Judge Martin said that the procedural unit was the implementation of the freeze order in the chapter 15 case. She arrived at this conclusion because "the record is clear" that the foreign representative was seeking discovery to aid in implementation of the Brazilian freeze order.

The Split with the Second Circuit

The third parties relied on Second Circuit authority that was almost, if not exactly, on point, despite Judge Martin's statements to the contrary. *Drawbridge Special Opportunities Fund LP v. Katherine Elizabeth Barnet (In re Barnet)*, 737 F.3d 238 (2d Cir. 2013).

In *Barnet*, a foreign representative was seeking foreign main recognition and sought discovery from a company. The court denied the company's motion to stay discovery. On appeal, Judge Martin said that the Second Circuit "categorically" held that a discovery order in a chapter 15 case is immediately appealable.

Primarily, the Second Circuit analogized the chapter 15 case to discovery in aid of a foreign proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 1782(a), where discovery orders are immediately appealable. In Section 1782 matters, a discovery order would be the final resolution of the dispute.

The Second Circuit reasoned that chapter 15 cases, like petitions under Section 1782, are ancillary to a suit in another tribunal, "such that there will never be a final resolution on the merits beyond the discovery relief itself." *Id.* at 244.

Judge Martin said that *Barnet* was "distinguishable," because it was decided before *Ritzen*. Therefore, she said, the Second Circuit "did not wrestle with the question of whether discovery

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

under Chapter 15 is a 'discrete' or 'separate' proceeding or 'merely a preliminary step' in some other proceeding." *Ritzen*, *supra*, 140 S. Ct. at 589–90.

Judge Martin also rejected the Second Circuit's analogy between chapter 15 and Section 1782. In Section 1782, she said, "there is nothing but discovery." In chapter 15, by contrast, she said that "a discovery order is ordinarily a 'preliminary step' of a larger proceeding."

In the case on appeal, Judge Martin said that the discovery order was only a preliminary step in a forthcoming freeze proceeding in bankruptcy court.

Judge Martin rejected arguments that the discovery order fell within exceptions to the final order doctrine. She dismissed the appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction.

Observations

According to a brief filed by third parties in the circuit, the foreign representative had not brought any proceedings in the bankruptcy court to extend the freeze order to the U.S. through the chapter 15 case.

This writer therefore interprets the Eleventh Circuit's opinion to mean that the mere possibility of a later contested matter or adversary proceeding is sufficient to render a discovery order under Bankruptcy Rule 2004 beyond the pale of appeal, assuming the court does not grant leave to take an interlocutory appeal.

This writer questions whether *Ritzen* entirely altered the analysis regarding appeals of discovery orders in chapter 15 cases, where there may or may not be proceedings aside from discovery.

Considerations such as these may explain why the Eleventh Circuit's opinion is nonprecedential.

The opinion is Estate of Omar Fontana v. ACFB Administracao Judicial Ltda (In re Transbrasil S.A. Linhas Aereas), 20-12238 (11th Cir. July 19, 2021).



Bankruptcy Judge Garrity didn't impose a good faith filing requirement onto foreign main recognition of a chapter 15 case.

Filing Chapter 15 as a 'Litigation Tactic' Didn't Bar 'Foreign Main Recognition'

Writing an opinion that reads like a treatise, Bankruptcy Judge James L. Garrity, Jr. of New York granted foreign main recognition even when the purpose of the chapter 15 filing was to enjoin a shareholders' suit in New York.

Contrasted to a chapter 11 case that can be dismissed if bankruptcy was a litigation tactic, Judge Garrity held that foreign liquidators are not held to the same standard when the issue is whether to grant foreign main recognition. That is to say, the standards for a legitimate chapter 11 filing are not imported onto gatekeeping functions in chapter 15.

The eventual import of Judge Garrity's more relaxed approach to chapter 15 recognition is unclear because he left the door open to modifying the automatic stay on motion by the plaintiffs in the New York suit.

Prior Operations Exclusively in the U.S.

The debtor operated in the U.S. It was acquired in a \$610 million leveraged buyout in 2004. In 2006, the debtor repaid the buyer's \$200 million investment. In 2007, the debtor borrowed \$850 million to pay off \$400 million in existing debt and make a \$375 million dividend to shareholders.

In 2012, the debtor transferred all of its operating assets to another company. According to Judge Garrity's July 2 opinion, the debtor was solvent after the transfer, having cash but no other assets. In 2013, the debtor initiated a so-called members' voluntary liquidation in Bermuda, where the debtor was incorporated. Two accountants from Bermuda were appointed as joint liquidators.

Later in 2012, holders of 3.8% of the debtor's stock filed a derivative action in New York State court. The suit was aimed at directors and controlling shareholders. The debtor was a nominal defendant. The plaintiffs were attacking the \$200 million return of capital and the \$375 million dividend.

In 2017, the transferee from 2012 paid the debtor almost \$12 million. The liquidators distributed most of the cash to shareholders, reserving \$500,000 to cover expenses in the New York suit. Judge Garrity said that the New York plaintiffs had received almost \$400,000 in the distribution by the joint liquidators.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

By June 2019, the cash held by the liquidators had dwindled to less than \$300,000 when they decided that the debtor had become insolvent, in part due to expected future costs of the New York action. On the liquidators' petition, the court in Bermuda converted the case to a court-supervised liquidation and continued the liquidators in their roles.

Meanwhile, the New York state court had dismissed the suit several times, but it had been reinstated on appeal repeatedly. By 2020, the plaintiffs were on their fifth amended complaint and facing another motion to dismiss, which the state court had not decided by the time Judge Garrity wrote his decision.

In September 2020, the liquidators filed the chapter 15 petition in New York, having received authorization from the court in Bermuda. The chapter 15 case was explicitly designed to halt the New York suit, which would occur automatically once the Bermudian liquidation was recognized as a foreign main proceeding under Sections 1515, 1517 and 1520. The plaintiffs objected to recognition of the Bermudian liquidation as a foreign main or foreign nonmain proceeding.

Liquidators' Control Established COMI

The plaintiffs argued that the chapter 15 petition had been filed in bad faith to bar prosecution of the New York suit, where the debtor was only a nominal defendant that would suffer no damages. The plaintiffs also claimed that the chapter 15 petition amounted to forum-shopping.

Judge Garrity found that the liquidators had met all the requirements for foreign main recognition. His 39-page opinion is a compendium laying out the standards for winning foreign main recognition.

The plaintiffs contended that the debtor had no office, operations or assets in the U.S. to underpin the chapter 15 case in New York. To satisfy the Second Circuit's requirement for assets in the U.S., Judge Garrity pointed to the retainer held in a trust account by the liquidators' New York counsel.

The plaintiffs argued that Bermuda was not the debtor's center of main interests, or COMI, as required by Section 1517(b)(1). When it was an operating company, the debtor's operations and assets all had been in the U.S, the plaintiffs said. Furthermore, the debtor's sole remaining asset was the New York suit, according to the plaintiffs.

Correct though the historical statements may have been, Judge Garrity pointed out how the affairs of the debtor had been managed in Bermuda by the liquidators since 2013. Furthermore, the debtor's tangible cash assets were in Bermuda; the debtor had few or perhaps no creditors, and the plaintiffs were equity holders, not creditors.



Bad Faith Filing Not Considered

In a last effort at forestalling recognition, the plaintiffs argued that allowing chapter 15 relief would be "manifestly contrary to public policy of the U.S." under Section 1506.

In that regard, Judge Garrity agreed that the "admittedly entire" purpose of the chapter 15 filing was "to prevent the New York Plaintiffs from continuing the New York Action." However, he said, no one had argued "that the proceedings in Bermuda themselves are, by their nature, contrary to United States public policy."

Judge Garrity therefore found "that this [public policy] exception is not met by a simple finding that the Chapter 15 Petition has been filed as a litigation tactic." He declined "to import a good faith requirement into the determination of a main/nonmain proceeding." The court, he said, has "limited discretion to deny recognition except when it would be manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United States."

Judge Garrity therefore ruled that Bermuda was the COMI and that the liquidators were entitled to recognition of the proceedings in Bermuda as a foreign main proceeding.

The plaintiffs wanted Judge Garrity to give them relief from the automatic stay. Judge Garrity said he would consider a lift-stay motion "in due course," after the plaintiffs have "properly moved for stay relief." Otherwise, he said, "the application of the stay is mandatory upon a finding of a foreign main proceeding," citing Section 1520(a)(1).

The opinion is In re Culligan Ltd., 20-12192 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. July 2, 2021).



Another opinion shows that Congress wrote Section 546(e) in a manner that goes far beyond protecting the securities markets in the U.S.

Safe Harbor Bars Foreign Liquidators from Recovering Money Stolen in the U.S.

Congress gave us a statute that allows fraudsters to launder stolen money in the U.S. through foreign banks, as revealed in an opinion by retiring Manhattan Bankruptcy Judge Stuart M. Bernstein.

Some of the money stolen by Ponzi-schemer Bernard Madoff went to so-called feeder funds in the British Virgin Islands. The feeder funds then distributed Madoff withdrawals through foreign banks. The feeder funds' BVI liquidators obtained chapter 15 recognition and sued the foreign banks in the bankruptcy court.

Applying the safe harbor in Section 546(e), Judge Bernstein was required in his December 14 opinion to dismiss the liquidators' claims for "unfair preference" and "undervalue transactions." On a motion to dismiss, he allowed constructive trust claims to stand.

The Claims in More Detail

The offshore feeder funds made virtually all of their investments with Madoff. Naturally, they stopped allowing redemptions in 2008 after Madoff was arrested.

The feeder funds ended up in liquidation proceedings in the BVI, where liquidators were appointed. The liquidators obtained recognition of the BVI proceedings as the feeder funds' foreign main proceedings under chapter 15.

The liquidators filed suit in the bankruptcy court against foreign banks that had received redemptions. The complaint alleged that the feeder funds hired a third-party administrator to calculate redemptions. Significantly, the complaint alleges that the administrator knew or was willfully blinded to the fact that the investments in Madoff were worthless.

The complaint also alleges that the defendant in the test case, a London bank, knew that Madoff was conducting a fraud.

In the bank's motion to dismiss, the defendant bank did not challenge the assertions of bad faith and knowledge.

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

The liquidators sought some \$54.5 million in redemptions paid to the London bank in the four years before the Madoff fraud was exposed. The complaint alleged that the redemptions were recoverable under BVI law as "unfair preferences" and "undervalue transactions" and under theories of constructive trust.

Following the Supreme Court's *Merit Management* decision, the bank filed a motion to dismiss, raising issues common to 300 lawsuits filed by the liquidators to recover redemptions. The bank argued that the claims were barred by the so-called safe harbor in Section 546(e). To read ABI's report on *Merit Management Group LP v. FTI Consulting Inc.*, 138 S. Ct. 883 (Feb. 27, 2018), click here.

The Safe Harbor Applies to Some Claims

In brief, Section 546(e) bars avoidance claims that were made to or for the benefit of a "financial institution." The redemptions were paid to a foreign bank.

Citing Sections 101(22)(A) and 741(2), Judge Bernstein said that "a customer of a financial institution such as a bank is also deemed to be a financial institution if the bank acts as the customer's agent in connection with a securities contract." Therefore, the funds themselves were "financial institutions" because they were customers of a bank.

Consequently, avoidance claims against the feeder funds were barred by Section 561(d), which makes the safe harbor applicable in chapter 15 cases.

The liquidators argued that the safe harbor did not apply because the claims were similar to intentional fraudulent transfer claims under Section 548(a)(1)(A). However, Judge Bernstein noted that the liquidators had not made claims based on intentional fraudulent transfers. Indeed, foreign representatives in chapter 15 are not allowed to mount claims under Section 548.

Judge Bernstein read the statute strictly. He said that the exception to the safe harbor for intentional fraudulent transfers "only applies to intentional fraudulent transfer claims under Bankruptcy Code § 548(a)(1)(A)." Furthermore, Judge Bernstein found no analogue in BVI law to claims for intentional fraudulent transfer.

In sum, Judge Bernstein dismissed the liquidators' claims for "unfair preference" and "undervalue transactions" under BVI law as being barred by the safe harbor.

The Constructive Trust Claims

The bank contended that the liquidators' constructive trust claims were preempted by federal law, namely, the safe harbor. Judge Bernstein said that "several courts" have held that state law claims to recover transfers are impliedly preempted by Section 546(e).

American Bankruptcy Institute • 66 Canal Center Plaza, Suite 600 • Alexandria, VA 22314 www.abi.org

555

322



Judge Bernstein drew a line, observing that the Supremacy Clause is inapplicable to foreign law. "Courts do not assume that otherwise applicable foreign law is preempted absent express statutory language to that effect," he said.

Finding no express preemption of foreign law, Judge Bernstein denied the motion to dismiss based on BVI constructive trust claims.

Service of Process

Judge Bernstein decided that service of process by mail on foreign defendants was sufficient even though mailed service is not permitted by the Hague Convention. In substance, he held that service by mail on the bank's New York counsel was sufficient under Rule 4(f)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Caveat: Don't try this at home. We recommend reading the opinion to identify a foolproof method for serving foreign defendants.

Observations

As interpreted by Judge Bernstein, Congress adopted a statute (the safe harbor) that renders foreign liquidators less able to set aside fraudulent transfers than domestic bankruptcy trustees.

Following the plain language of Section 546(e), Judge Bernstein decided that the exception to the automatic stay for fraudulent transfers with "actual intent" under Section 548(a)(1)(A) does not apply to a foreign law equivalent of Section 548(a)(1)(A).

Judge Bernstein's reading of Section 546(e) means that foreign liquidators cannot avoid fraudulent transfers that could be avoided by domestic bankruptcy trustees.

We respectfully submit that Congress should revisit the issue as part of a thorough overhaul of the safe harbor, including the provisions that turn an ordinary party into a financial institution if a financial institution is the person's agent or the person is a customer of a financial institution.

The opinion is Fairfield Sentry Ltd v. Amsterdam (In re Fairfield Sentry Ltd), 10-03496 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2020).



Filing a chapter 15 petition wasn't required for a U.S. district court to dismiss a civil action against a German company undergoing insolvency in Germany.

U.S. Suit Dismissed After German Defendant Files Insolvency in Germany

Invoking Second Circuit authority, a magistrate judge in New York dismissed a suit against a German company undergoing insolvency proceedings in Germany, as a matter of comity. The opinion is authority for the proposition that a foreign liquidator can stop lawsuits in the U.S. without obtaining recognition under chapter 15.

A plaintiff sued a German company in a New York state court for breach of a distribution agreement. The German company removed the suit to federal court. Represented there by U.S. counsel, the German company consented to the entry of an order finding liability.

The German company said it conceded liability because it lacked the resources to defend itself in the U.S. or in Germany if the plaintiff sought to enforce a U.S. judgment.

The district judge referred the case to Magistrate Judge Stewart D. Aaron to determine damages. The parties consented to allowing Judge Aaron to enter final judgment.

Before proceedings on damages before Judge Aaron, the German company initiated insolvency proceedings in Germany, resulting in the appointment of an insolvency administrator. The insolvency proceedings stayed legal actions in Germany.

U.S. counsel for the German defendant then filed a motion to be relieved as counsel and either to stay or dismiss the suit. Counsel explained that he had been advised by the insolvency administrator that his authority to act on behalf of the defendant terminated on commencement of insolvency proceedings.

The plaintiff opposed the motions but lost in a May 17 opinion by Judge Aaron.

The "mere existence" of a parallel proceeding abroad does not override the district court's "virtually unflagging obligation" to exercise jurisdiction, Judge Aaron said, quoting the Second Circuit in *Royal & Sun Alliance Ins. Co. of Canada v. Century Int'l Arms. Inc.*, 466 F.3d 88, 92 (2d Cir. 2006). However, he went on to say, "Foreign bankruptcy proceedings . . . generally are an exception to this rule."

ROCHELLE'S DAILY WIRE

Again quoting *Royal & Sun*, Judge Aaron said that a foreign country's interest in an equitable and orderly distribution "is an interest deserving of particular respect and deference." *Id.* at 92-93.

Deference "is appropriate," Judge Aaron said, "where 'the foreign proceedings are procedurally fair and . . . do not contravene the laws or public policy of the United States.' *JP Morgan Chase Bank v. Altos Hornos de Mexico. S.A. de C.V.*, 412 F.3d 418, 424 (2d Cir. 2005)."

Judge Aaron recognized that the party seeking to invoke comity carries the burden. In successfully shouldering that burden, he recited how the German company had demonstrated that "the German insolvency proceedings are procedurally fair and do not contravene the laws or public policy of the United States." He noted that Germany imposes a stay and shares a policy with the U.S. of equal distribution of assets, giving no preference to German creditors.

The defendant argued that the German company's U.S. counsel lacked authority to file the motion to dismiss or stay. Judge Aaron said that objection was "meritless" because the attorney was the German company's counsel of record when the motion was filed.

Judge Aaron dismissed the suit and granted the motion to withdraw because the attorney "no longer has authority to act on behalf of" the defendant.

The opinion is Moyal v. Munsterland Gruppe GmbH & Co., 19-04946 (S.D.N.Y. May 17, 2021).

Faculty

Hon. John T. Gregg is a U.S. Bankruptcy Judge for the Western District of Michigan in Grand Rapids, appointed on July 17, 2014. Previously, he was a partner with the law firm of Barnes & Thornburg LLP, where he focused on corporate restructuring, bankruptcy and other insolvency matters. Judge Gregg is a frequent writer and speaker on bankruptcy and other commercial issues. He has written and co-edited numerous treatises and articles for various publications, including *Collier Guide to Chapter 11*, published by LexisNexis; *Strategies for Secured Creditors in Workouts and Foreclosures*, published by ALI-ABA; *Issues for Suppliers and Customers of Financially Troubled Auto Suppliers* and *Interrupted! Understanding Bankruptcy's Effects on Manufacturing Supply Chains*, both published by ABI; *Michigan Security Interests in Personal Property*, published by the Institute for Continuing Legal Education; and *Receiverships in Michigan*, published by the Institute for Continuing Legal Education. Judge Gregg will chair the Education Committee of the National Conference of Bankruptcy Judges in 2022, serves on ABI's Board of Directors, and is a member of the American Law Institute. He received his B.A. in 1996 from the University of Michigan and his J.D. in 2002 from DePaul University College of Law.

Hon. Harlin DeWayne Hale is Chief U.S. Bankruptcy Judge for the Northern District of Texas in Dallas, appointed in November 2002. He previously worked at Strasburger & Price before opening a boutique firm, where he became well versed in bankruptcy law. Two years before his judicial appointment, Judge Hale was a regional partner in charge of the bankruptcy practice at Baker & McKenzie in Dallas. He is a member of the Texas, Louisiana, American and Dallas Bar Associations, the Dallas Bankruptcy Bar Association, and the National Conference of Bankruptcy Judges. Judge Hale received his undergraduate degree and J.D. from Louisiana State University, where he was a member of the Order of the Coif and an editor of its law review.

Hon. Mary Jo Heston is a U.S. Bankruptcy Judge for the Western District of Washington in Tacoma, appointed on Jan. 31, 2017. Previously, she was a shareholder in the Seattle and Portland, Ore., offices of Lane Powell PC, where her practice involved commercial litigation and transactional matters with an emphasis on business reorganizations, international insolvency and the acquisition of troubled businesses and assets. Between 1988 and 1993, Judge Heston served as the first Region 18 U.S. Trustee, overseeing bankruptcy cases and fiduciaries in Washington, Oregon, Idaho, Alaska and Montana. She also is a former law clerk to a federal district court judge and a bankruptcy judge and a former estate administrator of the federal bankruptcy court. Judge Heston taught bankruptcy courses for more than 20 years at both Seattle University School of Law and University of Washington Law School. She is a 2001 Fellow of the American College of Bankruptcy and an active participant in both professional organizations and community service organizations, and she currently serves or has served in leadership positions for the National Conference of Bankruptcy Judges, ABI, INSOL International, the Washington State Bar Association's Debtor Creditor Section, the Turnaround Management Association, CARE and CENTS. Judge Heston is a frequent international, national and regional speaker and author on topics including international insolvency issues, creditors' rights issues, and commercial and consumer insolvency issues. Her recent community service efforts have focused on military and veterans' financial and bankruptcy-related issues through her service on the

Pro Bono Committee of ABI's Veterans and Servicemembers Affairs Task Force. Judge Heston received her undergraduate degree *cum laude* from the University of Washington in 1975 and her J.D. *cum laude* from the Seattle University School of Law in 1980.

Hon. Jeffery P. Hopkins is a U.S. Bankruptcy Judge for the Southern District of Ohio in Cincinnati, appointed in 1996 and reappointed in 2010. After graduating from law school, he clerked for Hon. Alan E. Norris on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit, then worked as an associate with Squire, Sanders & Dempsey, LLP, specializing in complex commercial litigation. In 1990, Judge Hopkins sought appointment as an Assistant U.S. Attorney and advanced to become chief of the Civil Division for the Southern District of Ohio. During his tenure on the bankruptcy court, he has served on several committees of the Judicial Conference of the United States and for bar-related and civic organizations. In 2002, the late Chief Justice William H. Rehnquist appointed Judge Hopkins to the Federal Judicial Center's Education Committee for bankruptcy judges. Chief Justice John G. Roberts, Jr. appointed him to the Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules, for which he chaired its Business Bankruptcy Subcommittee until 2009. Judge Hopkins serves as president of the Law and Leadership, co-convener of the BLACCBA Round Table and board member of The National Underground Railroad Freedom Center. He formerly served on ABI's Board of Directors and the ABA's Business Bankruptcy Committee. He is a Fellow of the American College of Bankruptcy and a frequent lecturer on bankruptcy law, and he served as an adjunct professor at the University of Cincinnati College of Law. In 2010, Judge Hopkins received the William K. Thomas Distinguished Jurist Award from his alma mater, The Ohio State College of Law. He also is a past president of the National Conference of Bankruptcy Judges. Judge Hopkins received his A.B. in government and legal studies and anthro-sociology from Bowdoin College in 1982 and his J.D. in 1985 from The Ohio State University's Michael E. Moritz College of Law.

William J. Rochelle, III is ABI's editor-at-large, based in New York. He joined ABI in 2015 and writes every day on developments in consumer and reorganization law. For the prior nine years, Mr. Rochelle was the bankruptcy columnist for Bloomberg News. Before turning to journalism, he practiced bankruptcy law for 35 years, including 17 years as a partner in the New York office of Fulbright & Jaworski LLP. In addition to writing, Mr. Rochelle travels the country for ABI, speaking to bar groups and professional organizations on hot topics in the turnaround community and trends in consumer bankruptcies. He earned his undergraduate and law degrees from Columbia University, where he was a Harlan Fiske Stone Scholar.

Hon. Elizabeth S. Stong has served as a U.S. Bankruptcy Judge for the Eastern District of New York in Brooklyn since 2003. Prior to her appointment the bench, she was a litigation partner and associate at Willkie Farr & Gallagher in New York, an associate at Cravath, Swaine & Moore, and law clerk to Hon. A. David Mazzone, U.S. District Judge in the District of Massachusetts. Judge Stong is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations, the Advisory Committee to Columbia University's Committee on Global Thought and the Advisory Board of the ABA Center for Human Rights, and she holds leadership roles in the Practising Law Institute, PRIME Finance, the New York City Bar Association, the New York County Lawyers Association, and the ABA's Business Law Section, International Law Section and Judicial Division, among other organizations. Judge Stong's past positions include president of the Harvard Law School Association, chair of the NCBJ International Judicial Relations Committee, and chair of the New York City Bar's ADR Committee. She also served

on the ABA's Standing Committee on *Pro Bono* and Public Service, Standing Committee on the American Judicial System, Standing Committee on Continuing Legal Education, Commission on Women in the Profession, and Commission on Homelessness and Poverty. Judge Stong has trained judges in Central Europe, North, Central and West Africa, the Middle East and the Arabian Peninsula with the U.S. Commerce Department, the World Bank and INSOL. She also has consulted with the Supreme Court of China and People's High Courts in Beijing and Guangzhou, and led judicial workshops in Cambodia, Argentina, Brazil and Chile. She received the ABA Glass Cutter Award, the NYIC Hon. Cecelia Goetz Award, the Brooklyn Bar Association's Freda Nisnewitz Award for Pro Bono Service, and the MFY Legal Services Scales of Justice Award. Judge Stong is an adjunct professor at Brooklyn Law School. She received her A.B. *magna cum laude* from Harvard University and her J.D. from Harvard Law School, where she received the Williston Prize, and she studied at the Université des Sciences Sociales in Toulouse, France, as a Rotary Foundation Graduate Fellow.